
1 July 24, 2023 
 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
JULY 24, 2023 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 On Saturday, July 29, 2023 the Police Department will hold its first Open House in 

conjunction with the Day on the Town event from 10 am to 2 pm.  Many services that the 
department offers will be on display, including State and County law enforcement 
resources.  There will also be a bike rodeo for children covering bike safety. Residents are 
encouraged to come out and meet their Birmingham Police officers. 

 Visit Downtown Birmingham on Saturday, July 29, from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. for Day On The 
Town, the biggest and most exciting retail event of the year! Find deeply discounted 
merchandise from over 60 premium retailers, food trucks, live broadcasts, chalk art 
displays, kids’ activities and more in stores and throughout the streets and sidewalks of 
Downtown Birmingham. From 1 – 3 p.m., join Meaghan from Mojo in the Morning and 
Channel 955, as they broadcast live and hand out free ice cream from the Channel 955 
Ice Cream Truck. 

 Visit the Birmingham Farmers Market on Sunday, August 6, from 9 a.m. - 2 p.m., for the 
annual Corn Festival! Shop bountiful peak-season produce (including corn picked just 
hours before the market), farm-fresh eggs, artisan baked goods and more from over 50 
vendors. Enjoy live music, fresh-roasted corn, kids' activities including a petting zoo, crafts 
and a tractor for photo ops!  

 Join us at Booth Park on Friday, August 11, for an outdoor movie night featuring the 
community's choice of Despicable Me. Pre-show entertainment begins at 6:30 p.m.; movie 
at 7:30 p.m. In the event of inclement weather, movie night will be held the following 
evening (Saturday). 

 Proclamation sending greetings from the City of Birmingham to the mayor and residents 
of Sarisske Dravce, Slovakia on the occasion of the visit of James W. Suhay, Jr and family. 
 

APPOINTMENTS 
A. Employee recognition 

1. Rachel Matti  
 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
 



2 July 24, 2023 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of July 10, 2023. 

B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated July 13, 2023, in the amount of $2,256,394.69. 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated July 20, 2023, in the amount of $1,310,972.13. 

D. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the DAR Piety Hill Chapter 
to hold the Veterans Day 2023 Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony on November 11, 2023 
contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of 
all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary 
by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

E. Resolution to approve the Settlement Agreement of July 7, 2023 between the City of 
Birmingham and BFFA Local 911 for a renewal of the collective bargaining agreement for 
a term of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026, and to authorize staff to execute a collective 
bargaining agreement consistent with its terms and conditions. Further, to authorize the 
transfer of the appropriate funds by the Finance Department for these expenditures.  

F. Resolution to amend the fee schedule to increase the following fees for Greenwood 
Cemetery: 
  

Greenwood Cemetery (126-26) Current Fee  Recommended Fee    
Grave space accommodating one full burial or three cremations $4,000.00 $6,000.00    
Additional Rights of Burial for cremated remains, each $750.00 $1,000.00    
Grave space accommodating two cremated remains $2,600.00 $4,000.00    
Grave space accommodating one cremated remains $1,300.00 $2,000.00   

Administrative fee for transfer of grave ownership $200.00 $400.00 
 
And to make a motion adopting a resolution to release the 88 available graves suitable 
for burial in the flush rows in Section B, and to direct Greenwood Cemetery Advisory 
Board to evaluate the fee schedule again for plot costs after 20% of these plots have 
been sold. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 July 24, 2023 
 

 
G. Resolution to amend the City’s Fee Schedule as follows: 

Parking Offenses & Fines (If paid before 10 days / If paid after 10 days) 

Expired meter: First six offenses in calendar year    $20/$30 
Expired meter: Seven offenses or more in calendar year  $60/$70 
Handicap zone:        $175/$200 

H. Resolution to set a public hearing date of August 28, 2023 to consider the Special Land 
Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock 
Italian Chophouse. 

I. Resolution to approve the Birmingham City Commission 2024 Meeting Schedule as 
submitted: 

MONTH DAY MEETING LOCATION 
January 8 

20 (Sat 8:30 am) 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Long Range Planning 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

February 5 
12 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

March 4 
18 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

April 8 
15 
27 (Sat 8:30 am) 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 
Budget Hearing 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

May 6 
20 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

June 3 
10 
24 

Regular Meeting 
Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
DPS 
Municipal Building  

July 8 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

August 12 
26 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

September 9 
23 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

October 7 
21 
28 

Regular Meeting 
Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
DPS 
Municipal Building 

November 18 
25 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

December 9 
16 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

 



4 July 24, 2023 
 

J. Resolution to approve a revised three year agreement ending July 1, 2026 with the 
Birmingham School District for the provision of a full-time School Resource Officer, with 
all the salary and benefits for this officer to be paid by the Birmingham School District.  In 
addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the revised agreement on behalf 
of the City. 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
A. Resolution directing the City Clerk to submit the ballot wording for the proposed Ordinance 

Amending the Prohibition of Marihuana Sales to the County Clerk in order for the question 
to appear on the November 7, 2023 consolidated election: 

Ordinance Amending Prohibition of Marihuana Sales 

Shall the Birmingham City Code ordinance, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII, which 
currently prohibits the sale of marihuana in the City of Birmingham, be amended to 
authorize and allow one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) marihuana recreational 
establishment to operate in the City of Birmingham?  

YES or NO. 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Public Hearing - to amend Chapter 126 (Zoning), Article 2, Section 2.27, Article 4, Section 
4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 9.02 for the B1 Neighborhood 
Business District to include Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, and Café as permitted 
uses, to include Health Club/Studio as a use requiring a Special Land Use Permit, to include 
indoor dining as an accessory use, to create a definition for a Café use, and to create a 
parking ratio requirement for a Café use. 

1. Resolution to approve the proposed ordinance amendments to Article 2, Section 
2.27, Article 4, Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 
9.02 for the B1 Neighborhood Business District to include Specialty Food Store, 
Boutique, Bank, and Café as permitted uses, to include Health Club/Studio as a 
use requiring a Special Land Use Permit, to include indoor dining as an accessory 
use limited to 500 square feet or less, to create a definition for a Café use, and to 
create a parking requirement for a Café use. 

B. Resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from Lincoln to Yosemite with 
Alternative 2 as recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and indicated in 
the attached plan view;  

AND  

Resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from 14 Mile to Lincoln Ave 
with Alternative 1 as recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and indicated 
in the attached plan view, with the condition that the City of Birmingham receive a TAP 
Grant to assist in funding the recommended enhancements;  



5 July 24, 2023 
 

AND  

Resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from Maple to Villa as 
recommended by the City staff and indicated in the attached plan view, with the condition 
that the City of Birmingham receive a TAP Grant to assist in funding the recommended 
enhancements.  

AND 

Resolution to authorize City staff to complete a TAP Grant application in support of the 
proposed S. Eton resurfacing with additional multi-modal amenities with the funding 
match amount up to 50 percent as approved in the F.Y. 2023-2024 budget, with Senior 
Planner Brooks Cowan and Engineering Director Melissa Coatta to act as the 
representatives on behalf of the City of Birmingham’s project development, with the City 
of Birmingham committing to owning and operating the proposed multi-modal facilities in 
perpetuity, and for the City of Birmingham to be responsible for all engineering, permits, 
administration, potential cost overruns, and any non participating items. 

C. Resolution to approve a three (3) year Lease Agreement in the amount of $1 per year 
allowing the YMCA to continue to provide their services at 400 E. Lincoln Street after the 
City closes on the purchase of the property, and further to direct the Mayor and City Clerk 
to sign the Lease Agreement with the YMCA. 

D. Resolution to approve Contract No. 22-5560, Control Section M 63051, Job Number 
214051CON, between the Michigan Department of Transportation and the City of 
Birmingham in the amount of $109,900.00, to charge this expenditure to account number 
202.0-316.000-971.0000, and to authorize the Mayor to digitally sign the contract; AND 
make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the appropriation and amendment to the 
fiscal year 2023-2024 budget as follows:     

Major Street Fund: 
 Revenues:      
 Draw From Fund Balance 202.0-000.000-400.0000  $52,650 
 Total Revenue        $52,650 
 

Expenditures:    
Machinery and Equipment 202.0-316.000-971.0100  $52,650 
Total Expenses       $52,650 

 
E. Resolution to approve the Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-Way Occupancy By 

H-Pile with Woodward Development, LLC and to accept $5,000.00 in consideration of 
allowing a 3-inch encroachment of an H-Pile into the City right-of-way at Daines Street. 
In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the 
City. 

 
F. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item 

for future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will 
happen tonight.  



6 July 24, 2023 
 

G. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting. 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
A. Diane Roach Smith – Regarding Trucks on Melton 

 
X. REPORTS 

A. Commissioner Reports 
B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. City Manager’s Report 
  
INFORMATION ONLY  
  

 XI. ADJOURN 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.   
 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 



 

151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012 3001
(248) 530 1800 • Fax (248) 530 1080 • www.bhamgov.org

 

PROCLAMATION 
 

Sending greetings from the City of Birmingham to the mayor and residents of Sarisske Dravce, 
Slovakia on the occasion of the visit of James W. Suhay, Jr and family.  

 
WHEREAS,  Birmingham is a small city of about 20,000 people located north of Detroit, 

Michigan; and   
 
WHEREAS, James W. Suhay, Jr and his family have been residents of the city of 

Birmingham, Michigan, for many years; and he is an elected member of 
Birmingham’s Baldwin Public Library Board of Directors; and  

 
WHEREAS, James W. Suhay, Jr’s grandfather, Paulus Suhay,  was born in the village of 

Sarisske Dravce in 1871 and immigrated to the United States in 1888, where 
he married another Slovak immigrant, Maria Jakubianecz, who was from 
the nearby Slovakian village of Brezovica;  and  

 
WHEREAS, James W. Suhay, Jr’s ancestors have been born and lived in Sarisske Dravce 

for centuries: and  
 
WHEREAS,  The Suhay family will travel to Sarisske Dravce in August 2023 and will 

meet with its mayor and local Suhay residents bringing greetings from the 
City of Birmingham; and 

 
THEREFORE,  
BE IT RESOLVED that I, Therese Longe, Mayor of the City of Birmingham, on behalf of the 

citizens of Birmingham, send greetings to the village of Sarisske Dravce, 
Slovakia,  and express gratitude that the village has been the ancestral home 
of many who have become citizens of and have made their homes in 
Michigan and elsewhere in the United States.  
 

On Behalf of the City of Birmingham and the  
residents of Birmingham this 24th day of July, 2023.  
 
 
 
Therese Longe, Mayor 

    
  



MEMORANDUM 
Human Resources Department 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

July , 2023

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Christina Woods, HR Manager 

Staff Introduction – HR Generalist Rachel Matti, PHR 

We are thrilled to announce a valuable addition to our Human Resources team. Please join us in 
welcoming Rachel Matti, PHR as our new HR Generalist. Rachel brings a wealth of knowledge 
and experience in recruitment, policy, and legal compliance in HR, along with a genuine passion 
for helping people. 

Rachel has a BA in Human Resource Development from Oakland University. Coming from the 
private sector, she has successfully provided HR services for hiring, interviewing, onboarding, 
and ensuring compliance with local and state laws for over 250 employees across the United 
States. Her expertise in managing diverse teams and navigating complex regulations will be a 
great addition to our department. 

Rachel's enthusiasm and excitement to translate her skills to a municipal setting are truly 
commendable. She is eager to contribute her energy and expertise to Birmingham’s HR 
department, helping us streamline processes, ensure compliance, and create a positive work 
environment. 

As our new HR Generalist, Rachel will be responsible for a range of essential duties, including 
onboarding new hires, maintaining records and ensuring paper compliance, and assisting with 
the administration of employee benefits. Her dedication to providing exceptional support and 
guidance to our employees aligns perfectly with  values.

Let us extend a warm welcome to Rachel and offer our support as she settles into her new role. 
We are confident that her talents and commitment will make a significant impact as the HR 
department strives to support the men and women who provide services to the Birmingham 
community. 

3A



1 

Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
July 10, 2023 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m.

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/839942093 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Therese Longe, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor Longe 
Mayor Pro Tem McLain 
Commissioner Boutros 
Commissioner Haig  
Commissioner Host 

Absent: Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Schafer 

Staff:  City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, City Engineer Coatta, Police Chief Grewe, 
City Attorney Kucharek, Human Resources Manager Woods 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Mayor noted this would be CM Ecker’s first meeting as full-fledged City Manager and 
congratulated her. 

07-165-23 Right to Renew Ordinance

MOTION: Motion by Mayor Longe, seconded by MPT McLain: 
To amend tonight's agenda under information only to formally receive the statements on the right 
to renew ordinance with supporting signatures from the residents of Baldwin House, and make 
them part of tonight’s meeting and agenda minutes. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor Longe 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

Nays, None 

5A



2 July 10, 2023

Announcements 
Happy Birthday Mayor Longe!

Appointments 

07-166-23 Museum Board

Kristy Hull Barrett was interviewed by the Commission. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Boutros:  
To appoint Kristy Hull Barrett to the Museum Board as an alternate member to serve a three-year 
term to expire July 6, 2026. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor Longe 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

Nays, None 

The Clerk swore in Ms. Barrett. 

Employee Recognition 
1. Building Department – Permit Technicians

Teri Walker 
Lauren Gieraltowski 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

V. CONSENT AGENDA

07-167-23 Consent Agenda

The following items were pulled from the Consent Agenda: 
Staff:  Item A – City Commission Minutes of June 26, 2023 
MPT McLain: Item B – Warrant List - June 29, 2023 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 
To approve the Consent Agenda excluding Items A and B. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Mayor Longe 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

5A



 

 

3 July 10, 2023 

 
   Nays, None 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated July 6, 2023, in the amount of $429,498.47. 

D. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by Quarton Elementary to hold 
the Slow Roll on September 30, 2023 contingent upon compliance with all permit and 
insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor 
modifications that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff at the time of the 
event, or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, 
leading up to or at the time of the event. 

E. Resolution to appropriate and amend the 2023-2024 Capital Projects Fund budget as 
follows: 

 
Revenues:  
403.0-000.000-400.0000 Contribution from Fund Balance $1,000,000  
403.0-901.757-674.0100 Contribution from NEXT  $   500,000  
    Total Revenues   $1,500,000 
Expenditures:  
403.0-901.757-977.0000 Buildings    $1,500,000 

 
 

F. Resolution to award the Phase 1 and 2 ADA Parking and Path project to Dave’s 
Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $72,460 and to appropriate and amend the 2023-2024 
CDBG Fund budget as follows: 
 
Revenues:  
285.0-000.000-522.0000 CDBG Grant   $28,730  
 
Expenditures: 
285.0-694.000-836.0100 Barrier Free Improvements $28,730 

 
G. Resolution to approve the Settlement Agreement of May 31, 2023 between the City of 

Birmingham and AFSCME Local 998 for the term of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026, 
and to authorize staff to execute a collective bargaining agreement consistent with its 
terms and conditions. Further, to authorize the transfer of the appropriate funds by the 
Finance Department from the wage adjustment account to the respective department 
budgets for these expenditures. 

H. Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local Approval Notice at the request 
of S-Three Restaurant, LLC to transfer the membership of S-Three Restaurant, LLC which 
is owned 100% by Stephen Simon, which holds the Class C and SDM License with Sunday 
Sales (PM) and Outdoor Service Area located at 117 Willits St., Birmingham, Oakland 
County, MI to 82% Stephen Simon, 9% Karen Crabill and 9% Wayne Rusnell.   

5A



 

 

4 July 10, 2023 

I. Resolution to award the Pierce Street Paving Project Contract #3-23(W) to Angelo Iafrate 
Construction Company in the amount of $2,753,777.50 and a 5% construction 
contingency for a total of $2,891,466.37. In addition, authorize the Mayor and City Clerk 
to sign the agreement on behalf of the City after the review of Angelo Iafrate Construction 
Company’s insurance, and bonds contingent upon execution of the agreement and 
meeting all insurance and bonding requirements. Funding for this project has been 
budgeted in the following accounts: 

 
Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% Contingencies Total 

Major Street Fund 202.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,101,751.85 $55,087.59 $1,156,839.44 
Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $137,573.64 $6,878.68 $144,452.32 
Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $1,514,452.01 $75,722.60 $1,590,174.61 

 

AND 
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as 
follows: 
 
Major Street Fund: 
Revenues: 
202.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Fund Balance  $1,156,840 
Total Revenue        $1,156,840 
 
Expenditures: 
202.0-449.001-981.0100  Public Improvement   $1,156,840 
Total Expenses        $1,156,840 
 
Sewer Fund: 
Revenues: 
590.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $144,460 
Total Revenue        $144,460 
 
Expenditures: 
590.0-537.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $144,460 
Total Expenses        $144,460 
 
Water Fund: 
Revenues: 
591.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $1,590,180 
Total Revenue        $1,590,180 
 
Expenditures: 
591.0-544.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $1,590,180 
Total Expenses        $1,590,180 

 
07-168-23 City Commission Minutes of June 26, 2023 (Item A) 

5A



 

 

5 July 10, 2023 

 
CC Bingham noted a correction to the minutes. 
 
Commissioner Haig recommended the City Attorney’s email regarding Melissa Mark’s appointment 
to the Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee be appended to the minutes. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the revised City Commission meeting minutes of May 22, 2023 with two amendments. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 
07-169-23 Warrant List - June 29, 2023 (Item B) 
 
MPT McLain noted for the public that two payments were made to the 48th District Court as part 
of this warrant list and noted that the Commission remained aware of ongoing concerns regarding 
the City’s relationship with the Court. 
 
MOTION: Motion by MPT McLain, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated June 29, 2023, 
in the amount of $1,875,028.80. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
07-170-23 Public Hearing -  Confirmation of SAD Roll 905 Pierce Street Paving –  

Water Laterals 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 7:41 p.m. 
 
DT Katz presented the item and CA Kucharek explained the SAD process. 
 

5A



 

 

6 July 10, 2023 

CM Ecker and Mayor Longe noted an email from Christine Pikulas disputing the prior hearing 
regarding the SAD had been received by the City and distributed to the Commission. 
 
In reply to an inquiry from Chet Falk, CA Kucharek said she would confer with the City Manager 
regarding Ms. Pikulas’ email about the SAD charges. 
 
CE Coatta answered a question from Mr. Falk regarding which homes would be included in the 
SAD. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 7:50 p.m. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
MPT McLain noted that the City follows specific legal guidelines for noticing SADs, maintains a 
record of that, provides notification in a publication, and provides direct notifications to the 
appropriate property owners. 
 
MOTION: Motion by MPT McLain, seconded by Commissioner Boutros: 
To adopt the following resolution:  

Resolution confirming Special Assessment Roll 905 as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, Special Assessment Roll, designated Roll No. 905, has been heretofore 
prepared for collection, and 
 
WHEREAS, notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each 
owner or party-in-interest of property to be assessed, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission has deemed it practicable to cause payment of the 
cost thereof to be made after the time of construction and the Commission 
Resolution 06-128-23 provided it would meet this 10th day of July, 2023 for the 
sole purpose of reviewing the assessment roll, and 
 
WHEREAS, at said hearing held this July 10, 2023, all those property owners or 
their representatives present have been given an opportunity to be heard 
specifically concerning costs appearing in said special assessment roll, and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Special Assessment Roll No. 905 be in 
all things ratified and confirmed, and that the City Clerk be and is hereby instructed 
to endorse said roll, showing the date of confirmation thereof, and to certify said 
assessment roll to the City Treasurer for collection at or near the time of 
construction of the improvement. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the special assessment shall be payable in five 
(5) payments as provided in Section 94-10 of the Code of the City of Birmingham, 
with an annual interest rate of nine and one quarter percent (9.25%) on all unpaid 
installments. 

5A



 

 

7 July 10, 2023 

 
The list on page 7A, number three, is included with parcel number, sidwell number, street 
address, and SAD assessment. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
Commissioner Host 

    Mayor Longe 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 
07-171-23 School Resource Officer 
 
PC Grewe and CM Ecker presented the item. 
 
MPT McLain thanked PC Grewe for completing the negotiation and said it was important to send 
a message of safety. 
 
The Mayor noted that the responsibility to keep children safe at schools rests primarily with the 
School District, that the City was glad to be able to assist with the schools located within 
Birmingham, and that she was glad this was negotiated to everyone’s benefit. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a three year agreement ending July 1, 
2026 with the Birmingham School District for the provision of a full-time School Resource 
Officer, with all salary and benefits for this officer to be paid by the Birmingham School 
District. In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf 
of the City with the condition that there are no changes to the contract in front of us 
tonight. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 
07-172-23 2024 State, Federal And Significant Holidays To Avoid Scheduling  

Public Meetings 
 
HRM Woods and CM Ecker presented the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To adopt the resolution to designate the following dates as listed in tonight’s package 7C page 
three as City recognized legal holidays pursuant to Section 2-26 of the Birmingham City Code.  

5A



 

 

8 July 10, 2023 

And further, to designate Juneteenth as an annual day of closure for City Hall offices and 
instructing the administration to include this day as a paid holiday for eligible employees, 
identified in the collective bargaining agreements and employee handbooks for 2024 and 
beyond. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 
07-173-23 Closed Session Pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(h) of the Open  

Meetings Act 
 
CA Kucharek presented the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Boutros, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To meet in closed session to discuss a written attorney/client privilege communication 
pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(h) of the Open Meetings Act. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, MPT McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Mayor Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Boutros 

 
   Nays, None 
 
The Commission went into closed session at 8:10 p.m. 
 
The Commission returned from closed session at 8:51 p.m. 
 
Commission Items for Future Discussion 
Commission Discussion On Items From A Prior Meeting 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

1. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Advisory Parking Committee 
2. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Public Arts Board 

5A



 

 

9 July 10, 2023 

 
B. Commissioner Comments 

 
In reply to Commissioner Host, CM Ecker stated that Staff was working on the right to renew 
topic. 
 

C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 

INFORMATION ONLY  
 

XI. ADJOURN 
Mayor Longe adjourned the meeting at 8:52 p.m. 
    
 
 

 

0BAlexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 
  

 

5A



7/10/23, 7:48 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd:

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1769963342471056443&simpl=msg-f:1769963342471056443 1/2

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd:
1 message

Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org> Wed, Jun 28, 2023 at 12:09 PM
To: City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

FYI

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Jana Ecker <Jecker@bhamgov.org>
Date: Wed, Jun 28, 2023 at 12:09 PM
Subject: Re:
To: Mary Kucharek <Mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com>
Cc: Rebekah Craft <rebekah.craft@baldwinlib.org>

Thank you for your response.

On Wed, Jun 28, 2023 at 11:35 AM Mary Kucharek <Mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com> wrote:

Dear Ms. Ecker,

 

At the City Commission meeting of Monday June 26, 2023, a question arose as to whether a Baldwin Library Board
member may serve on the ad hoc Aging Committee.  I have reviewed the City’s Charter, ordinances and the Baldwin
Board bylaws and rules and find prohibitions against the dual service.   While it is a policy , and at times an ordinance
endorsed mandate, that persons not serve on two boards or committees at once, ad hoc committees have at times
deviated from this policy.  Therefore, it is my opinion that Melissa Mark’s appointment by the City Commission should
stand. 

 

Thank you.

Mary M. Kucharek

Attorney-at-Law

Beier Howlett, P.C.

Direct Dial (248)282-1075

(248) 645-9400 Ext. 211

mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com

 

 

--
Jana L. Ecker

Assistant City Manager
City of Birmingham
248-530-1811

5A



7/10/23, 7:48 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd:

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1769963342471056443&simpl=msg-f:1769963342471056443 2/2

*Important Note to Residents*
Let’s connect! Join the Citywide Email System to receive important City updates and critical information specific to your
neighborhood at www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail. 

--
Jana L. Ecker

Assistant City Manager
City of Birmingham
248-530-1811

*Important Note to Residents*
Let’s connect! Join the Citywide Email System to receive important City updates and critical information specific to your
neighborhood at www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail. 

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/
CAKdt6zFqz5C2W0wZmcYtz%2BUHoucWW2Z4r7_kSDRd5CLg%2Bv04Vw%40mail.gmail.com.

5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/13/2023
07/24/2023

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/20/2023
07/24/2023

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/20/2023
07/24/2023

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/20/2023
07/24/2023

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

07/20/2023
07/24/2023

5C



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

July 4, 2023  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Special Event Application: Veterans Day 2023 Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony 

INTRODUCTION: 
DAR Piety Hill Chapter has submitted a special event application to hold the Veterans Day 2023 
Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony on November 11, 2023. Set up for the event is scheduled for 
November 11, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. The event begins at 10:30 a.m. and concludes at 12:00 p.m. 
Teardown is scheduled for 12:00 p.m. 

BACKGROUND: 
The necessary departments reviewed the proposed event details submitted in the application, and 
departments provided feedback on requirements and estimated costs. DPS, Planning, Building, 
Engineering, Police and Fire have indicated their approval. SP+ Parking has been notified of the 
event for planning purposes.  

This event honors all eterans, and places wreaths at the WWII & Civil War emorials in Shain 
Park.  

The following events occur in November in Birmingham and do not pose a conflict for this event: 
 Small Business Saturday              11/25/23 Birmingham Shopping District 
 Santa Walk                                11/25/23 Shain Park 
 Santa House and Carriage Rides   11/25/23 & 11/26/23 Shain Park 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review is required for this action. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
All costs associated with this event will be paid by applicant. 

SUSTAINABILITY  
There are no sustainability comments associated with this event. 

5D



2 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Residents and usiness  were notified about the details of 
this event by letter mailed at least two weeks prior to the commission meeting. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to approve a special event permit for the Veterans Day 2023 
Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony to be held November 11, 2023 from 10:30 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., 
with set up November 11, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. Teardown will begin November 11, 2023 at 12:00 
p.m.

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Special event application
2. Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within 300 feet

of the event area dated June 20, 2023. Notification addresses are on file in the Clerk’s Office.
3. Hold harmless agreement
4. Department approval page with comments and estimated costs

 SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by the 
DAR Piety Hill Chapter to hold the Veterans Day 2023 Annual Wreath-Laying Ceremony on 
November 11, 2023 contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and 
payment of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be 
deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the event. 

5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



5D



D
EP

AR
TM

EN
T 

AP
PR

O
VA

LS
 

EV
EN

T 
N

AM
E:

 V
et

er
an

s 
D

ay
 2

02
3 

W
re

at
h 

La
yi

ng
 C

er
em

on
y 

– 
Sh

ai
n 

Pa
rk

 
LI

CE
N

SE
 N

U
M

BE
R

 #
 2

3-
00

01
22

18
 

CO
M

M
IS

SI
O

N
 H

EA
R

IN
G

 D
AT

E:
 J

ul
y 

24
, 2

02
3 

NO
TE

 T
O 

ST
AF

F:
  J

ul
y 

17
, 2

02
3 

D
AT

E 
O

F 
EV

EN
T:

 N
ov

em
be

r 
11

, 2
02

3 

D
EP

AR
TM

EN
T 

AP
PR

O
VE

D
 

CO
M

M
EN

TS
 

PE
R

M
IT

S 
R

EQ
U

IR
ED

 
(M

us
t b

e 
ob

ta
in

ed
 

di
re

ct
ly

 fr
om

 in
di

vi
du

al
 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ts

) 

ES
TI

M
AT

ED
 

CO
ST

S 
(M

us
t b

e 
pa

id
 tw

o 
w

ee
ks

 p
ri

or
 to

 th
e 

ev
en

t.
 L

ic
en

se
 w

ill
 n

ot
 

be
 is

su
ed

 if
 u

np
ai

d.
) 

AC
TU

AL
 

CO
ST

S 
(E

ve
nt

 w
ill

 b
e 

in
vo

ic
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Cl
er

k’
s 

of
fic

e 
af

te
r 

th
e 

ev
en

t)
 

PL
AN

N
IN

G
 

10
1.

0-
00

0.
00

0-
63

6.
00

05
 

24
8.

53
0.

18
55

 

TB
C 

No
 C

os
t N

o 
Co

m
m

en
t 

 0
 

BU
IL

D
IN

G
10

1.
0-

00
0.

00
0.

63
6.

00
05

 
24

8.
53

0.
18

50
 

 0
 

FI
R

E 
10

1.
0-

00
0.

00
0-

63
6.

00
04

 
24

8.
53

0.
19

00

JG
S 

Fi
re

 u
ni

ts
 w

ill 
re

sp
on

d 
as

 n
ee

de
d 

fro
m

 
qu

ar
te

rs
.  

$0
 

PO
LI

CE
 

10
1.

0-
00

0.
00

0.
63

6.
00

03
 

24
8.

53
0.

18
70

RK
 

2 
On

-d
ut

y 
of

fic
er

s 
w

ill 
as

sis
t w

ith
 w

re
at

h 
la

yi
ng

. 
$0

 
$0

 

PU
BL

IC
 S

ER
VI

CE
S 

10
1.

0-
00

0.
00

0-
63

6.
00

02
 

24
8.

53
0.

16
42

 

CL
 

Ci
ty

 E
ve

nt
.  

Au
di

o 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t, 

Po
di

um
, 4

0 
Ch

ai
rs

.  
Al

l f
la

gs
 p

la
ce

d 
ar

ou
nd

 s
ite

. 
La

rg
e 

fla
g 

po
le

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 p
os

t c
ol

or
s 

w
ith

 fl
ag

s.
  

$0
 

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 

10
1.

0-
00

0.
00

0.
63

6.
00

02
 

24
8.

53
0.

18
39

M
C 

No
ne

 
$0

 
$0

 

SP
+

 P
AR

KI
N

G
 

AF
 

Fr
ee

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
t a

ll 
m

et
er

s 
an

d 
ga

ra
ge

s 
du

e 
to

 it
 b

ei
ng

 a
 h

ol
id

ay
 

No
ne

 
$0

 
$0

 

IN
SU

R
AN

CE
 

24
8.

53
0.

18
07

 

Ne
ed

 to
 s

ub
m

it 
CO

I n
o 

le
ss

 th
an

 2
 w

ee
ks

 
pr

io
r t

o 
ev

en
t 

Ne
ed

 to
 s

ub
m

it 
Ho

ld
 H

ar
m

le
ss

 A
gr

ee
m

en
t 

No
ne

 
$0

 
$0

 

5D



CL
ER

K 
10

1.
0-

00
0.

00
0-

61
4.

00
00

 
24

8.
53

0.
18

03
 

No
tif

ica
tio

n 
le

tte
rs

 to
 b

e 
m

ai
le

d 
by

 
ap

pl
ica

nt
 n

o 
la

te
r t

ha
n 

Ju
ly

 1
0,

 2
02

3.
 

No
tif

ica
tio

n 
ad

dr
es

se
s 

on
 fi

le
 in

 th
e 

Cl
er

k’s
 O

ffi
ce

.  
 

Ap
pl

ica
tio

ns
 fo

r 
ve

nd
or

s 
lic

en
se

 
m

us
t b

e 
su

bm
itt

ed
 

no
 la

te
r t

ha
n 

__
__

. 

$0
 

0 

TO
TA

L 
D

EP
O

SI
T 

R
EQ

U
IR

ED
 

AC
TU

AL
 

CO
ST

 

R
ev

. 7
/1

3/
23

 
h:

\s
ha

re
d\

sp
ec

ia
l e

ve
nt

s\
- g

en
er

al
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n\
ap

pr
ov

al
 p

ag
e.

do
c 

FO
R

 C
LE

R
K’

S 
O

FF
IC

E 
U

SE
 

De
po

sit
 p

ai
d 

__
__

_0
__

__
__

 

Ac
tu

al
 C

os
t  

 

Du
e/

Re
fu

nd
 

 

5D



MEMORANDUM 
Human Resources Department 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

July , 2023 

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Christina Woods, HR Manager 

Settlement agreement and contract renewal of Local 911, 
Birmingham Firefighters Association 

INTRODUCTION:  
Local 911 represents all of the Birmingham sworn Fire Department employees, excluding the Fire 
Chief, Assistant Chief, Fire Marshal and part-time/temporary employees. Negotiations began May 
3, 2023 and continued for four meetings. This agreement was reached voluntarily by the parties 
without the assistance of outside mediation or arbitration. The Union membership ratified the 
agreement on July 9, 2023. The agreement term is retroactive from July 1, 2023 through June 
30, 2026. 

The primary economic provisions are consistent with the City's overall bargaining strategy of 
balancing wages with health care and other benefits costs, and creating attractive benefits to 
minimize employee turnover and increase demand for open positions.  

Significant provisions of the Settlement Agreement include: 
1. 3-year agreement through June 30, 2026
2. Wage increases

7/1/2023: 4.5%; Lieutenant additional 1%; Battalion Chief additional 4%
7/1/2024: 3.5%;
7/1/2025: 3.5%;

3. Increase all Firefighter/Paramedics hired before 6/30/2023 to top pay.
4. Increase bonuses for EMS Coordinator, non-officer fire inspector, food allowance,

uniform allowance, and educational assistance.
5. Create a Community Risk Reduction/Fire Inspector at an additional $3,500/year.
6. Changes to pre-educational requirements for promotion.
7. Eliminate A & B pay grades and start new employees at pay grade C.
8. Decrease the 24-month step for newly promoted Lieutenants to 12-months.
9. Increase paramedic premium to 9%.
10. Increase notice of separation from 10 to 30 days to be eligible for vacation payout.

5E



2 

Reinstatement of illness allowance payout for employees hired on or after 2012.
Eliminate $9.69 bi-weekly insurance premium pay.
Addition of 2 paid emergency leave days due to birth or adoption.

 retirement contribution match.
Updates to the mortality and interest assumption to be compliant with the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation Final 4022 rule.

LEGAL REVIEW 
The City's labor attorney has reviewed, and is party to, the signed Settlement Agreement. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The cost of all the adjustments except for retirement match is approximately $230,000 in the first 
year. Depending on how many employees take full advantage of the match, that cost could be 
as high as $170,000 for a total of around $400,000 for the first year. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The agreement supports the sustainability of the workforce by ensuring fair compensation and 
benefits to promote employee retention, which minimizes time and productivity loss which occurs 
with employee turnover. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The agreement terms are provided to the public in the agenda packe  and therefore become 
part of the public record. 

SUMMARY: 
The Human Resources Department recommends approval of the Settlement Agreement. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Settlement Agreement between the City of Birmingham and BFFA Local 911
2. Ratification notification from the Union

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 approve the Settlement Agreement of July 7, 2023 between the City of 

Birmingham and BFFA Local 911 for a renewal of the collective bargaining agreement for a term 
of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026, and to authorize staff to execute a collective 
bargaining agreement consistent with its terms and conditions. Further, to authorize the 
transfer of the appropriate funds by the Finance Department for these expenditures. 

5E



5E



5E



5E



5E



7/17/23, 11:31 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd: TA Ratification Notification

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=c586f10302&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1770957896634272271&simpl=msg-f:1770957896634272271 1/1

Christina Woods <cwoods@bhamgov.org>

Fwd: TA Ratification Notification
1 message

Paul Wells <Pwells@bhamgov.org> Sun, Jul 9, 2023 at 11:37 AM
To: Christina Woods <cwoods@bhamgov.org>, Melissa Fairbairn <mfairbairn@bhamgov.org>

Fyi

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Trevor Baker <tbaker1216@yahoo.com>
Date: Sun, Jul 9, 2023 at 9:06 AM
Subject: TA Ratification Notification
To: Paul Wells <Pwells@bhamgov.org>, <jecker@bhamgov.org>

City Manager Ecker
Chief Wells,

Let this serve as written notification that the Birmingham Firefighters Association, Local 911 has voted and ratified the
Tentative Agreement.

Thank you,

Trevor Baker
President
BFFA L911

--
Paul Wells
Fire Chief 
Emergency Manager, PEM 
Birmingham Fire Department 
572 S. Adams
Birmingham, MI 48009
Office (248) 530-1901
Cell (248) 318-1777

*Important Note to Residents*
Let’s connect! Join the Citywide Email System to receive important City updates and critical information specific to your
neighborhood at www.bhamgov.org/citywideemail.

5E



MEMORANDUM 
Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

July 19, 2023 

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

Recommendation to Raise the Fees for Greenwood Cemetery 
and to Release Graves for Sale 

INTRODUCTION: 
The sale of graves in Greenwood Cemetery has depleted the number of plots released by the City 
Commission based on recommendations from the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board (GCAB). 
Interest in purchasing plots has continued in recent months, and interest will continue in the near 
future. The Clerk’s Office and Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board (CGAB) recommend the 
release of additional plots for public sale in Section B of the cemetery in order to accommodate 
those interested in finding a final resting place in Greenwood Cemetery

 

BACKGROUND: On April 26, 2021, the City Commission released 38 plots for sale (resolution #04-128-21), limiting 
the sale to the most recently plotted graves in Sections B and C, lots 17-C, 16-C, 15-C and 14-A. 
As of July 3, 2023, 296 plots Sections B and C have been sold. Under the current authorized 
release there are 16 plots available. Historic sales for Greenwood Cemetery are as follows: 

Section 

2015 
- June

2018

July 
2018- 
June 
2019 

July 
2019 - 
June 
2020 

July 
2020- 
June 
2021 

July 
2021 - 
June 
2022 

July 
2022 - 
2023 
Total 

TOTAL 
Number 

of Graves 
Sold 

To Date 

TOTAL # of 
Graves 

Available 
Under 

Current 
Release 

Number of 
Graves 

Remaining 
(Unreleased) 

B 147 11 32 10 3 5 208 14 123 
C 52 5 10 9 3 9 88 2 0 

0 
TOTAL 199 16 42 19 6 14 296 16 123 

5F



2 

According to the May 24, 2023 Field Survey, of the 123 graves remaining on section B, 8 graves 
are unsuited for burial due to historic memorials and 43 graves are unsuitable at this time due to 
tree and tree root obstructions. Seventy-two of these graves are suitable for burial in addition to 
the 16 remaining graves in the current release. 

The Clerk’s Office and GCAB recommend that all plots in section 
purchase and not constrain available plots to specific lots . This   

ore flexibility for buyers who may be interested in purchasing space adjacent to other family 
members or in a place of their preference such as in a sunny spot or under a tree canopy. After 
20% of these plots are sold, GCAB will re-evaluate the current inventory, demand and pricing for 
each subsequent price increase. As the Clerk’s Office monitors sales, all future consideration of 
grave releases will be tentatively scheduled in increments of 20% of the remaining inventory. 

The prior practice of a lot-specific release is not recommended, as it is less accommodating to 
buyers. The largest complaint from prospective buyers is the limited options of plot locations. 
Demand for plots when the supply goes down will continue, but restricting the available plots will 
result in prospective buyers “holding out” for the next release to purchase the plot they desire. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The perpetual care fund portfolio’s ending fund balance on May 31, 2023 was $1,185,480.41. 

In the case of completely selling out the 16 released graves and 72 remaining unreleased plots 
suitable for burial, the following projections demonstrate the potential contribution to the 
perpetual care fund if the 88 remaining plots are sold: 

Unit Price Contribution to the Perpetual Care und for the sale of 88 plots 
$4,000.00 $352,000.00 
$5,000.00 $440,000.00 
$6,000.00 $528,000.00 

Additionally, the fees associated with additional burial rights of cremated remains and the 
transfer of ownership also contribute to the Perpetual Care Fund. 

There are several factors to consider regarding the perpetual care fund: 
The current market, interest rates and inflation make the end goal of reaching a
sustainable balance a moving target.
Even if all space in the cemetery were to sell, the fund balance will not reach $2 million
without the help of accrued interest over time.
Reaching a sustainable fund balance for the perpetual care of the cemetery is not
projected to happen in the near future; therefore, the ity will continue to fund routine
maintenance for the cemetery out of the general fund.

At this time, the ity budgets for cemetery maintenance to be paid out of the general fund. This 
includes lawn care, tree care, snow removal and other routine maintenance in the cemetery. 

5F



3 

Eventually revenues contributed to the erpetual are und and interest accrued should result in 
a fund balance that can sustain the cemetery’s maintenance needs. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The purpose of this recommendation by GCAB to increase fees and release graves for sale is to 
secure financial sustainability for Greenwood Cemetery through the Perpetual Care Fund and  
reduce the burden on taxpayers. The goal is to grow the the Perpetual Care Fund balance to an 
amount where the accrued interest on a yearly basis covers the cost of maintenance. 

PUBLIC COMUNICATIONS: 
The Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board meeting notices, agenda packets, and minutes are 
properly noticed according to the Open Meetings Act. The public is always welcome to 
participate virtually or in person at GCAB meetings. There were no comments from the public 
regarding this topic at a GCAB meeting.   

SUMMARY: 
Due to the depletion of available grave plots under the current release, continued interest in 
growing the Perpetual Care Fund balance and interest in accommodating persons wishing to 
secure final resting space in Greenwood Cemetery  fee schedule increases and a release of 
additional grave plots is recommended. 

GCAB last met on July 7, 2023 and voted 6 (Buchanan, Suter, Vercellone, Schreiner, Patt, 
Connell) to 1 (Peterson) to recommend the suggested action below.    

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Link to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board Meeting Packet of July 7, 2023
2. Greenwood Cemetery and Graves Sold/Available Map
3. May 24, 2023 Field Survey Map

SUGGESTED ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to amend the fee schedule to increase the following fees 
for Greenwood Cemetery: 

Greenwood Cemetery (126-26) Current Fee Recommended Fee   
Grave space accommodating one full burial or three cremations $4,000.00 $6,000.00 
Additional Rights of Burial for cremated remains, each $750.00 $1,000.00 
Grave space accommodating two cremated remains $2,600.00 $4,000.00 
Grave space accommodating one cremated remains $1,300.00 $2,000.00 

Administrative fee for transfer of grave ownership $200.00 $400.00 

o make a motion adopting a resolution to release the 88 available graves suitable for burial in 
the flush rows in Section B, and to direct GCAB to evaluate the fee schedule again for plot 
costs after 20% of these plots have been sold. 

5F



Lot 1-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 4-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 3-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 2-D 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 8-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 7-D 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 6-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 5-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 11-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 10-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 9-D 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 12-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 13-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 14-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 15-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 16-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 17-C 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 18-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 19-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23

Lot 20-A 2
1

4
3

6
5

8
7

10
9

12
11

14
13

16
15

18
17

20
19

22
21

24
23Se

ct
io

n 
C

Se
ct

io
n 

B

5F



5F

YE
LL

O
W

 - 
SO

LD
PU

R
PL

E 
- A

VA
IL

AB
LE

G
R

EE
N

 - 
TR

EE
BL

U
E 

- M
EM

O
R

IA
L



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE:  

TO:  

FROM: 

July 1 , 2023 

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Greg Wald, Police Captain 

APPROVED: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Parking Ticket Fine Schedule 

INTRODUCTION: 
The primary goal of parking enforcement is to regulate on-street and structure 
parking spaces and to gain compliance through enforcement.  Fines should be 
structured to encourage long-term parkers to use the structures versus the on-street 
spaces.  The City maintains a fee schedule that is reviewed and amended every year.  
This schedule has over 50 different fines and fees for varying items.  The Parking 
Offenses and Fines

.  While revenue is a byproduct of parking violations, it is not the primary 
objective of the Police Department or this review .  The 
primary objective  to 

keep and maintain order 
via deterrence.  

BACKGROUND: 
The parking violation fine schedule was last updated on February 22, 2010.  The 
Advisory Parking Committee (APC) briefly discussed raising meter violations in 
2015, but discovered the fines Birmingham imposed were in line with other local 
communities at the time.   

The current fine schedule is relatively straight forward; $10 for most meter 
violations, $15 for overtime violations in a time zone less than two hours, $30 for all 
other violations absent snow emergency and handicap violations.  Birmingham, along 
with many other communities with metered parking, has an increased fine for 
repeat offenders with multiple violations within the same calendar year.  The late fine 
for Birmingham violations is $10 for all violations other than snow emergency and 
handicap.   

Below is a comparison of communities with metered parking who impose fines 
locally, and not through the District Court.  It should be noted, some communities have 

5G



reduced fines for those paid within a short timeframe, like 24-72 hours.  For comparison’s 
sake, only the actual fine is included in this table.  

Expired Meter Repeat Offender 
Expired Meter Other Illegal Parking Handicap Violation 

Birmingham $10 $30 after 7 $30 $100 

Ferndale $30 None $35 $175 
Ann Arbor $25 None $35 $125 
Lansing $25 None $25-35 $110 

Royal Oak $20 None $50 $150 

Rochester $10 $100 after 6 $30 $100 

Birmingham has the lowest fine for expired meter violations.  The current maxi um fee 
in the structures, for a non-permit holder, is $10, which is the same fine one would 
be issued for parking at a meter without paying.  The fine structure does not deter 
parkers from using on-street parking.  Through discussions with Police  and Treasury 
Department personnel, it is strongly believed that some drivers are willing to pay a $10 
or even $30 fine to have a “premium” parking spot as opposed to the “inconvenience” of 
a parking structure.  Increasing the expired meter fine and repeat offender fine may help 
deter this behavior.  Additionally, moderate increases for other violations may help deter 
those violators in respective situations.  

A report was presented to the APC at the May 3, 2023 meeting.  Staff 
recommended increasing the fines for expired meter  to either $25 or $30, and repeat 
offender to either $50 or $60.  After discussion, the Committee unanimously 
voted to recommend the City Commission increase parking ticket fines as follows: 

Expired meter ticket- From $10 to $20
More than 5 expired meter tickets in a calendar year- From $30 to $100 
Handicap violation ticket- From $100 to $175   

This matter was also discussed at the Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) meeting 
on June 1, 2023.  After discussion, the committee unanimously voted to recommend  
the City Commission increase parking ticket fines as follows: 

Expired meter ticket- From $10 to $20 
More than seven (7) expired meter tickets in a calendar year- From $30 to $50 

There was no recommendation for handicap violations and it was asked that this 
is reviewed after six months. 

5G



Current late fees would remain the same, handicap tickets paid after 14 days would have 
a $25 late fee, and all other tickets paid after 14 days would have a $10 late fee. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has no objection to the recommended action. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
As noted, the purpose of this proposed change to meter violation fines is to deter violator 
behavior, therefore it is difficult to determine how many people will continue to violate 
parking regulations as a result of a fine change.  However, in 2022, the Police Department 
issued 37,661 expired meter tickets, 1,424 repeat offender expired meter tickets, and 
146 handicap violation tickets.  In 2022 the Treasury Department received $504,450 in 
parking ticket revenues.  

SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This item was posted, presented and discussed at the May 3, 2023 APC meeting and the 
June 1, 2023 BSD meeting. 

SUMMARY: 
The City’s Parking Offenses & Fines  last updated in 
February 2010.  Current parking ticket fines are some of the lowest in the region.  In an 
effort to maintain order and deter parking violators, the City Commission is being asked 
to increase certain parking ticket fines. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1) Current city parking fee schedule.
2) Minutes from the May 3, 2023 APC meeting.
3) Minutes from the June 1, 2023 BSD meeting.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to amend the City ee chedule as follows: 

Parking Offenses & Fines (If paid before 10 days / If paid after 10 days) 

Expired meter: First six offenses in calendar year $20/$30 
Expired meter: Seven offenses or more in calendar year $60/$70 
Handicap zone: $175/$200 

5G



City of Birmingham 2023 Fee Schedule

  Definitions Fee Schedule     Page 1 of 265G



City of Birmingham 2023 Fee Schedule

STANDARD INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS
Where insurance is required to be carried to make application for a permit or license, the applicant shall procure and 
maintain the following coverages and limits unless otherwise specified in this document.

Workers’ compensation insurance.   Workers’ compensation insurance, including employers’ liability coverage, in 
accordance with all applicable statutes of the state.  

Commercial general liability (CGL) insurance.  Commercial general liability insurance on an “occurrence basis,” with limits 
of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit, personal injury, bodily injury and property 
damage.  Coverage shall include broad form general liability extensions or equivalent.

Motor vehicle liability insurance. Motor vehicle liability insurance, including all applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit bodily injury and property damage.  Coverage 
shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles.

Additional insured.  Commercial general liability insurance and motor vehicle liability insurance as described above shall 
include an endorsement stating the following shall be Additional Insureds : The City of Birmingham, including all elected 
and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions and/or authorities and board members, 
including employees and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary to any other coverage that may be available 
to the additional insured, whether any other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

Professional liability.  Professional liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per claim if providing service 
that is customarily subject to this type of coverage.

Cancellation notice.  Thirty days advance written notice of insurance cancellation,  non-renewal and/or reduction or 
material change in coverage shall be provided to the city.  Notice of cancellation, material change or reduction shall be 
attached to the certificate of insurance, or otherwise evidenced as in effect under the policy listed.

Proof of insurance coverage.  The city shall be provided with certificates of insurance evidencing the coverages outlined 
above.

Expiration.  If any of the above coverages expire, renewal certificates and/or policies must be provided to the city at least 
ten days prior to the expiration date.

Acceptability of insurance company.  All coverages shall be with insurance carriers licensed to do business in the state.  All 
coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the city.

  Standard Insurance Requirements Fee Schedule     Page 2 of 26

5G



City of Birmingham 2023 Fee Schedule

FEE

$500.00
$500.00

no charge
$50.00

$10.00

$1.50
$1.00

$18.00

$360.00
$540.00
$88.29

$264.87
$441.45

$10/20
$30/40
$10/20
$15/25
$30/40
$30/40
$10/20
$10/20
$30/40
$30/40
$30/40

$100/125
$50/75
$30/40
$30/45

$210.00
$150.00
$180.00
$120.00
$180.00
$180.00

$8.00

$20.00
$30.00
$30.00
$50.00
$70.00

free
$2.00

Ann St. North

Hourly Meter Rates
High Demand (Areas Inside Central Core of Business District)

Monthly Outdoor Dining Meter Rental Fee for $1.00/Hour Meter
Monthly Outdoor Dining Meter Rental Fee for $1.50/Hour Meter
Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - minimum fee (cost)
Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - 1 meter space (cost)
Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - 2 meter spaces (cost)

Keys in ignition or ignition unlocked
Other illegal parking
No parking here to corner

Expired meter: eight offenses or more in calendar year
Overtime in non-metered zone

Expired meter: first seven offenses in calendar

Stopping, standing or parking where prohibited
Overtime in a time zone: 2 hours or longer
Overtime in a time zone: less than 2 hours

Residential Permit Parking (110-136 - 110-150)
Lot 12 - SE Corner Maple & Woodward

South Old Woodward
Lot 11 - NW Corner Maple & Woodward

Less than 2 hours
Less than 3 hours

Residential parking permit per household (includes 2 resident and 3 visitor permits for a two-year 
period)

Permit Parking - Chester St. Structure
Permit Parking - All Others

Lower Demand (Areas Outside Central Core of Business District)

Parking Meters

Parking Structure Rates

Meter Bags

Outdoor Dining Metered Space for Platform
Daily Fee

Parking Offenses & Fines (If paid before 10 days/If paid after 10 days)

Parking Permits

POLICE DEPARTMENT
Alcohol*:
 Specially Designated Distributor 
 Specially Designated Merchant 

False Alarm fees (74-31):
 First false alarm per calendar year 
 All subsequent false alarms per calendar year 

*Fee for liquor license inspection may be waived at the discretion of the City Manager where an applicant 
seeks to change the liquor license by the removal of a licensee from the license and the licensed 
establishment is not in operation.

Fingerprints
 Full set of fingerprints; said fee shall be in addition to any license or permit fee which requires fingerprints to 
be taken and/or submitted to the Michigan State Police or the Federal Bureau of Investigation 

Activation fee per AVI card
Returned checks

Illegal parking in permit area
Illegal parking on private property

Parking Structure Permit Parking
Deposit (any cards returned after six-months not eligible for refund)

Meter Permit Parking (3 Months)
Lot 6 - Regular
Lot 6 - Restricted

Handicap zone
Violation of snow emergency parking ordinance

Parking over the meter line
Back into parking lot space

  Police Fee Schedule     Page 24 of 26

5G



City of Birmingham 2023 Fee Schedule

$4.00
$6.00
$8.00

$10.00
$10.00
$10.00
$5.00

$20.00

$500.00
$750.00

$1,000.00

$216.00

$50.00

$500.00

$10.00

$25.00
$50.00
$25.00
$25.00
$25.00

Less than 4 hours
Less than 5 hours

101-200 cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month
1-100 cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month

Parking for Valet Licenses

Valet parking card deposit, per card

Less than 6 hours
Over 6 hours
Over 7 hours
Over 8 hours
Maximum Fee After 10:00PM

Valet Parking in City Owned Structures

201 and above cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month
Valet Parking Meter

Valet Monthly Bag fee

Vehicle Identification Number Inspection Fee
Vehicle Impounding Fee
Vehicle Inspection Fee

Fees per car:

Annual Application Fee
Insurance:  The owner of every pedicab or commercial quadricycle shall procure and file with the city clerk a 
liability insurance policy or similar proof of insurance issued by an insurance company authorized to do 
business in the state.  The amount of such liability insurance for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle shall 
be as follows:  An amount of not less than $2,000,000 because of bodily injury to or death of any one 
person; in an amount of $2,000,000 because of bodily injury of two or more persons in any one accident; in 
an amount of not less than $2,000,000 in medical coverage for each passenger.  Such policy of insurance 
may be in the form of a separate policy for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle, or may be in the fleet 
policy covering all pedicabs or commercial quadricycles operated by such owner; provided, however, that 
such a policy provide for the same amount of liability for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle operated.  
Provided further, such policy shall name the City of Birmingham as an additional insured, and no such policy 
as required above may be cancelled until the expiration of 30 days after notice of intent to cancel has been 
given in writing to the city clerk of the City by registered mail or personal delivery of such notice and a 
provision to that effect is made a part of such policy.
Precious Metals  Dealers 26-161
 Annual License Fee 

Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)

Preliminary breath test (PBT) each
Stray Animal Fines:

Licensed pet properly immunized, first offense
Second offense within twelve month period

Pedi-cabs & Commercial 

  Police Fee Schedule     Page 25 of 26

5G



Advisory Parking Committee 
Meeting of May 3, 2023 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes 

These are the minutes of the Advisory Parking Committee ("APC") regular meeting held on 
Wednesday, May 3, 2023. The meeting was called to order at 7:30 a.m. by Chair Vaitas. 

1. Rollcall

Present: Chair Al Vaitas, Vice-Chair Richard Astrein; Jim Arpin, Kevin Kozlowski, 
Mary-Claire Petcoff, Lisa Silverman, Jennifer Yert 

Absent: Lisa Clark, Kelly Cobb 

Staff: Parking Systems Manager Ford; City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn, Police Captain 
Wald 

SP+: Catherine Burch 

2. Introductions
3. Approval Of Minutes: Meeting Of February 1, 2023

Motion by VC Astrein 
Seconded by Ms. Yert to accept the minutes of February 1, 2023 as amended. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Vaitas, Kozlowski, Astrein, Petcoff, Arpin, Silverman, Yert 
Nays:  None 

4. Moped parking – Poles/bollards installed – Waiting on ETA on sleeves

PSM Ford presented the item. 

Motion by Mr. Kozlowski 
Seconded by VC Astrein to recommend that the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
install bicycle parking in the moped parking spaces. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Vaitas, Kozlowski, Astrein, Petcoff, Arpin, Silverman, Yert 
Nays:  None 

5. Parking Citations – Propose to increase fines for various citations – Captain Wald to

5G



present 
 
PC Wald presented the item and answered informational questions from the APC. 
 
Dr. Silverman recommended that the fines for expired meters remain low, and that the fine for 
multiple violations be raised. She said there was not evidence that a higher fine would deter 
parkers from letting their meters expire. She noted that gaining revenue from the parking system 
was not the APC’s or City’s primary goal. She also noted there was some public reaction to parking 
changes in a nearby municipality, and that those concerns could affect the impression of potential 
parking changes in Birmingham as well. 
 
Ms. Yert concurred. 
 
The Chair said that parking violations are avoidable.  
 
VC Astrein said the majority of offenders were merchants, not patrons of the City’s businesses.  
 
VC Astrein agreed with Dr. Silverman that an increase in fines for repeat meter violations was 
appropriate. 
 
PC Wald summarized the aforementioned parking changes in the nearby municipality at the 
request of the Chair.  
 
Motion by VC Astrein 
Seconded by Mr. Kozlowski to recommend to the City Commission an increase in 
expired meter violation to $20, and $100 after five violations in a calendar year. Also 
to increase the parking violations to $175 for handicap.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Vaitas, Kozlowski, Astrein, Petcoff, Arpin, Silverman, Yert 
Nays:  None 
 
6. Monthly Parking 
 
PSM Ford presented the items. PSM Ford and Ms. Burch answered informational questions from 
the APC. 
 

a. Increase Monthly rate – Starting July 1st 
 
VC Astrein suggested that a premium be added to the most heavily utilized garages. Dr. Silverman 
concurred. 
 
Motion by Dr. Silverman 
Seconded by VC Astrein to raise the monthly rate for Chester to $70, Old Woodward, 
Park, and Peabody to $90, and Pierce to $100 per month. 
 

5G



Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Vaitas, Kozlowski, Astrein, Petcoff, Arpin, Silverman, Yert 
Nays:  None 
 

b. Survey 
c. Increase allocation to sell? 

i. Park St. Garage – increase by 100 passes 
ii. Pierce St. Garage – increase by 50 passes 

 
Ms. Petcoff said she was concerned about those with parking passes not being able to find a 
parking spot in their assigned parking deck around lunchtime.  
 
PSM Ford and Ms. Burch said that the approach was incremental for that reason and that the 
counts would be monitored daily.  
 
Motion by Dr. Silverman 
Seconded by Ms. Yert to increase the Park St. Garage by 100 passes and the Pierce 
St. Garage by 50. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas:  Vaitas, Kozlowski, Astrein, Petcoff, Arpin, Silverman, Yert 
Nays:  None 
 
7.  Addendums to Two Contracts 
 
PSM Ford summarized the items and answered informational questions from the APC. 
 
Ms. Yert noted that the increased fees were helping improve the parking garages and that the 
public should be made aware of that.  
 

a. WJE Amendment - $192,000 – Park St. Garage Façade Alternative 
b. Traffic & Safety - $72,706 – N. Old Woodward island replacement 

 
8. N. Old Woodward Garage Construction 
 
PSM Ford summarized the items and answered informational questions from the APC. 
 

a. Pulling ahead construction of this garage. 
b. Bid Opening – 4/28/23 
c. Project work to start May 9th with a completion of October 31st 
d. Peabody and Chester Garages next 

 
9. Misc. Communication 
 

5G



PSM Ford summarized the items. 

a. March APS Update
b. RH Article

10. Meeting open to the public for items not on the agenda

In reply to VC Astrein, PC Wald said there were ongoing discussions regarding enforcement and 
parking for delivery services.  

In reply to Mr. Arpin, PSM Ford said that the City was working on increasing electric vehicle (EV) 
charging capacity, and that updating the garages to accommodate EV charging in the future was 
part of the garage updates. PSM Ford also stated that weight allowances were being assessed 
for the parking garages. 

In reply to Ms. Yert, PSM Ford and Ms. Burch stated that some positive feedback had been 
received regarding the parking garage entry and exit systems. They also noted that lines to enter 
and exit the garages were less long.  

In reply to APC inquiry, PSM Ford provided answers about APC vacancies. 

11. Adjournment

No further business being evident, the meeting adjourned at 8:36 a.m. 

Aaron Ford, Parking Systems Manager Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



5G



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: July 24, 2023 

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Set Public Hearing for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock Italian Chophouse – Special Land 
Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review 

INTRODUCTION: 
The applicant has submitted a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review 
application for a new food and drink establishment serving alcoholic liquors for on premise 
consumption in the historic Birmingham Grand Trunk Western Railroad Depot building. The subject 
site is located on the east side of S. Eton, south of Maple.  

The applicant is proposing a new restaurant concept, Big Rock Italian Chophouse Italian 
Chophouse, with little change to the existing building and site. The proposal includes a new 
outdoor dining area on the south side of the building, replacement of select existing materials, 
new fixtures/furnishings, new signage, and minor façade changes. 

BACKGROUND: 
On July 12, 2023 (Agenda), the Planning Board moved to recommend approval to the City 
Commission of the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for all new
mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning Ordinance;

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of up to 5
feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for the purpose of an
8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City receiving a TAP Grant for the
proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June 21st, 2023 and subsequently amended;

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-street loading
space at the minimum dimensions required;

4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to Article 4,
Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;

5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor dining
standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance and must remove the
proposed roof and roll down screens on the outdoor dining facility;

5H



6.

7.

The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and signs that
meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and
The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

A complete set of updated site/design plans that address all of the conditions of approval from the 
Planning Board and departmental comments will be provided to the City Commission at the public 
hearing.  

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed this request and has no objections as to form and content. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
Not pplicable

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan Reviews, a legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request in advance of the July 12, 
2023 Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants within 
300 ft. of the property. In addition, a second round of notices will be sent out to advertise the 
public hearing at the City Commission meeting on August 28, 2023. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission set a public hearing date of August 28, 
2023 to consider the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 
245 S. Eton – Big Rock Italian Chophouse.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
Please see attached the following documents: 

Special Land Use Permit Resolution (subject to change)
Planning Board Report
Current Site/Design Plans

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to set a public hearing date of August 28, 2023 to consider 
the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 245 S. Eton – Big 
Rock Italian Chophouse. 

5H



Big Rock Italian Chophouse  
245 S. Eton 

Special Land Use Permit 2023 

WHEREAS, A Special Land Use Permit application was filed in June 2023 for approval of 
a new food and drink establishment serving alcoholic liquors for on premise consumption in the 
historic Birmingham Grand Trunk Western Railroad Depot building at 245 S. Eton; 

WHEREAS, The land for which the Special Land Use Permit is sought is located on the 
east side of S. Eton, south of Maple Rd.; 

WHEREAS, The land is zoned B2B (General Business), which permits alcoholic 
beverage sales for on premise consumption with a Special Land Use Permit; 

WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 
Permit to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after receiving 
recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the proposed Special 
Land Use; 

WHEREAS, The Planning Board on July 12, 2023 reviewed the application for a Special Land 
Use Permit,  Final Site Plan and Design Review and recommended approval to the City 
Commission with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for all
new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning
Ordinance;

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of up
to 5 feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for the
purpose of an 8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City receiving a
TAP Grant for the proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June 21st, 2023 and
subsequently amended;

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-street
loading space at the minimum dimensions required;

4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to Article
4, Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;

5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor dining
standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance and must remove the
proposed roof and roll down screens on the outdoor dining facility;

6. The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and
signs that meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and

7. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

WHEREAS, The applicant has complied with the conditions of approval required by the 
Planning Board and all City Departments; 

WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission conducted a public hearing on August 
28, 2023, and has reviewed Big Rock Italian Chophouse’s Special Land Use Permit 
application and the standards for such review as set forth in Article 7, section 7.36 of Chapter 
126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

5H



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the 
standards imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and that 
Big Rock Italian Chophouse’s application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design 
Review at 245 S. Eton is hereby approved; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to ensure 
continued compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this 
Special Land Use Permit is granted subject to the following conditions: 

1. Big Rock Italian Chophouse shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham
City Code;

2. Big Rock Italian Chophouse shall comply with the conditions of approval
assigned by the Planning Board and City Commission; and

3. The Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission
upon finding that the continued use is not in the public interest.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall 
result in termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, Big Rock Italian 
Chophouse and its heirs, successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City 
of Birmingham in effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently 
amended. Failure of Big Rock Italian Chophouse to comply with all the ordinances of the City 
may result in the Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

BE FURTHER RESOLVED that Big Rock Italian Chophouse is recommended for approval 
of a new food and drink establishment serving alcoholic liquors for on premise consumption in 
the historic Birmingham Grand Trunk Western Railroad Depot building, above all others, subject 
to final inspection. 

I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on August 28, 2023. 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  

5H



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: July 12, 2023  

TO: Planning Board Members 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: 245 S. Eton – Big Rock — Special Land Use Permit (SLUP), Final Site Plan & Design 
Review  

The applicant has submitted a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review 
application for a new food and drink establishment serving alcoholic liquors for on premise 
consumption in the historic Birmingham Grand Trunk Western Railroad Depot building. The 
subject site is located on the east side of S. Eton, south of Maple.  

The applicant is proposing a new restaurant concept, Big Rock Italian Chophouse, with little 
change to the existing building and site. The proposals include a new outdoor dining area on the 
south side of the building, replacement of select existing materials, new fixtures/furnishings, new 
signage, and minor façade changes. 

On April 19, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Historic District Commission (HDC) reviewed and 
approved a Design Review application for the changes proposed to the historic building. During 
the review, the HDC focused predominantly on the changes to the historic building itself, as well 
as changes that directly affected the historic façade. As noted in the report, many of the changes 
(outdoor dining, mechanicals, etc.) were to be left to the Planning Board at Special Land Use 
Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review. 

The Birmingham Code of Ordinances states that a contract for transfer and a Special Land Use 
Permit are required for all licenses approved under Chapter 10 – Alcoholic Liquors. The licensee 
must comply with all provisions of the contract and Special Land Use Permit, and any amendments 
thereto as a condition of granting of a requested transfer. Accordingly, the applicant must obtain 
a recommendation from the Planning Board on the Special Land Use and Final Site Plan/Design 
Review application, which is then reviewed for final consideration by the City Commission.  

5H



1.0 Land Use and Zoning 
 

1.1 Existing Land Use – The existing site is a vacant two-story commercial building, 
which is a designated historic resource. 

 
1.2 Existing Zoning – B2B General-Business) 

 
1.3 Summary of Adjacent Land Use and Zoning – The following chart summarizes 

the existing land use and zoning adjacent to and/or in the vicinity of the subject 
site. 

 
 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use 

Public 
Property   

Commercial/ 
Residential Public Property   Residential 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

PP (Public 
Property) 

MX (Mixed-
Use 

PP (Public 
Property) 

R6 (Multiple-
Family 

Residential) 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
2.0 Setback and Height Requirements 

There are no additions or modifications being proposed to the current building or its 
setbacks, height or area.  

 
3.0 Screening and Landscaping 

 
3.1 Dumpster Screening – The applicant does not appear to be making any changes 

to the dumpster conditions on site. The site currently contains a dumpster 
enclosure on the south side of the building that appears to meet the 
requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. As a note, the Planning Division has 
observed receptacles placed outside of the enclosure in the past (including 
grease disposal containers). The new tenant is expected to maintain a neat and 
orderly dumpster enclosure area with all receptacles located within the 
enclosure. 
 

3.2 Parking Lot Screening – There are no changes proposed to the existing parking 
lot or existing capped masonry screen wall. The existing screen wall appears to 
meet current ordinances. 

 
3.3 Mechanical Equipment Screening – The applicant has submitted mechanical 

plans that appear to demonstrate several new units on both the ground and the 

5H



roof of the building. Most of the areas proposed for new units have been used 
for mechanical equipment in the past, with some new locations proposed. The 
locations are all on the rear of the building. Although the new units are in the 
rear of the building and adjacent to a railroad, all new units are required to be 
screened from view. As observed in the following photograph, several of the 
existing units (and areas where new units are proposed) are clearly visible from 
adjacent properties: 

 

 

Thus, the applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide 
screening for all new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, 
Section 4.54 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
3.4 Landscaping – Although landscaping is not required for the site, the applicant is 

proposing several new landscaping beds on the site adjacent to the building 
while also proposing to maintain existing trees and the ivy currently covering 
much of the existing façade. The applicant is proposing the following plantings: 
 
Planting Type Location Quantity 
Pink Flair Flowering Cherry Tree South side 2 
Northern Charm Boxwood North side 40 
Sprinter Boxwood North/south side 42 
Kelsey Red Twig Dogwood North side 26 
Annabelle Hydrangea South side 5 
Emerald Green Arborvitae South Side 20 
Karl Forester Feather Reed Grass North Side 29 
All Gold Japanese Forest Grass North/south side 76 
Risky Business Hosta North side 21 

5H



Creeping Lilyturf North/south side 104 
Tara Prairie Dropseed North side 32 

 
In terms of the proposed landscaping, none of the plantings are directly listed 
on the Prohibited Species List in Article 4, Section 4.20 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
However, the proposed Pink Flair Flowering Cherry Tree does produce a small 
fruit, which could make the tree a succulent fruit-bearing tree, which is indeed 
located on the prohibited species list. In addition, the proposed Creeping Lilyturf, 
although not on the Prohibited Species List, is considered invasive according to 
the Invasive Plant Atlas of the United States.  
 
The Planning Board should discuss these issues and determine 
whether or not any changes will be required. 

 
3.5 Streetscape – There are no new streetscape items proposed as a part of this 

Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site Plan/Design Review 
application. However, as a part of the broader S. Eton Reconstruction project, 
the City has approached the property owner regarding an easement to continue 
a bike path north to better connect with the bicycle infrastructure on N. Eton. 
The change to the property would be nominal from a visual perspective, and 
would be located north of the building and its outdoor dining components where 
the road begins to turn. The potential change in the site is tied to a 
Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) grant funding opportunity that the 
City has applied for. At this time, the Planning Division has included in the 
approval language below a condition that states that the property owner work 
with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of up to 5 feet attached to the 
sidewalk north of the existing historic building for the purpose of an 8’-10’ wide 
shared use path, contingent upon the City receiving a TAP Grant for the proposed 
S. Eton project, applied for on June 21st, 2023 and subsequently amended. 

 
4.0 Parking, Loading and Circulation 

 
4.1 Parking – Please see the below breakdown of the parking required for the Big 

Rock, as well as the other sites that utilize the nearby private parking structure 
(figures derived from December 16, 2021 parking analysis from the District Lofts 
Phase III review and updated with more specific Big Rock figures):  
 
 
(This space intentionally left blank) 

 
 
 

5H



Property Required Off-Street Parking 
Big Rock Chophouse 162  
2051 Villa (Building A) 49 
375 S. Eton (Building B) 56 
325 S. Eton (Building C) 73 
FAR Overages 57 
Total Required 397 
Total Provided 403 

 
4.2 Loading – Based on the size of the building and the commercial use, the applicant 

is required to provide one off-street loading space measuring the minimum 
dimensions of 40 ft. x 12 ft. x 14 ft. The site plans submitted do not explicitly 
designate a loading area, although it is apparent that there is plenty of room on 
the site for one. Still, the applicant must submit revised site/design plans 
demonstrating one off-street loading space at the minimum 
dimensions required. 

 
4.3 Vehicular Circulation and Access – Vehicular circulation and access is not 

proposed to change. The site will retain the existing drive approach from S. Eton, 
as well as the existing circular drive and parking facility. 

 
4.4 Pedestrian Circulation and Access – Pedestrian circulation and access is not 

proposed to change. The site will retain the existing pedestrian walkways and 
main pedestrian entrance. 

 
5.0 Lighting 

The applicant is proposing new lantern-style light fixtures on the pergola posts, pendant 
lighting, as well as replacement accent lighting along key areas of the facade. In 
addition, the applicant is proposing to maintain several existing fixtures in the parking 
lot/circulation area in front of the building. Due to the perceived minimal impact of these 
new fixtures, the Planning Division did not seek a photometric plan beyond what was 
submitted (existing lighting) pursuant to Article 4, Section 4.21 (C) of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 
In addition, the Planning Division has reviewed the specification sheets provided and 
determined that none of the proposed fixtures are cutoff or full cutoff as defined by the 
Zoning Ordinance. Exception to cutoff luminaries can be made at the discretion of the 
Planning Board under any of the following conditions: 
 

1. The distribution of upward light is controlled by means of refractors or shielding 
to the effect that it be used solely for the purpose of decorative enhancement of 
the luminaire itself and does not expel undue ambient light into the nighttime 
environment. 

5H



2. The luminaire is neither obtrusive nor distracting, nor will it create a traffic hazard 
or otherwise adversely impact public safety, with appropriate methods used to 
eliminate undesirable glare and/or reflections. 

3. The luminaire is consistent with the intent of the Master Plan, Urban Design 
Plan(s), Triangle district plan, Rail District plan and/or Downtown Birmingham 
2016 Report, as applicable. 

4. The scale, color, design or material of the luminaire will enhance the site on 
which it is located, as well as be compatible with the surrounding buildings or 
neighborhood. 

5. Lighting designed for architectural enhancement of building features (i.e. 
architectural enhancement lighting). Appropriate methods shall be used to 
minimize reflection and glare. 

6. The site lighting meets all requirements set forth in this ordinance including, but 
not limited to, light trespass and nuisance violations. 

 
The Planning Board should review the information provided and provide a 
waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures based on the above criteria.  

 
6.0 Design Review 

As noted above, the Historic District Commission performed a historic Design Review for 
the proposal, which is summarized below. Each item has also been re-reviewed for 
applicability to other sections of the Zoning Ordinance that the HDC may not have 
considered. 
 
Trim: The applicant is proposing to paint all of the trim and half-timber details black 
(Benjamin Moore “Black”). The existing trim was painted red as a part of the Big Rock 
Chop and Brew House renovations.  
 
Awnings: There are awnings currently located in several places on the building. The 
applicant is proposing to remove all of the existing awnings from the historic portion of 
the building. As for the awnings on the addition at the north side of the building, the 
applicant is proposing to re-cover and reinstall the awnings in the same locations 
(Sunbrella “Slate” fabric awnings). 
 
Façade: There are no changes proposed to the main façade of the building. However, 
the applicant is proposing new façade materials on the north side of the addition portion 
of the building. The new material is stained wood (“Cabot Semi Transparent – Black”). 
In addition, the slightly pitched roof that currently contains a striped fabric material is 
proposed to be replaced with a standing seam metal roof. There are no specific 
architectural standards that are required to be met in this zoning district.  

 
Outdoor Dining: The applicant is proposing to maintain an existing outdoor dining patio 
located on the north side of the building, which will contain 46-seats. The applicant is 
also proposing a new outdoor dining patio on the south side of the building, which will 
replace an existing valet stand and landscaped area. This new patio will contain 42-

5H



seats. Both patios will be covered by a wood pergola. Each pergola will have a clear 
polycarbonate roof.  
 
Overall, the applicant is required to familiarize themselves with the Outdoor Dining 
Standards outlined in Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance. Some design-
related standards that should be discussed in this report are: 
 

1. All outdoor dining elements, fixtures and furnishings must be constructed of high 
quality and durable materials that are compatible with the establishment and the 
environment in which the outdoor dining facility is located. 

 The Planning Division has some concerns about the proposed 
polycarbonate roofing system on the pergolas. The material appears to 
be somewhat fragile and susceptible to discoloration.  
 

2. Outdoor dining facilities shall provide and service refuse containers within the 
outdoor dining facility and maintain the area in good order. Public trash 
receptacles are not permitted to be utilized by outdoor dining facilities. 
 

 The site plans submitted do not show a trash receptacle within either of 
the outdoor dining facilities. 
 

3. Outdoor dining facilities shall not contain enclosures as defined in Article 9, 
Section 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

 Enclosure is defined as “a vertical wall, panel, or other material that 
extends above 42 in. in height which provides extended relief from 
weather and impedes physical and/or visual access to the outdoor dining 
space. For the purposes of this definition, enclosure does not include 
exterior building walls.” There are two issues related to enclosures in 
regards to the outdoor dining patios on the site/design plans submitted. 
First, the proposed 4 ft. evergreen hedge provides a visual impediment 
to the outdoor dining facilities at a height greater than 42 in. Second, the 
applicant is proposing “seasonal roll down screens” which is considered 
an enclosure as well. 
 

4. Barriers defining outdoor dining facilities shall be constructed of quality and 
durable materials, and shall be maintained and placed in a consistent and 
organized fashion. Barriers may not exceed 42 inches in height measured from 
grade or finished floor. 
 

 As noted above, the evergreen barriers proposed at 4 ft. (48 in.) exceed 
the permitted height for barriers. 

5H



 
In summary , there are several outdoor dining-related issues that need to be resolved 
with this proposal. Thus, the applicant must submit revised site/design plans 
that meet the outdoor dining standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Signage: The applicant is proposing at least one new sign as a part of this application, 
with a possibility for a second sign. The clearer proposal is a canopy sign (“BIG ROCK”) 
located above the main entrance. In short, the proposed canopy sign does not appear 
to meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance, as it exceeds the maximum permitted 
height of a canopy sign. Less clear is what appears to be a small ground sign in the 
landscape island in the circulation area that appears to be made of stone with metal 
letters affixed to the face. This sign may be permitted, but the Planning Division does 
not have sufficient detail at this time. Thus, the applicant must revise the 
site/design plans to include sufficient details and signs that meet the 
requirements of the Sign Ordinance. 

 
7.0 Required Attachments 

 
 Submitted Not Submitted Not Required 
Existing Conditions Plan    
Detailed and Scaled Site Plan    
Certified Land Survey    
Interior Floor Plans    
Landscape Plan    
Photometric Plan    
Colored Elevations    
Material Specification Sheets    
Material Samples    
Site & Aerial Photographs    

 
8.0 Approval Criteria 

In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

5H



(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property nor 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 
 

In addition, Article 7, Section 7.26 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit 
to meet the following criteria: 
 

(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this 
Zoning Ordinance. 

(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural environment, 
and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by the land use. 

(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
9.0 Recommendation 

Based on a review of the site plan submitted, the Planning Division recommends that 
the Planning Board recommend APPROVAL of the Special Land Use and Final Site 
Plan/Design Review application for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for 
all new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning 
Ordinance; 

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of 
up to 5 feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for 
the purpose of an 8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City 
receiving a TAP Grant for the proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June 
21st, 2023 and subsequently amended; 

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-
street loading space at the minimum dimensions required; 

4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to 
Article 4, Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;  

5H



5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor 
dining standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance; 

6. The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and 
signs that meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and 

7. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

10.0 Sample Motion Language (FFinal Site Plan & Design Review ) 
 

Motion to recommend for APPROVAL the Final Site Plan & Design Review for 245 S. 
Eton – Big Rock – subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for 
all new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning 
Ordinance; 

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of 
up to 5 feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for 
the purpose of an 8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City 
receiving a TAP Grant for the proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June 
21st, 2023 and subsequently amended; 

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-
street loading space at the minimum dimensions required; 

4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to 
Article 4, Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;  

5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor 
dining standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance; 

6. The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and 
signs that meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and 

7. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Final Site Plan & Design Review for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – 
pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for 
all new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning 
Ordinance; 

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of 
up to 5 feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for 
the purpose of an 8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City 
receiving a TAP Grant for the proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June 
21st, 2023 and subsequently amended; 

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-
street loading space at the minimum dimensions required; 

5H



4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to
Article 4, Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;

5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor
dining standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance;

6. The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and
signs that meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and

7. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

OR 

Motion to recommend for DENIAL to the City Commission the Final Site Plan & Design 
Review for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – for the following reasons: 

1. ________________________________________________________________
2. ________________________________________________________________
3. ________________________________________________________________

11.0 Sample Motion Language (SSpecial Land Use Permit) 

Motion to recommend for APPROVAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use 
Permit for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – subject to the conditions of Final Site Plan & Design 
Review approval. 

OR 

Motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – pending 
receipt of the following: 

1. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans and provide screening for
all new mechanical units in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning
Ordinance;

2. The property owner work with City Staff to provide an easement to the City of
up to 5 feet attached to the sidewalk north of the existing historic building for
the purpose of an 8’-10’ wide shared use path, contingent upon the City
receiving a TAP Grant for the proposed S. Eton project, applied for on June
21st, 2023 and subsequently amended;

3. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans demonstrating one off-
street loading space at the minimum dimensions required;

4. The Planning Board grants a waiver for non-cutoff light fixtures pursuant to
Article 4, Section 4.21 (D)(1) of the Zoning Ordinance;

5. The applicant must submit revised site/design plans that meet the outdoor
dining standards of Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance;

5H



6. The applicant must revise the site/design plans to include sufficient details and 
signs that meet the requirements of the Sign Ordinance; and 

7. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to recommend for DENIAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit 
for 245 S. Eton – Big Rock – for the following reasons: 
 

1. ________________________________________________________________ 
2. ________________________________________________________________ 
3. ________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

5H



Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

B
IR

M
IN

G
H

A
M

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

 D
IV

IS
IO

N

5H



Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

Se
as

on
al

 D
ro

p
 D

ow
n

 S
h

ad
es

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



P
R

O
P

O
SE

D
  3

-D
 V

ie
w

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

P
A

V
E

R
, P

A
IN

T,
 S

TA
IN

 &
 A

W
N

IN
G

Fa
b

ri
c 

A
w

n
in

g
s

Su
n

b
re

lla
 

Sl
at

e 
4

68
4

-0
0

0
0

P
ai

n
t

Tr
im

, S
of

fit
s,

 T
re

lli
s,

an
d

 W
in

d
ow

s:
B

en
ja

m
in

 M
oo

re
 

B
la

ck
 H

C
-1

90

St
ai

n
Si

d
in

g
 a

t 
N

or
th

 P
ri

va
te

 
D

in
in

g
 R

oo
m

:
V

er
ti

ca
l T

&
G

 W
oo

d
, 

St
ai

n
ed

 
C

ab
ot

 S
em

i-T
ra

n
sp

ar
en

t 
- B

la
ck

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

P
at

io
 P

av
er

s
K

ro
n

os
 P

en
n

sy
lv

an
ia

 
A

sh
la

r 
P

at
te

rn
M

ix
 o

f C
ol

or
s 

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

R
O

O
FI

N
G

 A
T 

E
X

TE
R

IO
R

 P
A

TI
O

S
 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

Se
as

on
al

 R
ol

e 
D

ow
n

 S
cr

ee
n

s 
at

 P
er

g
ol

a 
St

ru
ct

u
re

s

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

P
O

R
C

H
 W

A
LL

 S
C

O
N

C
E

 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

R
E

P
LA

C
E

M
E

N
T 

LI
G

H
TS

 A
N

D
 L

A
M

P
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



FI
N

IS
H

E
S 

A
N

D
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LS
:

P
A

TI
O

 L
IG

H
TS

, F
A

N
S,

 H
E

A
TE

R
S 

B
ig

 R
oc

k 
| I

ta
lia

n
 C

h
op

 H
ou

se
 

24
5 

S.
 E

to
n

, B
ir

m
in

g
h

am
, M

ic
h

ig
an

Ju
n

e 
9t

h
, 2

0
23

5H



5H



5H



5H



ETON ROAD (WIDTH VARIES-PUBLIC)

GRAND TRUNK W
ESTERN RAILROAD (W

IDTH VARIES)

B
E
N
C
H
M
A
R
K

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
/ T

op
og

ra
ph

ic
Su

rv
ey

SP
01

S
C

A
L

E
:

Pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 N

or
th

ea
st

 1
4

of
 S

ec
tio

n 
31

T
. 2

 N
or

th
, R

. 1
1 

E
as

t
C

ity
 o

f B
ir

m
in

gh
am

,
O

ak
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y,
 M

ic
hi

ga
n

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
be

lo
w

Ca
ll

be
fo

re
 y

ou
 d

ig
.

R

C
am

er
on

 M
itc

he
ll

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

C
on

ta
ct

: R
an

dy
 R

ob
er

ty
Ph

: (
38

0)
 2

19
-2

58
2

O
ld

 B
ig

 R
oc

k 
R

es
ta

ur
an

t

S
E

A
L

M
ay

 2
5,

 2
02

3

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

C
L

I
E

N
T

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

  
  

  
  

  
  

I
S
S
U

E
D

/
R

E
V

I
S
E

D

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

D
E

S
I
G

N
E

D
 B

Y
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 B
Y

:

D
A

T
E

:

s
h

e
e

t
 n

o
.

E
10
3-
04

N
F

E
 J

O
B

 N
O

.N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

G
. B

ur
r

K
. N

av
ar

ol
i

L
oc

at
io

n 
 M

ap

N
F

Si
te

N
F

5H



ETON ROAD (WIDTH VARIES-PUBLIC)

GRAND TRUNK W
ESTERN RAILROAD (W

IDTH VARIES)

B
E
N
C
H
M
A
R
K

E
ng

in
ee

ri
ng

 S
ite

 P
la

n

S
C

A
L

E
:

Pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 N

or
th

ea
st

 1
4

of
 S

ec
tio

n 
31

T
. 2

 N
or

th
, R

. 1
1 

E
as

t
C

ity
 o

f B
ir

m
in

gh
am

,
O

ak
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y,
 M

ic
hi

ga
n

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
be

lo
w

Ca
ll

be
fo

re
 y

ou
 d

ig
.

R

C
am

er
on

 M
itc

he
ll

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

C
on

ta
ct

: R
an

dy
 R

ob
er

ty
Ph

: (
38

0)
 2

19
-2

58
2

O
ld

 B
ig

 R
oc

k 
R

es
ta

ur
an

t

S
E

A
L

M
ay

 2
5,

 2
02

3

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

C
L

I
E

N
T

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N

S
H

E
E

T

D
A

T
E

  
  

  
  

  
  

I
S
S
U

E
D

/
R

E
V

I
S
E

D

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

D
E

S
I
G

N
E

D
 B

Y
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 B
Y

:

D
A

T
E

:

s
h

e
e

t
 n

o
.

E
10
3-
04

N
F

E
 J

O
B

 N
O

.N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

SP
02

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

A
. E

iz
em

be
r

A
. E

iz
em

be
r

P.
 W

ill
ia

m
s

L
oc

at
io

n 
 M

ap

N
F

Si
te

N
F

5H



T
re

e 
R

em
ov

al
 P

la
n

S
C

A
L

E
:

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
be

lo
w

Ca
ll

be
fo

re
 y

ou
 d

ig
.

R

S
E

A
L

05
-0

1-
20

23

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

C
L

I
E

N
T

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N

S
H

E
E

T

R
E

V
I
S
I
O

N
S

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

D
E

S
I
G

N
E

D
 B

Y
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 B
Y

:

D
A

T
E

:

s
h

e
e

t
 n

o
.

N
F

E
 J

O
B

 N
O

.

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

i

N
F

N

S

W

E

L
1

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

1"
 =

 2
0'

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

i

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

iN
F

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

Pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 N

E
 1

/4
of

 S
ec

tio
n 

31
T

. 2
 N

or
th

, R
. 1

1 
E

as
t,

C
ity

 o
f B

ir
m

in
gh

am
,

O
ak

la
nd

 C
ou

nt
y,

 M
ic

hi
ga

n

C
am

er
on

 M
itc

he
ll

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

C
on

ta
ct

: R
an

dy
 R

ob
er

ty
Ph

on
e:

 3
80

-2
19

-2
58

2
E

m
ai

l:
rr

ob
er

ty
@

ca
m

er
on

m
itc

he
ll.

co
m

E
10
3-
04

LO
C

A
TIO

N
  M

A
P

N
F

N
.T

.S
.

SI
TE

HA
ZE

L 
ST

. 

ETON ST. 

ADAMS RD.
WOODWARD AVE.

TORRY ST. 

M
A

PL
E 

RD
.

YO
SE

M
ITE

 B
LV

D
.

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T.
 

HO
LL

A
N

D
 S

T.

V
IL

LA
 R

D

W
EB

ST
ER

 A
V

E

C
O

LE
 S

T.

EX
IS

TIN
G

 O
RN

A
M

EN
TA

L 
G

RA
SS

 T
O

 R
EM

A
IN

.
RE

M
O

V
E 

C
LI

M
BI

N
G

 H
YD

RA
N

G
EA

, R
EP

LA
C

E
W

ITH
 O

RN
A

M
EN

TA
L 

G
RA

SS
 S

A
LV

A
G

ED
 F

RO
M

SI
TE

EX
IS

TIN
G

 R
IV

ER
 B

IR
C

H,
 F

LA
G

PO
LE

A
N

D
 IS

LA
N

D
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

S 
TO

 B
E

PR
ES

ER
V

ED
. B

ED
S 

TO
 B

E 
W

EE
D

ED
A

N
D

 C
LE

A
RE

D
 O

F 
D

EB
RI

S

EX
IS

TIN
G

 V
A

LE
T 

BL
D

G
TO

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED

TW
O

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
 S

PR
UC

E
TO

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED

EX
IS

TIN
G

 IV
Y 

O
N

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
FA

C
A

D
E 

TO
 R

EM
A

IN
 U

N
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

EX
IS

TIN
G

 S
TO

N
E 

SP
IL

LW
A

Y
TO

 B
E 

PR
ES

ER
V

ED
. R

EM
O

V
E

EX
IS

TIN
G

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
S 

BE
TW

EE
N

BU
IL

D
IN

G
/P

A
TIO

 A
N

D
 S

TO
N

E

EX
IS

TIN
G

 S
HR

UB
S 

A
N

D
 G

RO
UN

D
C

O
V

ER
TO

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED
, A

RE
A

 T
O

 B
E 

FI
LL

ED
W

HE
RE

 N
EE

D
ED

 A
N

D
 G

RA
D

ED
 T

O
 P

RE
P

FO
R 

N
EW

 P
A

TIO

GRAND TR
UNK W

ESTE
RN RAILR

OAD

ETON ROAD
(WIDTH VARIES)

LE
G

EN
D

: TR
EE

S 
TO

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED

TR
EE

S 
TO

 R
EM

A
IN

TR
EE

 P
RO

TE
C

TIO
N

 F
EN

C
IN

G

95
0

91
2

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
es

ta
ur

an
t

G
EN

ER
A

L 
TR

EE
 P

RO
TE

C
TIO

N
 N

O
TE

S
1.

  A
PP

RO
V

ED
 T

RE
E 

PR
O

TE
C

TIO
N

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
ER

EC
TE

D
 P

RI
O

R 
TO

 T
HE

 S
TA

RT
   

O
F 

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 A
C

TIV
ITI

ES
, A

N
D

 S
HA

LL
 R

EM
A

IN
 IN

 P
LA

C
E 

UN
TIL

 T
HE

   
IN

 P
LA

C
E 

UN
TIL

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 IS
 C

O
M

PL
ET

E.
2.

 A
LL

 U
N

D
ER

ST
O

RY
 V

EG
ET

A
TIO

N
 W

ITH
IN

 T
HE

 L
IM

ITS
 O

F 
PR

O
TE

C
TIV

E 
FE

N
C

IN
G

   
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

PR
ES

ER
V

ED
.

3.
 N

O
 P

ER
SO

N
 M

A
Y 

C
O

N
D

UC
T 

A
N

Y 
A

C
TIV

ITY
 W

ITH
IN

 T
HE

 D
RI

P 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

A
N

Y
   

TR
EE

 D
ES

IG
N

A
TE

D
 T

O
 R

EM
A

IN
, I

N
C

LU
D

IN
G

 B
UT

 N
O

T 
LI

M
ITE

D
 T

O
, P

LA
C

IN
G

   
SO

LV
EN

TS
, B

UI
LD

IN
G

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

, C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 E
Q

UI
PM

EN
T,

 O
R 

SO
IL

 D
EP

O
SI

TS
   

W
ITH

IN
 T

HE
 D

RI
P 

LI
N

E.
4.

 W
HE

RE
 G

RO
UP

IN
G

S 
O

F 
TR

EE
S 

A
RE

 T
O

 R
EM

A
IN

, T
RE

E 
FE

N
C

IN
G

 S
HA

LL
 B

E
   

PL
A

C
ED

 A
T 

TH
E 

LI
M

ITS
 O

F 
G

RA
D

IN
G

 L
IN

E.
5.

 D
UR

IN
G

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

, N
O

 P
ER

SO
N

 S
HA

LL
 A

TT
A

C
H 

A
N

Y 
D

EV
IC

E 
O

R 
W

IR
E

   
TO

 A
N

Y 
TR

EE
, S

C
HE

D
UL

ED
 T

O
 R

EM
A

IN
.

6.
 A

LL
 U

TIL
ITY

 S
ER

V
IC

E 
RE

Q
UE

ST
S 

M
US

T 
IN

C
LU

D
E 

N
O

TIF
IC

A
TIO

N
 T

O
 T

HE
   

IN
ST

A
LL

ER
 T

HA
T 

PR
O

TE
C

TE
D

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 A

V
O

ID
ED

. A
LL

 T
RE

N
C

HI
N

G
 S

HA
LL

   
O

C
C

UR
 O

UT
SI

D
E 

O
F 

TH
E 

PR
O

TE
C

TIV
E 

FE
N

C
IN

G
.

7.
 S

W
A

LE
S 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
RO

UT
ED

 T
O

 A
V

O
ID

 T
HE

 A
RE

A
 W

ITH
IN

 T
HE

 D
RI

P 
LI

N
ES

 O
F

   
PR

O
TE

C
TE

D
 T

RE
ES

.
8.

 T
RE

ES
 L

O
C

A
TE

D
 O

N
 A

D
JA

C
EN

T 
PR

O
PE

RT
IE

S 
TH

A
T 

M
A

Y 
BE

 A
FF

EC
TE

D
 B

Y 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
   

A
C

TIV
ITI

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

RO
TE

C
TE

D
.

9.
 R

O
O

T 
ZO

N
ES

 O
F 

PR
O

TE
C

TE
D

 T
RE

ES
 S

HO
UL

D
 B

E 
SU

RR
O

UN
D

ED
 W

ITH
 R

IG
ID

LY
   

ST
A

KE
D

 F
EN

C
IN

G
.

10
. T

HE
 P

A
RK

IN
G

 O
F 

ID
LE

 A
N

D
 R

UN
N

IN
G

 E
Q

UI
PM

EN
T 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
PR

O
HI

BI
TE

D
 U

N
D

ER
 T

HE
   

 D
RI

P 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

PR
O

TE
C

TE
D

 T
RE

ES
.

11
.  

TH
E 

ST
RI

PP
IN

G
 O

F 
TO

PS
O

IL
 F

RO
M

 A
RO

UN
D

 P
RO

TE
C

TE
D

 T
RE

ES
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

PR
O

HI
BI

TE
D

.
12

. A
LL

 T
RE

ES
 T

O
 B

E 
RE

M
O

V
ED

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
C

UT
 A

W
A

Y 
FR

O
M

 T
RE

ES
 T

O
 R

EA
M

IN
.

13
. T

HE
 G

RU
BB

IN
G

 O
F 

UN
D

ER
ST

O
RY

 V
EG

ET
A

TIO
N

 W
ITH

IN
 C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 A

RE
A

S 
SH

O
UL

D
   

 B
E 

C
LE

A
RE

D
 B

Y 
C

UT
TIN

G
 V

EG
ET

A
TIO

N
 A

T 
TH

E 
G

RO
UN

D
 W

ITH
 A

 C
HA

IN
 S

A
W

 O
R

   
 M

IN
IM

A
LL

Y 
W

ITH
 A

 H
YD

RO
-A

XE
.

14
. T

HE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
IS

 R
ES

PO
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
TH

E 
RE

PL
A

C
EM

EN
T 

PE
R 

O
RD

IN
A

N
C

E
   

 G
UI

D
EL

IN
ES

, F
O

R 
TH

E 
D

A
M

A
G

E 
O

R 
RE

M
O

V
A

L 
O

F 
A

N
Y 

TR
EE

 D
ES

IG
N

A
TE

D
 T

O
 R

EM
A

IN
.

15
. T

RE
ES

 T
O

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

FI
EL

D
 V

ER
IF

IE
D

, E
V

A
LU

A
TE

D
 A

N
D

 F
LA

G
G

ED
 F

O
R

   
 R

EM
O

V
A

L,
 B

Y 
TH

E 
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

RC
HI

TE
C

T 
O

R 
FO

RE
ST

ER
, O

N
LY

 A
S 

D
IR

EC
TE

D
   

 B
Y 

TH
E 

O
W

N
ER

 O
R 

O
W

N
ER

S 
RE

PR
ES

EN
TA

TIV
E.

5/
8"

 X
 6

'8
" R

E-
RO

D
, O

R
EQ

UA
L,

 S
UP

PO
RT

 P
O

ST
S

EV
ER

Y 
10

' O
.C

.
IN

ST
A

LL
 P

O
ST

S 
A

 M
IN

. 2
4"

IN
TO

 G
RO

UN
D

, T
YP

IC
A

L

4'
 H

IG
H 

FE
N

C
IN

G
, A

S 
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

,
TO

 B
E 

PL
A

C
ED

 1
' O

UT
SI

D
E 

TH
E 

D
RI

P
LI

N
E 

O
R 

LI
M

ITS
 O

F 
G

RA
D

IN
G

, A
S

IN
D

IC
A

TE
D

 O
N

 P
LA

N
, T

YP
IC

A
L

N
O

TE
:

FE
N

C
IN

G
 T

O
 B

E 
4'

 H
IG

H 
O

RA
N

G
E

SN
O

W
 F

EN
C

E,
 O

R 
A

PP
RO

V
ED

 E
Q

UA
L

PR
O

TE
C

TIO
N

 F
EN

C
IN

G
 T

O
 B

E
M

A
IN

TA
IN

ED
 T

HR
O

UG
HO

UT
 T

HE
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 P

ER
IO

D

N
TS

TR
EE

 P
RO

TE
C

TIO
N

 D
ET

A
IL

-P
LA

N

TR
EE

 D
RI

PL
IN

E

4'
 H

IG
H 

PR
O

TE
C

TIV
E

FE
N

C
E,

 A
S 

SP
EC

IF
IE

D
PL

A
C

ED
 A

T 
A

 M
IN

IM
UM

1'
 O

UT
SI

D
E 

TH
E 

D
RI

PL
IN

E
O

F 
TH

E 
TR

EE

TR
EE

 P
RO

TE
C

TIO
N

 D
ET

A
IL

-S
EC

TIO
N

N
TS

EX
IS

TIN
G

 S
C

RE
EN

W
A

LL
 T

O
 R

EM
A

IN

EX
IS

TIN
G

 P
EA

R 
TR

EE
S

TO
 R

EM
A

IN
 U

N
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

EX
IS

TIN
G

 1
8"

 T
RE

E
TO

 B
E 

LI
M

BE
D

 U
P

A
S 

N
EC

ES
SA

RY
, B

Y
A

 Q
UA

LI
FI

ED
 A

RB
O

RI
ST

EX
IS

TIN
G

 R
IV

ER
 B

IR
C

H
TO

 R
EM

A
IN

 U
N

D
IS

TU
RB

ED

D
EM

O
LI

TIO
N

 N
O

TE
S:

1.
IT 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R'
S 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 T
O

 V
ER

IF
Y 

A
LL

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
 S

UR
V

EY
IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 IN

C
LU

D
IN

G
 T

HE
 U

TIL
ITY

 S
YS

TE
M

S 
BE

FO
RE

 A
N

Y 
D

EM
O

LI
TIO

N
 O

R
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 W

O
RK

 O
C

C
UR

S.
  A

N
Y 

D
IS

C
RE

PA
N

C
IE

S 
W

ITH
 T

HE
 S

UR
V

EY
 IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

RE
PO

RT
ED

 T
O

 T
HE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

A
N

D
 O

W
N

ER
'S

 R
EP

RE
SE

N
TA

TIV
E 

IM
M

ED
IA

TE
LY

.

2.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
M

A
KI

N
G

 H
IM

SE
LF

 F
A

M
IL

IA
R 

W
ITH

 A
LL

UN
D

ER
G

RO
UN

D
 U

TIL
ITI

ES
, P

IP
ES

 A
N

D
 S

TR
UC

TU
RE

S.
  C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 T
A

KE
 S

O
LE

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 F
O

R 
C

O
ST

 IN
C

UR
RE

D
 D

UE
 T

O
 D

A
M

A
G

E 
A

N
D

 R
EP

LA
C

EM
EN

T 
O

F 
SA

ID
UT

IL
ITI

ES
.

3.
A

LL
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

 IM
PR

O
V

EM
EN

TS
, M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 A

N
D

 P
LA

N
T 

M
A

TE
RI

A
L 

TO
 R

EM
A

IN
 W

ITH
IN

 T
HE

N
EW

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 A
RE

A
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

PR
O

PE
RL

Y 
A

N
D

 A
D

EQ
UA

TE
LY

 P
RO

TE
C

TE
D

 F
RO

M
D

A
M

A
G

E 
D

UR
IN

G
 T

HE
 D

EM
O

LI
TIO

N
 O

PE
RA

TIO
N

S.
   

 IT
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

TH
E 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 O
F 

TH
E

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

TO
 R

ES
TO

RE
 T

O
 T

HE
 O

RI
G

IN
A

L 
C

O
N

D
ITI

O
N

 A
N

Y 
O

F 
TH

ES
E 

EX
IS

TIN
G

 IT
EM

S
TH

A
T 

A
RE

 D
A

M
A

G
ED

 O
R 

D
IS

TU
RB

ED
 IN

 A
N

Y 
W

A
Y.

4.
A

LL
 M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 T

O
 B

E 
RE

US
ED

 O
R 

SA
LV

A
G

ED
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

ST
O

RE
D

 IN
 A

N
 A

RE
A

 D
ES

IG
N

A
TE

D
BY

 T
HE

 C
ITY

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R 

FO
R 

TH
A

T 
PU

RP
O

SE
.  

A
LL

 S
A

LV
A

G
ED

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

 S
HA

LL
 R

EM
A

IN
 T

HE
PR

O
PE

RT
Y 

O
F 

TH
E 

C
ITY

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R.

5.
ST

RE
ET

S,
 S

ID
EW

A
LK

S 
A

N
D

 A
D

JA
C

EN
T 

PR
O

PE
RT

IE
S 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
PR

O
TE

C
TE

D
 T

HR
O

UG
HO

UT
 T

HE
W

O
RK

 A
S 

RE
Q

UI
RE

D
 B

Y 
LO

C
A

L 
C

O
D

ES
 A

N
D

 R
EG

UL
A

TIO
N

S 
A

N
D

 A
PP

RO
V

ED
 B

Y 
TH

E
O

W
N

ER
.

6.
A

LL
 M

A
TE

RI
A

L 
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

 T
O

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

D
IS

PO
SE

D
 O

F 
O

FF
-S

ITE
 P

ER
 L

O
C

A
L

C
O

D
ES

 A
N

D
 R

EG
UL

A
TIO

N
S.

  C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

SH
A

LL
 C

O
O

RD
IN

A
TE

 M
ET

HO
D

 O
F 

D
IS

PO
SA

L
W

ITH
 C

ITY
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R 
PR

IO
R 

TO
 C

O
M

M
EN

C
EM

EN
T 

O
F 

W
O

RK
.

7.
M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 T

O
 B

E 
RE

US
ED

 O
R 

SA
LV

A
G

ED
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

ST
O

RE
D

 IN
 A

N
 A

RE
A

 D
ES

IG
N

A
TE

D
 B

Y
TH

E 
O

W
N

ER
S 

RE
PR

ES
EN

TA
TIV

E 
FO

R 
TH

A
T 

PU
RP

O
SE

.  
A

LL
 S

A
LV

A
G

ED
 M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 S

HA
LL

RE
M

A
IN

 T
HE

 P
RO

PE
RT

Y 
O

F 
TH

E 
O

W
N

ER
.

8.
D

UR
IN

G
 D

EM
O

LI
TIO

N
 O

PE
RA

TIO
N

S 
EV

ER
Y 

EF
FO

RT
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

M
A

D
E 

TO
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
D

US
T,

 P
ER

C
ITY

 R
EQ

UI
RE

M
EN

TS
.

9.
TR

EE
S 

A
N

D
 S

HR
UB

S 
TO

 B
E 

RE
M

O
V

ED
 W

ITH
IN

 T
HE

 L
IM

ITS
 O

F 
W

O
RK

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
C

LE
A

RL
Y

ID
EN

TIF
IE

D
 W

ITH
 B

RI
G

HT
LY

 C
O

LO
RE

D
 R

IB
BO

N
.

10
.

G
RU

BB
IN

G
 S

HA
LL

 IN
C

LU
D

E 
A

LL
 W

EE
D

S,
 S

HR
UB

S,
 S

TU
M

PS
 A

N
D

 R
O

O
T 

SY
ST

EM
S 

O
F

RE
M

O
V

ED
 P

LA
N

T 
M

A
TE

RI
A

L,
 IR

RI
G

A
TIO

N
 P

IP
IN

G
 A

N
D

 A
N

Y 
O

TH
ER

 IR
RI

G
A

TIO
N

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

W
ITH

IN
 T

HE
 L

IM
ITS

 O
F 

D
EM

O
LI

TIO
N

.  
G

RU
BB

IN
G

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
TO

 T
HE

 D
EP

TH
S 

BE
LO

W
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 IM
PR

O
V

EM
EN

TS
 IN

D
IC

A
TE

D
 A

S 
FO

LL
O

W
S:

 C
O

N
C

RE
TE

 P
A

V
IN

G
 A

N
D

W
A

LK
W

A
YS

-T
O

TA
L 

D
EP

TH
 O

F 
PA

V
IN

G
 A

N
D

 S
UB

-B
A

SE
; A

SP
HA

LT
 P

A
V

IN
G

-T
O

TA
L 

D
EP

TH
 O

F
PA

V
IN

G
 A

N
D

 S
UB

-B
A

SE
; L

A
W

N
 A

N
D

 O
TH

ER
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

S 
A

RE
A

S-
RE

M
O

V
E 

D
EP

TH
 R

EQ
UI

RE
D

O
F 

ST
UM

PS
 A

N
D

 R
O

O
TS

 O
V

ER
 T

W
O

 (2
)  

IN
C

HE
S 

IN
 D

IA
M

ET
ER

 A
N

D
 T

UR
F.

11
.

PR
O

TE
C

T 
EX

IS
TIN

G
 T

RE
ES

 T
O

 R
EM

A
IN

 P
ER

 T
YP

IC
A

L 
TR

EE
 P

RO
TE

C
TIO

N
 D

ET
A

IL
.

12
.

ST
O

C
KP

IL
ED

 T
O

PS
O

IL
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

ST
O

RE
D

 O
N

 S
ITE

 A
N

D
 R

EM
A

IN
 P

RO
TE

C
TE

D
 F

RO
M

C
O

N
TA

M
IN

A
TIO

N
 P

RI
O

R 
TO

 R
ED

IS
TR

IB
UT

IO
N

.

13
.

SA
W

C
UT

 A
N

D
 R

EM
O

V
E 

EX
IS

TIN
G

 A
SP

HA
LT

 A
S 

RE
Q

UI
RE

D
 T

O
 IN

ST
A

LL
 N

EW
 S

ITE
IM

PR
O

V
EM

EN
TS

 A
N

D
 A

D
JU

ST
 G

RA
D

ES
 W

ITH
IN

 C
ITY

 S
TR

EE
TS

.  
A

LL
 W

O
RK

 W
ITH

IN
 C

ITY
 R

IG
HT

O
F 

W
A

Y 
SH

A
LL

 M
EE

T 
C

ITY
 S

TA
N

D
A

RD
S 

A
N

D
 S

PE
C

IF
IC

A
TIO

N
S.

14
.

A
RR

A
N

G
E 

FO
R 

A
PP

LI
C

A
BL

E 
UT

IL
ITY

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y 

TO
 R

EL
O

C
A

TE
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

 C
A

BL
ES

, W
IR

ES
,

PH
O

N
E 

LI
N

ES
, E

TC
. A

LO
N

G
 W

ITH
 E

D
IS

O
N

 P
O

W
ER

 L
IN

ES
 A

S 
RE

Q
UI

RE
D

.

15
.

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

SH
A

LL
 S

EC
UR

E 
A

N
D

 P
A

Y 
FO

R 
A

LL
 A

PP
LI

C
A

BL
E 

PE
RM

ITS
 A

N
D

 F
EE

S
N

EC
ES

SA
RY

 F
O

R 
TH

E 
C

O
M

PL
ET

E 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
PR

O
JE

C
T.

EX
IS

TIN
G

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
±9

,1
55

 G
FA

05
/1

8/
23

 R
EV

IS
ED

 P
ER

 O
W

N
ER

 R
EV

IE
W

W:\Pontiac Jobs - Pre G500\E000-FILES\E103-04\Office\Landscape\E103-04_LS.dwg, 5/24/2023 10:50:41 AM

5H



L
an

ds
ca

pe
 P

la
n

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

i

S
C

A
L

E
:

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
be

lo
w

Ca
ll

be
fo

re
 y

ou
 d

ig
.

R

S
E

A
L

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

C
L

I
E

N
T

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 L
O

C
A

T
I
O

N

S
H

E
E

T

R
E

V
I
S
I
O

N
S

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

D
E

S
I
G

N
E

D
 B

Y
:

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 B
Y

:

D
A

T
E

:

s
h

e
e

t
 n

o
.

N
F

E
 J

O
B

 N
O

.

L
2

0
X

X
X

X
X

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

i

G
. O

st
ro

w
sk

i

TR
EE

 P
RO

TE
C

TIO
N

 F
EN

C
IN

G
 T

O
 B

E
PL

A
C

ED
 M

IN
 1

' O
UT

SI
D

E 
TH

E 
LI

M
ITS

O
F 

G
RA

D
IN

G
 L

IN
E 

O
R 

TR
EE

 D
RI

PL
IN

E,
SH

O
W

N
 P

ER
 P

LA
N

 A
N

D
 C

O
O

RD
IN

A
TE

D
W

/ 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 G
RA

D
IN

G
 A

C
C

O
RD

IN
G

TO
 C

IV
IL

 D
W

G
S

N
F

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

05
-0

1-
20

23

N
F

N

S

W

E

1"
 =

 2
0'

Pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 N

E
 1

/4
of

 S
ec

tio
n 

31
T

. 2
 N

or
th

, R
. 1

1 
E

as
t,

C
ity

 o
f B

ir
m

in
gh

am
,

O
ak

la
nd

 C
ou

nt
y,

 M
ic

hi
ga

n

C
am

er
on

 M
itc

he
ll

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

C
on

ta
ct

: R
an

dy
 R

ob
er

ty
Ph

on
e:

 3
80

-2
19

-2
58

2
E

m
ai

l:
rr

ob
er

ty
@

ca
m

er
on

m
itc

he
ll.

co
m

E
10
3-
04

LO
C

A
TIO

N
  M

A
P

N
F

N
.T

.S
.

SI
TE

HA
ZE

L 
ST

. 

ETON ST. 

ADAMS RD.
WOODWARD AVE.

TORRY ST. 

M
A

PL
E 

RD
.

YO
SE

M
ITE

 B
LV

D
.

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T.
 

HO
LL

A
N

D
 S

T.

V
IL

LA
 R

D

W
EB

ST
ER

 A
V

E

C
O

LE
 S

T.

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 P

ER
G

O
LA

SE
E 

A
RC

H 
D

W
G

S 
FO

R 
D

ET
A

IL
S

Pr
op

os
ed

 R
es

ta
ur

an
t

2 3

SO
D

 D
IS

TU
RB

ED
 A

RE
A

S 
O

N
 3

" T
O

PS
O

IL

4'
 D

IA
 S

PA
D

E 
C

UT
 E

D
G

E 
W

/ 
3"

 S
HR

ED
D

ED
 B

A
RK

 M
UL

C
H

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

 K
EY

4 5

3"
 D

EP
TH

 D
O

UB
LE

 S
HR

ED
D

ED
 H

A
RD

W
O

O
D

 B
A

RK
 M

UL
C

H

3/
16

" X
 4

" S
TE

EL
 E

D
G

IN
G

 S
TA

KE
D

 P
ER

 M
A

N
UF

A
C

TU
RE

R

1 6
PA

TIO
 P

A
V

EM
EN

T 
PE

R 
A

RC
H 

D
W

G
S

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
 C

O
LO

R.
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

 M
UL

C
H.

 M
UL

C
H

M
UL

C
H 

3"
 D

EP
TH

 W
/ 

SH
RE

D
D

ED

1/
3 

O
F 

RO
O

TB
A

LL
.

FO
LD

 D
O

W
N

 A
LL

 B
UR

LA
P 

FR
O

M
 T

O
P 

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 N

O
N

-B
IO

D
EG

RA
D

A
BL

E

6"

N
TS

HE
D

G
E 

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 D

ET
A

IL
UN

D
IS

TU
RB

ED
 S

O
IL

SC
A

RI
FY

 S
UB

G
RA

D
E

M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

 F
RO

M
 T

HE
 R

O
O

TB
A

LL
.

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 M

IX
, A

S 
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

EA
RT

H 
SA

UC
ER

 A
RO

UN
D

 S
HR

UB
N

O
TE

S:
TR

EE
 S

HA
LL

 B
EA

R 
SA

M
E

RE
LA

TIO
N

 T
O

 F
IN

IS
H 

G
RA

D
E

A
S 

IT 
BO

RE
 O

RI
G

IN
A

LL
Y.

D
O

 N
O

T 
PR

UN
E 

TE
RM

IN
A

L 
LE

A
D

ER
.

PR
UN

E 
O

N
LY

 D
EA

D
 O

R 
BR

O
KE

N
BR

A
N

C
HE

S.

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 T

A
G

S,
 S

TR
IN

G
,

PL
A

ST
IC

 A
N

D
 O

TH
ER

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

M
A

IN
TA

IN
 2

" C
LE

A
R 

A
RE

A
 F

RO
M

 S
TE

M

PL
A

N
T 

M
IX

, 1
0-

12
" D

EE
P

A
S 

SP
EC

IF
IE

D

M
UL

C
H 

2"
 D

EP
TH

 W
/ 

SH
RE

D
D

ED
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

 M
UL

C
H.

 M
UL

C
H

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
 C

O
LO

R.

N
TS

O
RN

A
M

EN
TA

L 
G

RA
SS

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 D

ET
A

IL

UN
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

 S
UB

G
RA

D
E

O
RN

A
M

EN
TA

L 
G

RA
SS

ES
 S

PA
C

ED
A

C
C

O
RD

IN
G

 T
O

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 P

LA
N

PL
A

N
T 

M
IX

, 1
0-

12
" D

EE
P

A
S 

SP
EC

IF
IE

D

M
UL

C
H 

2"
 D

EP
TH

 W
/ 

SH
RE

D
D

ED
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

 M
UL

C
H.

 M
UL

C
H

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
 C

O
LO

R.

N
TS

PE
RE

N
N

IA
L 

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 D

ET
A

IL

UN
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

 S
UB

G
RA

D
E

PE
RE

N
N

IA
L 

PL
A

N
TS

 S
PA

C
ED

A
C

C
O

RD
IN

G
 T

O
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

 P
LA

N

G
EN

ER
A

L 
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 N

O
TE

S
1.

  
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 V
IS

IT 
SI

TE
, I

N
SP

EC
T 

EX
IS

TIN
G

 C
O

N
D

ITI
O

N
S

  
A

N
D

 R
EV

IE
W

 P
RO

PO
SE

D
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

 A
N

D
 R

EL
A

TE
D

 W
O

RK
. I

N
 C

A
SE

 O
F

   
D

IS
C

RE
PA

N
C

Y 
BE

TW
EE

N
 P

LA
N

 A
N

D
 P

LA
N

T 
LI

ST
, T

HE
 P

LA
N

 S
HA

LL
   

G
O

V
ER

N
 Q

UA
N

TIT
IE

S.
 C

O
N

TA
C

T 
TH

E 
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

RC
HI

TE
C

T 
W

ITH
 A

N
Y

   
C

O
N

C
ER

N
S.

2.
 

TH
E 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

SH
A

LL
 V

ER
IF

Y 
LO

C
A

TIO
N

S 
O

F 
A

LL
 O

N
-S

ITE
 U

TIL
ITI

ES
   

PR
IO

R 
TO

 B
EG

IN
N

IN
G

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 O
N

 H
IS

/H
ER

 P
HA

SE
 O

F 
W

O
RK

. A
N

Y
   

D
A

M
A

G
E 

O
R 

IN
TE

RU
PT

IO
N

 O
F 

SE
RV

IC
ES

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
TH

E 
RE

SP
O

N
SI

BI
LI

TY
   

O
F 

TH
E 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R.

3.
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 C
O

O
RD

IN
A

TE
 A

LL
 R

EL
A

TE
D

 A
C

TIV
ITI

ES
 W

ITH
   

O
TH

ER
 T

RA
D

ES
, A

N
D

 S
HA

LL
 R

EP
O

RT
 A

N
Y 

UN
A

C
C

EP
TA

C
BL

E 
SI

TE
 C

O
N

D
ITI

O
N

S
   

TO
 T

HE
 O

W
N

ER
'S

 R
EP

RE
SE

N
TA

TIV
E 

PR
IO

R 
TO

 C
O

M
M

EN
C

EM
EN

T.
4.

 
PL

A
N

TS
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

FU
LL

, W
EL

L-
BR

A
N

C
HE

D
, A

N
D

 IN
 H

EA
LT

HY
 V

IG
O

RO
US

   
G

RO
W

IN
G

 C
O

N
D

ITI
O

N
.

5.
 

PL
A

N
TS

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
W

A
TE

RE
D

 B
EF

O
RE

 A
N

D
 A

FT
ER

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 IS

 C
O

M
PL

ET
E.

6.
 

A
LL

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 S

TA
KE

D
, F

ER
TIL

IZ
ED

 A
N

D
 M

UL
C

HE
D

 A
N

D
 S

HA
LL

 B
E

   
G

UA
RA

N
TE

ED
 T

O
 E

XH
IB

IT 
A

 N
O

RM
A

L 
G

RO
W

TH
 C

YC
LE

 F
O

R 
A

T 
LE

A
ST

 O
N

E 
(1

)
   

YE
A

R 
FO

LL
O

W
IN

G
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

.
7.

 
A

LL
 M

A
TE

RI
A

L 
SH

A
LL

 C
O

N
FO

RM
 T

O
 T

HE
 G

UI
D

EL
IN

ES
 E

ST
A

BL
IS

HE
D

 IN
 T

HE
 M

O
ST

   
RE

C
EN

T 
ED

ITI
O

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
"A

M
ER

IC
A

N
 S

TA
N

D
A

RD
S 

FO
R 

N
UR

SE
RY

 S
TO

C
K"

.
8.

 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
W

IL
L 

SU
PP

LY
 F

IN
IS

HE
D

 G
RA

D
E 

A
N

D
 E

XC
A

V
A

TE
 A

S 
N

EC
ES

SA
RY

 T
O

  
SU

PP
LY

 P
LA

N
T 

M
IX

 D
EP

TH
 IN

 A
LL

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 B

ED
S 

A
S 

IN
D

IC
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

LA
N

T 
D

ET
A

IL
S

   
A

N
D

 A
 D

EP
TH

 O
F 

4"
 IN

 A
LL

 L
A

W
N

 A
RE

A
S.

9.
PR

O
V

ID
E 

C
LE

A
N

 B
A

C
KF

IL
L 

SO
IL

, U
SI

N
G

 M
A

TE
RI

A
L 

ST
O

C
KP

IL
ED

 O
N

-S
ITE

. S
O

IL
   

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
SC

RE
EN

ED
 A

N
D

 F
RE

E 
O

F 
D

EB
RI

S,
 F

O
RE

IG
N

 M
A

TE
RI

A
L,

 A
N

D
 S

TO
N

E.
10

. 
SL

O
W

-R
EL

EA
SE

 F
ER

TIL
IZ

ER
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

A
D

D
ED

 T
O

 T
HE

 P
LA

N
T 

PI
TS

 B
EF

O
RE

   
BE

IN
G

 B
A

C
KF

IL
LE

D
. A

PP
LI

C
A

TIO
N

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
A

T 
TH

E 
M

A
N

UF
A

C
TU

RE
RS

 R
EC

O
M

M
EN

D
ED

   
RA

TE
S.

11
. 

A
M

EN
D

ED
 P

LA
N

T 
M

IX
 (P

RE
PA

RE
D

 T
O

PS
O

IL
) S

HA
LL

 C
O

N
SI

ST
 O

F 
1/

3 
SC

RE
EN

ED
 T

O
PS

O
IL

,
   

 
1/

3 
SA

N
D

, A
N

D
 1

/3
 "D

A
IR

Y 
D

O
O

" C
O

M
PO

ST
, M

IX
ED

 W
EL

L 
A

N
D

 S
PR

EA
D

 T
O

 A
 D

EP
TH

 A
S

   
 

IN
D

IC
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

 D
ET

A
IL

S.
12

. 
A

LL
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

S 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

M
UL

C
HE

D
 W

ITH
 S

HR
ED

D
ED

 H
A

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

, S
PR

EA
D

 T
O

   
A

 D
EP

TH
 O

F 
3"

 F
O

R 
TR

EE
S 

A
N

D
 S

HR
UB

S,
 A

N
D

 2
" O

N
 A

N
N

UA
LS

, P
ER

EN
N

IA
LS

, A
N

D
   

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
S.

 M
UL

C
H 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
FR

EE
 F

RO
M

 D
EB

RI
S 

A
N

D
 F

O
RE

IG
N

   
M

A
TE

RI
A

L,
 A

N
D

 P
IE

C
ES

 O
N

 IN
C

O
N

SI
ST

EN
T 

SI
ZE

.
13

. 
N

O
 S

UB
ST

ITU
TIO

N
S 

O
R 

C
HA

N
G

ES
 O

F 
LO

C
A

TIO
N

, O
R 

PL
A

N
T 

TY
PE

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
M

A
D

E
   

W
ITH

O
UT

 T
HE

 A
PP

RO
V

A
L 

O
F 

TH
E 

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

O
R 

O
W

N
ER

S 
RE

PR
ES

EN
TA

TIV
E.

14
. 

TH
E 

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
N

O
TIF

IE
D

 O
F 

A
N

Y 
D

IS
C

RE
PA

N
C

IE
S 

BE
TW

EE
N

   
TH

E 
PL

A
N

S 
A

N
D

 F
IE

LD
 C

O
N

D
ITI

O
N

S 
PR

IO
R 

TO
 IN

ST
A

LL
A

TIO
N

.
15

. 
TH

E 
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
M

A
IN

TA
IN

IN
G

 A
LL

 P
LA

N
T

   
M

A
TE

RI
A

L 
IN

 A
 V

ER
TIC

A
L 

C
O

N
D

ITI
O

N
 T

HR
O

UG
HO

UT
 T

HE
 G

UA
RA

N
TE

ED
 P

ER
IO

D
.

16
. 

TH
E 

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

O
R 

O
W

N
ER

S 
RE

PR
ES

EN
TA

TIV
E 

SH
A

LL
 H

A
V

E 
TH

E 
RI

G
HT

   
TO

 R
EJ

EC
T 

A
N

Y 
W

O
RK

 O
R 

M
A

TE
RI

A
L 

TH
A

T 
D

O
ES

 N
O

T 
M

EE
T 

TH
E 

RE
Q

UI
RE

M
EN

TS
 O

F
   

TH
E 

PL
A

N
S 

A
N

D
/O

R 
SP

EC
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

S.
17

. 
TH

E 
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 S
EE

D
 A

N
D

 M
UL

C
H 

O
R 

SO
D

 (A
S 

IN
D

IC
A

TE
D

 O
N

   
PL

A
N

S)
 A

LL
 A

RE
A

S 
D

ES
IG

N
A

TE
D

 A
S 

SU
C

H 
O

N
 T

HE
 P

LA
N

S,
 T

HR
O

UG
HO

UT
 T

HE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
T

   
LI

M
ITS

. F
UR

TH
ER

, T
HE

 C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
RE

SP
O

N
SI

BL
E 

FO
R 

RE
ST

O
RI

N
G

 A
RE

A
S

   
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

 D
UR

IN
G

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

, N
O

T 
IN

 T
HE

 C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
LI

M
ITS

, T
O

 E
Q

UA
L 

O
R

   
G

RE
A

TE
R 

C
O

N
D

ITI
O

N
.

18
. 

A
LL

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

RE
A

S 
SH

A
LL

 H
A

V
E 

PR
O

PE
R 

D
RA

IN
A

G
E 

TH
A

T 
PR

EV
EN

TS
 E

XC
ES

SI
V

E
   

 
W

A
TE

R 
FR

O
M

 P
O

N
D

IN
G

 O
N

 L
A

W
N

 A
RE

A
S 

O
R 

A
RO

UN
D

 T
RE

ES
 A

N
D

 S
HR

UB
S.

19
. 

A
LL

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

RE
A

S 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

IR
RI

G
A

TE
D

 W
ITH

 A
N

 A
UT

O
M

A
TIC

 U
N

D
ER

G
RO

UN
D

   
SY

ST
EM

.

TR
EE

S

PL
A

N
T 

SC
HE

D
UL

E
Q

TY
KE

Y
BO

TA
N

IC
A

L/
C

O
M

M
O

N
 N

A
M

E
SI

ZE
SP

A
C

IN
G

RO
O

T
C

O
M

M
EN

T

SH
RU

BS

BC
40

N
or

th
er

n 
C

ha
rm

 B
ox

w
oo

d
Bu

xu
s x

 'N
or

th
er

n 
C

ha
rm

'
30

-3
6"

 H
T

B&
B

30
' O

C

G
RO

UN
D

C
O

V
ER

S/
PE

RE
N

N
IA

LS

Ka
rl 

Fo
er

st
er

 F
ea

th
er

 R
ee

d
 G

ra
ss

C
al

am
ag

ro
st

is 
a.

 'K
ar

l F
oe

rs
te

r'
C

A
29

C
O

N
T

28
" O

C
3 

G
A

L

Pi
nk

 F
la

ir 
Fl

ow
er

in
g 

C
he

rry
Pr

un
us

 sa
rg

en
tii

 'P
in

k 
Fl

ai
r'

PS
2

B&
B

SE
E 

PL
A

N
2.

5"
 C

A
L

FU
LL

Y 
BR

A
N

C
HE

D
 H

EA
D

S

BS
42

36
" H

T
B&

B
30

' O
C

C
S

26
Ke

lse
y 

Re
d

 T
w

ig
 D

og
w

oo
d

C
or

nu
s s

er
ci

ea
 'K

el
se

yi
i'

24
" H

T
B&

B
3'

 O
C

HA
5

A
nn

ab
el

le
 H

yd
ra

ng
ea

Hy
d

ra
ng

ea
 a

rb
or

es
ce

ns
 'A

nn
ab

el
le

'
36

" H
T

B&
B

4'
 O

C

TO
20

Em
er

al
d

 G
re

en
 A

rb
or

vi
ta

e
Th

uj
a 

oc
ci

d
en

ta
lis

 'S
m

ar
ag

rd
'

6-
7'

 H
T

B&
B

36
" O

C

Ri
sk

y 
Bu

sin
es

s H
os

ta
Ho

st
a 

'R
isk

y 
Bu

sin
es

s'
HR

21
C

O
N

T
18

" O
C

2 
G

A
L

C
re

ep
in

g 
Lil

yt
ur

f
Lir

io
pe

 sp
ic

at
a

LS
10

4
C

O
N

T
15

" O
C

1 
G

A
L

Ta
ra

 P
ra

iri
e 

D
ro

ps
ee

d
Sp

or
ob

ol
us

 h
et

er
ol

ep
sis

 'T
ar

a'
SH

32
C

O
N

T
18

" O
C

2 
G

A
L

Sp
rin

te
r B

ox
w

oo
d

Bu
xu

s m
ic

ro
ph

yl
la

 'S
pr

in
te

r'

M
A

IN
TA

IN
 A

S 
3'

 H
T 

HE
D

G
E

M
A

IN
TA

IN
 A

S 
4'

 H
T 

HE
D

G
E

M
A

IN
TA

IN
 A

S 
HE

D
G

E

A
ll G

ol
d

 J
ap

an
es

e 
Fo

re
st

 G
ra

ss
Ha

ko
ne

ch
lo

a 
m

ac
ra

 'A
ll G

ol
d

'
HM

76
C

O
N

T
18

" O
C

2 
G

A
L

G
EN

ER
A

L 
SO

D
 N

O
TE

:
A

LL
 L

A
W

N
 A

RE
A

S 
D

ES
IG

N
A

TE
D

 T
O

 B
E 

SO
D

D
ED

, S
HA

LL
 B

E 
SO

D
D

ED
 W

ITH
A

 B
LE

N
D

ED
 D

UR
A

BL
E 

BL
UE

G
RA

SS
 S

O
D

, T
YP

IC
A

LL
Y 

G
RO

W
N

 IN
 T

HE
 R

EG
IO

N
. A

LL
TU

RF
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

PL
A

C
ED

 O
N

 A
 M

IN
IM

UM
 3

" P
RE

PA
RE

D
 T

O
PS

O
IL

, A
N

D
 W

A
TE

RE
D

D
A

IL
Y 

UN
TIL

 E
ST

A
BL

IS
HM

EN
T.

  I
N

 A
RE

A
S 

SU
BJ

EC
T 

 T
O

 E
RO

SI
O

N
, S

O
D

D
ED

 L
A

W
N

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
ST

A
BI

LI
ZE

D
 W

HE
RE

 N
EC

ES
SA

RY
, A

N
D

 L
A

ID
 P

ER
PE

N
D

IC
UL

A
R 

TO
 S

LO
PE

S
SO

D
 IN

ST
A

LL
A

TIO
N

 S
HA

LL
 O

C
C

UR
 O

N
LY

:
SP

RI
N

G
: A

PR
IL

1 
TO

 J
UN

E1
FA

LL
: A

UG
US

T 
15

 T
O

 O
C

TO
BE

R 
15

N
O

TE
S:

TR
EE

 S
HA

LL
 B

EA
R 

SA
M

E
RE

LA
TIO

N
 T

O
 F

IN
IS

H 
G

RA
D

E
A

S 
IT 

BO
RE

 O
RI

G
IN

A
LL

Y 
O

R 
SL

IG
HT

LY
HI

G
HE

R 
TH

A
N

 F
IN

IS
H 

G
RA

D
E 

UP
 T

O
6"

 A
BO

V
E 

G
RA

D
E,

 IF
 D

IR
EC

TE
D

 B
Y

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

FO
R 

HE
A

V
Y

C
LA

Y 
SO

IL
S

D
O

 N
O

T 
PR

UN
E 

TE
RM

IN
A

L 
LE

A
D

ER
.

PR
UN

E 
O

N
LY

 D
EA

D
 O

R 
BR

O
KE

N
BR

A
N

C
HE

S.

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 T

A
G

S,
 S

TR
IN

G
,

PL
A

ST
IC

 A
N

D
 O

TH
ER

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

M
UL

C
H 

3"
 D

EP
TH

 W
ITH

 S
HR

ED
D

ED
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

. M
UL

C
H 

SH
A

LL
 B

E
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
 C

O
LO

R.
 L

EA
V

E 
3"

 C
LE

A
R

A
RO

UN
D

 B
A

SE
 O

F 
TR

EE
.

US
E 

3 
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 S

TA
KE

S
PE

R 
TR

EE
, 3

6"
 A

BO
V

E 
G

RO
UN

D
FO

R 
UP

RI
G

HT
, 1

8"
 IF

 A
N

G
LE

D
.

D
RI

V
E 

ST
A

KE
S 

IN
TO

 U
N

D
IS

TU
RB

ED
SO

IL
 6

-8
" O

UT
SI

D
E 

RO
O

TB
A

LL
TO

 A
 D

EP
TH

 O
F 

18
" B

EL
O

W
TR

EE
 P

IT.
 R

EM
O

V
E 

A
FT

ER
 O

N
E

(1
) Y

EA
R.

 W
IR

E 
O

R 
RO

PE
 T

HR
O

UG
H

A
 H

O
SE

 S
HA

LL
 N

O
T 

BE
 A

LL
O

W
ED

.

ST
A

KE
 T

RE
ES

 J
US

T 
BE

LO
W

FI
RS

T 
BR

A
N

C
H 

US
IN

G
 2

-3
"

W
ID

E 
BE

LT
-L

IK
E 

N
YL

O
N

 O
R

PL
A

ST
IC

 S
TR

A
PS

. C
O

N
N

EC
T

FR
O

M
 T

RE
E 

TO
 S

TA
KE

 O
PP

O
SI

TE
.

A
LL

O
W

 F
O

R 
SO

M
E 

FL
EX

IN
G

.
RE

M
O

V
E 

A
FT

ER
 O

N
E 

(1
) Y

EA
R.

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 N

O
N

-B
IO

D
EG

RA
D

A
BL

E
M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 F

RO
M

 T
HE

 R
O

O
TB

A
LL

.
C

UT
 D

O
W

N
 W

IR
E 

BA
SK

ET
 A

N
D

 F
O

LD
D

O
W

N
 A

LL
 B

UR
LA

P 
FR

O
M

 1
/2

 O
F

RO
O

TB
A

LL

N
TS

D
EC

ID
UO

US
 T

RE
E 

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 D

ET
A

IL

M
O

UN
D

 T
O

 F
O

RM
 3

" E
A

RT
H 

SA
UC

ER

N
O

TE
:

G
UY

 D
EC

ID
UO

US
 T

RE
ES

 A
BO

V
E

3"
 C

A
LI

PE
R,

 S
TA

KE
 T

RE
ES

 B
EL

O
W

3"
 C

A
LI

PE
R

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 M

IX
 T

O
 B

E 
A

M
EN

D
ED

 P
ER

SI
TE

 C
O

N
D

ITI
O

N
S 

A
N

D
 R

EQ
UI

RE
M

EN
TS

O
F 

TH
E 

PL
A

N
T 

M
A

TE
RI

A
L

SC
A

RI
FY

 S
UB

G
RA

D
E 

A
N

D
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

PI
T 

SI
D

ES
. R

EC
O

M
PA

C
T 

PI
T 

BA
SE

 T
O

4"
 D

EP
TH

A
LL

 P
RO

PO
SE

D
 P

LA
N

T 
BE

D
S

TO
 B

E 
FI

N
IS

HE
D

 W
/ 

3"
 D

EP
TH

SH
RE

D
D

ED
 H

A
RD

W
O

O
D

 B
A

RK
M

UL
C

H,
 T

YP
IC

A
L

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 H

ED
G

E 
TO

M
A

IN
TA

IN
ED

 A
T 

4'
 H

T

UP
RI

G
HT

 E
V

ER
G

RE
EN

 S
HR

UB
 P

LA
N

TIN
G

 D
ET

A
IL

N
TS

12
" M

IN
.

N
O

TE
S:

TR
EE

 S
HA

LL
 B

EA
R 

SA
M

E
RE

LA
TIO

N
 T

O
 F

IN
IS

H 
G

RA
D

E
A

S 
IT 

BO
RE

 O
RI

G
IN

A
LL

Y.

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 T

A
G

S,
 S

TR
IN

G
,

PL
A

ST
IC

 A
N

D
 O

TH
ER

 M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

M
UL

C
H 

3"
 D

EP
TH

 W
ITH

 S
HR

ED
D

ED
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

. M
UL

C
H 

SH
A

LL
 B

E
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
 C

O
LO

R.
 L

EA
V

E 
3"

 C
LE

A
R

A
RO

UN
D

 B
A

SE
 O

F 
TR

EE
.

RE
M

O
V

E 
A

LL
 N

O
N

-B
IO

D
EG

RA
D

A
BL

E
M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
 F

RO
M

 T
HE

 R
O

O
TB

A
LL

.
C

UT
 D

O
W

N
 W

IR
E 

BA
SK

ET
 A

N
D

 F
O

LD
D

O
W

N
 A

LL
 B

UR
LA

P 
FR

O
M

 1
/3

 O
F

RO
O

TB
A

LL

M
O

UN
D

 T
O

 F
O

RM
 3

" E
A

RT
H 

SA
UC

ER

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 M

IX
 A

S 
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

UN
D

IS
TU

RB
ED

 S
O

IL

IR
RI

G
A

TIO
N

 N
O

TE
:

A
LL

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

RE
A

S,
 IN

C
LU

D
IN

G
 T

HO
SE

 W
ITH

IN
 T

HE
 R

.O
.W

. S
HA

LL
BE

 IR
RI

G
A

TE
D

 W
ITH

 A
N

 A
UT

O
M

A
TIC

 U
N

D
ER

G
RO

UN
D

 IR
RI

G
A

TIO
N

 S
YS

TE
M

.
TH

E 
SY

ST
EM

 S
HA

LL
 O

PE
RA

TE
 IN

 C
O

M
PL

IA
N

C
E 

W
ITH

 L
O

C
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

A
N

D
 S

EA
SO

N
A

L 
RE

ST
RI

C
TIO

N
S.

 S
EP

A
RA

TE
 Z

O
N

ES
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

PR
O

V
ID

ED
 F

O
R

LA
W

N
 A

RE
A

S 
A

N
D

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 B

ED
S.

 IR
RI

G
A

TIO
N

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
D

ES
IG

N
ED

 IN
 T

HE
TH

E 
M

O
ST

 E
FF

IC
IE

N
T 

M
A

N
N

ER
 N

EC
ES

SA
RY

 T
O

 F
UL

LY
 IR

RI
G

A
TE

 A
LL

 P
LA

N
TIN

G
 A

RE
A

S.

4"
 D

EP
TH

 S
HR

ED
D

ED
HA

RW
O

O
D

 B
A

RK
 M

UL
C

H

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 M

IX
,

A
S 

SP
EC

IF
IE

D

4"
 D

EP
TH

 X
 9

" W
ID

E 
EX

C
A

V
A

TE
D

TR
EN

C
H 

TO
 B

E 
BA

C
KF

IL
LE

D
 W

ITH
M

UL
C

H

18
" G

A
LV

A
N

IZ
ED

 M
ET

A
L 

ST
A

KE
SP

A
C

ED
 P

ER
 M

A
N

UF
A

C
TU

RE
RS

SP
EC

IF
IC

A
TIO

N
S

LA
W

N
 A

D
JA

C
EN

T
TO

 P
LA

N
T 

BE
D

M
ET

A
L 

ED
G

IN
G

 D
ET

A
IL

N
TS

1/
4"

 X
 4

" M
ET

A
L 

ED
G

IN
G

 T
O

BE
 S

ET
 1

/2
" A

BO
V

E 
FI

N
IS

H
G

RA
D

E

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 E

D
G

E 
TO

 B
E

SP
A

D
E 

C
UT

, A
 M

IN
IM

UM
O

F 
4"

 IN
 D

EP
TH

4"
 D

EE
P 

SH
RE

D
D

ED
HA

RD
W

O
O

D
 B

A
RK

 M
UL

C
H.

M
UL

C
H 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
N

A
TU

RA
L 

IN
C

O
LO

R 
A

N
D

 U
N

IF
O

RM
 IN

 S
IZ

E
EX

IS
TIN

G
 L

A
W

N

SP
A

D
E 

C
UT

 E
D

G
E 

D
ET

A
IL

N
TS

PL
A

N
TIN

G
 M

IX
, A

S
SP

EC
IF

IE
D

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 P

A
TIO

 P
ER

A
RC

H 
D

W
G

S PR
O

PO
SE

D
 F

IR
E 

PL
A

C
E

SE
E 

A
RC

H 
D

W
G

S 
FO

R 
D

ET
A

IL
S

EX
IS

TIN
G

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
±9

,1
55

 G
FA

5-
HA

9-
TO

31
-H

M
1-

PS 6-
BS

22
-B

S

37
-B

C

11
-S

H
6-

C
A

21
-H

R
9-

C
S

12
-C

S

18
-S

H
21

-B
C

1-
M

A

GRAND TR
UNK W

ESTE
RN RAILR

OAD

ETON ROAD
(WIDTH VARIES)

EX
IS

TIN
G

 B
UI

LD
IN

G
±9

,1
55

 G
FA

3-
SH

10
-C

A

11
-T

O
12

-C
A

20
-B

S

EX
IS

TIN
G

 P
A

TIO
 S

UR
FA

C
E

TO
 B

E 
UP

D
A

TE
D

 P
ER

 A
RC

H
D

W
G

S

EX
IS

TIN
G

 P
A

TIO
 S

UR
FA

C
E

TO
 B

E 
UP

D
A

TE
D

 P
ER

 A
RC

H
D

W
G

S

24
-H

M

1-
C

A5-
C

S
18

-H
M

3-
HM

A
LL

 P
RO

PO
SE

D
 P

LA
N

T 
BE

D
S

TO
 B

E 
FI

N
IS

HE
D

 W
/ 

3"
 D

EP
TH

SH
RE

D
D

ED
 H

A
RD

W
O

O
D

 B
A

RK
M

UL
C

H,
 T

YP
IC

A
L

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 H

ED
G

E 
TO

M
A

IN
TA

IN
ED

 A
T 

4'
 H

T

A
LL

 P
RO

PO
SE

D
 P

LA
N

T 
BE

D
S

TO
 B

E 
FI

N
IS

HE
D

 W
/ 

3"
 D

EP
TH

SH
RE

D
D

ED
 H

A
RD

W
O

O
D

 B
A

RK
M

UL
C

H,
 T

YP
IC

A
L

1

2

2

RE
FR

ES
H 

M
UL

C
H 

O
N

EX
IS

TIN
G

 T
RE

ES
, T

YP
IC

A
L

TR
EE

 P
RO

TE
C

TIO
N

 F
EN

C
IN

G
 T

O
 B

E
PL

A
C

ED
 M

IN
 1

' O
UT

SI
D

E 
TH

E 
LI

M
ITS

O
F 

ST
O

N
E 

C
HA

N
N

EL

3

3

3

3

3

4

PE
RG

O
LA

 S
TR

UC
TU

RE
 P

ER
 A

RC
H 

D
W

G
S

5

6

6

6

34
-L

S

70
-L

S

1.
IT 

SH
A

LL
 B

E 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R'
S 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 T
O

 V
ER

IF
Y 

A
LL

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
 S

UR
V

EY
IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 IN

C
LU

D
IN

G
 T

HE
 U

TIL
ITY

 S
YS

TE
M

S 
BE

FO
RE

 A
N

Y 
D

EM
O

LI
TIO

N
 O

R
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 W

O
RK

 O
C

C
UR

S.
  A

N
Y 

D
IS

C
RE

PA
N

C
IE

S 
W

ITH
 T

HE
 S

UR
V

EY
IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

RE
PO

RT
ED

 T
O

 T
HE

 A
RC

HI
TE

C
T 

A
N

D
 O

W
N

ER
'S

RE
PR

ES
EN

TA
TIV

E 
IM

M
ED

IA
TE

LY
.

2.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
M

A
KI

N
G

 H
IM

SE
LF

 F
A

M
IL

IA
R 

W
ITH

 A
LL

UN
D

ER
G

RO
UN

D
 U

TIL
ITI

ES
, P

IP
ES

 A
N

D
 S

TR
UC

TU
RE

S.
  C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 T
A

KE
SO

LE
 R

ES
PO

N
SI

BI
LI

TY
 F

O
R 

C
O

ST
 IN

C
UR

RE
D

 D
UE

 T
O

 D
A

M
A

G
E 

A
N

D
RE

PL
A

C
EM

EN
T 

O
F 

SA
ID

 U
TIL

ITI
ES

.

3.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 N
O

T 
W

IL
LF

UL
LY

 P
RO

C
EE

D
 W

ITH
 C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 A

S
D

ES
IG

N
ED

 W
HE

N
 IT

 IS
 O

BV
IO

US
 T

HA
T 

UN
KN

O
W

N
 O

BS
TR

UC
TIO

N
S 

A
N

D
 /

 O
R

G
RA

D
E 

D
IF

FE
RE

N
C

ES
 E

XI
ST

 T
HA

T 
M

A
Y 

N
O

T 
HA

V
E 

BE
EN

 K
N

O
W

N
 D

UR
IN

G
 T

HE
D

ES
IG

N
.  

SU
C

H 
C

O
N

D
ITI

O
N

S 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

IM
M

ED
IA

TE
LY

 B
RO

UG
HT

 T
O

 T
HE

A
TT

EN
TIO

N
 O

F 
TH

E 
C

ITY
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R.
  T

HE
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 A
SS

UM
E 

FU
LL

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BI

LI
TY

 F
O

R 
A

LL
 N

EC
ES

SA
RY

 R
EV

IS
IO

N
S 

D
UE

 T
O

 L
A

C
K 

O
F 

SU
C

H
N

O
TIF

IC
A

TIO
N

.

4.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

RE
SP

O
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
A

N
Y 

C
O

O
RD

IN
A

TIO
N

 W
ITH

SU
BC

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

RS
 A

S 
RE

Q
UI

RE
D

 T
O

 A
C

C
O

M
PL

IS
H 

O
PE

RA
TIO

N
S.

5.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
IS

 R
ES

PO
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
RE

PL
A

C
EM

EN
T 

O
F 

A
N

Y 
EX

IS
TIN

G
 M

A
TE

RI
A

LS
TH

A
T 

A
RE

 D
A

M
A

G
ED

 D
UR

IN
G

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

.

6.
SE

E 
SP

EC
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

S 
FO

R 
C

O
N

ST
RU

C
TIO

N
 R

EQ
UI

RE
M

EN
TS

, M
A

TE
RI

A
LS

, A
N

D
EX

EC
UT

IO
N

.

7.
A

LL
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

LI
N

ES
 A

N
D

 L
O

T 
LI

N
ES

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
V

ER
IF

IE
D

 P
RI

O
R 

TO
C

O
M

M
EN

C
IN

G
 W

O
RK

.

8.
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R 
SH

A
LL

 S
UB

M
IT 

A
LL

 S
A

M
PL

ES
 P

ER
 S

PE
C

IF
IC

A
TIO

N
S.

  A
LL

 S
A

M
PL

ES
SH

A
LL

 B
E 

A
PP

RO
V

ED
 B

Y 
TH

E 
A

RC
HI

TE
C

T 
O

R 
O

W
N

ER
'S

 R
EP

RE
SE

N
TA

TIV
E 

PR
IO

R
TO

 C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

.

9.
D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
FL

EX
IB

IL
ITY

 S
HA

LL
 B

E 
W

ITH
IN

 P
LA

N
T 

BE
D

S 
O

N
LY

.

10
.

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
R 

SH
A

LL
 C

O
O

RD
IN

A
TE

 A
LL

 S
ITE

 L
A

YO
UT

 W
ITH

 T
HE

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
A

RC
HI

TE
C

T 
A

N
D

 R
EP

O
RT

 A
N

Y 
D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
D

IS
C

RE
PA

N
C

IE
S 

PR
IO

R 
TO

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

.

11
.

HA
N

D
IC

A
PP

ED
 R

A
M

PS
 S

HA
LL

 M
EE

T 
A

LL
 C

UR
RE

N
T 

BA
RR

IE
R 

FR
EE

 D
ES

IG
N

 C
O

D
ES

.

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 N
O

TE
S:

19
-B

C

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 3

/4
" -

 1
-1

/2
" D

IA
W

A
SH

ED
 S

TO
N

E,
 3

-4
" D

EP
TH

BE
TW

EE
N

 B
LD

G
 A

N
D

 H
ED

G
E

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 3

/4
" -

 1
-1

/2
" D

IA
W

A
SH

ED
 S

TO
N

E,
 3

-4
" D

EP
TH

BE
TW

EE
N

 B
LD

G
 A

N
D

 H
ED

G
E

05
/1

8/
23

 R
EV

IS
ED

 P
ER

 O
W

N
ER

 R
EV

IE
W

W:\Pontiac Jobs - Pre G500\E000-FILES\E103-04\Office\Landscape\E103-04_LS.dwg, 5/24/2023 10:50:30 AM

5H



EX
IS

TI
N

G
 L

IG
H

T 
PO

LE
 F

IX
TU

R
E 

- T
YP

E 
A

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 L

IG
H

T 
PO

LE
 F

IX
TU

R
E 

- T
YP

E 
B

5H



M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L 

HV
AC

 R
O

O
F

PL
AN

 - 
SO

UT
H

D
ES

IG
N

 S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

PE
N

D
IN

G
 S

SE

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y

N
O

T 
FO

R
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E

1
3

2

1
2

3

ABC

44

55

D

66

E

C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
:

C
AD

 D
W

G
 F

IL
E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

IS
SU

ED

4'
0

8'
2'

1/
4"

 =
 1

'-0
"

SC
AL

E:

36
72

SS
E

M
M

M

24
5 

S 
ET

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

I 4
80

09

BI
G

 R
O

C
K

•
••

••
••

••
••

••
•••

•
•

•
••

•
••

••
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
AL

L 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
AN

D
 W

R
IT

TE
N

 M
AT

ER
IA

L 
AP

PE
AR

IN
G

H
ER

EI
N

 C
O

N
ST

IT
U

TE
 T

H
E 

O
R

IG
IN

AL
 A

N
D

 U
N

PU
BL

IS
H

ED
W

O
R

K 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

 A
N

D
 T

H
E 

SA
M

E 
M

AY
N

O
T 

BE
 D

U
PL

IC
AT

ED
, U

SE
D

, O
R

 D
IS

C
LO

SE
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

TH
E 

W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

M
AR

K
D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

M
H

-2
04

5H



M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L 

HV
AC

 R
O

O
F

PL
AN

 - 
NO

RT
H

D
ES

IG
N

 S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

PE
N

D
IN

G
 S

SE

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y

N
O

T 
FO

R
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E

1
3

2

1
2

3

ABC

44

55

D

66

E

C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
:

C
AD

 D
W

G
 F

IL
E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

IS
SU

ED

4'
0

8'
2'

1/
4"

 =
 1

'-0
"

SC
AL

E:

36
72

SS
E

M
M

M

24
5 

S 
ET

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

I 4
80

09

BI
G

 R
O

C
K

•
••

••
••

••
••

••
•••

•
•

•
••

•
••

••
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
AL

L 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
AN

D
 W

R
IT

TE
N

 M
AT

ER
IA

L 
AP

PE
AR

IN
G

H
ER

EI
N

 C
O

N
ST

IT
U

TE
 T

H
E 

O
R

IG
IN

AL
 A

N
D

 U
N

PU
BL

IS
H

ED
W

O
R

K 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

 A
N

D
 T

H
E 

SA
M

E 
M

AY
N

O
T 

BE
 D

U
PL

IC
AT

ED
, U

SE
D

, O
R

 D
IS

C
LO

SE
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

TH
E 

W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

M
AR

K
D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

M
H

-2
05

5H



M
EC

HA
NI

CA
L

EN
LA

RG
ED

 U
NI

T 
PL

AN

D
ES

IG
N

 S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

PE
N

D
IN

G
 S

SE

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y

N
O

T 
FO

R
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E

1
3

2

1
2

3

ABC

44

55

D

66

E

C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
:

C
AD

 D
W

G
 F

IL
E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

IS
SU

ED

4'
0

8'
2'

1/
4"

 =
 1

'-0
"

SC
AL

E:

36
72

SS
E

M
M

M

24
5 

S 
ET

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

I 4
80

09

BI
G

 R
O

C
K

•
••

••
••

••
••

••
•••

•
•

•
••

•
••

••
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
AL

L 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
AN

D
 W

R
IT

TE
N

 M
AT

ER
IA

L 
AP

PE
AR

IN
G

H
ER

EI
N

 C
O

N
ST

IT
U

TE
 T

H
E 

O
R

IG
IN

AL
 A

N
D

 U
N

PU
BL

IS
H

ED
W

O
R

K 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

 A
N

D
 T

H
E 

SA
M

E 
M

AY
N

O
T 

BE
 D

U
PL

IC
AT

ED
, U

SE
D

, O
R

 D
IS

C
LO

SE
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

TH
E 

W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

M
AR

K
D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

M
-3

00

M
EC

HA
N

IC
A

L 
RO

O
M

 - 
A

TT
IC

 S
PA

C
E

5H



TRASH

T
R
A
SH

T
R
A
SH

















T
R
A
SH



T
R
A
SH

OPEN TABLE

POS

POS POS

OPEN TABLE

POS

PO
S




































































    


 






 

  


































 









































S.
18

S.
17

S.
16

S.
15

S.
14

S.
13

S.
12

S.
11

S.
10

10
4

C
O

AT
 R

O
O

M

13
0

C
LU

B 
EN

TR
Y

13
2

R
EC

EI
VI

N
G

13
5

PR
EP

13
1

EL
EV

13
6

C
O

O
KL

IN
E

13
7

PI
C

K-
U

P

12
9

SM
O

KI
N

G
 P

AT
IO

11
0

LA
N

D
IN

G
10

9
BA

R
 S

ER
VI

C
E

13
3

M
O

P
13

4
C

O
O

LE
R

11
1

FA
M

IL
Y

AC
C

ES
SI

BL
E

10
8

PD
R

 A

10
7

R
O

O
M

M
AI

N
 D

IN
IN

G

R
11

2
SE

R
VI

C
E

10
6

M
AI

N
 B

AR
10

5
BA

R
 S

EA
TI

N
G

10
2

R
ET

AI
L 

C
IG

AR

10
3

H
U

M
ID

O
R

10
1

VE
ST

IB
U

LE

D
N

EL
EV

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

D
N

U
P

EL
EC

TR
IC

AL
 P

O
W

ER
 F

LO
O

R
PL

AN
 - 

SO
UT

H

D
ES

IG
N

 S
U

BM
IT

TA
LS

PE
N

D
IN

G
 S

SE

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y

N
O

T 
FO

R
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

SH
EE

T 
TI

TL
E

1
3

2

1
2

3

ABC

44

55

D

66

E

C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T:

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
:

C
AD

 D
W

G
 F

IL
E:

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y:

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y:

IS
SU

ED

4'
0

8'
2'

1/
4"

 =
 1

'-0
"

SC
AL

E:

36
72

SS
E

M
M

M

24
5 

S 
ET

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

I 4
80

09

BI
G

 R
O

C
K

•
••

••
••

••
••

••
•••

•
•

•
••

•
••

••
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•

•
AL

L 
D

R
AW

IN
G

S 
AN

D
 W

R
IT

TE
N

 M
AT

ER
IA

L 
AP

PE
AR

IN
G

H
ER

EI
N

 C
O

N
ST

IT
U

TE
 T

H
E 

O
R

IG
IN

AL
 A

N
D

 U
N

PU
BL

IS
H

ED
W

O
R

K 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

 A
N

D
 T

H
E 

SA
M

E 
M

AY
N

O
T 

BE
 D

U
PL

IC
AT

ED
, U

SE
D

, O
R

 D
IS

C
LO

SE
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

TH
E 

W
R

IT
TE

N
 C

O
N

SE
N

T 
O

F 
KN

AU
ER

 IN
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
ED

M
AR

K
D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

EP
-2

01
5H



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: July 19, 2023  

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: 2024 City Commission Meeting Schedule 

INTRODUCTION:  
The City Charter requires the Commission to meet regularly and “not less than twice a month”. 
Provided is a proposed schedule for the 2024 City Commission meetings.  

BACKGROUND: 
Typically, the Commission meets on the second and fourth Mondays of each month except when 
a legal holiday coincides with those days. Legal holidays were designated by resolution of the 
Commission on August 26, 2013 pursuant to Article II Section 2-26 of the Birmingham City Code. 
This section gives the Commission latitude to reschedule regular meetings which would otherwise 
fall on a legal holiday. Resolution 11-289-21 passed on November 8, 2021 included Martin Luther 
King Jr Day and Resolution 0 - -2  passed on , 202 , included Juneteenth to the City 
of Birmingham’s designated legal holidays.  

The proposed meeting schedule avoids the ten legal holidays which fall on a Monday in 2024. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed and has no objections as it comports to City Charter. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The Finance Director has reviewed and has no fiscal concerns. 

SUSTAINABILITY  
There are no sustainability comments associated with this schedule. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Once approved, the 2024 meeting schedule will be published in the City calendar, on the City 
webpage, and posted at the Municipal Building. 

5I



SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is asked to review and approve the proposed meeting schedule for 2024, 
which avoids legal holidays and ensures the Commission meets not less than twice a month. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Federal and State Holidays on Mondays in 2024
2024 calendar with proposed City Commission dates and legal holidays noted

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the Birmingham City Commission 2024 Meeting 
Schedule as  

MONTH DAY MEETING LOCATION 
January 8 

20 (Sat 8:30 am) 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Long Range Planning 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

February 5 
12 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

March 4 
18 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

April 8 
15 
27 (Sat 8:30 am) 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 
Budget Hearing 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

May 6 
20 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

June 3 
10 
24 

Regular Meeting 
Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
DPS 
Municipal Building 

July 8 
22 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

August 12 
26 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

September 9 
23 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

October 7 
21 
28 

Regular Meeting 
Joint Commission/Planning Bd. 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
DPS 
Municipal Building 

November 18 
25 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

December 9 
16 

Regular Meeting 
Regular Meeting 

Municipal Building 
Municipal Building 

5I



Federal and State Recognized Holidays on Mondays in 2024: 

January 1 - New Year’s Day  
January 15 - Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 
February 19 - President’s Day 
March 25 - Holi 
April 22 -  Passover 
May 27 - Memorial day 
June 17 - Eid al-Adha  
September 2 - Labor Day 
October 14 - Columbus Day/ Indigenous Peoples day 
November 11 - Veterans Day 

5I



December January 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1 New Year's Day 2  3  4  5  6  

7  8
City Commission

9  10  11  12  13  

14  15 Martin Luther King 
Jr. Day

16  17  18  19  20 
Long Range Planning

21  22  
City Commisstion 

23  24  25  26  27  

28  29  30  31  

5I



 

 January February 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
    1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
City Commission 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10 Chinese New Year 
 

11  
 

12  
City Commission 
 

13  
 

14 Ash Wednesday 
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19   
President’s 
Day/Washington’s 
Birthday 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
*Possible date for 2024 
Presidential Primary 

28  
 

29  
 

 

  

*We should have a decision on the 
Presidential Primary Election date by 
Aug./Sept. 

5I



 

 February March 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
     1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
City Commission 
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  11  
 

12 *Possible Date 
for 2024 Presidential 
Primary 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18 
City Commission 
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23 Purim (begin) 

24 Purim (end) 
Holi (begin) 

25 Holi (end) 
 

26  
 

27  
 

28 Maundy Thursday 
 

29 Good Friday 
 

30  
 

31 Easter 
 

 

  

*We should have a decision on the 
Presidential Primary Election date by 
Aug./Sept. 

 

5I



 

 March April 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
 1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
City Commission 
 

9  
Eid al-Fitr (begin) 

10  
Eid al-Fitr (end) 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
City  Commission 
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
Passover (begin) 
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27 
 Budget Hearing 
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
Passover (end) 

 

  

5I



 

 April May 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
   1  

 
2  
 

3 Holy Friday 
(Orthodox) 

4  
 

5  
Pascha/Easter 
(Orthodox) 

6 
 City Commission 
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  10  
 

11  
 

12 
 

13  
 

14  15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
City Commission 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27 Memorial Day 
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  

5I



 

 May June 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
      1  

 

2  
 

3  
City Commission 
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
Joint 
Commission/Planning 
Board 
 

11  
Shavuot (begin) 

12  
 

13  
Shavout (end) 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
Eid al-Adha (begin) 

17  
Eid al-Adha (end) 

18  
 

19 Juneteenth 
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
City Commission 
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

 

  

5I



 

 June July 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
 1  

 
2 3 4 Independence Day 

 
5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
City Commisison 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
Ashura (begin) 

17  
Ashura (end) 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
City Commission 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  

5I



 

 July August 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
    1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
City Commission 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
City Commision 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

  

5I



 

 August September 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1  
 

2 Labor Day 
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
City Commission 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  

22) 
 

23  
City Commission 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  

29  
 

30  
 

 

  

5I



 

 September October 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
  1  

 
2  
Rosh Hashana (start) 
 

3  
 

4  
Rosh Hashana (end) 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
City Commission 
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
Yom Kippur (begin) 

12  
Yom Kippur (end) 

13  
 

14 Columbus 
Day/Indigenous Peoples 
Day 
 
 

15  
 

16  
Sukkot (begin) 

17  
  

18  
Sukkot (end) 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
Joint 
Commission/Planning 
Board 

22  
 

23  
Shemini Atzeret (begin) 
 

24  
Shemini Atzeret (end) 
Simchat Torah (begin) 
 

25  
 
Simchat Torah (end) 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
Ctiy Commission 
 

29  
 

30  
 

31 Diwali) 
 

 

  

5I



 

 October November 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
     1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
Election Day 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11 Veterans Day 
 

12   
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
City Commission 
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
City Commission 

26  
 

27  
 

28 Thanksgiving Day 
 

29  
 

30  
 

  

5I



 

 November December 2024  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1  
 

2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8 Bodhi Day 
 

9  
City Commission 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
City Commission 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  

22  
 

23  
 

24  
Christmas Eve 

25 Christmas Day 
Hanukkah (start) 

26 Kwanzaa (begin) 
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31 New Year’s Eve 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

5I



 

 December January 2025  

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
   1 New Year's Day 

Kwanzaa (end) 
 

2  
Hanukkah (End) 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20 Martin Luther King 
Jr. 
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

 
  

5I



 
 

US Holidays for 2024.  List includes popular religious & festive days. 
Courtesy of WWinCalendar.com 

Jan 1 New Year's Day 
Jan 15 Martin Luther King Jr. 
Feb 2 Groundhog Day 
Feb 14 Ash Wednesday 
Feb 14 Valentine's Day 
Feb 19 Washington's Birthday 
Feb 19 Presidents Day 
Mar 8 Int'l. Women's Day 
Mar 10 Daylight Saving Begins 
Mar 17 St Patrick's Day 
Mar 19 Start of Spring (Spring Equinox) 
Mar 28 Holy Thursday 
Mar 29 Good Friday 
Mar 31 Easter 
Apr 15 Tax Day (Taxes Due) 
Apr 22 Earth Day 
Apr 24 Administrative Professionals 
Apr 26 Arbor Day 
May 5 Cinco De Mayo 
May 12 Mother's Day 
May 18 Armed Forces Day 
May 27 Memorial Day 
Jun 14 Flag Day 
Jun 16 Father's Day 
Jun 19 Juneteenth 
Jun 20 Summer Solstice (Summer Begins) 
Jul 4 Indep. Day 
Sep 2 Labor Day 
Sep 11 Patriot Day 
Sep 22 Start of Fall (Autumnal Equinox) 
Oct 14 Columbus Day 
Oct 31 Halloween 
Nov 3 Daylight Saving Time Ends 
Nov 5 Election Day 
Nov 11 Veterans Day 
Nov 28 Thanksgiving Day 
Dec 21 Start of Winter (Winter Solstice) 
Dec 25 Christmas 

5I



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: 

TO:  

FROM: 

Ju , 2023  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: School Resource Officer 

INTRODUCTION:  
The Birmingham School District has requested a full-time School Resource Officer (SRO) to start 
at the beginning of the 2023-2024 school year.  An SRO is a law enforcement officer who is 
assigned to work in the schools. SROs serve as a liaison between the school community, law 
enforcement, and the local community. Their primary role is to promote safety and security within 
the school environment while also building positive relationships with students, staff, and parents. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Birmingham Police Department has provided a part-time SRO to Birmingham Schools for over 
20 years.  Under this program, our juvenile detective is assigned as the SRO and Birmingham 
Schools pays the City 50% of the cost for this employee.  In return, the SRO spends 50% of their 
time working as the SRO for Birmingham Schools.   

The tragic events that took place at Oxford High School on November 30, 2021, brought the 
concerns of an active shooter closer to home.  Not long after this incident, Birmingham Schools 
contacted the Police Department to speak about the current SRO program and requested the 
SRO position become a full-time assignment at the schools.  Due to the increase in incidents at 
schools and the increase in gun violence, staff fully supports the creation of a full-time SRO. 

A full-time SRO will work primarily at Seaholm High School and will handle issues at other 
Birmingham District Schools (within the City limits) as needed.  The SRO will remain under the 
control of the Police Department and will follow all departmental policies and procedures while 
assigned to the schools.  When school is not in session, the SRO will report back to our department 
and assist with investigations, patrol duties, special events and traffic enforcement.   

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has worked with the attorney representing the school district to create the 
attached document.  Our attorney has approved the attached contract. 

5J



2 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
In the approved 2023-2024 budget, an additional officer was approved to fill the SRO position 
increasing our sworn staff to 35 officers.  Once the SRO is selected, a new officer will be hired to 
backfill the vacancy created in our patrol unit.  This additional officer will have no cost to the city 
since the school district has agreed to pay 100% ($163,174.00, which includes salary and 
benefits) of the cost of the full-time SRO.   

The existing 50% SRO program will no longer exist and therefore, Birmingham Schools will no 
longer pay half of the total compensation ($81,587.00) for the detective that will remain in our 
detective bureau.  The City will now cover the full cost of this position.  This position has always 
been fully budgeted for in the Police Department budget. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
Not-applicable. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
There has been no public communication from the Police Department while negotiations were 
ongoing to create this full-time SRO agreement. 

SUMMARY: 
The Birmingham Police Department and the Birmingham School District have reached an 
agreement for the creation of a full-time School Resource Officer (SRO).  Birmingham Schools 
has agreed to pay 100% of the total compensation for this position.  While it is ultimately the 
school district’s responsibility to provide for the safety and security of their staff and students, 
the SRO’s primary role will be to promote safety and security while creating positive relationships 
with the school community.

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. School Resource Officer Agreement between the City of Birmingham and the

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION:
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve a three year agreement ending July 
1, 2026 with

 

5J



1 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM AND 
THE BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 

PROVIDING FOR A SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this  _  day of  , 2023 by and between 
the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, whose address is 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
(hereinafter referred to as the City) and the BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT, whose 
address is 31301 Evergreen Road Beverly Hills, MI 48025 (hereafter referred to as the “District”) 
and the foregoing shall collectively be referred to as the Parties, and make this Agreement 
pursuant to the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967 (the “Act”), 1967 PA 4, MCL 124.501, et seq. to 
provide for the joint exercise of certain powers, privileges, or authority that the parties share in 
common and that each might exercise separately as described in this agreement. 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to participate with the District for a School Resource Officer 
Program and will provide the District a School Resource Officer (“SRO”) that is within the 
jurisdiction of the City of Birmingham; and 

WHEREAS, the term District may include the Birmingham School District’s Security 
Officer, a Birmingham School District principal of an assigned school, or the Birmingham School 
District; and 

WHEREAS, the District and the City desire to set forth in this Agreement the specific 
roles, responsibilities, terms and conditions of the services to be performed and provided by the 
SRO in the District. 

NOW THEREFORE, the terms, conditions, and roles of this Agreement are as follows: 

1. Provision of School Resource Officer (“SRO”): The City shall provide and
assign one regularly employed full-time police officer to the District as an SRO to be assigned to 
the following schools as needs are determined by the SRO, in collaboration with the District’s 
designee: 

a. Seaholm High School
b. Derby Middle School
c. Quarton Elementary
d. Pierce Elementary
e. Midvale Early Childhood Center

2. Employment of School Resource Officers: The SROs shall be employees of the
Birmingham Police Department and shall be subject to the administration, supervision and control 
of the Department. The Police Department, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and 
authority to hire, discharge, and discipline SROs. The Birmingham Police Department retains the 
right to manage and direct services provided by the SRO. 

In the event the District and the City together find the SRO fails to abide by the terms 
of this Agreement, fails to follow the policies and procedures of the District as they pertain to the 
SRO, as it pertains to the District’s Security Officer, or fails to perform the SRO’s duties, the SRO 
shall be directed by the Chief of Birmingham to remedy the problems within fifteen (15) school 
days. the Superintendent or designee shall notify the City in writing of the specific problems. If the 

5J



2  

SRO fails to remedy the problems within fifteen (15) school days after the date of notification or an 
agreed upon date by the Parties, the Superintendent or designee may request the City to assign a 
new SRO in accordance with the procedures set forth in Paragraph 4.  

 
3. Goals and Objectives of the Program and the SRO: 

 
a. To establish a positive working relationship in a cooperative effort to prevent 

juvenile delinquency and assist in student development. 
 

b. While it is ultimately the District’s responsibility, the SRO will assist in 
maintaining a safe and secure environment on a school campus which will be 
conducive to learning. 

 
c. Promote positive attitudes regarding the police role in society, especially to 

children. 
 

4. Selection of SRO: The Parties acknowledge that the selection of the SRO is a 
critical aspect of the SRO Program and that it is important for the Parties and the school 
community to have a positive perception of and relationship with the SRO. The Chief of Police, or 
their designee, with input from the Superintendent or designee, shall select the SRO. The Chief 
of Police or their designee will  consult with the District on the selection and the criteria that was 
utilized in making the decision. The following factors will be considered, among others, in the 
selection process: 

 
a. The officer’s desire to work with youth. 

 
b. The officer’s prior experience in law enforcement and youth work. 

 
c. The officer’s interpersonal and communication skills along with their work 

records. 
 

d. The officer’s academic background and/or other pertinent training. 
 

5. Training and Certification: The SRO must be a MCOLES certified police officer 
employed by the City and must have and maintain all training and credentials necessary to 
maintain that status.  The SRO should receive training in the following areas: 

 
a. Basic SRO 

 
b. Advanced SRO 

 
c. Single Officer Rapid Deployment 

 
d. Adolescent Mental Health and trauma-informed care 
 
e. Family and Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)  
 
f. Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, which may include implicit bias and 

disproportionality in school-based arrests based on race and disability. 

5J



3  

 
6. Regular Duty Hours of SROs: 

 
a. The SRO will be assigned to the District on a full-time basis of eight (8) hours 

on those days and during those hours that school is in session. SRO work 
schedule will primarily coincide with Seaholm High School with adjustments 
made based on the needs of additional Birmingham Schools as agreed to by 
the Birmingham Chief of Police. 
 

b. Whenever possible, it is the intent of the parties that the SRO’s service duty 
hours shall conform to the school day. However, the Parties may mutually 
agree to adjust the SRO’s hours in order to attend after school events, training, 
investigative work, public speaking events and any other need related to the 
services under this Agreement. Those hours shall be considered as regular time 
hours under this Agreement upon mutual agreement of the Parties. 
 

c. It is understood and agreed that time spent by SRO’s attending municipal or 
Circuit Court, Juvenile Court, and/or criminal cases arising from and/or out of 
their employment as an SRO, shall be considered a part of the regular hours 
worked by the SRO under this Agreement. 

 
d. In the event an SRO is absent from work due to unforeseen circumstances, 

the SRO shall notify their supervisor in the Police Department and the contact 
person designated by the district. The Police Department will assign another 
qualified officer, if available, to substitute for the SRO who is absent, beginning 
with the sixth consecutive day of absence. If the assigned SRO is absent less 
than six days, no substitute will be assigned. 

 
e. The SRO position is a 12-month position running concurrent with the school 

year calendar. It is preferred that an SRO take vacation time when students 
are not in attendance. In the event an SRO elects to take vacation time when 
school is in session, the Police Department will notify the District of the 
impending absence and may assign another qualified officer to substitute for 
the SRO who is absent, contingent on the availability of personnel.  

 
f. It is understood by the District that the SRO may be called from the school and 

SRO duties in order to assist with an active emergency in the City, which shall 
be at the request of the on duty Police Department supervisor. The time spent 
during such reassignment shall not be considered hours worked under this 
Agreement unless it is connected to a school related issue. In such an event, 
the compensation paid by the District to the City shall be reduced by the 
number of hours of SRO service not provided to the District or the hours shall 
be made up in a manner determined by mutual agreement of the parties.  

 
7. Scope of Work: While on duty, the SRO shall perform the following duties: 

 
a. Plan and participate in classroom instruction in specialized programs and on a 

visiting instructor basis, when requested. 

5J



4  

 
b. Act as a resource person in the area of law enforcement education at the 

request of the District, principals, and approval of the Police Chief. 
 

c. Conduct criminal investigations of violations of law on District property, which 
is initiated by the SRO or reported by school personnel per interagency 
agreement. Additionally, may investigate any juvenile cases involving 
Birmingham students on or off school property. 

 
d. Work in conjunction with school-based security to maintain the peace on 

District property. 
 

e. Visit Birmingham schools and work with administrators, staff, students, and 
parents to improve school/police relations in the area of security and 
emergency response. 

 
f. Act as a resource person to the District on police matters and incidents. 

 
g. Assist the Principal or his/her designee in coordinating emergency medical 

response at the discretion of the SRO.  
 
h. Be familiar with all District policies, administrative guidelines, and procedures, 

including student handbooks and the student code of conduct, and make 
reasonable efforts to adhere to the same, to the extent they do not conflict 
with the policies and procedures of the Police Department in non-emergency 
situations. 

 
i. The SRO will not be responsible for general student discipline. The 

administration of student discipline, including student code of conduct 
violations, is the responsibility of school administrators unless the violation or 
misbehavior involves criminal conduct for which law enforcement intervention 
is required. However, the SRO may assist the superintendent, principals, 
faculty, and staff in enforcing the campus code of conduct and other school 
rules in order to maintain a safe learning environment, if agreed to by the Chief 
of Police for the City of Birmingham. When it pertains to preventing a disruption 
that would, if ignored, place students, faculty, and staff at risk of harm, the 
SRO will intervene to preserve the peace of the school.   

 
j. The SRO will wear their department authorized duty weapons in accordance 

with Police Department policy. 
 

8. Employment and Supervision: The SRO is an employee of the City and not an 
employee of the District. This Agreement shall not create an employment relationship between 
the District and the SRO. The City is responsible for the training, discipline, and dismissal of its 
personnel. As an employee of the City, the SRO is subject to the chain of command of the City. 
In the performance of their duties, the SRO shall coordinate and communicate with the Principal 
or the Principal’s designee of the school to which they are assigned. 

 

5J



5 

9. Compensation: The District agrees to pay the City the costs for performing all
services covered by this Agreement. The basic cost includes all salaries and wages, sick leave, 
vacations, employee benefits, supervision, Public Employees’ Retirement Contribution Insurance 
premiums, Social Security, general liability insurance, unemployment insurance, worker’s 
compensation, equipment costs, vehicle costs, and all other indirect costs incurred by the City in 
providing the services as listed in Attachment A. The changes to costs year to year shall be paid 
to the City based on an annual notice provided by the City. These may include retroactive costs 
due to pending union contractual agreements. 

The amount of the SRO’s salary and fringe benefits shall be determined by the City 
annually and shall be based on and is pursuant to an agreement between the City of Birmingham 
Police Officers in conjunction with the City of Birmingham Police Officer Labor Council and the 
City of Birmingham. The Birmingham City Manager will provide information to the District as 
reasonably requested to substantiate the cost factors in determining the amounts of the officer’s 
salary and fringe benefits. 

10. Access to Education Records:

a. School officials shall allow SROs to inspect and copy any public records
maintained by the school to the extent allowed by law.

b. If some information in a student’s record is needed in an emergency to protect
the health or safety of the student or other individuals, school officials shall
disclose to the SRO that information which is needed to respond to the
emergency situation based on the seriousness of the threat to someone’s
health or safety, the need of the information to meet the emergency situation
and the extent to which time is of the essence.

c. If confidential student record information is needed by an SRO, but no
emergency situation exists, the information may be released only as allowed
by law.

11. Term And Termination:

a. Initial Term. This Agreement shall be effective as of August 1, 2023 and shall
be for a 3 year term ending July 31, 2026. The term of this agreement will be
impacted by and subject to the availability of a qualified, eligible and willing
Birmingham Police Officer to serve as the SRO.

b. Extension. The Parties have the option to extend this Agreement for up to
three (3) additional one-year terms (the “Extension Terms”), upon mutual
written agreement of the Parties annually.

Termination. Any party may terminate this Contract for any reason upon
written notice to the other parties of not less than ninety (90) days prior to the
date of such termination. In the event of early termination, the District shall
only be responsible for paying for services rendered up to the date of
termination. However, in the event of early termination, if the District has paid
for Services that were not rendered, the District shall be entitled to a return

5J



6 

of, and the City shall pay, the pro-rata portion of the payment. If this 
Agreement is terminated with any of the provisions contained herein, 
regardless of the basis for termination, the District shall neither be liable to, 
nor obligated to pay, the City for any other costs associated with the SRO and 
their employment with the City of Birmingham.  

12. Indemnification: Each Party is solely responsible for the act(s) and omission(s) of
its own elected official and any entity or person for whom each Party is legally liable. To the 
extent permitted by law, each Party agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on 
behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the other party, its elected and appointed officials, 
employees and volunteers and others working on their behalf against any and all claims, 
demands, suits, or loss, including all costs and reasonable attorney fees connected therewith, 
and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the other 
party, its elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on their behalf, 
by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury and death and/or property damage, including 
loss of use thereof, which arise out of the acts, errors or omissions of the party including its 
employees and agents, in the performance of this Agreement.  

13. Insurance Submission Requirements: The District has submitted proof to the
City that it meets all City insurance requirements, as specified in Paragraph 17. Insurance, with 
coverage amounts at no less than the City’s minimum requirements, must be held by the District 
throughout the term of this Agreement. Certificates of insurance as stated below will be required 
no later than five (5) business days from the date of the District’s acceptance of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

During the term of this Agreement and any renewal thereof, the City and District 
shall maintain errors and omissions and general liability insurance in the amounts stated below, 
naming each other the District as an additional insured. The City and the District shall provide 
certificates of insurance with each other the District before commencing services under this 
Agreement.  

14. Confidential And Or Proprietary Information: The District acknowledges that
in performing services pursuant to this Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary 
information (including, but not limited to, internal organization, methodology, personnel and 
financial information, etc.) may become involved. The District recognizes that unauthorized 
exposure of such confidential or proprietary information could irreparably damage the City. 
Therefore, the District agrees to use reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary 
information and to prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure thereof. The District shall inform 
its employees of the confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access 
thereto to employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement. The District further agrees 
to use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing services 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

The City acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this Agreement, 
certain confidential and/or propriety information (including, but not limited to District security 
plans or procedures, student records, or other information that would be exempt from disclosure 
to the public) may become involved. The City recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such 
confidential or proprietary information could irreparably damage the District. Therefore, the City 
agrees to use reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to 

5J



7 

prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure thereof. The City agrees that such proprietary 
information and data and any information or data protected from disclosure by law obtained under 
this Agreement shall be utilized only in connection with this Agreement and shall not be made 
available to any other person or entity except as required by law. 

15. Compliance With Laws: The Parties agree to fully and faithfully carry out the
duties as set forth herein using their best efforts in accomplishing all services under this 
Agreement, and further, in addition to upholding all federal, and state laws and applicable codes 
of professional conduct to which the Party is subject, the Parties hereby agree to be bound by all 
Federal, State, or City of Birmingham ordinances, rules, regulations and policies, all District 
policies,  administrative guidelines, and procedures, including student handbooks and the student 
code of conduct as are amended from time to time, and including without limitation the Fair Labor 
Standards Act, the Equal Employment Opportunity rules and regulations, the Transportation 
Safety Act and the Occupational Safety and Health Acts. 

16. Non-Compliance With Insurance Requirements: Failure to deliver and
maintain insurance in accordance with the terms of this Agreement will be cause for the other 
Party to terminate this Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to create or be 
interpreted as establishing a “for cause” termination; the Parties agree and understand that this 
engagement is at will and may be terminated by either Party for any cause or no cause. 

17. Standard Insurance Requirements: Each Party shall maintain during the life of
this Agreement the applicable types of insurance coverage and minimum limits as set forth below: 

a. Workers’ Compensation Insurance: The Parties shall each procure and
maintain during the life of this Agreement, Workers’ Compensation Insurance,
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable
statutes of the State of Michigan.

b. Commercial General Liability Insurance: The District shall procure and maintain
during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability Insurance on
an “Occurrence Basis” with limits of liability not less than $2,000,000 per
occurrence combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property
Damage. Coverage shall include the following extensions: (A) Contractual
Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; (C) Independent Contractor
Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability Extensions or equivalent; (E)
Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if
applicable.

The City shall procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement,
Commercial General Liability Insurance on an “Occurrence Basis” with limits of
liability not less than $5,000,000 for armed SRO services and not less than
$2,000,000 for unarmed SRO services per occurrence combined single limit,
Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include
the following extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed
Operations; (C) Independent Contractor Coverage; (D) Broad Form General
Liability Extensions or equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and
Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if applicable.

5J



8  

18. Written Notices: Written notices regarding this Agreement shall be addressed to 
the following: 

 
City: City of Birmingham 

P.O. Box 3001 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012 
Attn: Chief of Police 

 
District: Birmingham Public Schools 

31301 Evergreen Road 
Beverly Hills, MI 48025 
Attn: Superintendent and 

Deputy Superintendent  
 

19. General Provisions: 
 

a. The SROs are employees of the City and not employees of the District, and 
under no circumstances shall any of the employees of one Party be deemed 
the employees of the other Party for any purpose. Accordingly, the City shall 
meet all of its obligations and responsibilities for payment of all taxes including 
Federal, State and Local taxes arising out of the SRO Program, including by 
way of illustration, Federal and State income tax, FICA, FUTA, Social Security 
tax, Unemployment Insurance taxes, Workers’ Compensation Insurance and 
any other taxes or business license fees as required and the City will indemnify, 
defend and hold the District harmless for the payment of such sums, interest, 
penalties, or cost of collection of same. This Agreement shall not be construed 
as authority for either Party to act for the other Party in any agency or other 
capacity or to make commitments of any kind for the account of, or on behalf 
of, the other Party, except to the extent, and for the purposes, expressly 
provided for and set forth herein, and no partnership or joint venture is created 
hereby. No tenure or other rights/benefits typically arising out of an employee-
employer relationship shall arise out of this Agreement on behalf of the City, 
its employees, or agents. 

 
b. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 
this invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect the enforceability of 
any other provision of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be construed as 
if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in it. 
The remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
c. The headings of the sections herein are for convenience only and shall not 

affect the meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

d. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Michigan. 

 
e. Neither the District nor the City may assign this Agreement without prior 

written consent from the non-assigning party. 

5J



9 

20. Amendments: No amendment, modification or supplement to this Agreement shall
be binding unless it is in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the parties. 

21. Waiver Of Breach: No waiver by either party of any breach of any of the terms,
covenants or conditions herein contained by the other party shall be construed as a waiver of any 
succeeding breach of this same or of any other term, covenant or condition. 

22. Complete Agreement: The parties agree that the conditions set forth in this
Agreement sets forth all terms and conditions of the District’s agreement with the City of 
Birmingham. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements or understandings between the 
parties. There are no promises, conditions or understandings other than those stated herein, and, 
that any prior negotiations, terms or conditions discussed between the City and the District shall 
not constitute a part of this Agreement. The term “agreement” as used in this clause shall include 
any future written amendments, modifications, or supplements made in accordance herewith. 

23. Direct Or Indirect Interest: If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any
official of the City, or spouse, child, parent or in-law of such official or employee shall become 
directly or indirectly interested in this Agreement or the affairs of the District, the City shall have 
the right to terminate this Agreement without further liability to the District if the disqualification 
has not been removed within ninety (90) days after the City has given the District notice of the 
disqualifying interest. Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity 
interest in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest. Employment shall be 
a disqualifying interest. 

24. Failure To Perform: If the District fails to perform its obligations hereunder, the
City may take any and all remedial actions provided by the general specifications or otherwise 
permitted by law. If the City fails to perform its obligations hereunder, the District may take any 
and all remedial actions provided by the general specifications or otherwise permitted by law.  

25. Legal Proceedings: Any claim arising out of or relating to interpretation of this
Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland 
County Circuit Court, the 48th District Court or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the 
dispute resolved by arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant to the Michigan Uniform Arbitration 
Act, MCL 691.1681, et seq., and administered by the American Arbitration Association with one 
arbitrator being used, or three arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000. 
Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and 
administrative fees of arbitration. The laws of the State of Michigan shall govern this Agreement, 
and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan. In the event that the parties 
elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may be 
resolved by the filing of a suit in a federal or state court with jurisdiction over Oakland County, 
Michigan. 

5J



10  

 
 

The remainder of this page left intentionally blank 
 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto agree to be bound by the above terms and 
conditions, and the District, by its authorized signature below, expressly accepts this Agreement 
upon the above provided terms and conditions contained in this Agreement as of the date first 
above written. 

 
Approved by: 

 
BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL BOARD 
on ___________________ , 2023  
By: _______________________  
Its: Board President 
 
By: _______________________ 
Its: Board Secretary 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________, 2023  before  me  personally  appeared 
_____________________________ who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the 
Birmingham School Board to do so he/she signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 
               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 
on ______________________ , 2023 
By:    Dr. Embekka 

Roberson Superintendent 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________,  2023  before  me  personally  appeared Dr. Embekka 
Roberson who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the Birmingham School Board to do 
so he/she signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 

5J



11  

               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 
on ______________________ , 2023 
By:   _______________  

Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

By:    
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________,  2023 before me personally appeared Therese Longe and 
Alexandria Bingham who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the City of Birmingham to 
do so they signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 
               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
 

 
        
Jana Ecker, City Manager 
(Approved as to substance) 

 

       
 Scott Grewe, Chief of Police                    
 (Approved as to substance) 

 
  

 
     
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 
(Approved as to form) 

  
       
Mark A. Gerber, Finance Director 

 (Approved as to Financial Obligation) 

5J



12 
 

ATTACHMENT A

The costs of the School Resource Officer are being transparently articulated with the Birmingham 
Board of Education. These costs cover from July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024, and are described 
as: 
 
 Personnel Costs (100% BPS) 
 Personnel Summary Worksheet (BF-3) – Base Wages no OT  $116,954 
 Fixed past Retirement Cost per actuary (BF-3) / 34 Sworn  $  48,912 
 General Liability Insurance           1,750 
 
 SUBTOTAL        $167,616 
 
 
 Police Vehicle Charge (100% BPS)     $   6,000 
 Total Annual Cost       $173,616 
 
 
The Birmingham Board of Education will be invoiced $171,866.00 for the costs incurred for the 
period listed above and sent to: 
 
 Birmingham Public Schools 
 Deputy Superintendent 
 31301 Evergreen Road 
 Beverly Hills, Michigan 48025 
 
 
 
Scott A. Grewe 
Chief of Police 
 

5J



1  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM AND 
THE BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 

PROVIDING FOR A SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this  _  day of  , 2023 by and between 
the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, whose address is 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 48009 
(hereinafter referred to as the City) and the BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT, whose 
address is 31301 Evergreen Road Beverly Hills, MI 48025 (hereafter referred to as the “District”) 
and the foregoing shall collectively be referred to as the Parties, and make this Agreement 
pursuant to the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967 (the “Act”), 1967 PA 4, MCL 124.501, et seq. to 
provide for the joint exercise of certain powers, privileges, or authority that the parties share in 
common and that each might exercise separately as described in this agreement. 

 
WHEREAS, the City agrees to participate with the District for a School Resource Officer 

Program and will provide the District a School Resource Officer (“SRO”) that is within the 
jurisdiction of the City of Birmingham; and 

 
WHEREAS, the term District may include the Birmingham School District’s Security 

Officer, a Birmingham School District principal of an assigned school, or the Birmingham School 
District; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District and the City desire to set forth in this Agreement the specific 

roles, responsibilities, terms and conditions of the services to be performed and provided by the 
SRO in the District. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the terms, conditions, and roles of this Agreement are as follows: 

 
1. Provision of School Resource Officer (“SRO”): The City shall provide and 

assign one regularly employed full-time police officer to the District as an SRO to be assigned to 
the following schools as needs are determined by the SRO, in collaboration with the District’s 
designee: 

 
a. Seaholm High School 
b. Derby Middle School 
c. Quarton Elementary 
d. Pierce Elementary 
e. Midvale Early Childhood Center 

 
2. Employment of School Resource Officers: The SROs shall be employees of the 

Birmingham Police Department and shall be subject to the administration, supervision and control 
of the Department. The Police Department, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and 
authority to hire, discharge, and discipline SROs. The Birmingham Police Department retains the 
right to manage and direct services provided by the SRO. 

 
In the event the District and the City together find the SRO fails to abide by the terms 

of this Agreement, fails to follow the policies and procedures of the District as they pertain to the 
SRO, or fails to perform the SRO’s duties, the SRO shall be directed by the Chief of Birmingham to 
remedy the problems within fifteen (15) school days. If the SRO fails to remedy the problems within 
fifteen (15) school days after the date of notification or an agreed upon date by the Parties, the 

5J



2  

Superintendent or designee may request the City to assign a new SRO in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Paragraph 4.  

 
3. Goals and Objectives of the Program and the SRO: 

 
a. To establish a positive working relationship in a cooperative effort to prevent 

juvenile delinquency and assist in student development. 
 

b. While it is ultimately the District’s responsibility, the SRO will assist in 
maintaining a safe and secure environment on a school campus which will be 
conducive to learning. 

 
c. Promote positive attitudes regarding the police role in society, especially to 

children. 
 

4. Selection of SRO: The Parties acknowledge that the selection of the SRO is a 
critical aspect of the SRO Program and that it is important for the Parties and the school 
community to have a positive perception of and relationship with the SRO. The Chief of Police, or 
their designee, with input from the Superintendent or designee, shall select the SRO. The Chief 
of Police or their designee will  consult with the District on the selection and the criteria that was 
utilized in making the decision. The following factors will be considered, among others, in the 
selection process: 

 
a. The officer’s desire to work with youth. 

 
b. The officer’s prior experience in law enforcement and youth work. 

 
c. The officer’s interpersonal and communication skills along with their work 

records. 
 

d. The officer’s academic background and/or other pertinent training. 
 

5. Training and Certification: The SRO must be a MCOLES certified police officer 
employed by the City and must have and maintain all training and credentials necessary to 
maintain that status.  The SRO should receive training in the following areas: 

 
a. Basic SRO 

 
b. Advanced SRO 

 
c. Single Officer Rapid Deployment 

 
d. Adolescent Mental Health and trauma-informed care 
 
e. Family and Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)  
 
f. Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, which may include implicit bias and 

disproportionality in school-based arrests based on race and disability. 
 

5J



3  

6. Regular Duty Hours of SROs: 
 

a. The SRO will be assigned to the District on a full-time basis of eight (8) hours 
on those days and during those hours that school is in session. SRO work 
schedule will primarily coincide with Seaholm High School with adjustments 
made based on the needs of additional Birmingham Schools as agreed to by 
the Birmingham Chief of Police. 
 

b. Whenever possible, it is the intent of the parties that the SRO’s service duty 
hours shall conform to the school day. However, the Parties may mutually 
agree to adjust the SRO’s hours in order to attend after school events, training, 
investigative work, public speaking events and any other need related to the 
services under this Agreement. Those hours shall be considered as regular time 
hours under this Agreement upon mutual agreement of the Parties. 
 

c. It is understood and agreed that time spent by SRO’s attending municipal or 
Circuit Court, Juvenile Court, and/or criminal cases arising from and/or out of 
their employment as an SRO, shall be considered a part of the regular hours 
worked by the SRO under this Agreement. 

 
d. In the event an SRO is absent from work due to unforeseen circumstances, 

the SRO shall notify their supervisor in the Police Department and the contact 
person designated by the district. The Police Department will assign another 
qualified officer, if available, to substitute for the SRO who is absent, beginning 
with the sixth consecutive day of absence. If the assigned SRO is absent less 
than six days, no substitute will be assigned. 

 
e. The SRO position is a 12-month position running concurrent with the school 

year calendar. It is preferred that an SRO take vacation time when students 
are not in attendance. In the event an SRO elects to take vacation time when 
school is in session, the Police Department will notify the District of the 
impending absence and may assign another qualified officer to substitute for 
the SRO who is absent, contingent on the availability of personnel.  

 
f. It is understood by the District that the SRO may be called from the school and 

SRO duties in order to assist with an active emergency in the City, which shall 
be at the request of the on duty Police Department supervisor. The time spent 
during such reassignment shall not be considered hours worked under this 
Agreement unless it is connected to a school related issue. In such an event, 
the compensation paid by the District to the City shall be reduced by the 
number of hours of SRO service not provided to the District or the hours shall 
be made up in a manner determined by mutual agreement of the parties.  

 
7. Scope of Work: While on duty, the SRO shall perform the following duties: 

 
a. Plan and participate in classroom instruction in specialized programs and on a 

visiting instructor basis, when requested. 
 

5J



4  

b. Act as a resource person in the area of law enforcement education at the 
request of the District, principals, and approval of the Police Chief. 

 
c. Conduct criminal investigations of violations of law on District property, which 

is initiated by the SRO or reported by school personnel per interagency 
agreement. Additionally, may investigate any juvenile cases involving 
Birmingham students on or off school property. 

 
d. Work in conjunction with school-based security to maintain the peace on 

District property. 
 

e. Visit Birmingham schools and work with administrators, staff, students, and 
parents to improve school/police relations in the area of security and 
emergency response. 

 
f. Act as a resource person to the District on police matters and incidents. 

 
g. Assist the Principal or his/her designee in coordinating emergency medical 

response at the discretion of the SRO.  
 
h. Be familiar with all District policies, administrative guidelines, and procedures, 

including student handbooks and the student code of conduct, and make 
reasonable efforts to adhere to the same, to the extent they do not conflict 
with the policies and procedures of the Police Department in non-emergency 
situations. 

 
i. The SRO will not be responsible for general student discipline. The 

administration of student discipline, including student code of conduct 
violations, is the responsibility of school administrators unless the violation or 
misbehavior involves criminal conduct for which law enforcement intervention 
is required. However, the SRO may assist the superintendent, principals, 
faculty, and staff in enforcing the campus code of conduct and other school 
rules in order to maintain a safe learning environment, if agreed to by the Chief 
of Police for the City of Birmingham. When it pertains to preventing a disruption 
that would, if ignored, place students, faculty, and staff at risk of harm, the 
SRO will intervene to preserve the peace of the school.   

 
j. The SRO will wear their department authorized duty weapons in accordance 

with Police Department policy. 
 

8. Employment and Supervision: The SRO is an employee of the City and not an 
employee of the District. This Agreement shall not create an employment relationship between 
the District and the SRO. The City is responsible for the training, discipline, and dismissal of its 
personnel. As an employee of the City, the SRO is subject to the chain of command of the City. 
In the performance of their duties, the SRO shall coordinate and communicate with the Principal 
or the Principal’s designee of the school to which they are assigned. 

 
9. Compensation: The District agrees to pay the City the costs for performing all 

5J



5  

services covered by this Agreement. The basic cost includes all salaries and wages, sick leave, 
vacations, employee benefits, supervision, Public Employees’ Retirement Contribution Insurance 
premiums, Social Security, general liability insurance, unemployment insurance, worker’s 
compensation, equipment costs, vehicle costs, and all other indirect costs incurred by the City in 
providing the services as listed in Attachment A. The changes to costs year to year shall be paid 
to the City based on an annual notice provided by the City. These may include retroactive costs 
due to pending union contractual agreements. 

 
The amount of the SRO’s salary and fringe benefits shall be determined by the City 

annually and shall be based on and is pursuant to an agreement between the City of Birmingham 
Police Officers in conjunction with the City of Birmingham Police Officer Labor Council and the 
City of Birmingham. The Birmingham City Manager will provide information to the District as 
reasonably requested to substantiate the cost factors in determining the amounts of the officer’s 
salary and fringe benefits. 

 
10. Access to Education Records: 

 
a. School officials shall allow SROs to inspect and copy any public records 

maintained by the school to the extent allowed by law. 
 

b. If some information in a student’s record is needed in an emergency to protect 
the health or safety of the student or other individuals, school officials shall 
disclose to the SRO that information which is needed to respond to the 
emergency situation based on the seriousness of the threat to someone’s 
health or safety, the need of the information to meet the emergency situation 
and the extent to which time is of the essence. 

 
c. If confidential student record information is needed by an SRO, but no 

emergency situation exists, the information may be released only as allowed 
by law. 
 

11. Term And Termination: 
 

a. Initial Term. This Agreement shall be effective as of August 1, 2023 and shall 
be for a 3 year term ending July 31, 2026. The term of this agreement will be 
impacted by and subject to the availability of a qualified, eligible and willing 
Birmingham Police Officer to serve as the SRO. 

 
b. Extension. The Parties have the option to extend this Agreement for up to 

three (3) additional one-year terms (the “Extension Terms”), upon mutual 
written agreement of the Parties annually. 

 
Termination. Any party may terminate this Contract for any reason upon 
written notice to the other parties of not less than ninety (90) days prior to the 
date of such termination. In the event of early termination, the District shall 
only be responsible for paying for services rendered up to the date of 
termination. However, in the event of early termination, if the District has paid 
for Services that were not rendered, the District shall be entitled to a return 
of, and the City shall pay, the pro-rata portion of the payment. If this 

5J



6  

Agreement is terminated with any of the provisions contained herein, 
regardless of the basis for termination, the District shall neither be liable to, 
nor obligated to pay, the City for any other costs associated with the SRO and 
their employment with the City of Birmingham.  
 

12. Indemnification: Each Party is solely responsible for the act(s) and omission(s) of 
its own elected official and any entity or person for whom each Party is legally liable. To the 
extent permitted by law, each Party agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on 
behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the other party, its elected and appointed officials, 
employees and volunteers and others working on their behalf against any and all claims, 
demands, suits, or loss, including all costs and reasonable attorney fees connected therewith, 
and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the other 
party, its elected and appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on their behalf, 
by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury and death and/or property damage, including 
loss of use thereof, which arise out of the acts, errors or omissions of the party including its 
employees and agents, in the performance of this Agreement.  

 
13. Insurance Submission Requirements: The District has submitted proof to the 

City that it meets all City insurance requirements, as specified in Paragraph 17. Insurance, with 
coverage amounts at no less than the City’s minimum requirements, must be held by the District 
throughout the term of this Agreement. Certificates of insurance as stated below will be required 
no later than five (5) business days from the date of the District’s acceptance of the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 
During the term of this Agreement and any renewal thereof, the City and District 

shall maintain errors and omissions and general liability insurance in the amounts stated below, 
naming each other the District as an additional insured. The City and the District shall provide 
certificates of insurance with each other the District before commencing services under this 
Agreement.  

 
14. Confidential And Or Proprietary Information: The District acknowledges that 

in performing services pursuant to this Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary 
information (including, but not limited to, internal organization, methodology, personnel and 
financial information, etc.) may become involved. The District recognizes that unauthorized 
exposure of such confidential or proprietary information could irreparably damage the City. 
Therefore, the District agrees to use reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary 
information and to prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure thereof. The District shall inform 
its employees of the confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access 
thereto to employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement. The District further agrees 
to use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing services 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
 The City acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this Agreement, 
certain confidential and/or propriety information (including, but not limited to District security 
plans or procedures, student records, or other information that would be exempt from disclosure 
to the public) may become involved. The City recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such 
confidential or proprietary information could irreparably damage the District. Therefore, the City 
agrees to use reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to 
prevent the unauthorized use or disclosure thereof. The City agrees that such proprietary 

5J



7  

information and data and any information or data protected from disclosure by law obtained under 
this Agreement shall be utilized only in connection with this Agreement and shall not be made 
available to any other person or entity except as required by law. 

 
15. Compliance With Laws: The Parties agree to fully and faithfully carry out the 

duties as set forth herein using their best efforts in accomplishing all services under this 
Agreement, and further, in addition to upholding all federal, and state laws and applicable codes 
of professional conduct to which the Party is subject, the Parties hereby agree to be bound by all 
Federal, State, or City of Birmingham ordinances, rules, regulations and policies, all District 
policies,  administrative guidelines, and procedures, including student handbooks and the student 
code of conduct as are amended from time to time, and including without limitation the Fair Labor 
Standards Act, the Equal Employment Opportunity rules and regulations, the Transportation 
Safety Act and the Occupational Safety and Health Acts. 

 
16. Non-Compliance With Insurance Requirements: Failure to deliver and 

maintain insurance in accordance with the terms of this Agreement will be cause for the other 
Party to terminate this Agreement. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to create or be 
interpreted as establishing a “for cause” termination; the Parties agree and understand that this 
engagement is at will and may be terminated by either Party for any cause or no cause. 

 
17. Standard Insurance Requirements: Each Party shall maintain during the life of 

this Agreement the applicable types of insurance coverage and minimum limits as set forth below: 
 

a. Workers’ Compensation Insurance: The Parties shall each procure and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement, Workers’ Compensation Insurance, 
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes of the State of Michigan. 

 
b. Commercial General Liability Insurance: The District shall procure and maintain 

during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability Insurance on 
an “Occurrence Basis” with limits of liability not less than $2,000,000 per 
occurrence combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage.  
 
The City shall procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement, 
Commercial General Liability Insurance on an “Occurrence Basis” with limits of 
liability not less than $5,000,000 for armed SRO services and not less than 
$2,000,000 for unarmed SRO services per occurrence combined single limit, 
Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage.  

 
18. Written Notices: Written notices regarding this Agreement shall be addressed to 

the following: 
 

City: City of Birmingham 
P.O. Box 3001 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012 
Attn: Chief of Police 

 
District: Birmingham Public Schools 

5J



8  

31301 Evergreen Road 
Beverly Hills, MI 48025 
Attn: Superintendent and 

Deputy Superintendent  
 

19. General Provisions: 
 

a. The SROs are employees of the City and not employees of the District, and 
under no circumstances shall any of the employees of one Party be deemed 
the employees of the other Party for any purpose. Accordingly, the City shall 
meet all of its obligations and responsibilities for payment of all taxes including 
Federal, State and Local taxes arising out of the SRO Program, including by 
way of illustration, Federal and State income tax, FICA, FUTA, Social Security 
tax, Unemployment Insurance taxes, Workers’ Compensation Insurance and 
any other taxes or business license fees as required and the City will indemnify, 
defend and hold the District harmless for the payment of such sums, interest, 
penalties, or cost of collection of same. This Agreement shall not be construed 
as authority for either Party to act for the other Party in any agency or other 
capacity or to make commitments of any kind for the account of, or on behalf 
of, the other Party, except to the extent, and for the purposes, expressly 
provided for and set forth herein, and no partnership or joint venture is created 
hereby. No tenure or other rights/benefits typically arising out of an employee-
employer relationship shall arise out of this Agreement on behalf of the City, 
its employees, or agents. 

 
b. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 
this invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect the enforceability of 
any other provision of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be construed as 
if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in it. 
The remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
c. The headings of the sections herein are for convenience only and shall not 

affect the meaning of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

d. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Michigan. 

 
e. Neither the District nor the City may assign this Agreement without prior 

written consent from the non-assigning party. 
 

20. Amendments: No amendment, modification or supplement to this Agreement shall 
be binding unless it is in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the parties. 

 
21. Waiver Of Breach: No waiver by either party of any breach of any of the terms, 

covenants or conditions herein contained by the other party shall be construed as a waiver of any 
succeeding breach of this same or of any other term, covenant or condition. 

 
22. Complete Agreement: The parties agree that the conditions set forth in this 

5J



9  

Agreement sets forth all terms and conditions of the District’s agreement with the City of 
Birmingham. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements or understandings between the 
parties. There are no promises, conditions or understandings other than those stated herein, and, 
that any prior negotiations, terms or conditions discussed between the City and the District shall 
not constitute a part of this Agreement. The term “agreement” as used in this clause shall include 
any future written amendments, modifications, or supplements made in accordance herewith. 

 
23. Direct Or Indirect Interest: If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any 

official of the City, or spouse, child, parent or in-law of such official or employee shall become 
directly or indirectly interested in this Agreement or the affairs of the District, the City shall have 
the right to terminate this Agreement without further liability to the District if the disqualification 
has not been removed within ninety (90) days after the City has given the District notice of the 
disqualifying interest. Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity 
interest in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest. Employment shall be 
a disqualifying interest. 

 
24. Failure To Perform: If the District fails to perform its obligations hereunder, the 

City may take any and all remedial actions provided by the general specifications or otherwise 
permitted by law. If the City fails to perform its obligations hereunder, the District may take any 
and all remedial actions provided by the general specifications or otherwise permitted by law.  

 
25. Legal Proceedings: Any claim arising out of or relating to interpretation of this 

Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland 
County Circuit Court, the 48th District Court or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the 
dispute resolved by arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant to the Michigan Uniform Arbitration 
Act, MCL 691.1681, et seq., and administered by the American Arbitration Association with one 
arbitrator being used, or three arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000. 
Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and 
administrative fees of arbitration. The laws of the State of Michigan shall govern this Agreement, 
and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan. In the event that the parties 
elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may be 
resolved by the filing of a suit in a federal or state court with jurisdiction over Oakland County, 
Michigan. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remainder of this page left intentionally blank 
 

5J



10  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto agree to be bound by the above terms and 
conditions, and the District, by its authorized signature below, expressly accepts this Agreement 
upon the above provided terms and conditions contained in this Agreement as of the date first 
above written. 

 
Approved by: 

 
BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL BOARD 
on ___________________ , 2023  
By: _______________________  
Its: Board President 
 
By: _______________________ 
Its: Board Secretary 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________, 2023  before  me  personally  appeared 
_____________________________ who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the 
Birmingham School Board to do so he/she signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 
               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 
on ______________________ , 2023 
By:    Dr. Embekka 

Roberson Superintendent 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________,  2023  before  me  personally  appeared Dr. Embekka 
Roberson who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the Birmingham School Board to do 
so he/she signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 
               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

5J



11  

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 
on ______________________ , 2023 
By:   _______________  

Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

By:    
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
 ) ss:  
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 
 
On this ____ day of _________________,  2023 before me personally appeared Therese Longe and 
Alexandria Bingham who acknowledged that with authority on behalf of the City of Birmingham to 
do so they signed this Agreement. 
 
              ___________________________________ 
               Notary Public 
           _____________________County, Michigan 
           Acting in _____________ County, Michigan 
           My commission expires: _______________ 
 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
 

 
        
Jana Ecker, City Manager 
(Approved as to substance) 

 

       
 Scott Grewe, Chief of Police                    
 (Approved as to substance) 

 
  

 
     
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 
(Approved as to form) 

  
       
Mark A. Gerber, Finance Director 

 (Approved as to Financial Obligation) 

5J



12 
 

ATTACHMENT A

The costs of the School Resource Officer are being transparently articulated with the Birmingham 
Board of Education. These costs cover from July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024, and are described 
as: 
 
 Personnel Costs (100% BPS) 
 Personnel Summary Worksheet (BF-3) – Base Wages no OT  $116,954 
 Fixed past Retirement Cost per actuary (BF-3) / 34 Sworn  $  48,912 
 General Liability Insurance           1,750 
 
 SUBTOTAL        $167,616 
 
 
 Police Vehicle Charge (100% BPS)     $   6,000 
 Total Annual Cost       $173,616 
 
 
The Birmingham Board of Education will be invoiced $171,866.00 for the costs incurred for the 
period listed above and sent to: 
 
 Birmingham Public Schools 
 Deputy Superintendent 
 31301 Evergreen Road 
 Beverly Hills, Michigan 48025 
 
 
 
Scott A. Grewe 
Chief of Police 
 

5J



MEMORANDUM 
Legal 

DATE: July 18, 2023  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 

SUBJECT:  Proposed Ballot Question Regarding Marihuana Ordinance 

INTRODUCTION:  
On February 13, 2023 and April 24, 2023, the City Attorney’s office presented a workshop and 
then later an amended ordinance regarding marihuana and the possible amendment to Part II of 
the Birmingham City Code, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII – Marihuana Establishments.  The 
purpose of tonight’s agenda item is to introduce an ordinance amendment ballot question that 
would be submitted to the Birmingham City electors at the next General Election on November 7, 
2023. 

BACKGROUND: 
Medical marihuana is now legal in 39 states, and recreational marihuana is legal in 21 states.  The 
use of both medical and recreational marihuana is legal in Michigan.  The Michigan Marihuana 
Act of 2008 provides for patients with certain medical conditions to legally have and grow medical 
marihuana. The Michigan Medical Marihuana Licensing Act of 2016 allows for more laws and 
greater ease in obtaining medical marihuana. The Michigan Medical Marihuana Act (“MMMA”) 
allows qualifying patients with a state registry identification card to possess up to 2.5 ounces of 
marihuana plus up to 12 plants if the patient does not have a caregiver.  A “registered caregiver" 
can possess up to 12 plants for each patient, and may have six patients in total.   

In 2018, the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act (“MRTMA”) created the law that 
allows the legal use and possession of recreational marihuana for persons over 21 years of age. 
Sec. 6 of  the MRTMA states that a municipality may completely prohibit or limit the number of 
marihuana establishments within its borders.   

Birmingham City Code, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII – Marihuana Establishments 
Prohibited at Sec. 26-500 states: 

“Marihuana establishments as defined in Section 3 of the Michigan Regulation and 
Taxation of Marihuana Act, and as it may hereafter be amended from time to time, 

6A



 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

are completely prohibited within the city limits of the City of Birmingham, as 
provided for in Section 6 of the Act.” 
 

The City of Birmingham, in fact, did pass a law which completely prohibited marihuana 
establishments.  Through MRTMA it is legal for a municipality to choose this opt out approach as 
the City of Birmingham did when it passed an ordinance prohibiting the sale of marihuana.  
Through MRTMA, however, citizens may petition to initiate an ordinance that allows marihuana 
establishments with the opt in ballot initiative regardless of the opt out approach. Citizens can 
control the language and may draft ordinances, proposals, and place it on a ballot which may be 
passed by the voters.   
 
If a city opts in by passing an ordinance, it may regulate both marihuana facilities and marihuana 
establishments through a regulatory ordinance alone or through a zoning ordinance amendment.  
A regulatory ordinance can regulate the number of establishments permitted, the type of 
establishments permitted, where establishments are permitted and the process for allocating 
limited number of licenses.  With the allocation of medical marihuana facility licenses, the statute 
does not define the licensing process.  For medical marihuana facilities it can be first come, first 
serve, lottery, or a scoring system. With adult use recreational marihuana establishments, the 
City must use a competitive process (i.e., a scoring system), if the ordinance provides a numerical 
limitation on licenses.  The benefits to a city opting in is that the city could have reasonable 
control over ordinance language and any amendments, as well as control over marihuana 
regulations within its borders. It would give a city time to process and adjust to changes on its 
own terms and regulations.   
 
In 2018, Birmingham voters favored the proposal to legalize marihuana in Michigan, 7,296 to 
4,721, according to unofficial results posted on the Oakland County Clerk’s website. 
 
After much consideration, and considering the gravity of this particular issue, it is recommended 
that a ballot question be placed on the next General Election on November 7, 2023, asking the 
voters to decide if the City of Birmingham should amend City Code, Chapter 26 – Business, Article 
XII -Marihuana, and allow for the sale of marihuana in one (1) medical marihuana facility and 
one (1) recreational marihuana establishment, and to pass an ordinance which would provide for 
standards and procedures to license and regulate such facilities and establishments, and to 
provide for the imposition of license application fees, to provide penalties, and to impose 
conditions for the operation of such a facility and establishment.   

 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney’s office has prepared and is proposing the attached ordinance which would be 
associated with the ballot question posed to the City of Birmingham voters.  The City Attorney’s 
office is recommending this course of action to allow the voters of the City of Birmingham to 
determine whether the City Code Chapter 26, Article XII should be amended to allow and regulate 
the sale of one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) medical recreational establishment in 
the City of Birmingham. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The City of Birmingham would potentially receive $5,000.00 per application for licensing for one 
(1) medical marihuana facility and/or one (1) recreational marihuana establishment which is 
allowable pursuant to state law. License renewal fees and taxes may be captured by the City of 

6A



3 

Birmingham, as well as other state dollars that may be distributed to the City of Birmingham for 
allowing license facilities within the City’s jurisdiction. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
Applications for licensing will be reviewed and considered for sustainability. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The public has received notice of this issue via a published agenda and agenda packet.  The 
proposed ordinance associated with this ballot question will be available on the City’s website, as 
well as hard copies which can be obtained in the City Clerk’s office for review prior to the election 
so that the City voters are well informed. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Attorney’s office and City Manager are recommending to the City Commission that it 
directs the City Attorney to provide proposed ballot language to the City Clerk so that she may 
submit the ballot question over to the Oakland County Elections Division by the appropriate date 
and time, so that the ballot question may appear before the Birmingham City voters at the next 
General Election on November 7, 2023.  The ballot question would ask voters whether there 
should be an ordinance amendment to Part II. of the Birmingham City Code, Chapter 26, Article 
XII. allowing for the sale of marihuana by allowing one (1) medical marihuana facility and one
(1) recreational marihuana establishment to operate in the City pursuant to the Medical Marihuana
Facilities Licensing Act and the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act, and to provide
for standards and procedures for licenses to regulate such facilities and establishments; to provide
for the imposition of license application fees; to provide penalties; and to impose conditions for
the operation of such facilities and establishments.

ATTACHMENTS:  

Proposed ballot question
Proposed draft marihuana ordinance
Proposed clean marihuana ordinance

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting the attached resolution. 

6A



 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

6A



BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING 

JULY 24, 2023 

RESOLUTION #___________ 

At a regular meeting of the City Commission of the City of Birmingham, Oakland 
County, Michigan, held on July 24, 2023, at City Hall, 151 Martin Street, 
Birmingham, MI, 48009. 

 

MOTION:  Motioned by    , seconded by_________________________ 

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission has reviewed the laws of the State of Michigan regarding 
the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act, and the Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Licensing Act at multiple City Commission meetings; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Birmingham has evaluated the advantages and disadvantages of 
passing an ordinance regarding the regulation and the sale of marihuana within its City’s borders; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City Commission is aware that Birmingham voters voted in favor of the 
state-wide proposal to legalize the possession, sale, and use of recreational marihuana in 2018; 
and  

WHEREAS,  the City Commission has determined that the City’s registered voters ought 
to decide whether to amend the Birmingham City ordinance which prohibits the sale of 
recreational marihuana within the City of Birmingham; and 

WHEREAS, a proposed amendment to Part II. of the City Code, Chapter 26, Article XII. 
would create regulations and allow one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) recreational 
marihuana establishment to operate in the City of Birmingham. 

NOW, THEREFORE, let it be resolved that the City Commission has determined that the 
following ballot question shall appear on the ballot of the next regular election as follows:  

Ordinance Amending Prohibition of Marihuana Sales 

Shall the Birmingham City Code ordinance, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII, 
which currently prohibits the sale of marihuana in the City of Birmingham, be 
amended to authorize and allow one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) 
marihuana recreational establishment to operate in the City of Birmingham? 

 YES or NO. 

 

6A



 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Commission is directing the City Clerk to 
transmit a copy of the proposed ballot question to the Oakland County Elections Division. 

 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED the Birmingham City Clerk is directed to give notice of 
election and notice of the proposed ordinance in a manner prescribed by law and to do all things  
and to provide all requirements necessary to submit the ballot question to a vote of the electors 
as required by law. 

 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED the proposed amended ordinance will be published together 
with the ballot question on the Birmingham City website and hard copies will be provided at the 
City Clerk’s office for anyone to obtain a copy to read, understand, and inspect. 

 

Passed, adopted and approved this    day of   , 2023. 

AYES:            
            

 

NAYS:            
            

 

PRESENT:            
            

 

ABSENT:            
            

 

CERTIFICATION 

 I, Alexandria D. Bingham, being the duly appointed and qualified Clerk of the City of 
Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan, do hereby certify and declare that the foregoing is a true 
and correct copy of Resolution, the original of which is on file in my office, adopted by the City 
of Birmingham Commission at a regular meeting held on July 24, 2023. 

 

           
      Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

   and 
      

  Therese Longe, Mayor 

6A



 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

6A



BALLOT QUESTION 

 

Ordinance Amending Prohibition of Marihuana Sales 

Shall the Birmingham City Code ordinance, Chapter 26 – Businesses, Article XII, 
which currently prohibits the sale of marihuana in the City of Birmingham, be 
amended to authorize and allow one (1) medical marihuana facility and one (1) 
marihuana recreational establishment to operate in the City of Birmingham? 

 YES or NO. 

 

6A



6A



 

Page 1 of 14 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

ORDINANCE NO.    

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 26 – BUSINESSES, 
ARTICLE XII – MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 26. Businesses, Article XII. – Marihuana Establishments 
Prohibited, shall be amended to establish and regulate marihuana businesses, and shall read as 
follows:

ARTICLE XII. MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED 

Sec. 26-500. Marihuana establishments prohibited.

Marihuana establishments as defined in Section 3 of the Michigan Regulation and Taxation 
of Marihuana Act, and as it may hereafter be amended from time to time, are completely 
prohibited within the city limits of the City of Birmingham, as provided for in Section 6 of the 
Act. 
AARTICLE XII . MEDICAL FACILITY AND ADULT-USE MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS 

Sec. 26-500. Marihuana Regulations.

This Chapter is created to regulate the sale of marihuana in the City of 
Birmingham; to allow certain medical marihuana facilities and marihuana
establishments to operate in the City pursuant to the Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Licensing Act and Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act; to provide for 
standards and procedures to license and regulate such facilities and establishments;
to provide for the imposition of license application fees; to provide penalties; and to 
impose conditions for the operation of such facilities and establishments. 

Sec. 26-501. Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have 
the meanings ascribed to them in this Article, except where the context clearly 
indicates a different meaning:

Applicant. A person who applies for a license to operate a medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer under this Chapter. 

6A



 

Page 2 of 14 

   
CCity.  The City of Birmingham.

Clerk.  The Clerk of the City of Birmingham.

Commission. The City Commission of the City of Birmingham.
Cultivate means to propagate, breed, grow, harvest, dry, cure, or separate 

parts of the marihuana plant by manual or mechanical means. 
Department means the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory 

Affairs. 
Licensee means a person holding a state license and/ or a person who receives 

a license to operate a medical marihuana facility or marihuana establishment under 
this Chapter.

Marihuana. As defined in the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act 
(“MMFLA”) and the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act (“MRTMA”). 

Marihuana Accessories. Any equipment, product, material, or combination of 
equipment, products, or materials, which is specifically designed for use in planting, 
propagating, cultivating, growing, harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, 
converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, 
repackaging, storing, containing, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing 
marihuana into the human body.

Marihuana Establishment. A marihuana retailer as defined under the MRTMA
and this Chapter.

Marihuana Grower. A person licensed under the MRTMA to cultivate marihuana 
and sell or otherwise transfer marihuana to marihuana establishments.

Marihuana Retailer. A person licensed under the MRTMA to obtain marihuana 
from marihuana establishments and to sell or otherwise transfer marihuana to 
marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years of age or older.

Medical Marihuana Facility. A medical marihuana provisioning center as 
defined under the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act (“MMFLA”) and this 
Chapter.

MMFLA. The Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act, Act 281 of 2016, 
M.C.L.A. §§ 333.27101 et seq.

MRTMA. The Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 
1 of 2018, M.C.L.A. §§ 333.27951 et seq.

Park. An area of land dedicated for public use and accepted by the City, with or 
without facilities for rest and recreation.

Person means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership 
of any type, trust, or other legal entity. 

6A



 

Page 3 of 14 

PProcess or processing means to separate or otherwise prepare parts of the 
marihuana plant and to compound, blend, extract, infuse, or otherwise make or 
prepare marihuana concentrate or marihuana-infused products. 

Provisioning center means a licensee that is a commercial entity located in this 
state that purchases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or 
provides marihuana to registered qualifying patients, directly or through the patients' 
registered primary caregivers. Provisioning center includes any commercial property 
where marihuana is sold at retail to registered qualifying patients or registered 
primary caregivers. A noncommercial location used by a registered primary caregiver 
to assist a qualifying patient connected to the caregiver through the department's 
marihuana registration process in accordance with the Michigan Medical Marihuana 
Act is not a provisioning center for purposes of this ordinance.

Religious institution means a building housing an organization founded on an 
established religion, such as a church, synagogue, mosque, temple, or other house of 
worship.

School. A public or private school offering education to students enrolled in 
kindergarten, or one or more grades of one through 12.

Special Land Use Permit.  A permit that can be issued by the City Commission 
which can approve with conditions all requests for permission to carry on special land 
uses where such uses are permitted in the Birmingham City Zoning Ordinance at 
Chapter 126.

Stakeholder. The officers, directors, and managerial employees of an applicant 
and any persons who hold any direct or indirect ownership interest in the applicant.

State license means a license issued by the department that allows a person to 
operate a marihuana establishment. 

Unreasonably impracticable means that the measures necessary to comply 
with the rules or ordinances adopted pursuant to this Article subject licensees to 
unreasonable risk or require such a high investment of money, time, or any other 
resource or asset that a reasonably prudent businessperson would not operate the 
marihuana establishment. 

Sec. 26-502. Prohibitions.

(A)   Notwithstanding anything in this Chapter, no person shall operate a 
medical marihuana facility and/or marihuana establishment within a 1,000 foot 
radius of any parcel upon which is located any existing school, religious institution, 
park or playground, City-owned recreational facility, nor in any other area except for 
those parcels identified on Exhibit 1. 

(B)   No person shall operate a medical marihuana facility or a marihuana 
establishment in the City without first obtaining any relevant Michigan state license 
required by the MMFLA or MRTMA and a license from the City in accordance with the 
provisions of this Chapter. A separate state and city license is required for each 
medical marihuana facility or marihuana establishment.

6A



 

Page 4 of 14 

(C)   No person shall consume or use in any fashion marihuana in a public place 
within the boundaries of the City of Birmingham, nor in any violation of state law of 
the MRTMA and MMFLA. 

Sec. 26-503. Medical Marihuana Provisioning Centers and Marihuana Retailers.

 (A)   Pursuant to section 205(1) of the MMFLA and section 6 of the MRTMA, the 
City authorizes one license for a medical marihuana provisioning center and one 
license for a marihuana retailer. 

(B)   Except as otherwise provided in this Article, the City shall not permit or 
authorize the operation of any other type of marihuana establishment or medical 
marihuana facility.

(C)   This Article shall not be interpreted to allow the operation of marihuana 
establishments and medical marihuana facilities at more than two locations in the 
City at the same time in the areas identified on Exhibit 1. 

Sec. 26-504. License Applications. 

(A)   Any person seeking to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer shall file a license application with the City Clerk upon a form 
provided by the City. The application shall include the following information:

(1)     The full name, date of birth, physical address, email address, and 
telephone number of the applicant in the case of an individual, or, in 
the case of an entity, all stakeholders thereof;

(2)   If the applicant is an entity, the entity's articles of incorporation or 
organizational documents; 

(3)     If the applicant is an entity, the entity's employer identification 
number;

(4)   If the applicant is an entity, the entity's operating agreement or 
bylaws;

(5)   A proposed marketing, advertising, and business promotion plan for 
the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana 
retailer;

(6)   A description of planned tangible capital investment in the City;

(7)   An explanation of the economic benefits to the City and job creation 
to be achieved, including the number and type of jobs the medical 
marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer is expected to 
create, the amount and type of compensation expected to be paid for 

6A



 

Page 5 of 14 

such jobs, and the projected annual budget and revenue of the 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer;

(8)   A description of the financial structure and financing for the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer;

(9)   Short-term and long-term business goals and objectives for the 
proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana 
retailer;

(10)   A criminal background report of the applicant's criminal history. This 
includes all individuals, and for a commercial entity, its resident 
agent, and all officers. Such reports shall be obtained by the applicant 
through the Internet Criminal History Access Tool (ICHAT) for 
applicants residing in Michigan and/or through another state 
sponsored or authorized criminal history access source for applicants 
who reside in other states or have resided in other states within five 
years prior to the date of the application. The applicant is responsible 
for all charges incurred in requesting and receiving the criminal 
history report and the report must be dated within 30 days of the 
date of the application;

(11)   A description of proposed community outreach and education 
strategies for the knowledge of substances use and substances 
abuse; 

(12)   A description of proposed charitable plans to enhance the City 
whether through financial donations or volunteer work; 

(13) A description of the security plan for the proposed medical 
marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer that is 
consistent with the requirements of the Michigan Department of 
Licensing; 

(14) A floor plan of the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer and a site plan of the proposed medical 
marihuana provisioning center or medical marihuana retailer that 
complies with the site plan review process of the Zoning Ordinance 
at Chapter 126 and incorporates sustainable elements in their plan ; 

(15) A scale diagram illustrating the property upon which the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer is to be 
operated, including all available onsite parking spaces, and 
specifying which parking spaces are handicapped-accessible;

(16) A depiction of any proposed text, graphic materials and all signage 
to be shown on the exterior of the proposed medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer;

6A



 

Page 6 of 14 

(17) An affidavit that neither the applicant nor any stakeholder of the 
applicant is in default to the City for any fees or taxes;

(18) Proof of premises liability and casualty insurance consistent with the 
requirements of the Department; and,

(19) A location area map that identifies the relative locations of, and 
distances from, the nearest schools, religious institutions, parks or 
playgrounds and City-owned recreational facilities, computed by 
measuring a straight line from the nearest property line of the parcel 
used for the purposes stated in this subsection to the nearest 
property line of the parcel to be used as a medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer.

Sec. 26-505. Application Fee. 

An application for a license shall be accompanied by an application fee to help 
defray administrative and enforcement costs to the City associated with the operation 
of the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, which shall be 
set by resolution from time to time of the Commission, but shall not exceed $5,000
per application. 

Sec.  26. 506. Application Review.

(A)   After the effective date of this Article, the City Clerk shall begin accepting 
applications for a medical marihuana provisioning center and a marihuana retailer 
after 45 days. The City Clerk will set a 30-day application period during which 
applicants may apply for one license to operate a medical marihuana provisioning 
center or one marihuana retailer and advertise the 30 day period on the City website.

(B)   The City Clerk shall review each application to ensure that it is complete, 
that the information required by this Chapter has been submitted, and that the 
application fee has been paid. The City Clerk may reject any application that is not 
complete and may deny an application for failure to pay the application fee.

(C)   Upon receipt of a completed application meeting the requirements of this 
Chapter and the appropriate license application fee, the City Clerk shall refer a copy 
of the application to each of the following for their approval: the City Police 
Department, the City Fire Department, the City Building Department, the City Planner, 
and the City Treasurer.

(D)   No application shall be approved unless:
(1)   The City Police Department, the City Fire Department, and the

City Building Department have inspected the proposed 
location for compliance with all laws for which they are 

6A



 

Page 7 of 14 

charged with enforcement and for compliance with the 
requirements of this Chapter; 

(2)   The City Planner has confirmed that the proposed location 
complies with the Birmingham Zoning Ordinance and this 
Chapter; 

(3)   The City Treasurer has confirmed that the applicant and each 
stakeholder of the applicant are not in default to the City.

(4) That the requirements for site plan approval and potential 
approval of a Special Land Use Permit comports with Chapter 
126 of the Zoning Ordinance Section 7.33 thru 7.37.

(E)   The City Manager, or his/her designee, shall assess, evaluate, score and 
rank all applications for licenses to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer submitted during the 30 day application period set forth in this 
Chapter. 

(F)   In its application assessment, evaluation, scoring, ranking, and 
deliberations related to licenses to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or a marihuana retailer, the City Manager, or his/her designee, shall assess, evaluate, 
score, and rank each application based upon a scoring and ranking procedure 
developed by the City staff consistent with the requirements, conditions, and 
provisions of this Chapter in each of the following categories:

(1)   Whether the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or 
marihuana retailer will be consistent with land use for the required 
zoning in the surrounding neighborhood and not have a detrimental 
effect on traffic patterns and resident safety. The maximum number
of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points;

(2)   Planned community outreach and education strategies for the 
knowledge of and abuse of substances on behalf of the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer shall be 
ten (10) points;

(3)  Whether the applicant or its stakeholders have made, or plan to 
make, significant physical improvements with an effort to 
incorporate sustainable elements into the building housing the 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, 
including plans to eliminate or minimize traffic, noise, and odor 
effects on the surrounding neighborhood. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points;

(4)   Whether the applicant has reasonably and tangibly demonstrated it 
possesses sufficient financial resources to fund, and the requisite 
business experience to execute, the submitted business plan and 
other plans required by this Chapter. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points;

(5)   Whether the applicant has applied for and proposes to co-locate a 
medical marihuana provisioning center and marihuana retailer. The 

6A



 

Page 8 of 14 

maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10)
points;

(6)   Whether adequate off-street parking is provided by the applicant
consistent with zoning ordinance requirements. The maximum 
number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points;

(7)   Whether the proposed facility will have a detrimental impact on 
children and areas where children congregate in the City or 
surrounding region, as judged by the proximity of the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer to other 
structures or properties, including any parcel upon which is located 
an existing school, religious institution, park, playground, or City-
owned recreational facility. The maximum number of scoring points 
in this category shall be ten (10) points, with the maximum points 
being awarded if the proposed medical marihuana provisioning 
center or marihuana retailer will be located more than 50% further 
than the applicable distances provided in Sec. 26-502(A); 

(8)   Whether the applicant has demonstrated an economic commitment 
to the City by a proposal to create no less than five full-time jobs and 
proposes a living wage to all employees. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points and shall be 
awarded based upon the number of jobs proposed and the pay 
structure proposed by the applicant;

(9)   A description of proposed charitable plans to enhance the City, 
whether through financial donations or volunteer work. The 
maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) 
points; 

(10) Whether the applicant establishment has certifications recognized 
by:  Global Food Safety Initiative (GFSI); Safe Quality Food Program 
Certification (SQF); Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP);
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 9000; or 
purchases and/or offers for sale products tested by a lab that has ISO 
17025 certification. The maximum number of scoring points in this 
category shall be ten (10) points.

(G)   Overall scoring and ranking shall be conducted and applied by the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, on the basis of assigned points from zero points to One 
Hundred (100) points with the lowest overall total score as zero (0) points and the 
highest possible total score being One Hundred (100) points.

(H)   The City Manager, or his/her designee, shall select an applicant(s) with 
the highest scores to be eligible to receive a license to operate one (1) medical 
marihuana provisioning center and/or one (1) recreational marihuana retailer, upon 
approval of a special land use permit (SLUP) by the City Commission. In the event of 
an evaluation scoring tie that causes there to be more than two applicants who 
achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a license, the scoring-tied applicants will be 
entered into a random draw. Those applications randomly selected shall be eligible to 
receive a license to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center or a marihuana 

6A



 

Page 9 of 14 

retailer, as applicable. In the event that the number of medical marihuana 
provisioning center and/or marihuana retailer licenses initially awarded is less than 
one of each of the two licenses authorized under this Chapter or subsequently falls 
below licenses authorized under this Chapter, the City Manager, or his/her designee,
shall not be required to score applicants. Instead, the City Manager, or his/her 
designee, shall evaluate applications in the order that they are submitted and shall
select applicants to potentially receive licenses for medical marihuana provisioning 
centers and/or recreational marihuana retailers to an applicant who submits a 
complete application, receives the approvals required in this Chapter, receives the 
approval of a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP) by the City Commission and otherwise 
meets the requirements of this Chapter. However, in no event shall the number of 
medical marihuana provisioning centers or marihuana retailer licenses exceed one 
(1) per type under this Chapter. 

(I)   Nothing in this Chapter is intended to confer a property or other right, 
duty, privilege or interest in a license of any kind or nature whatsoever including, but 
not limited to, any claim of entitlement.

Sec. 26-507. License Requirements. 
A medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer license issued 

under this Chapter shall be subject to the following conditions:

(A)   Compliance with the requirements of this Chapter, other applicable City 
ordinances and codes, and applicable state laws;

(B)   For a medical marihuana provisioning center, compliance with the 
provisions of the MMFLA and any rules promulgated thereunder;

(C)   For a marihuana retailer, compliance with the provisions of the MRTMA 
and any rules promulgated thereunder;

(D)   Medical marihuana provisioning centers and marihuana retailers shall not 
operate and be open to the public before 9:00 a.m. or after 9:00 p.m. daily;

(E)   Signs displayed on the exterior and interior of any medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer shall conform to City ordinance 
requirements. No signs shall contain the words "marihuana,” "marijuana," or 
"cannabis," nor shall any sign contain marihuana leaves, or green crosses;

(F)   Operation of a marihuana facility or marihuana establishment shall not 
cause or create, directly or indirectly, any noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors 
constituting a nuisance and which are detectable to normal human senses beyond the 
boundaries of the property on which the marihuana facility or marihuana 
establishment is operated.

6A



 

Page 10 of 14 

(G)   A license that is issued under this Chapter shall be posted at all times 
inside the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer in a 
conspicuous location near the entrance.

(H) All medical marihuana or marihuana operations, or any type of license 
must apply for and receive a Special Land Use Permit from the Birmingham City 
Commission, and must comply with all regulations set forth in this ordinance and the 
requirements for site plan approval and potential approval of a Special Land Use 
Permit which comports with Chapter 126 of the Zoning Ordinance Section 7.33 thru 
7.37.

Sec. 26-508. Transfer of Licenses.

Licensees may transfer a license issued under this Chapter to a different 
location in the marihuana zoning area upon receiving written approval from the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, and the Department pursuant to the MMFLA or MRTMA 
and rules promulgated by the Department. In order to request municipal approval to 
transfer a license location, the licensee must make a written request to the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, indicating the current location of the medical 
marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer and the proposed new location. 
Upon receiving the written request, the City Manager, or his/her designee, shall refer 
a copy of the written request to the City Police Department, the City Fire Department, 
the Building Official, and the City Planner. No license transfer shall be approved unless 
each such department or entity gives written approval that the proposed license
location meets the standards identified in this Chapter and the City Commission
approves the transfer by a majority vote. 

Sec. 26-509. Annual License Renewal.

Once a license is issued under this division, the license holder must go through 
the license renewal process set forth in this section and is subject to the renewal 
standards set forth in Sec. 26-510. A review of compliance with the contract and 
Special Land Use Permit shall also be included.

(A)   Application for an annual license renewal shall be made in writing to the 
City Clerk at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of an existing license. 

(B)   An application for a license renewal required by this Chapter shall be made 
under oath on forms provided by the City Clerk, and shall contain all of the information 
required in an initial application.

(C)   An application for a license renewal shall be accompanied by a renewal 
fee to help defray administrative and enforcement costs associated with the 
operation of the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, which 
shall be set by resolution of the Commission, but shall not exceed $5,000.

(D)   Upon receipt of a completed application for a license renewal meeting the 
requirements of this Chapter and the license renewal fee, the City Clerk shall refer a 

6A



 

Page 11 of 14 

copy of the renewal application to the City Police Department, the City Fire 
Department, the Building Official, and the City Planner. 

(E)   No application for a license renewal shall be approved unless:

(1) The City Police Department, the City Fire Department and the City 
Building Department or another relevant department have, within 
the past calendar year, inspected the location for compliance with all 
state and local building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing 
requirements;

(2)   The City Planner or another relevant department has confirmed that 
the location complied with the Birmingham Zoning Ordinance at the 
time the license was granted;

(3)   The licensee possesses the necessary state licenses or approvals, 
including those issued pursuant to the MMFLA or MRTMA;

(4)  The licensee has operated the medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer in accordance with the conditions and 
requirements of this Chapter; and

(5)  The licensee is operating the medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer in accordance with MMFLA or MRTMA.

(F)   If written approval of the renewal is given by each department or entity 
identified in this Article, the City Commission may approve the annual license 
renewal. 

Sec. 26-510. Standards.  

(A) The City Commission may object to renewal of a license for medical 
marihuana provisioning centers or medical retailers for one or more of the following 
reasons:

(1)  Licensee's failure to comply with all applicable City and state laws 
concerning health, safety, moral conduct or public welfare.

(2)  Licensee's repeated violations of state marihuana laws.
(3)  Licensee's maintenance of a nuisance upon or in connection with the 

licensed premises, including but not limited to any of the following:

(i) Existing violations of building, electrical, mechanical, plumbing, 
zoning, health, fire or other applicable regulatory codes;

(ii)  A pattern of patron conduct in the neighborhood of the licensed 
premises which is in violation of the law and/or disturbs the peace, 
order, and tranquility of the neighborhood;

6A



 

Page 12 of 14 

(iii)  Failure to maintain the grounds and exterior of the licensed premises, 
including litter, debris, or refuse blowing or being deposited upon 
adjoining premises;

(iv)  Entertainment on the licensed premises without a license and/or 
entertainment which disturbs the peace, order and tranquility in the 
neighborhood of the licensed premises;

(v)  Any advertising, promotion or activity in connection with the 
licensed premises which by its nature causes, creates or contributes 
to disorder, disobedience to rules, ordinances or laws, or contributes 
to the disruption of normal activity of those in the neighborhood of 
the licensed premises;

(vi)  Numerous police contacts with the licensed premises or the patrons 
of the premises;

(vii)  Failure to adequately staff and control the premises; and, 

(viii)  The conditions or practices of the business present immediate 
health and safety issues.

(4)  Licensee's failure to permit the inspection of the licensed premises by the 
City's agents or employees in connection with the enforcement of the City 
Code.

(5)  Licensee's failure to comply with the terms of its marihuana retailer
license or any conditions imposed by the City Commission at the time of 
issuance or transfer of the license.

(6)  Licensee's failure to comply with all standards and plans established and 
approved by the City Commission at the time of original approval or 
transfer of the license. 

(7)  Licensee's failure to timely pay its taxes or other monies due the City.

(B) In addition to any other reasons set forth in this Chapter, the City may 
refuse to issue a license or grant renewal of the license or suspend or revoke the 
license for any of the following reasons:

(1)    A material violation of any provision of this Chapter, Chapter 126, Zoning, 
or the licensee’s SLUP and contract.  

(2)    Any conviction of a disqualifying felony by the licensee or any stakeholder 
of the licensee that would disqualify that person from obtaining a state 
license under the MMFLA or MRTMA.

6A



 

Page 13 of 14 

(3)    Failure of the licensee to obtain or maintain a license from the state 
pursuant to section 14 of the MMFLA or MRTMA.

(C)  Following its review of this material, the City Commission may adopt a 
resolution to establish a public hearing date to consider objecting to the renewal of a 
license for the operation of a medical marihuana provisioning center or a marihuana 
retailer.  If such action is taken by the City Commission, its resolution shall:

(1)State the reasons why the City Commission is considering action which 
would result in the City objecting to the license of the MMFLA or MRTMA.  

(2)State the date, time and place for the public hearing when the City 
Commission will consider taking action to object to the renewal of the 
license.  

(3)Direct the City staff to inform the licensee in writing that they may submit 
any written material for consideration by the City Commission prior to the 
public hearing or at the hearing.

(4)State that the licensee may appear in person at the hearing or be 
represented by counsel and that the licensee may present witnesses or 
written evidence at the hearing.

(5)Direct the licensee shall be served notice by First Class U.S. Mail at least ten 
(10) days prior to the hearing with a written notice of the hearing.

(6)State that the City Commission shall hold a hearing scheduled with the 
licensee present.  The City Commission may consider the investigation and 
other materials prepared by the administration pursuant to Sec. 26-509.

(7)State that the City Commission may also hear from members of the staff, 
other governmental agencies or the public, and licensee shall be afforded 
an opportunity to question those present or give information to the City 
Commission.

(8)State that the public shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to comment 
upon the issues before the City Commission.  

(9)State that the Following the hearing, the City Commission shall make a 
written resolution as to its findings and determinations, and shall, by First 
Class U.S. mail forward a copy of the same to the licensee and the State 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs.  

(D) If the City Commission determines that a recommendation of non-renewal 
or a request for revocation is to be filed with the State, it shall forward the following 
documents to the Department:

(1)A certified copy of the Notice of Hearing sent to the licensee.
(2)A certified copy of the resolution adopted by the City Commission objecting 

to the renewal of the license or requesting that the license be revoked, and 
if there is a separate Statement of Findings, a certified copy of the 
Statement of Findings shall be included.

6A



 

Page 14 of 14 

(3)A copy of this Chapter, including the date of the adoption of the ordinance 
from which this Chapter was derived and the state of publication of such 
ordinance.  

(4)Proof of Service demonstrating that the notice was sent to the licensee.  

Sec. 26-511. Penalty. 

Any person who violates this Chapter shall be responsible for a municipal civil 
infraction as defined in Chapter 1, Sec. 1-9. – General Penalty, and the maximum fine 
of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00).

All other Articles of Chapter 26. –BUSINESSES, shall remain unaffected.

Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2023.  Effective upon publication.

         
   Therese Longe, Mayor

         
   Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2023. 

_____________________________________
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk

6A



6A



6A



 

 

ATTACHMENT 4 

6A



 

 

Page 1 of 14 

 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
 

ORDINANCE NO.    
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 26 – BUSINESSES, 
ARTICLE XII – MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED  
 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 26. Businesses, Article XII. – Marihuana Establishments 
Prohibited, shall be amended to establish and regulate marihuana businesses, and shall read as 
follows: 

 

ARTICLE XII. MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED 

Sec. 26-500. Marihuana establishments prohibited. 

Marihuana establishments as defined in Section 3 of the Michigan Regulation and Taxation 
of Marihuana Act, and as it may hereafter be amended from time to time, are completely 
prohibited within the city limits of the City of Birmingham, as provided for in Section 6 of the 
Act.  
ARTICLE XII. MEDICAL FACILITY AND ADULT-USE MARIHUANA ESTABLISHMENTS  

Sec. 26-500.  Marihuana Regulations. 

This Chapter is created to regulate the sale of marihuana in the City of 
Birmingham; to allow certain medical marihuana facilities and marihuana 
establishments to operate in the City pursuant to the Medical Marihuana Facilities 
Licensing Act and Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act; to provide for 
standards and procedures to license and regulate such facilities and establishments; 
to provide for the imposition of license application fees; to provide penalties; and to 
impose conditions for the operation of such facilities and establishments. 
 
 
Sec. 26-501. Definitions. 
 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have 
the meanings ascribed to them in this Article, except where the context clearly 
indicates a different meaning: 
 

Applicant. A person who applies for a license to operate a medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer under this Chapter. 

 
 

6A



 

Page 2 of 14 

 
    

City.  The City of Birmingham.   
 

  Clerk.  The Clerk of the City of Birmingham. 
 

Commission. The City Commission of the City of Birmingham. 
Cultivate means to propagate, breed, grow, harvest, dry, cure, or separate 

parts of the marihuana plant by manual or mechanical means.  
Department means the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory 

Affairs.  
Licensee means a person holding a state license and/ or a person who receives 

a license to operate a medical marihuana facility or marihuana establishment under 
this Chapter. 

Marihuana. As defined in the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act 
(“MMFLA”) and the Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act (“MRTMA”). 

Marihuana Accessories. Any equipment, product, material, or combination of 
equipment, products, or materials, which is specifically designed for use in planting, 
propagating, cultivating, growing, harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, 
converting, producing, processing, preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, 
repackaging, storing, containing, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing 
marihuana into the human body. 

Marihuana Establishment. A marihuana retailer as defined under the MRTMA 
and this Chapter. 

Marihuana Grower. A person licensed under the MRTMA to cultivate marihuana 
and sell or otherwise transfer marihuana to marihuana establishments. 

Marihuana Retailer. A person licensed under the MRTMA to obtain marihuana 
from marihuana establishments and to sell or otherwise transfer marihuana to 
marihuana establishments and to individuals who are 21 years of age or older. 

Medical Marihuana Facility. A medical marihuana provisioning center as 
defined under the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act (“MMFLA”) and this 
Chapter. 

MMFLA. The Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act, Act 281 of 2016, 
M.C.L.A. §§ 333.27101 et seq. 

MRTMA. The Michigan Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act, Initiated Law 
1 of 2018, M.C.L.A. §§ 333.27951 et seq. 

Park. An area of land dedicated for public use and accepted by the City, with or 
without facilities for rest and recreation. 

Person means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership 
of any type, trust, or other legal entity.  

6A



 

Page 3 of 14 

Process or processing means to separate or otherwise prepare parts of the 
marihuana plant and to compound, blend, extract, infuse, or otherwise make or 
prepare marihuana concentrate or marihuana-infused products.  

Provisioning center means a licensee that is a commercial entity located in this 
state that purchases marihuana from a grower or processor and sells, supplies, or 
provides marihuana to registered qualifying patients, directly or through the patients' 
registered primary caregivers. Provisioning center includes any commercial property 
where marihuana is sold at retail to registered qualifying patients or registered 
primary caregivers. A noncommercial location used by a registered primary caregiver 
to assist a qualifying patient connected to the caregiver through the department's 
marihuana registration process in accordance with the Michigan Medical Marihuana 
Act is not a provisioning center for purposes of this act. 

Religious institution means a building housing an organization founded on an 
established religion, such as a church, synagogue, mosque, temple, or other house of 
worship. 

School. A public or private school offering education to students enrolled in 
kindergarten, or one or more grades of one through 12. 

Special Land Use Permit.  A permit that can be issued by the City Commission 
which can approve with conditions all requests for permission to carry on special land 
uses where such uses are permitted in the Birmingham City Zoning Ordinance at 
Chapter 126. 

Stakeholder. The officers, directors, and managerial employees of an applicant 
and any persons who hold any direct or indirect ownership interest in the applicant. 

State license means a license issued by the department that allows a person to 
operate a marihuana establishment.  

Unreasonably impracticable means that the measures necessary to comply 
with the rules or ordinances adopted pursuant to this Article subject licensees to 
unreasonable risk or require such a high investment of money, time, or any other 
resource or asset that a reasonably prudent businessperson would not operate the 
marihuana establishment.  
 
Sec. 26-502. Prohibitions. 
 

(A)   Notwithstanding anything in this Chapter, no person shall operate a 
medical marihuana facility and/or marihuana establishment within a 1,000 foot 
radius of any parcel upon which is located any existing school, religious institution, 
park or playground, City-owned recreational facility, nor in any other area except for 
those parcels identified on Exhibit 1. 
  

(B)   No person shall operate a medical marihuana facility or a marihuana 
establishment in the City without first obtaining any relevant Michigan state license 
required by the MMFLA or MRTMA and a license from the City in accordance with the 
provisions of this Chapter. A separate state and city license is required for each 
medical marihuana facility or marihuana establishment. 

 

6A



 

Page 4 of 14 

(C)   No person shall consume or use in any fashion marihuana in a public place 
within the boundaries of the City of Birmingham, nor in any violation of state law of 
the MRTMA and MMFLA. 
 
Sec. 26-503. Medical Marihuana Provisioning Centers and Marihuana Retailers. 
 
 (A)   Pursuant to section 205(1) of the MMFLA and section 6 of the MRTMA, the 
City authorizes one license for a medical marihuana provisioning center and one 
license for a marihuana retailer.  
 

(B)   Except as otherwise provided in this Article, the City shall not permit or 
authorize the operation of any other type of marihuana establishment or medical 
marihuana facility. 
 

(C)   This Article shall not be interpreted to allow the operation of marihuana 
establishments and medical marihuana facilities at more than two locations in the 
City at the same time in the areas identified on Exhibit 1. 
 
Sec. 26-504. License Applications.  
 

(A)   Any person seeking to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer shall file a license application with the City Clerk upon a form 
provided by the City. The application shall include the following information: 

 
(1)     The full name, date of birth, physical address, email address, and 

telephone number of the applicant in the case of an individual, or, in 
the case of an entity, all stakeholders thereof; 

 
(2)    If the applicant is an entity, the entity's articles of incorporation or 

organizational documents; 
 
(3)     If the applicant is an entity, the entity's employer identification 

number; 
 
(4)    If the applicant is an entity, the entity's operating agreement or 

bylaws; 
 
(5)    A proposed marketing, advertising, and business promotion plan for 

the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana 
retailer; 

 
(6)    A description of planned tangible capital investment in the City; 
 
(7)    An explanation of the economic benefits to the City and job creation 

to be achieved, including the number and type of jobs the medical 
marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer is expected to 
create, the amount and type of compensation expected to be paid for 

6A



 

Page 5 of 14 

such jobs, and the projected annual budget and revenue of the 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer; 

 
(8)    A description of the financial structure and financing for the proposed 

medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer; 
 
(9)    Short-term and long-term business goals and objectives for the 

proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana 
retailer; 

 
(10)   A criminal background report of the applicant's criminal history. This 

includes all individuals, and for a commercial entity, its resident 
agent, and all officers. Such reports shall be obtained by the applicant 
through the Internet Criminal History Access Tool (ICHAT) for 
applicants residing in Michigan and/or through another state 
sponsored or authorized criminal history access source for applicants 
who reside in other states or have resided in other states within five 
years prior to the date of the application. The applicant is responsible 
for all charges incurred in requesting and receiving the criminal 
history report and the report must be dated within 30 days of the 
date of the application; 

 
(11)   A description of proposed community outreach and education 

strategies for the knowledge of substances use and substances 
abuse; 

 
(12)   A description of proposed charitable plans to enhance the City 

whether through financial donations or volunteer work; 
 
(13) A description of the security plan for the proposed medical 

marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer that is 
consistent with the requirements of the Michigan Department of 
Licensing; 

 
(14) A floor plan of the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center 

or marihuana retailer and a site plan of the proposed medical 
marihuana provisioning center or medical marihuana retailer that 
complies with the site plan review process of the Zoning Ordinance 
at Chapter 126 and incorporates sustainable elements in their plan ; 

 
(15) A scale diagram illustrating the property upon which the proposed 

medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer is to be 
operated, including all available onsite parking spaces, and 
specifying which parking spaces are handicapped-accessible; 

 
(16) A depiction of any proposed text, graphic materials and all signage 

to be shown on the exterior of the proposed medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer; 

6A



 

Page 6 of 14 

 
(17) An affidavit that neither the applicant nor any stakeholder of the 

applicant is in default to the City for any fees or taxes; 
 
(18) Proof of premises liability and casualty insurance consistent with the 

requirements of the Department; and, 
 
(19) A location area map that identifies the relative locations of, and 

distances from, the nearest schools, religious institutions, parks or 
playgrounds and City-owned recreational facilities, computed by 
measuring a straight line from the nearest property line of the parcel 
used for the purposes stated in this subsection to the nearest 
property line of the parcel to be used as a medical marihuana 
provisioning center or marihuana retailer. 

 
Sec. 26-505. Application Fee.  
 

An application for a license shall be accompanied by an application fee to help 
defray administrative and enforcement costs to the City associated with the operation 
of the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, which shall be 
set by resolution from time to time of the Commission, but shall not exceed $5,000 
per application. 
 
 
 
 
Sec.  26. 506. Application Review. 
 

(A)   After the effective date of this Article, the City Clerk shall begin accepting 
applications for a medical marihuana provisioning center and a marihuana retailer 
after 45 days. The City Clerk will set a 30-day application period during which 
applicants may apply for one license to operate a medical marihuana provisioning 
center or one marihuana retailer and advertise the 30 day period on the City website. 

(B)   The City Clerk shall review each application to ensure that it is complete, 
that the information required by this Chapter has been submitted, and that the 
application fee has been paid. The City Clerk may reject any application that is not 
complete and may deny an application for failure to pay the application fee. 

(C)   Upon receipt of a completed application meeting the requirements of this 
Chapter and the appropriate license application fee, the City Clerk shall refer a copy 
of the application to each of the following for their approval: the City Police 
Department, the City Fire Department, the City Building Department, the City Planner, 
and the City Treasurer. 

(D)   No application shall be approved unless: 
(1)   The City Police Department, the City Fire Department, and the 

City Building Department have inspected the proposed 
location for compliance with all laws for which they are 

6A



 

Page 7 of 14 

charged with enforcement and for compliance with the 
requirements of this Chapter; 

(2)   The City Planner has confirmed that the proposed location 
complies with the Birmingham Zoning Ordinance and this 
Chapter; 

(3)   The City Treasurer has confirmed that the applicant and each 
stakeholder of the applicant are not in default to the City. 

(4) That the requirements for site plan approval and potential 
approval of a Special Land Use Permit comports with Chapter 
126 of the Zoning Ordinance Section 7.33 thru 7.37. 

(E)   The City Manager, or his/her designee, shall assess, evaluate, score and 
rank all applications for licenses to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or marihuana retailer submitted during the 30 day application period set forth in this 
Chapter. 

(F)   In its application assessment, evaluation, scoring, ranking, and 
deliberations related to licenses to operate a medical marihuana provisioning center 
or a marihuana retailer, the City Manager, or his/her designee, shall assess, evaluate, 
score, and rank each application based upon a scoring and ranking procedure 
developed by the City staff consistent with the requirements, conditions, and 
provisions of this Chapter in each of the following categories: 

(1)   Whether the proposed medical marihuana provisioning center or 
marihuana retailer will be consistent with land use for the required 
zoning in the surrounding neighborhood and not have a detrimental 
effect on traffic patterns and resident safety. The maximum number 
of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points; 

(2)   Planned community outreach and education strategies for the 
knowledge of and abuse of substances on behalf of the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer shall be 
ten (10) points; 

(3)  Whether the applicant or its stakeholders have made, or plan to 
make, significant physical improvements with an effort to 
incorporate sustainable elements into the building housing the 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, 
including plans to eliminate or minimize traffic, noise, and odor 
effects on the surrounding neighborhood. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points; 

(4)   Whether the applicant has reasonably and tangibly demonstrated it 
possesses sufficient financial resources to fund, and the requisite 
business experience to execute, the submitted business plan and 
other plans required by this Chapter. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points; 

(5)   Whether the applicant has applied for and proposes to co-locate a 
medical marihuana provisioning center and marihuana retailer. The 

6A



 

Page 8 of 14 

maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) 
points; 

(6)   Whether adequate off-street parking is provided by the applicant 
consistent with zoning ordinance requirements. The maximum 
number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points; 

(7)   Whether the proposed facility will have a detrimental impact on 
children and areas where children congregate in the City or 
surrounding region, as judged by the proximity of the proposed 
medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer to other 
structures or properties, including any parcel upon which is located 
an existing school, religious institution, park, playground, or City-
owned recreational facility. The maximum number of scoring points 
in this category shall be ten (10)  points, with the maximum points 
being awarded if the proposed medical marihuana provisioning 
center or marihuana retailer will be located more than 50% further 
than the applicable distances provided in Sec. 26-502(A); 

(8)    Whether the applicant has demonstrated an economic commitment 
to the City by a proposal to create no less than five full-time jobs and 
proposes a living wage to all employees. The maximum number of 
scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) points and shall be 
awarded based upon the number of jobs proposed and the pay 
structure proposed by the applicant; 

(9)    A description of proposed charitable plans to enhance the City, 
whether through financial donations or volunteer work.  The 
maximum number of scoring points in this category shall be ten (10) 
points; 

(10) Whether the applicant establishment has certifications recognized 
by:  Global Food Safety Initiative (GFSI); Safe Quality Food Program 
Certification (SQF); Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP); 
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 9000; or 
purchases and/or offers for sale products tested by a lab that has ISO 
17025 certification. The maximum number of scoring points in this 
category shall be ten (10) points. 

(G)   Overall scoring and ranking shall be conducted and applied by the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, on the basis of assigned points from zero points to  One 
Hundred (100) points with the lowest overall total score as zero (0) points and the 
highest possible total score being One Hundred (100) points. 

(H)   The City Manager, or his/her designee, shall award licenses to the highest 
scoring applicants for one (1) medical marijuana provisioning center and/or one (1) 
medical marijuana retailer. In the event of an evaluation scoring tie that causes there 
to be more than two applicants who achieve scores sufficient to qualify for a license, 
the scoring-tied applicants will be entered into a random draw. Those applications 
randomly selected shall be eligible to receive a license to operate a medical 
marihuana provisioning center or a marihuana retailer, as applicable. In the event 
that the number of medical marihuana provisioning center and/or marihuana retailer 

6A



 

Page 9 of 14 

licenses initially awarded is less than one of each of the two licenses authorized under 
this Chapter or subsequently falls below licenses authorized under this Chapter, the 
City Manager, or his/her designee, shall not be required to score applicants. Instead, 
the City Manager, or his/her designee, shall evaluate applications in the order that 
they are submitted and shall award licenses for medical marihuana provisioning 
centers and/or marihuana retailers to an applicant who submits a complete 
application, receives the approvals required in this Chapter, and otherwise meets the 
requirements of this Chapter. However, in no event shall the number of medical 
marihuana provisioning centers or marihuana retailer licenses exceed one (1) per 
type under this Chapter. 

(I)   Nothing in this Chapter is intended to confer a property or other right, 
duty, privilege or interest in a license of any kind or nature whatsoever including, but 
not limited to, any claim of entitlement. 
 
Sec. 26-507. License Requirements.  

A medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer license issued 
under this Chapter shall be subject to the following conditions: 

 
(A)   Compliance with the requirements of this Chapter, other applicable City 

ordinances and codes, and applicable state laws; 
 

(B)   For a medical marihuana provisioning center, compliance with the 
provisions of the MMFLA and any rules promulgated thereunder; 
 

(C)   For a marihuana retailer, compliance with the provisions of the MRTMA 
and any rules promulgated thereunder; 

 
(D)   Medical marihuana provisioning centers and marihuana retailers shall not 

operate and be open to the public before 9:00 a.m. or after 9:00 p.m. daily; 
 
(E)   Signs displayed on the exterior and interior of any medical marihuana 

provisioning center or marihuana retailer shall conform to City ordinance 
requirements. No signs shall contain the words "marihuana,” "marijuana," or 
"cannabis," nor shall any sign contain marihuana leaves, or green crosses; 
 

(F)   Operation of a marihuana facility or marihuana establishment shall not 
cause or create, directly or indirectly, any noise, dust, vibration, glare, fumes, or odors 
constituting a nuisance and which are detectable to normal human senses beyond the 
boundaries of the property on which the marihuana facility or marihuana 
establishment is operated. 
 

(G)   A license that is issued under this Chapter shall be posted at all times 
inside the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer in a 
conspicuous location near the entrance. 

 

6A



 

Page 10 of 14 

(H)  All medical marihuana or marihuana operations, or any type of license 
must apply for and receive a Special Land Use Permit, and must comply with all 
regulations set forth in this ordinance and the requirements for site plan approval and 
potential approval of a Special Land Use Permit which comports with Chapter 126 of 
the Zoning Ordinance Section 7.33 thru 7.37. 
 
Sec. 26-508. Transfer of Licenses. 
 

Licensees may transfer a license issued under this Chapter to a different 
location in the marihuana zoning area upon receiving written approval from the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, and the Department pursuant to the MMFLA or MRTMA 
and rules promulgated by the Department. In order to request municipal approval to 
transfer a license location, the licensee must make a written request to the City 
Manager, or his/her designee, indicating the current location of the medical 
marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer and the proposed new location. 
Upon receiving the written request, the City Manager, or his/her designee, shall refer 
a copy of the written request to the City Police Department, the City Fire Department, 
the Building Official, and the City Planner. No license transfer shall be approved unless 
each such department or entity gives written approval that the proposed license 
location meets the standards identified in this Chapter and the City Commission 
approves the transfer by a majority vote. 
 
Sec. 26-509. Annual License Renewal. 
 

Once a license is issued under this division, the license holder must go through 
the license renewal process set forth in this section and is subject to the renewal 
standards set forth in Sec. 26-510. A review of compliance with the contract and 
Special Land Use Permit shall also be included. 

 (A)   Application for an annual license renewal shall be made in writing to the 
City Clerk at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of an existing license. 
 

(B)   An application for a license renewal required by this Chapter shall be made 
under oath on forms provided by the City Clerk, and shall contain all of the information 
required in an initial application. 
 

(C)   An application for a license renewal shall be accompanied by a renewal 
fee to help defray administrative and enforcement costs associated with the 
operation of the medical marihuana provisioning center or marihuana retailer, which 
shall be set by resolution of the Commission, but shall not exceed $5,000. 
 

(D)   Upon receipt of a completed application for a license renewal meeting the 
requirements of this Chapter and the license renewal fee, the City Clerk shall refer a 
copy of the renewal application to the City Police Department, the City Fire 
Department, the Building Official, and the City Planner. 
 

(E)   No application for a license renewal shall be approved unless: 
 

6A



 

Page 11 of 14 

(1)  The City Police Department, the City Fire Department and the City 
Building Department or another relevant department have, within 
the past calendar year, inspected the location for compliance with all 
state and local building, electrical, fire, mechanical and plumbing 
requirements; 

 
(2)    The City Planner or another relevant department has confirmed that 

the location complied with the Birmingham Zoning Ordinance at the 
time the license was granted; 

 
(3)   The licensee possesses the necessary state licenses or approvals, 

including those issued pursuant to the MMFLA or MRTMA; 
 
(4)  The licensee has operated the medical marihuana provisioning center 

or marihuana retailer in accordance with the conditions and 
requirements of this Chapter; and 

 
(5)  The licensee is operating the medical marihuana provisioning center 

or marihuana retailer in accordance with MMFLA or MRTMA. 
 
(F)   If written approval of the renewal is given by each department or entity 

identified in this Article, the City Commission may approve the annual license 
renewal.  

 
Sec. 26-510. Standards.  
 

(A) The City Commission may object to renewal of a license for medical 
marihuana provisioning centers or medical retailers for one or more of the following 
reasons: 
 

(1)  Licensee's failure to comply with all applicable City and state laws 
concerning health, safety, moral conduct or public welfare. 

(2)  Licensee's repeated violations of state marihuana laws. 
(3)  Licensee's maintenance of a nuisance upon or in connection with the 

licensed premises, including but not limited to any of the following: 
 

(i) Existing violations of building, electrical, mechanical, plumbing, 
zoning, health, fire or other applicable regulatory codes; 
 

(ii)  A pattern of patron conduct in the neighborhood of the licensed 
premises which is in violation of the law and/or disturbs the peace, 
order, and tranquility of the neighborhood; 

 
(iii)  Failure to maintain the grounds and exterior of the licensed premises, 

including litter, debris, or refuse blowing or being deposited upon 
adjoining premises; 

 

6A



 

Page 12 of 14 

(iv)  Entertainment on the licensed premises without a license and/or 
entertainment which disturbs the peace, order and tranquility in the 
neighborhood of the licensed premises; 

 
(v)  Any advertising, promotion or activity in connection with the 

licensed premises which by its nature causes, creates or contributes 
to disorder, disobedience to rules, ordinances or laws, or contributes 
to the disruption of normal activity of those in the neighborhood of 
the licensed premises; 

 
(vi)  Numerous police contacts with the licensed premises or the patrons 

of the premises; 
 
(vii)  Failure to adequately staff and control the premises; and, 
 
(viii)  The conditions or practices of the business present immediate 

health and safety issues. 
 
(4)  Licensee's failure to permit the inspection of the licensed premises by the 

City's agents or employees in connection with the enforcement of the City 
Code. 

 
(5)  Licensee's failure to comply with the terms of its marihuana retailer 

license or any conditions imposed by the City Commission at the time of 
issuance or transfer of the license. 

 
(6)  Licensee's failure to comply with all standards and plans established and 

approved by the City Commission at the time of original approval or 
transfer of the license. 

 
(7)  Licensee's failure to timely pay its taxes or other monies due the City. 

 
 

(B) In addition to any other reasons set forth in this Chapter, the City may 
refuse to issue a license or grant renewal of the license or suspend or revoke the 
license for any of the following reasons: 
 

(1)    A material violation of any provision of this Chapter, Chapter 126, Zoning, 
or the licensee’s SLUP and contract.   

 
(2)    Any conviction of a disqualifying felony by the licensee or any stakeholder 

of the licensee that would disqualify that person from obtaining a state 
license under the MMFLA or MRTMA. 

 
(3)    Failure of the licensee to obtain or maintain a license from the state 

pursuant to section 14 of the MMFLA or MRTMA. 
 

6A



 

Page 13 of 14 

(C)  Following its review of this material, the City Commission may adopt a 
resolution to establish a public hearing date to consider objecting to the renewal of a 
license for the operation of a medical marihuana provisioning center or a marihuana 
retailer.  If such action is taken by the City Commission, its resolution shall: 

(1)State the reasons why the City Commission is considering action which 
would result in the City objecting to the license of the MMFLA or MRTMA.   

(2)State the date, time and place for the public hearing when the City 
Commission will consider taking action to object to the renewal of the 
license.   

(3)Direct the City staff to inform the licensee in writing that they may submit 
any written material for consideration by the City Commission prior to the 
public hearing or at the hearing. 

(4)That the licensee may appear in person at the hearing or be represented by 
counsel and that the licensee may present witnesses or written evidence at 
the hearing. 

(5)The licensee shall be served notice by First Class U.S. Mail at least ten (10) 
days prior to the hearing with a written notice of the hearing. 

(6)The City Commission shall hold a hearing scheduled with the licensee 
present.  The City Commission may consider the investigation and other 
materials prepared by the administration pursuant to Sec. 26-509. 

(7)The City Commission may also hear from members of the staff, other 
governmental agencies or the public, and licensee shall be afforded an 
opportunity to question those present or give information to the City 
Commission. 

(8)The public shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to comment upon the 
issues before the City Commission.   

(9)Following the hearing, the City Commission shall make a written resolution 
as to its findings and determinations, and shall, by First Class U.S. mail 
forward a copy of the same to the licensee and the State Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs.   

(D)  If the City Commission determines that a recommendation of non-renewal 
or a request for revocation is to be filed with the State, it shall forward the following 
documents to the Department: 

(1)A certified copy of the Notice of Hearing sent to the licensee. 
(2)A certified copy of the resolution adopted by the City Commission objecting 

to the renewal of the license or requesting that the license be revoked, and 
if there is a separate Statement of Findings, a certified copy of the 
Statement of Findings shall be included. 

(3)A copy of this Chapter, including the date of the adoption of the ordinance 
from which this Chapter was derived and the state of publication of such 
ordinance.   

(4)Proof of Service demonstrating that the notice was sent to the licensee.   

6A



 

Page 14 of 14 

 
Sec. 26-511. Penalty.  
 
  Any person who violates this Chapter shall be responsible for a municipal civil 
infraction as defined in Chapter 1, Sec. 1-9. – General Penalty, and the maximum fine 
of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00).
 

All other Articles of Chapter 26. –BUSINESSES, shall remain unaffected. 

Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2023.  Effective upon publication. 
 
          
    Therese Longe, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held _____________ and that a summary was published _____________________, 2023. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

6A



6A



6A



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: July 18th, 2023  

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

APPROVED:  Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing to amend Chapter 126 (Zoning), Article 2, Section 2.27, Article 4, 
Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 9.02 for the B1 
Neighborhood Business District to include Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, 
and Café as permitted uses, to include Health Club/Studio as a use requiring a 
Special Land Use Permit, to include indoor dining as an accessory use, to create a 
definition for a Café use, and to create a parking ratio requirement for a Café use. 

INTRODUCTION: 
The owner of 100 W. 14 Mile is applying to amend the Zoning Ordinance for the B1 
Neighborhood Business District to enable additional uses. Such uses proposed include 
health club/studio, specialty food store, boutique, bank, and cafe. Amendments to limit the 
square footage of indoor dining in the B1 zone and to calculate parking for café uses based 
on indoor dining space ha  also been proposed by the Planning Division and Planning Board,

which the applicant .

BACKGROUND: 
The applicant is the owner of 100 W. 14 Mile, which was formerly the Grapevine Market. The 
applicant has cited dificulty in finding a new tenant as the reason for requesting the zoning 
amendment to expand permissible uses.   

There are eight areas in the City of Birmingham with B1 Neighborhood Business designations. 
Photos and a map of these zones are attached following this report. Such B1 locations with 
notable tenants include the following: 

1. Maple & Cranbrook (DFCU)
2. Maple & Chesterfield (Mills Pharmacy, Holiday Market Select, etc)
3. 151 N. Eton (Canelle Patisserie, Jets Pizza, Eton Market, etc)
4. 256 S. Eton (Beauty Collective)
5. 1213 Forest Hills Ln (Forest Hills Swim Club)
6. Lincoln & Grant (MUCU, Ginger Ground for Hair, Ortiz Educare)

7A



7. 14 Mile & Southfield (Market Square, Birmingham Oil Change Center)
8. 14 Mile & Pierce (Blue Canary Confections, former Grapevine Market)

The Planning Board held four study sessions related to the proposed amendments. There were 
no concerns with adding specialty food store or boutique to the list of permitted uses. The B1 
zone currently allows banks under the category of office, though there was general consensus 
that adding banks to the list of permitted uses in Article 2 makes it easier for owners, brokers, 
and potential tenants to quickly understand what is allowed rather than referencing the Article 9 
definition for office.  

A food and drink establishment use was initially proposed, however the Planning Board felt that 
this use encompasses full service restaurants and fast food establishments, which are not 
appropriate for the B1 zone, and was therefore removed from the proposal. The Planning Board 
did feel that smaller café style uses were appropriate. The Planning Division coordinated with the 
applicant and Planning Board on creating a new use category and definition for café.   

The Planning Board also discussed what would be the appropriate amount of indoor dining for 
the B1 zone. The result was including indoor dining as an accessory use to cafés, bakeries, grocery 
stores, and specialty food stores. Indoor dining is limited to 50% of the tenant space, or 500 
square feet, whichever is less. This allows such uses to have small indoor seating areas without 
being considered a full-scale restaurant. 

In addition, the existing parking calculations of 1 space per 75 square feet for the food and drink 
establishment use often prevents of any type of food and beverage category occupying a smaller 
B1 property. Currently, a 1,500 square foot coffee shop would be required to have 20 parking 
spaces, even if it only has indoor seating space for 5-10 chairs. The Planning Division coordinated 
with the applicant and Planning Board to create a parking category for cafés that requires 1 
parking space per 75 square feet of assembly seating space. This way, cafés would not 
be penalized with extra parking for kitchen, refrigerator, and storage space.  

 regards to health club/studio uses in the B1 zone, the Planning Board was amenable to
small classes with 5-10 people, but was opposed to the types of fitness classes with large 
groups of people that rotate on a regular basis. The Planning Division co sidered regulating the
number of patrons through Article 5, Use Specific Standards, but found this would be difficult 
to enforce. The Planning Division and Planning Board felt that the best way to permit and 
regulate smaller classes was through a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP). The applicant was 
amenable to this suggestion as well. 

On June 14th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Planning Board held a public hearing to review the 
proposed ordinance amendments. The board discussed some concern about regulating health 
club/fitness studios with a SLUP, as well as distinguishing between the café and food and drink 
establishment uses. The general consensus from the Planning Board and the Planning Division 
was they were comfortable dealing with each health club/studio use request on a case-by-case 
basis. The Planning Board moved to recommend approval to the City Commission of the proposed 
amendments. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposed ordinance amendments and has no objections. 

7A



FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no direct fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 

UBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, a legal ad was placed in 
a newspaper of local circulation to advertise the public hearing at the Planning Board on June 
14th, 2023, as well as in advance of the public hearing at the City Commission meeting on 
July 24th, 2023.  

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the proposed 
ordinance amendments to Article 2, Section 2.27, Article 4, Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, 
Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 9.02 for the B1 Neighborhood Business District to include 
Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, and Café as permitted uses, to include Health Club/
Studio as a use requiring a Special Land Use Permit, to include indoor dining as an accessory 
use limited to 500 square feet or less, to create a definition for a Café use, and to create a 
parking ratio requirement for a Café use. 

ATTACHMENTS:   
Please see the following attached documents: 

Proposed Amendments to Chapter 126 – Zoning
Final Planning Board Report
Maps of B1 zone compared to proposed uses
Canelle Patisserie and Holiday Market floor plans with indoor dining
Application for zoning amendment

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to APPROVE the proposed ordinance amendments to Article 
2, Section 2.27, Article 4, Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 9.02 
for the B1 Neighborhood Business District to include Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, and 
Café as permitted uses, to include Health Club/Studio as a use requiring a Special Land Use 
Permit, to include indoor dining as an accessory use limited to 500 square feet or less, to 
create a definition for a Café use, and to create a parking requirement for a Café use. 

7A



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 2, SECTION 2.27, B1 (NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS) DISTRICT INTENT, 
PERMITTED USES, AND SPECIAL USES, TO ADD BANK, BOUTIQUE, CAFÉ, AND SPECIALTY FOOD 
STORE TO COMMERCIAL PERMITTED USES, INDOOR DINING TO ACCESSORY PERMITTED USES, 
AND HEALTH CLUB/STUDIO TO USES REQUIRING A SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 2: ZONING DISTRICTS AND REGULATIONS 

2.27 B1 (Neighborhood Business) District Intent, Permitted Uses, and Special Uses 

B. Permitted Uses
1. Institutional Permitted Uses

a. community center
b. government office
c. government use
d. religious institution
e. school - private
f. school - public
g. social club

2. Recreational Permitted Uses
a. recreational club
b. swimming pool – semiprivate

3. Commercial Permitted Uses
a. Bakery
b. bank
c. barber shop/beauty salon
d. boutique
e. café
f. drugstore
g. dry cleaning
h. grocery store
i. hardware store
j. neighborhood convenience store
k. office
l. shoe store/shoe repair
m. specialty food store
n. tailor

4. Other Permitted Uses

7A



a. utility substation
C. Other Use Regulations

1. Accessory Permitted Uses
a. alcoholic beverage sales*
b. indoor dining*
c. kennel*
d. laboratory - medical/dental*
e. loading facility - off-street*
f. outdoor cafe
g. outdoor display*
h. parking facility - off-street*
i. sign

2. Uses Requiring a Special Land Use Permit
a. alcoholic beverage sales (off-premise consumption)
b. alcoholic beverage sales (on-premise consumption)
c. child care center
d. continued care retirement community
e. health club/studio
f. independent hospice facility
g. drive-in facility*
h. gasoline full service station*
i. skilled nursing facility

* = Use Specific Standards in Section 5.09 Apply

ORDAINED this ______ day of _________, 2023 to become effective 7 days after publication. 

____________________________ 
Therese Longe, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Alex Bingham, City Clerk 

7A



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 4, TABLE A, REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING SPACES, TO CREATE A 
PARKING RATIO REQUIREMENT FOR A CAFÉ USE. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 4: DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Table A: Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

Land Use Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required 
Café: 1 space per 75 square feet of indoor dining area to be 

calculated from the area consisting of the designated 
assembly space for tables, seats, and patron circulation. 

ORDAINED this ______ day of _________, 2023 to become effective 7 days after publication. 

____________________________ 
Therese Longe, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Alex Bingham, City Clerk 

7A



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 5, SECTION 5.09, USE SPECIFIC STANDARDS, TO ADD LANGUAGE TO 
PERMIT INDOOR DINING AS AN ACCESSORY USE TO BAKERIES, SPECIALTY FOOD STORES, 
GROCERY STORES, AND CAFES. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 5: USE SPECIFIC STANDARDS 

5.09 B1 District 

This Use Specific Standards section applies to the following district: 

The following use specific standards apply: 

A. Alcoholic Beverage Sales: Alcoholic beverage sales for consumption off the premises in
conjunction with grocery stores and drugstores is permitted subject to special land use
permit.

B. Drive-in Facility: A drive-in facility is permitted provided it is accessory to the
permitted principal use.

C. Gasoline Full Service Station: A gasoline full service station is permitted provided any
mechanized car wash systems shall be limited to 25 cars per hour.

D. Indoor Dining: Indoor dining is permitted as an accessory use to a bakery,
specialty food store, grocery store, and café provided that the indoor dining
area consisting of the assembly space for tables, seats, and patron circulation
does not exceed 50 percent of the tenant space, or 500 square feet, whichever
is less.

E. Kennel: A kennel is permitted in conjunction with veterinary clinics when completely
enclosed within a building (see Sections 18-86, 18-87, 18-88 of the Birmingham City
Code).

F. Laboratory: A laboratory is permitted when incidental to a medical or dental office located
within the same building.

G. Loading Facility: A loading facility is permitted provided facilities are screened according
to Section 4.54.

H. Parking Facility: A parking facility is permitted provide such facilities are screened
according to Section 4.54.

I. Rooftop Use Standards:
1. Rooftop amenities such as pergolas, trellises and other similar items

are permitted on a rooftop, provided:
i. They are set back at least 5 feet from the eave line.

7A



ii. They are of sufficient weight or anchored to the building to resist
anticipated wind loads.

iii. They do not have full enclosures.
iv. They do not include eisenglass or similar enclosure materials.

2. Rooftop structures and amenities may not contain habitable space.

ORDAINED this ______ day of _________, 2023 to become effective 7 days after publication. 

____________________________ 
Therese Longe, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Alex Bingham, City Clerk 

7A



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 9, SECTION 9.02, DEFINITIONS, TO CREATE A DEFINITION FOR A CAFÉ 
USE. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 9: DEFINITIONS 

9.02 Definitions 

Café: an eating or drinking establishment where the business to consumer operation 
is predominantly through counter service provided for a combination of dine-in and 
carry-out, and does not offer full table service through a wait staff. 

ORDAINED this ______ day of _________, 2023 to become effective 7 days after publication. 

____________________________ 
Therese Longe, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Alex Bingham, City Clerk 

7A



 
MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 
 
DATE:  June 9th, 2023  
 
TO:  Planning Board Members 
 
FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
APPROVED:  Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Hearing - B1 Neighborhood Business Zoning Amendment Application  
 

The owner of 100 W. 14 Mile is applying to amend the Zoning Ordinance for the B1 Neighborhood 
Business District to enable additional uses. The additional uses being proposed include Health 
Club/ Studio, Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, Food & Beverage, and Fast Casual / Cafe. 
The applicant is the owner of the space where Grapevine Market used to be. The reason for 
requesting the zoning amendment is to provide additional tenant options.   

There are eight areas in the City of Birmingham with B1 Neighborhood Business designations. 
Photos and a map of these zones are attached following the memo. Such B1 locations with notable 
tenants include the following: 

1. Maple & Cranbrook (DFCU) 
2. Maple & Chesterfield (Mills Pharmacy, Holiday Market Select, etc) 
3. 151 N. Eton (Canelle Patisserie, Jets Pizza, Eton Market, etc) 
4. 256 S. Eton (Beauty Collective) 
5. 1213 Forest Hills Ln (Forest Hills Swim Club) 
6. Lincoln & Grant (MUCU, Ginger Ground for Hair, Ortiz Educare) 
7. 14 Mile & Southfield (Market Square, Birmingham Oil Change Center) 
8. 14 Mile & Pierce (Blue Canary Confections, former Grapevine Market) 

Study Session 1 – February 8th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes) 
City staff began by summarizing the intent of the B1 Neighborhood Business District, Article 2, 
Section 2.27(A) which states the following: 

The B1 (Neighborhood Business) District is established for the convenience of shopping 
for persons residing in adjacent residential areas to permit only such uses as are necessary 

7A



to satisfy those limited basic shopping and/or service needs which by their very nature 
are not related to the shopping pattern of the general business district. 

 
City staff then discussed the proposed uses in relation to the district intent of the B1 zone. It was 
brought up that bank was indirectly allowed through the definition of office, but adding it to the 
list of permitted uses would make it easier for users to understand the Zoning Ordinance. It was 
also discussed how staff had no concerns regarding specialty food store, or boutique. 
 
Given the wide variety of health club/studios, there was some concern regarding parking and 
fitness classes that could draw a large number of patrons for an hour session. Staff also discussed 
a potential new definition for cafés that limited the amount of indoor seating space. Doing so 
could help resolve issues for the city in having to make distinguishments between bakeries, food 
and drink establishments, and specialty food stores. 
 
The Planning Board requested maps of where each use is permitted, as well as comparisions of 
how other cities regulate such uses, particularly parking requirements for small restaurants and 
gyms. 
 
Study Session 2 – March 8th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes) 
City staff began the second study session by reviewing maps of where each use is permitted in 
the City in comparison to the B1 zone. Staff then reviewed other ways cities have regulated 
parking for smaller restaurants and fitness studios.   
 
There appeared to be general consensus from the Planning Board that they were amenable to 
allowing the proposed uses of bank, specialty food store, and boutique as permitted uses in the 
B1 zone. 
 
Upon discussion of creating terminology to enable smaller eating and drinking establishments, 
there was general consensus that adding “indoor dining” as an accessory permitted use would be 
beneficial. There was also general consensus that a new definition for Café should be reviewed. 
 
In regards to health club / studio, it was discussed how the dificulty in this use is distinguishing 
between a 5 person class vs a 40 person class. A SLUP could be useful in regulating the various 
uses in this category, however the application requirements are more cumbersome and could 
deter potential tennants from trying. 
 
Study Session 3 – April 17th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes) 
City staff added “indoor dining*” to the list of accessory uses for the B1 District. A proposed 
amendment to Article 5, Section 5.09, Use Specific Standards was also included to limit the space 
of indoor dining assembly area to 750 square feet for places where indoor dining may occur. For 
comparable spaces, Holiday Market has approximately 375 square feet of indoor dining space, 
and Canelle Patisserie has 500 square feet of indoor dining space.  
 
The applicant has proposed the addition of food and drink establishments to the B1 zone, however 
City staff is hesitant to include this use. There appeared to be a general consensus that this use 
incorporates a full service restaurant with a 1 parking space per 75 square feet parking 
requirement with a higher intensity of users.  
 

7A



City staff recommended that a lighter intensity food and drink category be created – this could 
be called a “café” which includes a small mix of carry-out and dine-in. Proposed regulations on 
the size of the indoor dining area would be associated with the café use. A parking amendment 
based on the size of the indoor dining area, and not the entire tenant space was proposed. Such 
changes to the Zoning Ordinance for Café use in the B1 zone were proposed as the following: 
 

Article 9, Section 9.02 Definitions: 
Cafe: an eating or drinking establishment where the business to consumer operation is 
predominantly through counter service provided for a combination of dine-in and carry-
out, and does not offer full table service through a wait staff. 
 
Article 5, Section 5.09 Use Specific Standards for the B1 District: 
Indoor dining: Indoor dining is permitted as an accessory use to a bakery, specialty food 
store, grocery store, and ccafé provided that the space for tables, seats, and patron 
circulation does not exceed 750 square feet. 

 
Article 4, Table A: Off-Street Parking Spaces 
Eating eatablishment – café use: 1 space per 75 square feet of indoor dining assembly 
area, plus 2 spaces for employees. 

In regards to health club/studio use, city staff mentioned that they are amenable to a SLUP for 
this use due to the variety of uses the category encompasses. An alternative to a SLUP could be 
to cap the amount of patrons for a fitness class through Use Specific Standards of Article 5.09, 
however this would be dificult to enforce. The Planning Board appeared amenable to exploring 
ways to allow small classes while prohibiting larger ones. 
 
Discussion from the Planning Board involved concern about banks in the B1 Zone and that the 
use of some banks appeared to be more like large offices. The Planning Board also discussed 
parking requirements for the proposed “café” as well as the new indoor dining accessory use. 
There was a discussion about 1 per 75 SF of assembly area + 2 spaces for employees vs. 1 per 
100 SF for the assembly area. No general consensus was reached at that time. Questions about 
calculating total parking when there is indoor dining within another use such as a grocery store 
was also raised.  
 
Study Session 4 – May 10th, 2023 (Agenda) 
In regards to adding “bank” to the list of commercial permitted uses, the purpose is to improve 
convenience for users reading the Zoning Ordinance due to the fact that banks are already 
allowed under the definition of Office. The Planning Division has not encountered issues with 
bank proposals in the B1 District. The applicant has indicated that if adding “bank” to the 
permitted uses is controversial then they are amenable to removing it in order to expedite the 
review process. Providing “Bank” in the list of permissible uses makes it easier for potential users 
to understand when reading the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Staff suggested adding health club/studio as a use requiring a Special Land Use Permit due to 
the variety of class sizes that the use entails. Creating a definition for personal training studio and 
potentially limiting the number of patrons was discussed, though upon review of other cities, 
attempting to regulate health club/studios in the B1 neighborhood business district presents a 
number of challenges. Staff wants to allow and promote small fitness businesses, however studios 

7A



with 40-50 people per class would not be appropriate for the district’s intent. The three possible 
avenues would be to either regulate the use with a SLUP, to regulate the size of the tenant space 
through use specific standards, or to regulate the number of patrons per session through use 
specific standards. A summary of each is below: 
 

1. SLUP – Would require a lengthier and more cumbersome application process for the 
tenant, however the Planning Board and City Commission would be able to review 
applications on a case-by-case basis and include any special conditions of approval to 
help make the use appropriate with surrounding uses. 

 
2. Regulate size – A number of cities allow “fitness studios” up to 1000 or 1500 SF to 

enable uses such as yoga and barre classes. Capping the size of the space limits the 
ability for a big box gym to move in. The issue is that placing a cap on the size of the 
studio does not prevent the tenant from hosting classes with a packed room of 40 or 
so people per hour. 
 

3. Regulate number of patrons – City staff have explored the idea of creating a “personal 
training” use category and writing a definition for smaller fitness classes that could be 
accompanied with a limit on the number of patrons in the use specific standards. Staff 
foresees a number of gray area issues with doing so - the biggest issue being 
enforcement. 

 
Upon review of alternative ways to allow health club/studio in the B1 District, and discussion with 
the applicant, staff recommended having the use within the SLUP requirement category. This 
would enable staff, the Planning Board, and City Commission to review applications on a case-
by-case basis and include special conditions of approval. Doing so could help filter out classes for 
5 clients vs. 40 clients. 
 
In regards to parking calculations and the newly proposed “Café” use, the applicant has indicated 
a desire for a 1 per 100 SF of assembly space requirement. Meanwhile the City standard for eating 
establishments has historically been 1 per 75 SF of gross floor area. At previous meetings, City 
staff cited other cities using 1 per 75 SF of assembly area + 2 for staff. Upon review, the Planning 
Board felt most comfortable with 1 per 75 SF of assembly area in order to be consistent with 
existing food and beverage parking calculations. 
 
Indoor dining as an accessory use has also been amended to consist of the assembly space for 
tables, seats, and patron circulation up to 50 percent of the tenant space, or 500 square feet, 
whichever is less. This way the indoor dining area is a function of the size of the space and cannot 
exceed one half of the tenant space, or 500 square feet, whichever is less. This enables indoor 
dining to remain an “accessory use”. 
 
Questions about calculating parking for bakery, grocery, or specialty food store uses with indoor 
dining have come up. City staff recommends that the calculation be based off of the principle 
use, which in the aforementioned cases would be 1 per 300 SF. “Indoor Dining” is listed as an 
accessory use and is limited in size in order to keep it accessory to the principle use, therefore 
staff does not recommend including both indoor dining calculations with the principle use for total 
parking calculations. It is of note that “Café” has it’s own parking category proposed to align with 

7A



its principle use, and would be calculated different than a grocery store or specialty food store 
with indoor seating.  
 
Suggested Action: 
Move to recommend to the City Commission APPROVAL of the proposed amendments to Article 
2, Section 2.27, Article 4, Section 4.46 Table A, Article 5, Section 5.09, and Article 9, Section 9.02 
for the B1 Neighborhood Business District to include Specialty Food Store, Boutique, Bank, and 
Café as permitted uses, to include Health Club/Studio as a use requiring a Special Land Use 
Permit, to include indoor dining as an accessory use limited up to 500 square feet, to create a 
definition for a Café use, and to create a parking ratio requirement for a Café use.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7A



M
ap

le

O
ak

Eton

Adams

Bates

B
ird

Li
nc

ol
n

Pierce

C
ol

e

Fairfax

Pilgrim

Torry

Vi
lla

Suffield

Henrietta

Puritan

R
ed

di
ng

Southfield

Fa
irw

ay

Ann

R
ay

na
le

Park

B
ro

w
n

Old W
oodward

Grant

S
m

ith

D
er

by

H
ol

la
nd

H
az

el

Lake Park

Lakeside

Chesterfield

Pleasant

Elm

W
ill

its

Q
ua

rto
n

Chester

Melton

P
em

br
ok

e

W
eb

st
er

A
bb

ey

M
id

va
le

Stanley

Larchlea

D
av

is

M
er

ril
l

Arlington

Purdy

H
ar

m
on

Glenhurst

Shipman

OxfordH
en

le
y

Yo
se

m
ite

Maryland

Sh
ef

fie
ld

Fr
an

k

W
im

bl
et

on

Taunton

B
ow

er
s

Argyle

H
ay

ne
s

H
an

na

Westwood

W
oo

dw
ar

d

Yo
rk

sh
ire

H
um

ph
re

y

Edgewood

Westchester

Cranbrook

M
ar

tin

M
ad

is
on

Coolidge

W
in

de
m

er
e

Washington

Watkins

Croft

M
an

ch
es

te
r

Birmingham

C
ha

pi
n

La
th

am

R
iv

en
oa

k

O
ak

la
nd

Aspen

Willow

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Cedar

Geo
rg

e

K
no

x

Baldwin

Fo
re

st

Av
on

B
ra

df
or

d

Poppleton

E
m

m
on

s
Linden

Rugby

D
or

ch
es

te
r

Greenwood

Warwick

Edenborough

Berwyn

R
uf

fn
er

Columbia

Vi
ne

w
oo

d

W
al

la
ce

P
en

is
to

ne

Worth

To
w

ns
en

d

P
in

e

M
oh

eg
an

C
at

al
pa

Cummings

Ba
nb

ur
y

K
en

ne
sa

w

Shirley

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Saint Andrews

R
id

ge
da

le

Ferndale

Hawthorne

N
or

th
la

w
n

Mansfield

C
he

st
nu

t

B
en

na
vi

lle

W
ak

ef
ie

ld

S
he

pa
rd

bu
sh

Lakeview

Wellesley

Brookwood

Hillside

N
or

fo
lk

Woodlea

Bryn MawrRad
no

r

To
tte

nh
am

Woodland

W
es

tb
or

o

Lewis

Eu
cli

d

Cambridge

Golfview

Clark

H
am

ilt
on

Kimberley

Ravin
e

Lyonhurst

Floyd

Fa
irv

ie
w

Da
in

es

La
nd

on

P
ut

ne
y

R
an

da
ll

Brookside

D
ev

on

S
ou

th
la

w
nC

ol
on

ia
l

Oakdale

Arden

Midland

14
 M

ile

Tooting

G
or

do
n

Greenlawn

Rosedale

W
in

th
ro

p

C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Graten

Cherry

W
or

th
in

gt
on

Hanley

Polo

D
ew

ey

K
en

w
oo

d

M
el

bo
ur

ne

Stra
thm

or
e

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

R
iv

er
si

de

Donmar

Millrace

Br
an

do
n

Maple Hill

Merritt

B
lo

om
fie

ld

As
hf

or
d

H
illt

op

Hazelwood

Lawndale

Commerce

Che
lte

nh
am

Old Salem

Bonnie Brier

Norw
ich

B
ig

 B
ea

ve
r

Valley View

Pa
lm

er

Warren

C
ar

ro
llw

oo
d

Forest Hills

Brookdale

Waterfall

H
ay

ne
s

Eton

H
az

el

N
or

th
la

w
n

Golfview

B
en

na
vi

lle

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Waterfall

B
ow

er
s

S
ou

th
la

w
n

E
m

m
on

s

No
rth

la
wn

Shirley

Floyd

P
in

e

Yo
rk

sh
ire

Baldwin

Arden

Stanley

Lakeside

H
um

ph
re

y

C
ha

pi
n

M
an

ch
es

te
r

B
ow

er
s

Worth

Poppleton

Fr
an

k

S
ou

th
la

w
n

Woodward

Vi
lla

Cranbrook

Haz
el

D
or

ch
es

te
r

B
en

na
vi

lle

Woodward
Woodward

R
uf

fn
er

Oa
kla

nd

Glenhurst

Oakdale

B1
 - 

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Bu

si
ne

ss
 Z

on
es

B1
 N

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

Bu
si

ne
ss

 Z
on

e

7A



M
ap

le

O
ak

Eton

Adams

Bates

B
ird

Li
nc

ol
n

Pierce

C
ol

e

Fairfax

Pilgrim

Torry

Vi
lla

Suffield

Henrietta

Puritan

R
ed

di
ng

Southfield

Fa
irw

ay

Ann

R
ay

na
le

Park

B
ro

w
n

Old W
oodward

Grant

S
m

ith

D
er

by

H
ol

la
nd

H
az

el

Lake Park

Lakeside

Chesterfield

Pleasant

Elm

W
ill

its

Q
ua

rto
n

Chester

Melton

P
em

br
ok

e

W
eb

st
er

A
bb

ey

M
id

va
le

Stanley

Larchlea

D
av

is

M
er

ril
l

Arlington

Purdy

H
ar

m
on

Glenhurst

Shipman

OxfordH
en

le
y

Yo
se

m
ite

Maryland

Sh
ef

fie
ld

Fr
an

k

W
im

bl
et

on

Taunton

B
ow

er
s

Argyle

H
ay

ne
s

H
an

na

Westwood

W
oo

dw
ar

d

Yo
rk

sh
ire

H
um

ph
re

y

Edgewood

Westchester

Cranbrook

M
ar

tin

M
ad

is
on

Coolidge

W
in

de
m

er
e

Washington

Watkins

Croft

M
an

ch
es

te
r

Birmingham

C
ha

pi
n

La
th

am

R
iv

en
oa

k

O
ak

la
nd

Aspen

Willow

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Cedar

Geo
rg

e

K
no

x

Baldwin

Fo
re

st

Av
on

B
ra

df
or

d

Poppleton

E
m

m
on

s

Linden

Rugby

D
or

ch
es

te
r

Greenwood

Warwick

Edenborough

Berwyn

R
uf

fn
er

Columbia

Vi
ne

w
oo

d

W
al

la
ce

P
en

is
to

ne

Worth

To
w

ns
en

d

P
in

e

M
oh

eg
an

C
at

al
pa

Cummings

Ba
nb

ur
y

K
en

ne
sa

w

Shirley

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Saint Andrews

R
id

ge
da

le

Ferndale

Hawthorne

N
or

th
la

w
n

Mansfield

C
he

st
nu

t

B
en

na
vi

lle

W
ak

ef
ie

ld

S
he

pa
rd

bu
sh

Lakeview

Wellesley

Brookwood

Hillside

N
or

fo
lk

Woodlea

Bryn MawrRad
no

r

To
tte

nh
am

Woodland

W
es

tb
or

o

Lewis

Eu
cli

d

Cambridge

Golfview

Clark

H
am

ilt
on

Kimberley

Ravin
e

Lyonhurst

Floyd

Fa
irv

ie
w

Da
in

es

La
nd

on

P
ut

ne
y

R
an

da
ll

Brookside

D
ev

on

S
ou

th
la

w
nC

ol
on

ia
l

Oakdale

Arden

Midland

14
 M

ile

Tooting

G
or

do
n

Greenlawn

Rosedale

Aten

W
in

th
ro

p

C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Graten

Cherry

W
or

th
in

gt
on

Hanley

Polo

D
ew

ey

K
en

w
oo

d

M
el

bo
ur

ne

Stra
thm

or
e

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

R
iv

er
si

de

Donmar

Millrace

Br
an

do
n

Maple Hill

Merritt

B
lo

om
fie

ld

As
hf

or
d

H
illt

op

Hazelwood

Lawndale

Commerce

Che
lte

nh
am

Old Salem

Bonnie Brier

Norw
ich

B
ig

 B
ea

ve
r

Valley View

Pa
lm

er

Warren

C
ar

ro
llw

oo
d

Forest Hills

Brookdale

Waterfall

H
ay

ne
s

Eton

H
az

el

N
or

th
la

w
n

Golfview

B
en

na
vi

lle

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

B
ow

er
s

S
ou

th
la

w
n

E
m

m
on

s

No
rth

la
wn

Shirley

Floyd

P
in

e

Yo
rk

sh
ire

Baldwin

Arden

Stanley

Lakeside

H
um

ph
re

y

C
ha

pi
n

M
an

ch
es

te
r

B
ow

er
s

Worth

Poppleton

Fr
an

k

S
ou

th
la

w
n

Woodward

Vi
lla

Cranbrook

Haz
el

D
or

ch
es

te
r

B
en

na
vi

lle

Woodward
Woodward

R
uf

fn
er

Oa
kla

nd

Glenhurst

Oakdale

Fo
od

 o
r D

rin
k 

Es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t U
se

B1
 Z

on
e 

- N
ot

 P
er

m
itt

ed

Fo
od

 &
 D

rin
k 

U
se

 Z
on

es
 - 

Pe
rm

itt
ed

 (B
2,

 B
2B

, B
3,

 B
4,

 M
X)

Fo
od

 &
 D

rin
k 

U
se

 Z
on

es
 - 

S
LU

P 
(O

2,
 T

Z3
)

7A



M
ap

le

O
ak

Eton

Adams

Bates

B
ird

Li
nc

ol
n

Pierce

C
ol

e

Fairfax

Pilgrim

Torry

Vi
lla

Suffield

Henrietta

Puritan

R
ed

di
ng

Southfield

Fa
irw

ay

Ann

R
ay

na
le

Park

B
ro

w
n

Old W
oodward

Grant

S
m

ith

D
er

by H
ol

la
nd

H
az

el

Lake Park

Lakeside

Chesterfield

Pleasant

Elm

W
ill

its

Q
ua

rto
n

Chester

Melton

P
em

br
ok

e

W
eb

st
er

A
bb

ey

M
id

va
le

Stanley

Larchlea

D
av

is

M
er

ril
l

Arlington

Purdy

H
ar

m
on

Glenhurst

Shipman

OxfordH
en

le
y

Yo
se

m
ite

Maryland

Sh
ef

fie
ld

Fr
an

k

W
im

bl
et

on

Taunton

B
ow

er
s

Argyle

H
ay

ne
s

H
an

na

Westwood

W
oo

dw
ar

d

Yo
rk

sh
ire

H
um

ph
re

y

Edgewood

Westchester

Cranbrook

M
ar

tin

M
ad

is
on

Coolidge

W
in

de
m

er
e

Washington

Watkins

Croft

M
an

ch
es

te
r

Birmingham

C
ha

pi
n

La
th

am

R
iv

en
oa

k

O
ak

la
nd

Aspen

Willow

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Cedar

Geo
rg

e

K
no

x

Baldwin

Fo
re

st

Av
on

B
ra

df
or

d

Poppleton

E
m

m
on

s
Linden

Rugby

D
or

ch
es

te
r

Greenwood

Warwick

Edenborough

Berwyn

R
uf

fn
er

Columbia

Vi
ne

w
oo

d

W
al

la
ce

P
en

is
to

ne

Worth

To
w

ns
en

d

P
in

e

M
oh

eg
an

C
at

al
pa

Cummings

Ba
nb

ur
y

K
en

ne
sa

w

Shirley

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Saint Andrews

R
id

ge
da

le

Ferndale

Hawthorne

N
or

th
la

w
n

Mansfield

C
he

st
nu

t

B
en

na
vi

lle

W
ak

ef
ie

ld

S
he

pa
rd

bu
sh

Lakeview

Wellesley

Brookwood

Hillside

N
or

fo
lk

Woodlea

Bryn MawrRad
no

r

To
tte

nh
am

Woodland

W
es

tb
or

o

Lewis

Eu
cli

d

Cambridge

Golfview

Clark

H
am

ilt
on

Kimberley

Ravin
e

Lyonhurst

Floyd
Fa

irv
ie

w

Da
in

es

La
nd

on

P
ut

ne
y

R
an

da
ll

Brookside

D
ev

on

S
ou

th
la

w
nC

ol
on

ia
l

Oakdale

Arden

Midland

14
 M

ile

Tooting

G
or

do
n

Greenlawn

Rosedale

W
in

th
ro

p

C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Graten

Cherry

W
or

th
in

gt
on

Hanley

Polo

D
ew

ey

K
en

w
oo

d M
el

bo
ur

ne

Stra
thm

or
e

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

R
iv

er
si

de

Donmar

Millrace

Br
an

do
n

Maple Hill

Merritt

B
lo

om
fie

ld

As
hf

or
d

H
illt

op

Hazelwood

Lawndale

Commerce

Che
lte

nh
am

Old Salem

Bonnie Brier

Norw
ich

B
ig

 B
ea

ve
r

Valley View

Pa
lm

er

Warren

C
ar

ro
llw

oo
d

Forest Hills

Brookdale

Waterfall

H
ay

ne
s

Eton

H
az

el

N
or

th
la

w
n

Golfview

B
en

na
vi

lle

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Waterfall

B
ow

er
s

S
ou

th
la

w
n

E
m

m
on

s

No
rth

la
wn

Shirley

Floyd

P
in

e

Yo
rk

sh
ire

Baldwin

Arden

Stanley

Lakeside

H
um

ph
re

y

C
ha

pi
n

M
an

ch
es

te
r

B
ow

er
s

Worth

Poppleton

Fr
an

k

S
ou

th
la

w
n

Woodward

Vi
lla

Cranbrook

Haz
el

D
or

ch
es

te
r

B
en

na
vi

lle

Woodward
Woodward

R
uf

fn
er

Oa
kla

nd

Glenhurst

Oakdale

H
ea

lth
 C

lu
b 

/ S
tu

di
o 

U
se

H
ea

lth
 C

lu
b 

/ S
tu

di
o 

Zo
ne

s 
- P

er
m

itt
ed

 (B
3,

 M
X

, T
Z3

)

H
ea

lth
 C

lu
b 

/ S
tu

di
o 

Tr
ia

ng
le

 O
ve

rla
y 

- P
er

m
itt

ed
 (M

U
3,

 M
U

5,
 M

U
7)

B1
 Z

on
e 

- N
ot

 P
er

m
itt

ed

7A



M
ap

le

O
ak

Eton

Adams

Bates

B
ird

Li
nc

ol
n

Pierce

C
ol

e

Fairfax

Pilgrim

Torry

Vi
lla

Suffield

Henrietta

Puritan

R
ed

di
ng

Southfield

Fa
irw

ay

Ann

R
ay

na
le

Park

B
ro

w
n

Old W
oodward

Grant

S
m

ith

D
er

by H
ol

la
nd

H
az

el

Lake Park

Lakeside

Chesterfield

Pleasant

Elm

W
ill

its

Q
ua

rto
n

Chester

Melton

P
em

br
ok

e

W
eb

st
er

A
bb

ey

M
id

va
le

Stanley

Larchlea

D
av

is

M
er

ril
l

Arlington

Purdy

H
ar

m
on

Glenhurst

Shipman

OxfordH
en

le
y

Yo
se

m
ite

Maryland

Sh
ef

fie
ld

Fr
an

k

W
im

bl
et

on

Taunton

B
ow

er
s

Argyle

H
ay

ne
s

H
an

na

Westwood

W
oo

dw
ar

d

Yo
rk

sh
ire

H
um

ph
re

y

Edgewood

Westchester

Cranbrook

M
ar

tin

M
ad

is
on

Coolidge

W
in

de
m

er
e

Washington

Watkins

Croft

M
an

ch
es

te
r

Birmingham

C
ha

pi
n

La
th

am

R
iv

en
oa

k

O
ak

la
nd

Aspen

Willow

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Cedar

Geo
rg

e

K
no

x

Baldwin

Fo
re

st

Av
on

B
ra

df
or

d

Poppleton

E
m

m
on

s
Linden

Rugby

D
or

ch
es

te
r

Greenwood

Warwick

Edenborough

Berwyn

R
uf

fn
er

Columbia

Vi
ne

w
oo

d

W
al

la
ce

P
en

is
to

ne

Worth

To
w

ns
en

d

P
in

e

M
oh

eg
an

C
at

al
pa

Cummings

Ba
nb

ur
y

K
en

ne
sa

w

Shirley

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Saint Andrews

R
id

ge
da

le

Ferndale

Hawthorne

N
or

th
la

w
n

Mansfield

C
he

st
nu

t

B
en

na
vi

lle

W
ak

ef
ie

ld

S
he

pa
rd

bu
sh

Lakeview

Wellesley

Brookwood

Hillside

N
or

fo
lk

Woodlea

Bryn MawrRad
no

r

To
tte

nh
am

Woodland

W
es

tb
or

o

Lewis

Eu
cli

d

Cambridge

Golfview

Clark

H
am

ilt
on

Kimberley

Ravin
e

Lyonhurst

Floyd
Fa

irv
ie

w

Da
in

es

La
nd

on

P
ut

ne
y

R
an

da
ll

Brookside

D
ev

on

S
ou

th
la

w
nC

ol
on

ia
l

Oakdale

Arden

Midland

14
 M

ile

Tooting

G
or

do
n

Greenlawn

Rosedale

W
in

th
ro

p

C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Graten

Cherry

W
or

th
in

gt
on

Hanley

Polo

D
ew

ey

K
en

w
oo

d M
el

bo
ur

ne

Stra
thm

or
e

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

R
iv

er
si

de

Donmar

Millrace

Br
an

do
n

Maple Hill

Merritt

B
lo

om
fie

ld

As
hf

or
d

H
illt

op

Hazelwood

Lawndale

Commerce

Che
lte

nh
am

Old Salem

Bonnie Brier

Norw
ich

B
ig

 B
ea

ve
r

Valley View

Pa
lm

er

Warren

C
ar

ro
llw

oo
d

Forest Hills

Brookdale

Waterfall

H
ay

ne
s

Eton

H
az

el

N
or

th
la

w
n

Golfview

B
en

na
vi

lle

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Waterfall

B
ow

er
s

S
ou

th
la

w
n

E
m

m
on

s

No
rth

la
wn

Shirley

Floyd

P
in

e

Yo
rk

sh
ire

Baldwin

Arden

Stanley

Lakeside

H
um

ph
re

y

C
ha

pi
n

M
an

ch
es

te
r

B
ow

er
s

Worth

Poppleton

Fr
an

k

S
ou

th
la

w
n

Woodward

Vi
lla

Cranbrook

Haz
el

D
or

ch
es

te
r

B
en

na
vi

lle

Woodward
Woodward

R
uf

fn
er

Oa
kla

nd

Glenhurst

Oakdale

Sp
ec

ia
lty

 F
oo

ds
 S

to
re

s
Sp

ec
ia

lty
 F

oo
d 

St
or

e 
- P

er
m

itt
ed

 (O
2,

 M
X

)

Sp
ec

ia
lty

 F
oo

d 
St

or
e 

- S
LU

P 
(T

Z3
)

B1
 Z

on
e 

- N
ot

 P
er

m
itt

ed

7A



M
ap

le

O
ak

Eton

Adams

Bates

B
ird

Li
nc

ol
n

Pierce

C
ol

e

Fairfax

Pilgrim

Torry

Vi
lla

Suffield

Henrietta

Puritan

R
ed

di
ng

Southfield

Fa
irw

ay

Ann

R
ay

na
le

Park

B
ro

w
n

Old W
oodward

Grant

S
m

ith

D
er

by H
ol

la
nd

H
az

el

Lake Park

Lakeside

Chesterfield

Pleasant

Elm

W
ill

its

Q
ua

rto
n

Chester

Melton

P
em

br
ok

e

W
eb

st
er

A
bb

ey

M
id

va
le

Stanley

Larchlea

D
av

is

M
er

ril
l

Arlington

Purdy

H
ar

m
on

Glenhurst

Shipman

OxfordH
en

le
y

Yo
se

m
ite

Maryland

Sh
ef

fie
ld

Fr
an

k

W
im

bl
et

on

Taunton

B
ow

er
s

Argyle

H
ay

ne
s

H
an

na

Westwood

W
oo

dw
ar

d

Yo
rk

sh
ire

H
um

ph
re

y

Edgewood

Westchester

Cranbrook

M
ar

tin

M
ad

is
on

Coolidge

W
in

de
m

er
e

Washington

Watkins

Croft

M
an

ch
es

te
r

Birmingham

C
ha

pi
n

La
th

am

R
iv

en
oa

k

O
ak

la
nd

Aspen

Willow

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Cedar

Geo
rg

e

K
no

x

Baldwin

Fo
re

st

Av
on

B
ra

df
or

d

Poppleton

E
m

m
on

s
Linden

Rugby

D
or

ch
es

te
r

Greenwood

Warwick

Edenborough

Berwyn

R
uf

fn
er

Columbia

Vi
ne

w
oo

d

W
al

la
ce

P
en

is
to

ne

Worth

To
w

ns
en

d

P
in

e

M
oh

eg
an

C
at

al
pa

Cummings

Ba
nb

ur
y

K
en

ne
sa

w

Shirley

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Saint Andrews

R
id

ge
da

le

Ferndale

Hawthorne

N
or

th
la

w
n

Mansfield

C
he

st
nu

t

B
en

na
vi

lle

W
ak

ef
ie

ld

S
he

pa
rd

bu
sh

Lakeview

Wellesley

Brookwood

Hillside

N
or

fo
lk

Woodlea

Bryn MawrRad
no

r

To
tte

nh
am

Woodland

W
es

tb
or

o

Lewis

Eu
cli

d

Cambridge

Golfview

Clark

H
am

ilt
on

Kimberley

Ravin
e

Lyonhurst

Floyd
Fa

irv
ie

w

Da
in

es

La
nd

on

P
ut

ne
y

R
an

da
ll

Brookside

D
ev

on

S
ou

th
la

w
nC

ol
on

ia
l

Oakdale

Arden

Midland

14
 M

ile

Tooting

G
or

do
n

Greenlawn

Rosedale

W
in

th
ro

p

C
an

te
rb

ur
y

Graten

Cherry

W
or

th
in

gt
on

Hanley

Polo

D
ew

ey

K
en

w
oo

d M
el

bo
ur

ne

Stra
thm

or
e

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

R
iv

er
si

de

Donmar

Millrace

Br
an

do
n

Maple Hill

Merritt

B
lo

om
fie

ld

As
hf

or
d

H
illt

op

Hazelwood

Lawndale

Commerce

Che
lte

nh
am

Old Salem

Bonnie Brier

Norw
ich

B
ig

 B
ea

ve
r

Valley View

Pa
lm

er

Warren

C
ar

ro
llw

oo
d

Forest Hills

Brookdale

Waterfall

H
ay

ne
s

Eton

H
az

el

N
or

th
la

w
n

Golfview

B
en

na
vi

lle

B
uc

ki
ng

ha
m

Waterfall

B
ow

er
s

S
ou

th
la

w
n

E
m

m
on

s

No
rth

la
wn

Shirley

Floyd

P
in

e

Yo
rk

sh
ire

Baldwin

Arden

Stanley

Lakeside

H
um

ph
re

y

C
ha

pi
n

M
an

ch
es

te
r

B
ow

er
s

Worth

Poppleton

Fr
an

k

S
ou

th
la

w
n

Woodward

Vi
lla

Cranbrook

Haz
el

D
or

ch
es

te
r

B
en

na
vi

lle

Woodward
Woodward

R
uf

fn
er

Oa
kla

nd

Glenhurst

Oakdale

Bo
ut

iq
ue

 U
se

Bo
ut

iq
ue

 - 
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 (O

2,
 M

X
)

Bo
ut

iq
ue

 - 
SL

U
P 

(T
Z3

)

B1
 Z

on
e 

- N
ot

 P
er

m
itt

ed

7A



3 04/28/2021 PRELMINARY DESIGN (SEATING)

N
O

TE
:  

D
R

AW
IN

G
S 

AR
E 

FO
R

D
ES

IG
N

 P
U

R
PO

SE
S 

O
N

LY
, S

EE
AR

C
H

IT
EC

T 
AN

D
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
S

D
R

AW
IN

G
S 

FO
R

 N
O

TE
S

D
IM

EN
SI

O
N

S 
AN

D
 D

ET
AI

LS
 (T

YP
.)

N
O

TE
:  

D
IM

EN
SI

O
N

S 
AR

E 
FO

R
D

ES
IG

N
 P

U
R

PO
SE

S 
O

N
LY

 (V
.I.

F.
)

SE
E 

AR
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
AL

 D
R

AW
IN

G
S.

VE
R

IF
Y 

EQ
U

IP
 S

IZ
ES

 B
EF

O
R

E
ST

AR
TI

N
G

 A
N

Y 
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

N
O

TE
: C

EI
LI

N
G

 H
EI

G
H

TS
 A

R
E

BA
SE

D
 O

N
 A

N
 A

SS
U

M
ED

 1
0'

-6
".

D
IM

EN
SI

O
N

S 
TO

 B
E 

VE
R

IF
IE

D
.  

IF
D

IF
FE

R
EN

T 
C

O
N

TA
C

T 
ST

U
D

IO
H

2G
   

(T
YP

.)

N
O

TE
:  

EQ
U

IP
M

EN
T 

SH
O

W
N

 IS
FO

R
 D

ES
IG

N
 IN

TE
N

T 
O

N
LY

.
C

O
O

R
D

IN
AT

E 
AL

L 
EQ

U
IP

M
EN

T
W

IT
H

 A
R

C
H

IT
EC

T 
AN

D
EQ

U
IP

M
EN

T 
SU

PP
LI

ER
. (

TY
P.

)

FL
O

O
R

 P
LA

N
N

.T
.S

. (
N

O
T

 T
O

 S
C

A
LE

)

PA
T

T
E

R
N

E
D

 A
R

E
A

 
IN

D
IC

AT
E

S
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 

B
A

K
E

R
Y

B
A

K
E

R
Y

 C
A

S
H

W
R

A
P

B
A

K
E

R
Y

B
A

K
E

R
Y

 E
N

T
R

Y

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 B

A
K

E
R

Y
 

S
IG

N
A

G
E

B
A

K
E

R
Y

 S
IG

N
A

G
E

B
A

K
E

R
Y

 S
IG

N
A

G
E

S
LI

D
IN

G
 D

O
O

R
 

PA
N

E
LS

S
LI

D
IN

G
 D

O
O

R
 

PA
N

E
L

G
R

O
C

E
R

Y
 E

N
T

R
Y

B
.O

.H
.

G
R

O
C

E
R

Y

G
R

O
C

E
R

Y

G
R

O
C

E
R

Y
E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 B
A

K
E

R
Y

 
S

IG
N

A
G

E

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 

G
R

O
C

E
R

Y
 S

IG
N

A
G

E

B
.O

.H
.

BAKERY 
GRAB N GO

IC
E

 C
R

E
A

M

7A

37
7.

66
 s

f



A

Re
vi

si
on

/Is
su

e
D

at
e

3300 AUBURN RD. SUITE 300
AUBURN HILLS, MI 48326

T:248.601.4422 F:248.453.5854

WWW.DESIGNHAUS.COM
INFO@DESIGNHAUS.COMARCHITECTURE

---
-

---
-

Re
vi

si
on

 #
1

Pe
rm

its
08

.2
0.

21

10
.2

0.
21

---
-

---
-

Birmingham, MI 48009
159 N. Eton St.

---
-

---
-

---
-

---
-

---
-

---
-

---
-

---
-

EX
IS

TI
N

G
LO

BB
Y

10
2

KI
TC

H
EN

10
3

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 

TO
IL

ET
 

10
4

C
U

ST
O

M
ER

LO
BB

Y
10

1

KI
TC

H
EN

10
3

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 

TO
IL

ET
 

10
4

C
U

ST
O

M
ER

LO
BB

Y
10

1

A
A

A

5

3

2

2 4

1

4
6

6

6

3

10
4A

10
1A

EX
IS

TI
N

G
BA

C
KR

O
O

M
10

6

EX
IS

TI
N

G
BA

C
KR

O
O

M
10

6

1

A1
.2

N
O

R
TH

S
C

A
LE

: 1
/4

" =
 1

'
1

N
O

R
TH

S
C

A
LE

: 1
/4

" =
 1

'
2

EX
IS

TI
N

G
SE

RV
IC

E 
C

O
N

TE
R 

10
7

EX
IS

TI
N

G
AR

EA
 

10
8

EX
IS

TI
N

G
TO

IL
ET

 
10

9

EX
IS

TI
N

G
SE

RV
IC

E 
C

O
N

TE
R 

10
7

EX
IS

TI
N

G
AR

EA
 

10
8

EX
IS

TI
N

G
TO

IL
ET

 
10

9

7A

50
3.

96
 s

f



Michael R. Vogt 
T (248) 530-6335 
F (248) 530-9173 
Email:MVogt@ClarkHill.com 

Clark Hill PLC 
151 S. Old Woodward Ave., Ste 200 
Birmingham, MI 48009 
T (248) 642-9692  
F (248) 530-9173 

L5709\454531\270146115.v1

February 3, 2023 

VIA HAND DELIVERY 

Birmingham City Commission 
151 Martin St.  
Birmingham, MI 48009 

Re: Application for Zoning Ordinance Change to Expand Permitted 
Uses Within B-1 Zoning District 

To Whom It May Concern: 

Clark Hill PLC is legal counsel to Mura, LLC (“Mura”), who is the owner of the 
commercial development located at 100 W 14 Mile Rd., Birmingham, MI 48009. 
Mura is seeking to amend the City’s Zoning Ordinance to expand the list of 
permitted uses in the B-1 (Neighborhood Business) Zoning District as stated in 
Section 2.27(B). On behalf of Mura, we respectfully ask that the enclosed 
Application be reviewed by the City’s planning department and placed on the City 
Commission’s agenda for consideration at the first available date. 

Attached as Exhibit A to this letter is the proposed amendment to Section 
2.27B(3), which would add the following low-intensity neighborhood uses to the list 
of permitted commercial uses in the B-1 district: 

a. Health Club/Studio
b. Specialty Food Store
c. Boutique
d. Bank
e. Food or drink establishment
f. Fast casual/cafe

Each of these commercial uses would bring desired goods and services to 
Birmingham neighborhoods, furthering the stated intent of the B-1 zoning district to 
provide “convenience of shopping for residing in adjacent residential areas to 

7A



Page 2 

L5709\454531\270146115.v1

permit only such uses as are necessary to satisfy those limited basic shopping 
and/or service needs which by their very nature are not related to the shopping 
pattern of the general business district.”   Further, the addition of these similar 
commercial uses to Section 2.27(B)(3) will broaden the market for potential tenants 
at all B-1 properties, thereby increasing the variety of businesses that citizens have 
access to in their neighborhoods, and decreasing the risk that properties sit vacant 
for extended periods between tenancies. 

The City’s Zoning Map provides for only eight B-1 properties/areas in the City 
and those areas are relatively small in geographic footprint. Attached as Exhibit B 
is a list of the eight B-1 properties/areas on the Zoning Map and the businesses 
that currently operate thereon (according to Google).  A review of Exhibit B reveals 
that the five proposed additional uses in Exhibit A are similar in nature and intensity 
to the businesses currently operating on B-1 properties.  In fact, Exhibit B shows 
that two credit unions and a bank already operate harmoniously on B-1 property 
even though banks are neither permitted by right nor special land use approval in 
the B-1 district.  There are also existing restaurants (Jet’s Pizza) and businesses 
similar in use characteristics to health clubs/studios like dance studios and Forest 
Hills Swim Club.  Accordingly, the addition of the proposed uses listed on Exhibit A 
will have no negative impact on properties adjacent to B-1 districts, but will provide 
a material benefit to B-1 property owners, and increase the convenience for the 
neighborhood residents who rely on these small businesses. 

In conclusion, we respectfully request that the above analysis and the 
attached supporting materials be considered by the City Commission, and Mura’s 
Application to modify the list of permitted commercial uses in Section 2.27(B)(3) be 
approved.  On behalf of Mura, we thank you in advance for your timely attention to 
this Application and look forward to working with the City throughout the approval 
process. 

Sincerely, 

CLARK HILL PLC 

/s/ Michael R. Vogt 

Michael R. Vogt 

7A



7A



 

 

2.27 B1 (Neighborhood Business) District Intent, Permitted Uses, and Special 
Uses  

A. District Intent 
1. The B1 (Neighborhood Business) District is established for the convenience of shopping for persons 

residing in adjacent residential areas to permit only such uses as are necessary to satisfy those 
limited basic shopping and/or service needs which by their very nature are not related to the 
shopping pattern of the general business district. 

B. Permitted Uses 
1. Institutional Permitted Uses 

a. community center 
b. government office 
c. government use 
d. religious institution 
e. school - private 
f. school - public 
g. social club 

2. Recreational Permitted Uses 
a. recreational club 
b. swimming pool – semiprivate 

3. Commercial Permitted Uses 
a. bakery 
b. barber shop/beauty salon 
c. drugstore 
d. dry cleaning 
e. grocery store 
f. hardware store 
g. neighborhood convenience store 
h. office 
i. shoe store/shoe repair 
j. tailor 
k. Health Club/Studio 
l. Specialty Food Store 
m. Boutique 
j.n. Bank 
o. Food or drink establishment 
p. Fast casual/café  

 
4. Other Permitted Uses 

a. utility substation 
C. Other Use Regulations 

1. Accessory Permitted Uses 

7A



 

 

a. alcoholic beverage sales* 
b. kennel* 
c. laboratory - medical/dental* 
d. loading facility - off-street* 
e. outdoor cafe 
f. outdoor display* 
g. parking facility - off-street* 
h. sign 

2. Uses Requiring a Special Land Use Permit 
a. alcoholic beverage sales (off-premise consumption) 
b. alcoholic beverage sales (on-premise consumption) 
c. child care center 
d. continued care retirement community 
e. independent hospice facility 
f. drive-in facility* 
g. gasoline full service station* 
h. skilled nursing facility 

* = Use Specific Standards in Section 5.09 Apply 

( ) = Subject to Regulations of the Specified District 

 

7A



7A



7A



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

July 18th, 2023 

Jana Ecker, City Manager 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 

, Engineering D

S. Eton Resurfacing Design

INTRODUCTION: 
S. Eton from Yosemite to 14 Mile is scheduled for resurfacing in 2024, therefore the Multi-Modal
Transportation Board (MMTB) has considered design alternatives to promote multi-modal
amenities for all users. The 2024 approved budget considers funding for the project within the
existing curb widths. Any realignment of the existing curbs will require approval of state grant
funding or reallocation of the City’s budget.

Upon review, the MMTB has recommended that the section of S. Eton between Lincoln Ave and 
Yosemite be designed with bike lanes on each side of the road, on-street parking on the eastern 
Rail District side, pedestrian bumpouts reducing crossing distance at intersections, and additional 
safety signage to improve crossing safety. This design aligns with what exists on N. Eton between 
Yorkshire and Derby and is consistent with the City’s existing bike lane and pedestrian bumpout 
designs. 

The MMTB also recommended that S. Eton between 14 Mile and Lincoln Ave be designed with 
widened curbs for designated bike lanes in the public right-of-way on each side of the road, on- 
street parking on the west side of the road, pedestrian bumpouts, and additional pedestrian safety 
signage. There was also support from the MMTB to pursue enhancements from Villa to Maple to 
improve safety and connectivity at the intersection of S. Eton and Maple. Both of the 
recommendations for S. Eton between Lincoln to 14 Mile and Villa to Maple are contingent upon 
approval of a TAP grant or reallocation of the City’s budget and Capital Improvement Fund. 

BACKGROUND: 
On July 11th, 2011, the City adopted a resolution in support of a complete streets policy encouraging 
safe transportation design for all users. The resolution concludes with the following: 

7B



2 

“Now, therefore, be it resolved, that the City of Birmingham City Commission 
hereby declares its support of complete streets policies and further directs City 
staff to develop a set of proposed policies and procedures to implement Complete 
Streets practices to make the City more accommodating to all modes of travel, 
including walkers, bicyclists and transit riders, of all ages and abilities.” 

The S. Eton Corridor has been the topic of a number of studies related to land use and 
transportation given that S. Eton Road divides single family residential neighborhoods from the 
Rail District and Kenning Park. The Eton Road Coridor Plan (1999) states that the area (Rail 
District) will be a mixed use corridor with a range of commercial, service, light industrial and 
residential uses that serve the needs of the residents of Birmingham. The plan acknowledges 
Eton Road as an important link in a regional urban bike route system and recommends a 
designated bike lane (pg. 38). 

In 2013, the City approved the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (MMTP) which goes into more 
detail regarding recommendations to enhance pedestrian safety and multi-modal connectivity for 
the corridor. The Multi-Modal Transportation Plan recommends curb extensions along S. Eton to 
reduce the pedestrian crossing distance and high visibility crosswalks to increase driver awareness 
of such crosswalks (pg. 51-53). 

The Multi-Modal Transportation Plan also recommends a buffered bike lane on the west side of 
S. Eton between Lincoln and Maple with sharrows on S. Eton between Lincoln and 14 Mile (pg.
56-59). For long term considerations, the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan comments that
eventually, bike lanes should be added to all arterial and collector roadways (pg. 54), and that
the City may wish to extend its designated bike lanes in place of shared lane markings during
reconstruction, stating the following (pg 108):

With time, as bicycle levels increase there may be a desire to add a 
designated bike lane in place of shared lane markings. For many of the 
roadways this would mean removing on-street parking or widening the 
roadway. Where the removal of on-street parking is not an option or not 
desired, the cost to add bike lanes to the roadway independent of a road 
reconstruction project would be significant. Thus, to maximize the 
impact of finite resources bicycle lanes should be implemented when the 
road is completely reconstructed. 

In 2016, the City created the Ad-Hoc Rail District Committee which was tasked with 
recommending an attractive streetscape that creates a walkable environment designed for the 
safety, comfort, convenience, and enjoyment for all modes of transportation throughout the 
corridor. The recommendations of the Ad-Hoc Rail District Committee Plan recommended 
improving pedestrian crossings with bump-outs and better crosswalks along S. Eton. The 
Committee placed a greater emphasis on enhancing pedestrian crossing near Hazel St. instead of 
Villa as the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan does. The Committee also recommended concepts 
with the addition of bike lanes or sharrows to S. Eton from Yosemite to 14 Mile. 

In 2019, parking on the west side of S. Eton, north of Lincoln Ave was removed and temporary 
road striping with bollards was placed as a trial along S. Eton as an effort to reduce crosswalk 
distance, provide a protected bike lane, and narrow the street to reduce vehicular speeds. The 
temporary striping and bollards aligned with the short term recommendations of the Multi-Modal 

7B



3 

Transportation Plan. After the trial period, the MMTB was tasked with evaluating the impact of 
the road pattern on pedestrian, bicycle, and automobile safety. 

In September of 2021, The City’s traffic engineering consultants Fleis & Vandebrink (F&V) 
provided an analysis of the S. Eton striping which includes before and after data for pedestrians, 
bicyclists, and motorists while comparing accident counts, traffic counts, and traffic speed. The 
results of the analysis showed that the addition of a bike lane reduced crashes, increased 
the number of bicyclists, and did not have a significant impact on the adjacent roadway speeds. 
The final recommendation of the analysis is that a bike facility along S. Eton Road be made 
permanent, given the following data: 

The result of the analysis showed an overall crash reduction of 44%. 
Vehicle - pedestrian crashes were eliminated 
Bicycle volumes more than doubled during the afternoon and over 80% higher 
on Saturday. 

In September of 2021, the City also posted a survey regarding S. Eton on Engage Birmingham in 
order to obtain resident feedback on current and future designs. Results showed that respondents 
liked having a protected bike lane along S. Eton, however improvements could be made. 
Complaints were that the bollards and armadillo dividers were unsightly, the bike lane would 
collect sticks and debris that are hazardous to riders, and the beginning and ending of the lanes 
were inconvenient for cyclists due to lane changes and riding against traffic. The poll has been 
available since 2021 and recently pulled data is included in the attachments. 

On October 7th, 2021 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board reviewed the 
analysis report from F&V of pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular traffic before and after the striping 
on S. Eton Road. Results of the Engage Birmingham survey were also reviewed. The board 
discussed the pros and cons of the current design, and how an opportunity for a more permanent 
design should be considered when the City repaves S. Eton projected for the summer of 2024. 

In regards to public input related to the 2024 resurfacing design, the MMTB had six public 
meetings and three open houses between November 2022-2023. The first two open houses were 
for staff and consultants to obtain feedback from residents and forward the information to the 
MMTB. The third open house was to provide an opportunity for the public to review and comment 
on the final recommended design before the City Commission hearing on July 24th, 2023. Further 
information on public input can be found in the “Public Communications” section below. 

The Multi-Modal Transportation Board coordinated with City staff and consultants to explore a 
variety of options for S. Eton’s design throughout the entire process. All concepts had pros and 
cons and involved trade-offs for pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles. The concepts that were 
considered but not selected are provided at the end of the attachments for review. 

With regards to the existing trial design, there has been a positive response regarding 
improved visibility from the removal of parking on the west side of the street, and general 
consensus has been in favor of a designated bike lane. Issues with the way the current bike lanes 
begin and end have been raised, and the armadillo buffers have created difficulties in keeping 
the bike lane free of debris. The City’s Police, Engineering, and Planning Divisions have also 
expressed concerns about the number of driveway and street conflicts where vehicles are not 
anticipating a cyclist traveling against the regular flow of traffic. Hence, the MMTB 

7B



4 

considered ways to design S. Eton with bike lanes on each side of the road traveling 
with the flow of traffic. 

For the section of S. Eton between Lincoln Ave to Yosemite, the MMTB considered options that 
involved widening the paved right-of-way to accommodate safer multi-modal amenities. Doing so 
would allow the City to maintain on-street parking and have wider safety buffers between the 
vehicle lanes, parking lanes, and bike lanes. Potential bike lane locations were reviewed above 
the curb which could act as a natural buffer, or below the curb on the street level with additional 
space for paint striping and bollards. 

The issue with alternatives that involve widening the paved right-of-way north of Lincoln Ave 
is that they require additional pavement on the west side of the road, placing the bike lane closer 
to the residential homes. The homes on S. Eton north of Lincoln Ave front along their residential 
street with small sideyard setbacks and garages with short driveways that face S. Eton. The option 
of widening S. Eton north of Lincoln Ave significantly reduces the right-of-way driveway length of 
the residents along this corridor. A number of local residents spoke out against this option and 
the MMTB was not amenable to greatly reducing driveway lengths on this section of S. Eton. 
The MMTB was also concerned that moving the curb is costly. 

The MMTB also considered options that involved eliminating on-street parking on the east side of 
the street, adjacent to the commercial businesses of the Rail District. Doing so would allow more 
buffer space between the vehicular lanes and bike lanes without having to widen the paved right- 
of-way. Removing on-street parking would also resolve concerns about a lack of visibility when 
turning out of the Rail District onto S. Eton. There are currently 51 parking spots along S. Eton 
north of Lincoln Ave, though staff and consultants typically observed a range of 10-30 spaces 
used throughout the spring during different times of the day. All of the businesses along 
S. Eton are required to provide on site parking per the Zoning Ordinance requirements, though
the MMTB felt that maintaining some on-street parking should be explored. The MMTB requested
that staff and consultants evaluate maintaining on-street parking where possible, while
eliminating spaces near intersections and crosswalks to enhance visibility.

The MMTB also reviewed pedestrian bumpouts vs. pedestrian islands for S. Eton. Each of the 
enhancements would be accommodated with high visibility crosswalks and various types of 
signage to alert drivers. The preferred types of pedestrian crossings has an impact on the 
alternative cross sections under consideration, particularly where on-street parking is located in 
relation to the bike lane and vehicular lane. Pedestrian bumpouts would be associated with a 
design with parking along the curb, whereas pedestrian islands would be associated with a design 
where the bike lane is along the curb and “floating parking islands” are between the bike lane and 
vehicular lane. The general consensus was that pedestrian bumpouts were preferred to shorten 
the pedestrian crosswalk distance, therefore parking locations would have to be along the curb 
to accomplish this. 

The desire of the MMTB to maintain on-street parking, provide pedestrian bumpouts, and 
maintain the existing curb width of 40’ for S. Eton north of Lincoln led to a concept that 
aligns with the existing design of Birmingham’s N. Eton between Yorkshire and Derby Road 
(north of Maple Rd). This was noted as “Alternative 2” when presented to the MMTB on June 
1st, 2023. The proposed concept includes bike lanes going with the flow of traffic for the 
northbound and southbound lanes. On-street parking is maintained along the east side and 
setback 30 feet from any intersection or pedestrian crosswalk to enhance visibility when 
turning. This reduces the number of on-street parking spaces from 51 to 28. The bike lane is 

7B



5 

located between the parking and travel lane in order to allow pedestrian bumpouts on the east 
side of the street as well. The northbound bike lane would have a 2’-3’ buffer to create separation 
from the parking lane. Each bike lane would have a width of 5’ and would not have a 
physical buffer between the vehicle travel lane. 

On June 1st, 2023 (Agenda - Minutes), the MMTB approved a motion to recommend to the City 
Commission that S. Eton between Lincoln and Yosemite be designed as indicated in Alternative 2 
with the condition that on-street parking spaces be setback 30 feet from all intersections and 
pedestrian crosswalks. Alternative 2 is the aforementioned concept modeling N. Eton with the 
existing 40’ curb width, 5’ painted bike lanes on each side of the road, on-street parking along 
the east side, and pedestrian bumpouts along the east side. 

For the section of S. Eton between Lincoln Ave and 14 Mile, the MMTB wanted to consider 
extending designated bike lanes. Doing so would enhance multi-modal connectivity as Royal Oak’s 
bike network connects to S. Eton via Cooper Ave on the south side of 14 Mile. Cycling maps 
provided by SEMCOG and Strava Global Heatmap indicate this area as a major north-south 
connector for the region. Staff recommends that the design south of Lincoln align with the 
recommendations of the design to the north so that there is no abrupt change traveling across 
Lincoln Ave. 

The existing street width of S. Eton between Lincoln Ave and 14 Mile is 28’ with two vehicular 
lanes and on-street parking along the west side. The amenity zone between the sidewalk and the 
road is typically 23’. The existing setup has sharrows painted in the road to inform drivers to 
share the road with cyclists. If the City were to extend designated bike lanes from Lincoln to 
14 Mile, additional pavement to widen the curbs would be required. 

City staff, consultants, and the MMTB considered bike lanes above the curb vs on-street. Above 
the curb would be a higher level of difficulty for implementation due to the number of driveway 
crossings and grading concerns. Having the bike lane against the curb was also discussed, 
however this limits pedestrian bumpouts and requires “floating parking spaces” which can limit 
visibility. 

In order to match the recommendations of the design north of Lincoln Ave, staff recommended 
“Alternative 1” for south of Lincoln Ave with street level bike lanes between the parking aisle and 
vehicular lane. This would require widening the western curb by 8’ and widening the eastern curb 
by 5’. The right-of-way in front of the residential homes would be reduced from 23’ to 15’-18’, 
though the homes along this section all front S. Eton with rear yard garages. The homes south 
of Lincoln do not have small sideyard setbacks facing S. Eton with garages and short 
driveways like the homes north of Lincoln Ave - hence staff and the MMTB were more amenable 
to recommending that the paved right-of-way be widened to accommodate designated bike lanes. 

On June 1st, 2023 (Agenda - Minutes), the MMTB approved a motion to recommend to the City 
Commission that S. Eton between Lincoln Ave and 14 Mile be designed as indicated in Alternative 
1, widening the street from 28’ to 41’ to accommodate designated bikes lanes, vehicular lanes, 
and on-street parking. 

7B



6 

At this time, widening the curbs for additional pavement and designated bike lanes extending 
from Lincoln Ave to 14 Mile is not incorporated in the City’s budget for the S. Eton road resurfacing 
project. Incorporating the design for enhanced multi-modal features would be contingent upon 
receipt of a Transportation Alternative Program Grant (TAP Grant), or amending the FY23-24 
budget and Capital Improvements Fund. 

City staff has discussed the upcoming road project with SEMCOG and MDOT liasons for the TAP 
Grant program. Both SEMCOG and MDOT have recommended that Birmingham enhance 
multi-modal connectivity at the intersection of N. Eton, S. Eton, and Maple where the viaduct for 
the railroad bridge exists. A large portion of TAP Grant approvals emphasize the importance of 
connectivity. Both organizations have commented that they do not want to see a bike lane 
abruptly end in a busy intersection, they want to see it connect to other destinations and bike 
networks. 

City staff has held discussions with the owners of Big Rock about a potential 5’ easement for the 
grassy downhill portion of the property north of the historic building. Renderings indicating the 
northbound bike lane merging into a 10 ft shared use path at the intersection of S. Eton and 
Maple is intended to guide users who wish to use the sidewalk under the railroad to connect to 
E. Maple and/or N. Eton. The owners of Big Rock were amenable to working with the City on a
potential easement for a shared use path, and such an agreement was included in the Planning
Board’s conditions of approval for Big Rock’s SLUP review on July 12th, 2023 (Agenda).

When the proposed northbound bike lane crosses Yosemite, users may either travel onto the 10’ 
shared use path and go beneath the railroad on the Maple Rd. sidewalk, or merge into the 
northbound vehicular lane which will be accommodated with sharrows guiding cyclists through 
the intersection to N. Eton with “Share the Road” signage placed throughout the intersection 
for additional safety. 

The City’s traffic consultants have created a plan view with detailed renderings for S. Eton that 
reflect the recommendations of the MMTB as well as recommendations from SEMCOG and MDOT 
for TAP eligibility. Such plans are attached for review which also include greater details regarding 
high visibility pedestrian crosswalks and pedestrian signage. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposal and has no concerns. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funding for S. Eton resurfacing from 14 Mile to Yosemite within the existing curb widths has been 
budgeted for and allocated from the Capital Improvements Fund for FY 2023-24. In order to 
implement the recommendation for designated bike lanes connecting Lincoln to 14 Mile, 
as well as the improvements from Villa to Maple, the City must receive approval for a TAP 
Grant. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
Additional bike lanes may encourage more non-motorized transportation and reduce overall vehicle 
miles traveled. 

7B



7 

  PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The MMTB held six public meetings, and staff held three open houses which occurred on the 
following dates: 

November 3rd, 2022 MMTB meeting (Agenda – Minutes) 
December 1st, 2022 MMTB meeting (Agenda – Minutes) 
January 17th, 2023 S. Eton Resurfacing Open House #1 (Content) 
February 2nd, 2023 MMTB meeting (Agenda - Minutes) 
March 2nd, 2023 MMTB meeting (Agenda - Minutes) 
April 18th, 2023 S. Eton Resurfacing Open House #2 (Content) 
May 4th, 2023 MMTB meeting (Agenda - Minutes) 
June 1st, 2023 2023 MMTB meeting (Agenda - Minutes) 
July 19, 2023 S. Eton Resurfacing Open House #3 (Content) 

The alternative concepts for the MMTB to review were posted online in each agenda along with 
a summary of each design. Letters were sent to all property owners along S. Eton to notify 
residents of each of the three open houses. The open houses were accompanied by social media 
posts and constant contact emails to notify residents of review and input opportunities. Residents 
were informed that feedback from the open houses would be considered at the next Multi-
Modal Transportation Board or City Commission meeting. Comment cards from the most recent 
open house are attached in the agenda. Resident comment cards and letters from previous 
open houses and meetings are hyperlinked in their respective agendas. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the proposed reconfiguration 
of S. Eton Street from 14 Mile to Maple with bike lanes on each side of the street, new pedestian 
bumpouts, new pedestrian crosswalk signage, and on-street parking setback 30’ from 
intersections and pedestrian crosswalks. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Final cross sections recommended by the MMTB June 1st, 2023
2. Final plan view recommeded by MMTB with enhanced Villa to Maple for TAP Grant
3. Project goals and overview
4. Project boards from S. Eton Resurfacing Open House #3
5. Complete Streets Resolution, 2011
6. Eton Rd Corridor Plan, 1999
7. Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, 2013
8. Ad Hoc Rail District Committee Report, 2016
9. Fleis & Vandebrink S. Eton Striping Before & After Study - September 30th, 2021
10. Engage Bham S. Eton Bikeway Survey
11. July 12, 2023 Open House comment cards
12. Royal Oak Bike Network
13. Troy, MI Bike Network
14. SEMCOG Bike Network
15. Strava Cycling Global Heatmap
16. Alternative Concepts Considered by MMTB, March 2023 –June 2023

7B



8 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from 
Lincoln to Yosemite with Alternative 2 as recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
and indicated in the attached plan view; 

AND 

Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from 
14 Mile to Lincoln Ave with Alternative 1 as recommended by the Multi-Modal Transportation 
Board and indicated in the attached plan view, with the condition that the City of 
Birmingham receive a TAP Grant to assist in funding the recommended enhancements; 

AND 

Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the reconfiguration of S. Eton Street from Maple 
to Villa as recommended by the City staff and indicated in the attached plan view, with the 
condition that the City of Birmingham receive a TAP Grant to assist in funding the 
recommended enhancements. 

7B



NO
RT

H 
OF

 LI
NC

OL
N 

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
E 

• C
ur

bs
id

e 
P

ar
ki

ng
 L

an
e 

O
pt

io
n

• O
n-

st
re

et
 N

B
 a

nd
 S

B
 b

ik
e 

la
ne

s 
w

ith
 o

n-
st

re
et

 
pa

rk
in

g 
al

on
g 

ea
st

 c
ur

b

• I
nc

lu
de

s 
bu

m
po

ut
s 

on
 e

as
t s

id
e 

of
 th

e 
st

re
et

, 
re

m
ov

al
 o

f s
om

e 
on

-s
tr

ee
t p

ar
ki

ng
 s

pa
ce

s 
ne

ar
 in

te
rs

ec
tio

ns
 w

ith
 lo

w
 v

is
ib

ili
ty

• P
ar

ki
ng

 la
ne

 c
an

 b
e 

7-
8’

 a
nd

 s
tr

ee
t b

uff
er

 c
an

 
be

 2
-3

’ i
n 

w
id

th
 

• F
its

 w
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

40
’ c

ur
b-

to
-c

ur
b

S 
ET

ON
 M

MT
B 

FI
NA

L 
RE

CO
MM

EN
DA

TI
ON

S 
- J

UN
E 

1S
T, 

20
23

SO
UT

H 
OF

 LI
NC

OL
N 

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
E 

• C
ur

bs
id

e 
P

ar
ki

ng
 L

an
e 

O
pt

io
n

• O
n-

st
re

et
 N

B
 a

nd
 S

B
 b

ik
es

 la
ne

s 
w

ith
 o

n-
st

re
et

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
lo

ng
 w

es
t c

ur
b

• I
nc

lu
de

s 
bu

m
po

ut
s 

bu
ilt

 o
ut

 a
t i

nt
er

se
ct

io
ns

 

• C
ur

b-
to

-c
ur

b 
ex

te
nd

ed
 fr

om
 e

xi
st

in
g 

28
’ t

o 
up

da
te

d 
41

’

7B



S 
ET

ON
 S

TR
EE

T
R

E
D

E
S

IG
N

 A
L
T

E
R

N
A

T
IV

E
P

U
B

LI
C 

W
O

R
K

S
H

O
P

  |
  
S

 E
T

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
 A

L
T

E
R

N
A

T
IV

E
 

W
h

is
tl

e
 

W
h

is
tl

e
 

S
to

p
 D

in
e

r
S

to
p

 D
in

e
r

G
ri

ffi
n

 C
la

w
 

G
ri

ffi
n

 C
la

w
 

B
re

w
in

g
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y

B
re

w
in

g
 C

o
m

p
a

n
y

B
o

ly
a

rd
B

o
ly

a
rd

L
u

m
b

e
r

L
u

m
b

e
r

B
ir

m
in

g
h

a
m

 P
u

b
li

c
 

B
ir

m
in

g
h

a
m

 P
u

b
li

c
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t 

PALMER ST PALMER ST

C
a

n
in

e
 

C
a

n
in

e
 

A
c
a

d
e

m
y

A
c
a

d
e

m
y

S 
ET

O
N

 C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
:

M
A

P
LE

 R
D

 T
O

 L
IN

CO
LN

 S
T 

R
ED

ES
IG

N

LI
N

CO
LN

 S
T 

TO
 V

IL
LA

 R
D

 
R

EC
O

M
M

EN
D

ED
 B

Y 
M

U
LT

I M
O

D
A

L 
TR

A
N

S
P

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 B
O

A
R

D
 

V
IL

LA
 R

D
 T

O
 Y

O
S

EM
IT

E 
B

LV
D

. 

*N
O

TE
: A

LL
 C

R
O

S
S

 S
EC

TI
O

N
S

 A
R

E 
FR

O
M

 T
H

E 
P

ER
S

P
EC

TI
V

E 
O

F 
LO

O
K

IN
G

 N
O

R
TH

*

YO
S

EM
IT

E 
B

LV
D

. T
O

 M
A

P
LE

 R
D

 
YO

S
EM

IT
E 

TO
 M

A
P

LE
 C

R
O

S
S

 S
EC

TI
O

N
S

 C
O

N
TI

N
G

EN
T 

O
N

 T
A

P
 G

R
A

N
T 

A
P

P
R

O
VA

L

7B



S 
ET

ON
 S

TR
EE

T
R

E
D

E
S

IG
N

 A
L
T

E
R

N
A

T
IV

E
P

U
B

LI
C 

W
O

R
K

S
H

O
P

  |
  
S

 E
T

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 S
O

U
T

H
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
 A

L
T

E
R

N
A

T
IV

E
 

S 
ET

O
N

 C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
:

LI
N

CO
LN

 S
T 

TO
 1

4 
M

IL
E 

R
D

 R
ED

ES
IG

N

14
 M

IL
E 

R
D

 T
O

 L
IN

CO
LN

 S
T

R
EC

O
M

M
EN

D
ED

 B
Y 

M
U

LT
I M

O
D

A
L 

TR
A

N
S

P
O

R
TA

TI
O

N
 B

O
A

R
D

*N
O

TE
: A

LL
 C

R
O

S
S

 S
EC

TI
O

N
S

 A
R

E 
FR

O
M

 T
H

E 
P

ER
S

P
EC

TI
V

E 
O

F 
LO

O
K

IN
G

 N
O

R
TH

*

7B



“L
o

o
k

 a
t 

el
im

in
at

in
g 

or
 

re
d

u
ci

n
g 

st
re

et
 p

ar
ki

n
g 

o
n

 

e
a

s
t 

s
id

e
 p

o
in

ts
 o

f 
e

m
p

h
a

s
is

: 

G
r
if

fi
n

 C
la

w
, 

H
a

z
e

l 
(W

h
is

tl
e

 S
to

p
, 

W
e

b
s

te
r,

 C
o

le
”

“
T

ra
ff

ic
 a

t 
E

to
n

+
H

a
z

e
l 

is
 

d
a

n
g

e
ro

u
s

..
.I

t 
is

 h
ar

d
 t

o 
se

e 
ar

ou
n

d
 p

ar
ke

d
 c

ar
s 

a
n

d
 l

ig
h

ti
n

g
 

a
t 

n
ig

h
t 

is
 n

o
n

e
x

is
te

n
t”

“D
if

fi
cu

lt
 t

o 
p

u
ll

 o
u

t 
of

 
G

ri
ff

in
 C

la
w

 a
n

d
 s

ee
 t

ra
ff

ic
 i

n
 

b
o

th
 d

ir
e

c
ti

o
n

s
” 

“C
o

le
 S

t 
+

 E
to

n
 a

re
 

d
an

ge
ro

u
s 

to
 c

ro
ss

 d
u

e 
to

 
b

li
n

d
 s

p
ot

s”
 

“M
u

s
t 

cr
ea

te
 a

 
sa

fe
 p

la
ce

 t
o 

cr
os

s 
a

ro
u

n
d

 

G
r
if

fi
n

 C
la

w
 a

n
d

 W
h

is
tl

e
 S

to
p

..
.

S
o

m
e

th
in

g
 w

it
h

 c
le

a
r
 s

e
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
. 

I’
m

 c
o

n
c

e
r
n

e
d

 w
it

h
 s

a
fe

ty
, 

to
o

 

m
a

n
y

 d
is

tr
a

c
te

d
 d

r
iv

e
r
s

.”

IN
TE

RA
CT

IV
E 

MA
P

PR
OJ

EC
T G

OA
LS

TH
E 

MU
LT

IM
OD

AL
 T

RA
NS

PO
RT

AT
IO

N 
BO

AR
D 

AN
D 

CI
TY

 S
TA

FF
 A

DJ
US

TE
D 

TH
E 

PR
OJ

EC
T 

GO
AL

S 
BA

SE
D 

ON
 

PU
BL

IC
 C

OM
ME

NT
 A

ND
 D

ET
AI

LE
D 

EV
AL

UA
TI

ON
 O

F 
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

ES
 

1 42 5 73 6

 S
AF

ET
Y F

OR
 A

LL
 U

SE
RS

 E
NH

AN
CE

 P
ED

ES
TR

IA
N 

CR
OS

SI
NG

S

 IM
PR

OV
E V

IS
IB

IL
IT

Y A
T C

RO
SS

 S
TR

EE
TS

 S
MO

OT
H 

TR
AF

FI
C 

FL
OW

, L
OW

 S
PE

ED
S 

 S
EP

AR
AT

E 
LA

NE
S 

FO
R 

BI
KE

S

 LI
MI

T I
MP

AC
TS

 O
N 

HO
ME

S 
AN

D 
BU

SI
NE

SS
ES

 A
LO

NG
 S

 E
TO

N

 D
ES

IG
N 

TH
AT

 FI
TS

 TH
E 

CI
TY

’S 
BU

DG
ET

• A
n 

on
lin

e,
 in

te
ra

ct
iv

e 
m

ap
 to

ol
 w

as
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

on
lin

e 
fo

r 
co

m
m

un
ity

 
m

em
be

rs
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 
lo

ca
tio

n-
sp

ec
ifi

c 
co

m
m

en
ts

.

IN
TE

RA
CT

IV
E 

MA
P

7B



SU
MM

AR
Y 

OF
 P

UB
LI

C 
W

OR
KS

HO
P 

DI
SC

US
SI

ON
S 

(W
OR

KS
HO

PS
 H

EL
D 

IN
 JA

NU
AR

Y, 
AP

RI
L,

 A
ND

 JU
NE

)
• 

D
es

ir
e 

to
 m

ak
e 

it 
ea

si
er

 to
 c

ro
ss

 
Et

on
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 b
um

po
ut

s 
an

d 
fl

as
hi

ng
 s

ig
na

ge

• 
O

ne
-w

ay
 o

n-
st

re
et

 b
ik

e 
la

ne
s 

w
er

e 
pr

ef
er

re
d,

 n
ot

 a
 2

-w
ay

 c
yc

le
 tr

ac
k 

or
 

ra
is

ed
 b

ik
e 

la
ne

• 
S

up
po

rt
 r

em
ov

in
g 

on
-s

tr
ee

t p
ar

ki
ng

 
ne

ar
 in

te
rs

ec
tio

ns
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

si
gh

t 
di

st
an

ce

• 
M

os
t s

up
po

rt
 s

om
e 

on
-s

tr
ee

t p
ar

ki
ng

• 
R

es
id

en
ts

 d
on

’t 
lik

e 
bo

lla
rd

s

• 
R

es
id

en
ts

 a
lo

ng
 S

 E
to

n 
do

 n
ot

 w
an

t 
th

e 
cu

rb
s 

to
 m

ov
e 

(t
o 

pr
ot

ec
t g

re
en

 
sp

ac
e 

an
d 

dr
iv

ew
ay

 s
to

ra
ge

 a
re

as
)

• 
B

ik
e 

us
er

s 
pr

ef
er

 e
xt

en
di

ng
 b

ik
e 

la
ne

s 
so

ut
h 

of
 L

in
co

ln
 A

ve
, r

es
id

en
ts

 
al

on
g 

S
 E

to
n 

pr
ef

er
 n

o 
ch

an
ge

• 
R

es
id

en
ts

 w
an

t t
o 

se
e 

dr
ai

na
ge

 
im

pr
ov

ed
 

7B



DE
SI

GN
 FA

CT
OR

S 
CO

NS
ID

ER
ED

 B
Y 

MM
TB

 
• 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
pe

de
st

ri
an

 c
ro

ss
in

gs
 w

as
 th

e 
m

os
t 

im
po

rt
an

t g
oa

l

• 
Th

e 
B

oa
rd

 p
re

fe
rs

 d
ir

ec
tio

na
l b

ik
e 

la
ne

s 
an

d 
th

e 
m

aj
or

ity
 w

an
te

d 
to

 e
xt

en
d 

bi
ke

 la
ne

s 
to

 1
4 

M
ile

 R
d 

• 
S

ig
ht

 d
is

ta
nc

e 
ne

ed
s 

to
 b

e 
im

pr
ov

ed
 

• 
P

ro
vi

de
 c

ur
be

d 
bu

m
po

ut
s

• 
B

oa
rd

 p
re

fe
rs

 p
ai

nt
ed

 b
ik

e 
la

ne
 b

uff
er

s 
ov

er
 

ra
is

ed
 a

lo
ng

 w
ith

 p
ar

ki
ng

 la
ne

 b
uff

er

• 
R

es
id

en
ts

 w
an

t a
de

qu
at

e 
sp

ac
e 

to
 p

ar
k 

ca
rs

 
be

tw
ee

n 
si

de
w

al
k 

an
d 

th
e 

cu
rb

• 
C

on
ce

rn
 w

ith
 r

em
ov

al
 o

f a
ll 

th
e 

on
-s

tr
ee

t p
ar

ki
ng

• 
P

ar
ki

ng
 r

ec
om

m
en

de
d 

to
 b

e 
se

t b
ac

k 
30

’ f
ro

m
 th

e 
co

rn
er

RU
MB

LE
 S

TR
IP

S 
ST

RI
PE

D 
PA

IN
TE

D 
BU

FF
ER

TO
P 

BU
FF

ER
 O

PT
IO

NS
 

7B



S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

Yosemite BlvdYosemite Blvd

Villa RdVilla Rd

Hazel StHazel St

Bowers StBowers St

Haynes StHaynes St

Holland StHolland St

Webster StWebster St

Cole StCole St

Bradford RdBradford Rd

Sheffield Rd

Sheffield Rd

Humphrey Ave

Humphrey Ave

Melton Rd

Melton Rd

Maple RdMaple Rd

14 Mile Rd14 Mile Rd

Lincoln StLincoln St

S ETON STS ETON ST

EXISTING SHARROWSEXISTING SHARROWS

S
 ETO

N
S

 ETO
N

ROYAL OAKROYAL OAK

BIRMINGHAMBIRMINGHAM

TROY
TROY

BIRM
INGHAM

BIRM
INGHAM

MULTI MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS

PROJECT GOALS CONNECTION TO BIKE NETWORK

PROJECT BOUNDARYPROJECT BOUNDARY

S ETON REDESIGN PROJECT PURPOSE AND GOALS 

SELECTED ALTERNATIVES SHOWN ON ADDITIONAL BOARDS

S ETONS ETON

Villa
 Rd

Villa
 Rd

Hazel S
t

Hazel S
t

Bowers St

Bowers St

Haynes S
t

Haynes S
t

Holla
nd St

Holla
nd St

Webste
r S

t

Webste
r S

t

Cole
 St

Cole
 St

Lin
co

ln St

Lin
co

ln St

Melton Rd
Melton Rd

Humphrey Ave

Humphrey Ave

Br
ad

fo
rd

 R
d

Br
ad

fo
rd

 R
d

14
 M

ile
 R

d
14

 M
ile

 R
d

Sheffield Rd

Sheffield Rd

Yosemite
 Blvd

Yosemite
 Blvd

North of Lincoln Section

Whistle Stop Diner

Griffin Claw Brewing Co.

Canine Academy Eton Academy

South of Lincoln Section

E Maple Rd

E Maple Rd

S Eton (Yosemite to Maple) could be 
Included if Grant is Received

MMTB Recommendation: Alternative 1
Continue on-street bike lanes down to 14 Mile

MMTB Recommendation: Alternative 2
On-street bike lanes with on-street parking

 SAFETY FOR ALL USERS

 ENHANCE PEDESTRIAN CROSSINGS

 SMOOTH TRAFFIC FLOW 

 INCREASE BIKE USAGE 

 IMPROVE VISIBILITY AT CROSS STREETS

 PROVIDE ROOM FOR TRUCKS

 IMPROVE SIDEWALKS/LIGHTING

 DESIGN THAT FITS THE CITY’S BUDGET

1

4

2

5

7

3

6

8

7B



33 1010333322

55

2233992299

TOTAL EXISTING ON-STREET PARKING SPOTS: 51

ON-STREET PARKING 20ft = 1 space
*City standard for requesting on-street parking

WHISTLE STOP 
DINER

GRIFFIN CLAW 
BREWING COMPANY

IRON GATE
CANINE ACADEMY

1515

22 6611221122551155

TOTAL UPDATED ON-STREET PARKING SPOTS: 28

WHISTLE STOP 
DINER

GRIFFIN CLAW 
BREWING COMPANY

IRON GATE
CANINE ACADEMY

PUBLIC OFF-STREET SPACES

33

S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

S ETON REDESIGN UPDATED ON-STREET PARKING
EXISTING ON-STREET PARKING (2023)

PROPOSED DESIGN ALLOWING SOME ON-STREET PARKING BUT REMOVING 
PARKING CLOSE TO THE CORNERS

PEDESTRIAN ENHANCEMENTS 

Gateway Treatment (Brown St)

Pedestrian Signs

Bump-Outs

RRFB’s

• Enhanced high visibility 
crosswalks

• Gateways and signs

• Amenities to alert 
drivers (signs, flashing 
beacons, etc.)

• Bump-outs to reduce 
crossing distance at 
every intersection

• Safer crossing at busy 
intersections

Yosemite BlvdYosemite Blvd

Villa RdVilla Rd

Hazel StHazel St

Bowers StBowers St

Haynes StHaynes St

Holland StHolland St

Webster StWebster St

Cole StCole St
Bradford RdBradford Rd

Sheffield Rd

Sheffield Rd

Humphrey Ave

Humphrey Ave

Melton Rd

Melton Rd

14 Mile Rd14 Mile Rd

Lincoln StLincoln St

Lincoln StLincoln St

7B



NORTH ALTERNATIVE

S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

NORTH SECTION BOUNDARIES

VILLA RD TO YOSEMITE BLVD (LOOKING NORTH)
CROSS SECTION WITH ROAD NARROWING IS CONTINGENT UPON APPROVAL FOR TAP GRANT,

OTHERWISE IT WILL MIRROR DESIGN OF LINCOLN ST TO VILLA RD 

LINCOLN ST TO VILLA RD (LOOKING NORTH)
RECOMMENDED BY THE MULTI MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

NEW DESIGN FITS WITHIN CURB, REPLACES 2-WAY CYCLE TRACK WITH DIRECTIONAL BIKE LANES

EXISTING PAINTED BUMP-OUTS WILL BE CURBED

Villa
 Rd

Villa
 Rd

Hazel S
t

Hazel S
t

Bowers St

Bowers St

Hay
nes S

t

Hay
nes S

t

Holl
an

d S
t

Holl
an

d S
t

Web
st

er
 S

t

Web
st

er
 S

t Co
le

 S
t

Co
le

 S
t

Li
nc

ol
n 

St
Li

nc
ol

n 
St

Yosemite
 Blvd

Yosemite
 Blvd

Whistle Stop Diner

Griffin Claw Brewing Co.

Canine Academy

Lincoln to Villa Section

Villa to Yosemite Section

7B



SOUTH ALTERNATIVE

14 MILE TO LINCOLN ST (LOOKING NB)
RECOMMENDED BY THE MULTI MODAL TRANSPORTATION BOARD

S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

SOUTH SECTION BOUNDARY

ALTERNATIVE EXAMPLES

EXISTING PAINTED BUMP-OUTS WILL BE CURBD

Melton Rd
Melton Rd

Humphrey Ave
Humphrey Ave

Br
ad

fo
rd

 R
d

Br
ad

fo
rd

 R
d

14
 M

ile
 R

d

14
 M

ile
 R

d

Sh
ef

fi
el

d 
Rd

Sh
ef

fi
el

d 
Rd

Lincoln St

Lincoln St

Eton Academy

14 Mile to Lincoln Section

7B



S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

YOSEMITE TO MAPLE OPTION*
OPTIONAL SECTION TO EXTEND BIKE LANE/SHARED PATHWAY OPTIONAL SECTION TO EXTEND BIKE LANE/SHARED PATHWAY 
UP TO MAPLE ROADUP TO MAPLE ROAD

*IF TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM GRANT IS APPROVED BY SEMCOG

NORTH OF YOSEMITE BLVD (LOOKING NB)

S ETON ST AND MAPLE RD INTERSECTION (LOOKING NB)

Yo
se

mite
 B

lv
d

Yo
se

mite
 B

lv
d

E Maple Rd

E Maple Rd

Beauty Collective

At Maple Rd Intersection Segment

Past Yosemite Blvd Segment

7B



S ETON STREET | CORRIDOR ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS

#3 - APRIL/MAY

• Present the refined 

alternatives  

• Public workshop #2

• Summary of Workshop input 

• Multi-Modal Transportation 

Board meeting and 

recommendation

PROJECT SCHEDULE TENTATIVE TIMELINE
PROJECT SCHEDULE - TENTATIVE

#5 - SUMMER 

• City Commission to review 

design plans  

• Comments and possible 

approval  

• Begin design of engineering 

plans 

WE ARE HERE

2023 SCHEDULE 2024 SCHEDULE 

#2 - WINTER/SPRING

• Multi-Modal Transportation 

Board (MMTB) to review 

alternatives

• Refine the alternatives per 

input and research

#1 - JANUARY

• Project introduction

• Present preliminary design 

alternatives

• Gather public input, identify 

ideas and concerns 

#7 - SUMMER/FALL

• Construction begins 

• On going communication 

with property owners 

• Engineering plans are 

presented 

#6 - LATE SPRING

• Meeting with individual 

property owners

• Final engineering plans 

#3 - LATE SPRING/EARLY 
SUMMER 

• Multi Modal Transportation 

board select alternative

• Public workshop #3

PUBLIC 
WORKSHOP

#1

MMTB
BOARD
REVIEW

CITY
COMMISSION

REVIEW

PUBLIC 
WORKSHOP

#2

FINAL
ENGINEERING

PUBLIC
WORKSHOP

#4

PROJECT
CONSTRUCTION

2024

MMTB
BOARD

RECOMMENDATION/
PUBLIC 

WORKSHOP 
#3

7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



 
Page 50  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN        

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
3.3    ROAD CROSSING IMPROVEMENTS 

DESCRIPTION 
Road crossing improvements are needed 
in areas where there is demand to cross 
by pedestrians and/or bicyclists.  These 
areas occur where a bike route crosses a 
collector or arterial road, a major bus 
stop or bus shelter is present, there is a 
long distance between crosswalks, or 
there is a high demand based on land 
use and population density.  

There are many different types of countermeasures that can be used to improve the safety and 
visibility of pedestrians at crosswalks.  Traffic speeds, traffic volume, number of lanes and 
location of the crossing in context to the surrounding land use will dictate what type of crossing 
improvement is appropriate for a specific location. In some instances the improvements are as 
simple as adding high visibility crosswalk markings and in others signalization may be needed.  

For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to all Chapters of the MUTCD and Chapter 3 & 4 
of AASHTO’s Guide for the Planning, Design and Operation of Pedestrian Facilities. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
The exact solution for every crossing has not been determined; rather, the location and 
recommended countermeasure has been identified.  Please note that these are initial 
recommendations and that each crossing needs to be studied further prior to implementation.  
Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan for specific recommendations on near-term 
crossing improvements. 
 
At signalized intersections it is recommended that leading pedestrian signals and signal 
countdowns be implemented. 
 
Please refer to Fig. 3.3A, 3.3B and 3.3C for maps of the proposed crossing improvements. 
 
  

Web Survey Results: 
Around 61% of respondents feel that mid-block crosswalks are very important or 
somewhat important to making future walking and bicycling trips actually happen 

Road Crossing 

7B



   November 25, 2013 

 
Page 51 

 

FIGURE 3.3A CROSSING IMPROVEMENTS – CURB EXTENSIONS 

 

 

42 CURB EXTENSIONS ARE PROPOSED 

Curb Extensions reduce the effective street width by 
extending the sidewalk or curb into the parking lane 

Curb Extensions shorten the pedestrian’s crossing 
distance and increase visibility between pedestrians 
and motorists 

Curb Extensions create small curb radii that control 
traffic speeds around corners 

Curb Extensions reduce the effective street width 
which encourages motorists to drive slower 

When curb extensions are used on a road with bike 
lanes, the bike lane continues past the curb 
extension 

Landscaping may be incorporated  

Curb Extension 

7B



   November 25, 2013 

 
Page 53 

 

FIGURE 3.3C PROPOSED CROSSING IMPROVEMENTS – UPGRADES 

 

 

18 ROAD CROSSING UPGRADES ARE PROPOSED 

Many of the proposed improvements include 
upgrades such as ramps, detectable warnings, 
pedestrian signals, and high visibility crosswalk 
markings. 

Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan 
and Special Area Concept Plans for more details. 

 

High Visibility Crosswalk Markings 

Curb Ramps with Detectable Warnings 

7B



 
Page 54  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN        

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
3.4    BIKE LANES 

DESCRIPTION 
Bike lanes are a designated space in the roadway for 
bicyclists to travel with the flow of traffic.  Pavement 
striping, markings and signage are used to delineate the 
lane.  A striped bicycle lane or designated paved shoulder 
within the roadway is usually the safest place for a cyclist to 
ride. 
 
For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to Chapter 9 of the MUTCD, Chapter 4 of 
AASHTO’s Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities, and the Bike Lane section of NACTO’s 
Urban Bikeway Design Guide. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
There is potential to add bike lanes on a 
number of the primary roads in the near future 
as part of CIP projects and by simply re-striping 
the roadway.  Please refer to the Network 
Implementation Plan for more details. 
 
For some roadways, the cost to add bike lanes 
independent of a road reconstruction project 
would be significant.  Thus, to maximize the 
impact of finite resources, long-term 
improvements are expected to be 
implemented when a road is completely 
reconstructed (not just resurfaced).  
Eventually, bike lanes should be added to all 
arterial and collector roadways and significant 
local roadways.  Generally roads with ADTs 
below 3,500 vehicles per day do not require 
bike lanes.  
 
Please refer to Fig. 3.4A for a map of the proposed bike lanes. 
 
  

Bike Lane 

7B

Eventually, bike lanes should be added to all
arterial and collector roadways and significant
local roadways. 



 
Page 56  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN        

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
3.5    BUFFERED BIKE LANES 

DESCRIPTION 
Buffered bikes lanes are conventional bike lanes paired 
with a designated space separating the bicycle lane 
from the motor vehicle lane. Similar to bike lanes, 
bicyclists travel with the flow of traffic. Pavement 
striping, markings and signage are used to delineate the 
lane.   
 
When the buffer area between the bike lane and motor 
vehicle lane has a physical barrier, such as curbs, the 
facility is called a cycle track. 
 
For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to 
Chapter 9 of the MUTCD, Chapter 4 of AASHTO’s Guide 
for the Development of Bicycle Facilities, and the 
Buffered Bike Lane section of NACTO’s Urban Bikeway 
Design Guide. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
On S. Eton Road between W. Maple Road and W. 
Lincoln Street there is potential to add buffered bike 
lanes to the west side of the road by removing on-street 
parking from that side of the street.  Due to the 
proximity of the Rail District, parking would remain on 
the east side of the street.  See the Network 
Implementation Plan for more details. 
 
There is potential to enhance the bicycle and pedestrian 
environment along Woodward Avenue.  Bike lanes could be added to the service drive with a 
curbed buffer area between the bike lane and Woodward Avenue.   Please refer to the Special 
Area Concept Plans for more details. 
 
Please refer to Fig. 3.5A for a map of the proposed buffered bike lanes.  

Buffered Bike Lanes 

Cycle Track 

7B



   November 25, 2013 

 
Page 57 

 

FIGURE 3.5A PROPOSED NEAR-TERM BIKE LANES 

 

APPROXIMATELY 2.8 MILES OF BUFFERED BIKE LANES ARE 
PROPOSED  

Web Survey Results: 
Around 75% of respondents would be comfortable riding a bike on a cycle track 
 

7B



 
Page 58  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN        

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
3.6    SHARED LANE MARKINGS 

DESCRIPTION 
Shared Lane Markings are used to indicate to bicyclists a 
recommended lane position and to indicate to motorists 
to expect bicycles.  They are used on roads with speeds 
of 35 mph or less.   Shared lane markings may be used 
to help position bicyclists a safe distance from parked 
cars (so that they do not run into opening car doors).  
They are also used in conjunction with bike lanes where 
the bike lane is discontinued for a stretch of roadway 
due to limited road width.  
 
Colored Shared Lane Markings are Shared Lane 
Markings placed on top of a continuous green lane. 
They should be used in areas where a higher level of 
visibility is desired.   
 
For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to 
Chapter 9 of the MUTCD, Chapter 4 of AASHTO’s Guide 
for the Development of Bicycle Facilities, and the 
Bikeway Signing & Marking section of NACTO’s Urban 
Bikeway Design Guide. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
Due to the desire to keep on-street parking, Shared Lane Markings are proposed on most 
collector roads and some arterial roads.  Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan for 
more details. 
 
Colored Shared Lane Markings are proposed on segments of Bowers Street and E Lincoln Street 
where they cross Woodward Avenue. Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan and 
Special Area Concept Plans for more details. 
 
Please refer to Fig. 3.6A for a map of the proposed shared lane markings.  

Shared Lane Marking 

Colored Shared Lane Marking 

7B



   November 25, 2013 

 
Page 59 

 

FIGURE 3.6A PROPOSED SHARED LANE MARKINGS 

 

APPROXIMATELY 10.7 MILES OF 
NEW SHARED LANES MARKINGS 
ARE PROPOSED AND 0.2 MILES 
OF COLORED SHARED LANE 
MARKINGS ARE PROPOSED 

7B



   November 25, 2013 

 
Page 105 

 

PHASE 3:  RECOMMENDED PATHWAYS & SIDEWALKS 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 focus on addressing some of the more critical gaps in the sidewalk system. 
Phase 3 should focus on completing the remaining gaps in the system. Completing sidewalk 
gaps can be costly so it is important to utilize opportunities, especially when a road is 
reconstructed or a property is developed.  
 
The remaining sidewalks and pathways are on City property, school property or in the road 
right-of-way.  

In the future, whenever a site is redeveloped, non-motorized connections should be provided 
either as a sidewalk along a roadway with bike lanes or a shared-use pathway.   

 
  

7B



Page 108 

PHASE 3: RECOMMENDED BICYCLE FACILITIES 
With the exception of paving the shoulder on S Cranbrook Road, the remainder of the proposed 
bicycle facilities can be implemented quite easily within the existing roadway with pavement 
markings. 

With time, as bicycle levels increase there may be a desire to add a designated bike lane in 
place of shared lane markings.  For many of the roadways this would mean removing on-street 
parking or widening the roadway. Where the removal of on-street parking is not an option or 
not desired, the cost to add bike lanes to the roadway independent of a road reconstruction 
project would be significant.  Thus to maximize the impact of finite resources bicycle lanes 
should be implemented when the road is completely reconstructed. 

7B

With time, as bicycle levels increase there may be a desire to add a designated bike lane in
place of shared lane markings.  For many of the roadways this would mean removing on-street
parking or widening the roadway. Where the removal of on-street parking is not an option or 
not desired, the cost to add bike lanes to the roadway independent of a road reconstruction 
project would be significant.  Thus to maximize the impact of finite resources bicycle lanes 
should be implemented when the road is completely reconstructed.



R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

Is
su

es
: T

he
re

 a
re

 a
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 n
um

be
r o

f b
icy

cli
st

s 
w

ho
 tr

av
er

se
 a

lo
ng

 S
. E

to
n 

Ro
ad

. 
Th

e 
cu

rr
en

t r
oa

d 
co

nd
iti

on
s i

n 
th

e 
Ra

il 
Di

st
ric

t a
re

 n
ot

 fa
vo

ra
bl

e 
to

 th
os

e 
tr

av
el

lin
g 

by
 

bi
ke

 b
ec

au
se

 n
o 

de
m

ar
ca

tio
n 

ex
ist

s  
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
pa

rk
in

g 
la

ne
s a

nd
 th

e 
dr

iv
in

g 
la

ne
s. 

Su
gg

es
tio

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 m
ad

e 
to

 o
rg

an
ize

 th
e 

st
re

et
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 m
ak

e 
co

nd
iti

on
s s

af
er

 
fo

r c
yc

lis
ts

. As
 sh

ow
n 

in
 th

e 
pi

ct
ur

e 
ab

ov
e,

 a
 b

icy
cli

st
 ri

de
s t

hr
ou

gh
 a

 n
ar

ro
w

 st
re

tc
h 

of
 

S.
Et

on
 w

he
re

 ca
rs

 a
re

 p
ar

ke
d 

on
 b

ot
h 

sid
es

. B
icy

cli
st

s i
n 

th
e 

Co
rr

id
or

cu
rr

en
tly

 sh
ar

e 
la

ne
s w

ith
 v

eh
icl

e 
tr

af
fic

.

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

: A
dd

 a
 b

ike
 la

ne
 o

r s
ha

rr
ow

sa
nd

 b
uf

fe
rs

 to
 S

. E
to

n 
fro

m
 Yo

se
m

ite
 to

 
14

 M
ile

. S
ee

 il
lu

st
ra

tio
ns

  t
o 

th
e 

rig
ht

 fo
r d

es
ig

n 
op

tio
ns

. 

Bi
ke

 la
ne

s a
re

 d
es

ig
na

te
d 

ar
ea

s o
n 

a 
ro

ad
 th

at
 ru

n 
al

on
gs

id
e 

th
e 

flo
w

 o
f v

eh
icl

e 
tr

af
fic

. 
W

hi
le

 it
 is

 co
m

m
on

 to
 ch

an
ne

l o
n-

st
re

et
 b

icy
cli

st
s u

sin
g 

a 
sin

gl
e 

lin
e 

to
 d

iv
id

e 
th

e 
st

re
et

 
la

ne
, t

he
re

 a
re

 o
th

er
 p

op
ul

ar
 ty

pe
s o

f l
an

es
 th

at
 o

ffe
r m

or
e 

pr
ot

ec
tio

n 
an

d 
ta

ke
 u

p 
le

ss
 

sp
ac

e 
on

 th
e 

ro
ad

. O
ne

 ty
pe

 is
 a

 b
uf

fe
re

d 
la

ne
 th

at
 p

ro
vi

de
s a

dd
iti

on
al

 se
pa

ra
tio

n 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
ro

ad
 a

nd
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
la

ne
. A

no
th

er
 ty

pe
 is

 a
 sh

ar
ed

 la
ne

 o
r “

sh
ar

ro
w

”, 
w

hi
ch

 ca
n 

co
m

fo
rt

ab
ly

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

e 
bi

ke
s o

n 
st

re
et

 w
ith

ou
t a

 d
es

ig
na

te
d 

la
ne

. 

De
sig

n 
O

pt
io

n 
1:

 M
ul

ti-
M

od
al

 Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
Pl

an
•

Ad
d 

7’
 S

ou
th

bo
un

d 
Bi

ke
 L

an
e 

–
3’

 B
uf

fe
r –

2x
10

’ D
riv

in
g 

La
ne

s –
10

’ P
ar

ki
ng

 S
pa

ce
•

Re
m

ov
e 

on
-s

tr
ee

t p
ar

ki
ng

 o
n 

w
es

t s
id

e 
of

 S
. E

to
n

De
sig

n 
O

pt
io

n 
2:

 N
or

th
bo

un
d 

&
 S

ou
th

bo
un

d 
Bi

ke
 La

ne
s

•
Ad

d 
5’

 S
ou

th
bo

un
d 

Bi
ke

 L
an

e 
–

2x
10

’ D
riv

in
g 

La
ne

s –
5’

 N
or

th
bo

un
d 

Bi
ke

 L
an

e,
 3

’ B
uf

fe
r –

7’
 P

ar
ki

ng
 S

pa
ce

•
Re

m
ov

e 
on

-s
tr

ee
t p

ar
ki

ng
 o

n 
w

es
t s

id
e 

of
 S

. E
to

n

De
sig

n 
O

pt
io

n 
3:

 S
ha

rr
ow

sa
nd

 B
uf

fe
rs

•
M

ar
k 

7’
 P

ar
ki

ng
 S

pa
ce

 –
3’

 B
uf

fe
r –

2x
10

’ D
riv

in
g 

La
ne

 –
3’

 B
uf

fe
r –

7’
 P

ar
ki

ng
 S

pa
ce

7B



R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

Is
su

es
: S

om
e 

cr
os

sw
al

ks
 a

nd
 in

te
rs

ec
tio

ns
 a

lo
ng

 S
. E

to
n 

Ro
ad

 
ar

e 
da

ng
er

ou
s d

ue
 to

 th
e 

la
ck

 o
f v

isi
bi

lit
y 

th
ey

 cr
ea

te
 fo

r 
pe

de
st

ria
ns

 a
tt

em
pt

in
g 

to
 cr

os
s t

he
 st

re
et

. T
ra

ffi
c i

s h
ea

vy
 a

nd
 

of
te

n 
ex

ce
ed

s t
he

 p
os

te
d 

sp
ee

d 
lim

it.
 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 C
on

st
ru

ct
 b

um
p-

ou
t c

ur
bs

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
st

ud
y 

ar
ea

.

A 
bu

m
p-

ou
t c

ur
b 

is 
a 

tr
af

fic
 ca

lm
in

g 
m

et
ho

d 
in

 w
hi

ch
 a

 
sid

ew
al

k 
is 

ex
te

nd
ed

 to
 re

du
ce

 th
e 

cr
os

sin
g 

di
st

an
ce

 a
t 

in
te

rs
ec

tio
n.

 In
 d

oi
ng

 so
, s

ig
ht

 d
ist

an
ce

 a
nd

 si
gh

t l
in

es
 fo

r 
pe

de
st

ria
ns

 a
re

 im
pr

ov
ed

, v
eh

icl
es

 a
re

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
d 

to
 sl

ow
 

do
w

n,
 a

nd
 p

ar
ke

d 
ca

rs
 a

re
 p

re
ve

nt
ed

 fr
om

 o
bs

tr
uc

tin
g 

cr
os

sw
al

k 
ar

ea
s. 

Th
e 

m
ap

 to
 th

e 
rig

ht
 il

lu
st

ra
te

s t
he

 lo
ca

tio
ns

 fo
r e

ac
h 

of
 th

e 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

bu
m

p-
ou

t c
ur

bs
 a

lo
ng

 S
. E

to
n.

 B
um

p-
ou

t c
ur

bs
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
by

 th
e 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
, w

hi
ch

 a
re

 d
en

ot
ed

 b
y 

a 
bl

ue
 

st
ar

, a
re

 lo
ca

te
d 

al
on

g 
S.

 E
to

n 
at

 E
. M

ap
le

, P
al

m
er

, a
nd

 
W

eb
st

er
. G

re
en

 st
ar

s i
nd

ica
te

  b
um

p-
ou

t c
ur

bs
 re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

ex
pl

ici
tly

 b
y 

th
e 

M
M

TP
 a

nd
 a

re
 lo

ca
te

d 
at

 Yo
se

m
ite

, V
ill

a,
 a

nd
 

Co
le

. L
as

tly
, b

um
p-

ou
t c

ur
bs

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
by

 b
ot

h 
th

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 a
nd

 M
M

TP
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
ro

po
se

d 
fo

r t
he

 
in

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
at

 H
ol

la
nd

 a
nd

 S
 E

to
n 

an
d 

ar
e 

de
no

te
d 

by
 a

 y
el

lo
w

 
st

ar
. 

Pl
ea

se
 a

lso
 n

ot
e 

th
e 

sa
m

pl
e 

en
gi

ne
er

in
g 

dr
aw

in
g 

of
 p

ro
po

se
d 

im
pr

ov
ed

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

cr
os

sin
gs

 a
t B

ow
er

s a
nd

 S
. E

to
n.

 A
s 

de
m

on
st

ra
te

d,
 th

e 
in

st
al

la
tio

n 
of

 tw
o 

bu
m

p-
ou

t c
ur

bs
 a

nd
 a

 
cu

rb
 e

xt
en

sio
n 

at
 th

is 
in

te
rs

ec
tio

n 
co

ul
d 

pr
ov

id
e 

a 
sa

fe
r, 

m
or

e 
vi

sib
le

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

cr
os

sin
g 

po
in

t w
ith

ou
t o

bs
tr

uc
tin

g 
rig

ht
 a

nd
 

le
ft 

tu
rn

 a
cc

es
sib

ili
ty

 fo
r v

eh
icl

es
. T

he
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 fu
rt

he
r 

re
co

m
m

en
ds

 th
e 

us
e 

of
 b

ric
k 

pa
ve

rs
 o

r o
th

er
 m

at
er

ia
ls 

to
 

cr
ea

te
 a

 p
la

za
 fe

el
 a

t t
hi

s i
nt

er
se

ct
io

n.
 B

en
ch

es
, p

la
nt

er
s, 

an
d 

bi
cy

cle
 p

ar
ki

ng
 a

re
 a

lso
 re

co
m

m
en

de
d.

 

Th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 a

re
 o

ffe
re

d 
by

 th
e 

Ad
 H

oc
 R

ai
l D

ist
ric

t C
om

m
itt

ee
. 

7B



Ex
is

tin
g 

Pa
rk

in
g

A 
Pa

rk
in

g 
in

ve
nt

or
y w

as
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 in
 th

e 
st

ud
y 

ar
ea

 fo
r a

 b
et

te
r 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g 
of

 w
he

n 
an

d 
w

he
re

 p
ar

ki
ng

 sp
ac

es
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 u
til

ize
d.

 A
 m

ap
 

of
 to

ta
l s

pa
ce

s w
as

 c
re

at
ed

 fo
r p

riv
at

e 
lo

ts
 a

nd
 o

n 
st

re
et

 p
ar

ki
ng

. T
he

 re
su

lts
 

ar
e 

ill
us

tr
at

ed
 in

 F
ig

ur
e 

1,
 a

nd
 sh

ow
 a

n 
ex

ist
in

g 
pa

rk
in

g 
co

un
t o

f 2
,4

80
 

sp
ac

es
 in

 th
e 

st
ud

y 
ar

ea
 a

nd
 su

rr
ou

nd
in

g 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
.

A 
pa

rk
in

g 
st

ud
y 

w
as

 a
lso

 co
m

pl
et

ed
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

pa
rk

in
g 

ut
ili

za
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

st
ud

y 
ar

ea
. P

ar
ki

ng
 co

un
ts

 w
er

e 
co

nd
uc

te
d 

by
 ci

ty
 st

af
f a

t 4
, 5

, a
nd

 6
pm

 o
n 

Fr
id

ay
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
3r

d 
an

d 
W

ed
ne

sd
ay

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 3

0t
h,

 a
nd

 th
e 

da
ta

 w
as

 
th

en
 a

na
ly

ze
d.

 

Th
e 

co
ns

ul
tin

g 
fir

m
 F

le
is

an
d 

Va
nd

en
br

in
k

w
as

 co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 to

 cr
ea

te
 a

 re
po

rt
 

fo
r t

he
 co

un
t s

tu
di

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 su

m
m

ar
y 

ta
bl

es
 sh

ow
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

sp
ac

es
, 

oc
cu

pi
ed

 sp
ac

es
, a

nd
 p

er
ce

nt
 o

cc
up

an
cy

 ra
te

 fo
r t

he
 n

or
th

 a
nd

 so
ut

h 
zo

ne
s 

of
 th

e 
st

ud
y a

re
a.

 A
n 

an
al

ys
is 

an
d 

co
nc

lu
sio

n 
ba

se
d 

up
on

 th
e 

fin
di

ng
s w

as
 

th
en

 m
ad

e 
fo

r o
ff 

st
re

et
 a

nd
 o

n 
st

re
et

 p
ar

ki
ng

 si
tu

at
io

ns
 in

 e
ac

h 
of

 th
e 

zo
ne

s.

Co
un

t d
at

a 
w

as
 th

en
 e

nt
er

ed
 in

to
 a

 m
ap

 fo
r e

ac
h 

da
y 

an
d 

tim
e 

of
 th

e 
st

ud
y. 

Th
e 

m
ap

s o
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
pa

ge
s i

nd
ica

te
 th

e 
to

ta
l c

ou
nt

s f
or

 e
ac

h 
ho

ur
 o

f 
on

 st
re

et
 a

nd
 o

ff 
st

re
et

 p
ar

ki
ng

 sp
ac

es
, a

nd
 co

lo
r c

od
e 

th
e 

pe
rc

en
t 

oc
cu

pa
nc

y 
ra

te
 in

 cl
as

se
s f

or
 0

, 1
-3

3%
, 3

4-
66

%
, a

nd
 6

7-
10

0%
. T

he
se

 m
ap

s 
ar

e 
sh

ow
n 

sid
e 

by
 si

de
 to

 v
isu

al
ly

 il
lu

st
ra

te
 th

e 
in

te
ns

iti
es

 o
f p

ar
ki

ng
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t, 

an
d 

ho
w

 th
e 

pa
rk

in
g 

oc
cu

pa
nc

y 
ra

te
s c

ha
ng

e 
fro

m
 4

-6
pm

in
 th

e 
st

ud
y 

ar
ea

.

Fi
gu

re
 1

Cu
rr

en
t T

ot
al

 P
ar

ki
ng

O
n 

St
re

et
: 9

41
O

ff 
St

re
et

: 1
53

9
To

ta
l: 

24
80

7B



S.
Et

on
 R

d
-9

 o
ut

 o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-1

6 
ou

t o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-P

ar
ki

ng
 lo

ts
 o

ff 
of

 C
ol

e 
St

re
et

 a
t o

r n
ea

r c
ap

ac
ity

-G
rif

fin
 C

la
w

 a
lre

ad
y 

ab
ov

e 
66

%
 ca

pa
cit

y

Re
sid

en
tia

l P
ar

ki
ng

-Y
os

em
ite

 a
nd

 V
ill

a 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

ov
er

flo
w

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e
ev

en
in

g.
-V

ill
a 

st
ay

s b
et

w
ee

n 
33

-6
6%

 o
cc

up
an

cy
 ra

te
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

th
e 

Fr
id

ay
 st

ud
y.

S.
Et

on
 R

d
-1

6 
ou

t o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-2

1 
ou

t o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-T

he
 lo

ts
 o

ff 
of

 C
ol

e 
St

re
et

 b
eg

in
 to

 cl
ea

r o
ut

-T
w

o 
of

 th
e 

pa
rc

el
s  

ab
ov

e 
66

%
 a

re
 a

ut
o 

re
pa

ir
sh

op
s w

ith
 o

ut
do

or
 ve

hi
cle

 st
or

ag
e.

S.
Et

on
 R

d
-2

6 
ou

t o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-3

0 
ou

t o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d
*t

he
 h

ig
he

st
 o

cc
up

an
cy

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
st

ud
y

-0
 sp

ac
es

 o
n 

w
es

t s
id

e,
 so

ut
h 

of
 H

ol
la

nd
 a

re
 u

se
d 

 th
e

en
tir

e 
ev

en
in

g

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-G

rif
fin

 C
la

w
 p

ar
ki

ng
 lo

t r
ea

ch
es

  c
ap

ac
ity

.
-O

nl
y 

2 
of

 1
1 

sp
ac

es
 a

re
 u

se
d 

in
 W

hi
st

le
 S

to
p.

-0
 sp

ac
es

 a
re

 u
se

d 
ou

ts
id

e 
of

 B
ol

ya
rd

Lu
m

be
r.

-R
ob

ot
 G

ar
ag

e/
W

at
ch

 H
ill

 lo
t n

ev
er

 e
xc

ee
ds

 6
6%

.

Ex
is

tin
g 

Pa
rk

in
g

7B



S.
Et

on
-7

 o
ut

 o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-1

7 
ou

t o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-C

ol
e 

St
re

et
’s 

hi
gh

es
t o

cc
up

an
cy

 ra
te

 fo
r o

ff 
st

re
et

 lo
ts

oc
cu

rs
 o

n 
w

ee
kd

ay
 d

ur
in

g 
re

gu
la

r b
us

in
es

s h
ou

rs
.

S.
Et

on
-4

 o
ut

 o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-1

3 
ou

t o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d
*l

ow
es

t o
cc

up
an

cy
 in

 th
e 

st
ud

y

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-T

he
 m

aj
or

ity
 o

f C
ol

e 
St

re
et

 p
ar

ki
ng

 lo
ts

 cl
ea

r o
ut

 a
fte

r
5 

pm
.

S.
Et

on
-8

 o
ut

 o
f 6

0 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

w
es

t s
id

e 
ar

e 
us

ed
-9

 o
ut

 o
f 6

3 
sp

ac
es

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 si
de

 a
re

 u
se

d
*l

ow
es

t o
cc

up
an

cy
 in

 th
e 

st
ud

y

O
ff 

St
re

et
 P

ar
ki

ng
-G

rif
fin

 C
la

w
’s 

pe
ak

 p
ar

ki
ng

 h
ou

rs
 in

cr
ea

se
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e
ev

en
in

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

re
st

 o
f t

he
 p

ar
ce

ls 
sh

ow
 a

 d
ec

re
as

e
in

 u
se

.
-S

ha
re

d 
Pa

rk
in

g 
ag

re
em

en
ts

 w
or

k 
be

st
 w

he
n 

ad
ja

ce
nt

or
 n

ea
rb

y p
ar

ce
ls 

ha
ve

 d
iff

er
en

t p
ea

k 
pa

rk
in

g 
tim

es
.

Ex
is

tin
g 

Pa
rk

in
g

7B



R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

Is
su

e:
  M

an
y 

pr
op

er
tie

s a
re

 d
om

in
at

ed
 b

y 
ex

ce
ss

iv
el

y 
la

rg
e 

pa
rk

in
g 

lo
ts

 th
at

 a
re

 
no

t b
ei

ng
 e

ffi
cie

nt
ly

 u
se

d.
 V

as
t p

ar
ki

ng
 lo

ts
 in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
t a

re
 v

ac
at

ed
 a

fte
r p

ea
k 

bu
sin

es
s h

ou
rs

 a
nd

 re
m

ai
n 

em
pt

y 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ev
en

in
g 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 re

st
ric

te
d 

ac
ce

ss
, w

hi
le

 o
th

er
 lo

ts
 o

ve
rfl

ow
 a

ro
un

d 
re

st
au

ra
nt

s i
n 

th
e 

ev
en

in
gs

. 

Sh
ar

ed
 p

ar
ki

ng
 is

 a
 la

nd
 u

se
 st

ra
te

gy
 th

at
 e

ffi
cie

nt
ly

 u
se

s p
ar

ki
ng

 ca
pa

cit
y 

by
 

al
lo

w
in

g 
ad

ja
ce

nt
 a

nd
/o

r c
om

pa
tib

le
 la

nd
 u

se
s t

o 
sh

ar
e 

sp
ac

es
, i

ns
te

ad
 o

f 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

se
pa

ra
te

 sp
ac

es
 fo

r s
ep

ar
at

e 
us

es
. O

fte
n,

 a
 sh

ar
ed

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
gr

ee
m

en
t i

s 
pu

t i
n 

pl
ac

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
tw

o 
or

 m
or

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 o

w
ne

rs
 a

nd
 th

e 
ju

ris
di

ct
io

n 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

es
 o

n 
a 

sit
e 

ar
e 

m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

fo
r o

th
er

 u
se

s a
t d

iff
er

en
t t

im
es

 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

da
y.

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n:

 E
nc

ou
ra

ge
 sh

ar
ed

 p
ar

ki
ng

 in
 th

e 
di

st
ric

t b
y 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
th

e 
zo

ni
ng

 
in

ce
nt

iv
es

 fo
r p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s a
nd

/o
r b

us
in

es
se

s t
ha

t r
ec

or
d 

a 
sh

ar
ed

 p
ar

ki
ng

 
ag

re
em

en
t. 

In
ce

nt
iv

es
 co

ul
d 

in
clu

de
 p

ar
ki

ng
 re

du
ct

io
ns

, s
et

ba
ck

 re
du

ct
io

ns
, h

ei
gh

t 
bo

nu
se

s, 
la

nd
sc

ap
e 

cr
ed

its
, o

r s
im

ila
r o

ffe
rs

. 

Am
en

d 
th

e 
sh

ar
ed

 p
ar

ki
ng

 p
ro

vi
sio

ns
 to

 si
m

pl
ify

 th
e 

ca
lcu

la
tio

ns
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

pa
rk

in
g 

ba
se

d 
on

 in
du

st
ry

 st
an

da
rd

s a
nd

 e
lim

in
at

e 
th

e 
ne

ed
 to

 h
ire

 a
 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
 to

 p
re

pa
re

 sh
ar

ed
 p

ar
ki

ng
 st

ud
ie

s. 
Se

e 
 ta

bl
e 

to
 th

e 
rig

ht
 fo

r a
n 

ex
am

pl
e 

of
 a

 sh
ar

ed
 p

ar
ki

ng
 ca

lcu
la

tio
n 

fro
m

 V
ict

or
ia

 Tr
an

sp
or

t P
ol

icy
 In

st
itu

te
. 

Em
pt

y 
pa

rk
in

g 
lo

ts
 

ca
n 

be
 fo

un
d 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
st

ud
y 

ar
ea

. 

Th
is 

ta
bl

e 
de

fin
es

 th
e 

pe
rc

en
t o

f t
he

 b
as

ic 
m

in
im

um
 n

ee
de

d 
du

rin
g 

ea
ch

 ti
m

e 
pe

rio
d 

fo
r s

ha
re

d 
pa

rk
in

g.
 

(M
-F

 =
 M

on
da

y 
to

 F
rid

ay
)

Us
es

M
-F

M
-F

M
-F

Sa
t. 

&
 

Su
n.

Sa
t. 

&
 S

un
.

Sa
t. 

&
 S

un
.

8a
m

-5
pm

6p
m

-1
2a

m
12

am
-6

am
8a

m
-5

pm
6p

m
-1

2a
m

12
am

-6
am

Re
sid

en
tia

l
60

%
10

0%
10

0%
80

%
10

0%
10

0%
O

ffi
ce

/ W
ar

eh
ou

se
 

/In
du

st
ria

l
10

0%
20

%
5%

5%
5%

5%

Co
m

m
er

cia
l

90
%

80
%

5%
10

0%
70

%
5%

Ho
te

l
70

%
10

0%
10

0%
70

%
10

0%
10

0%
Re

st
au

ra
nt

70
%

10
0%

10
%

70
%

10
0%

20
%

M
ov

ie
 T

he
at

er
40

%
80

%
10

%
80

%
10

0%
10

%
En

te
rt

ai
nm

en
t

40
%

10
0%

10
%

80
%

10
0%

50
%

Co
nf

er
en

ce
/C

on
ve

nt
io

n
10

0%
10

0%
5%

10
0%

10
0%

5%

In
st

itu
tio

na
l (

no
n-

ch
ur

ch
)

10
0%

20
%

5%
10

%
10

%
5%

In
st

itu
tio

na
l (

ch
ur

ch
)

10
%

5%
5%

10
0%

50
%

5%

Co
ur

te
sy

 o
f V

ict
or

ia
 Tr

an
sp

or
t P

ol
icy

 In
st

itu
te

7B



MEMO 

27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 195 
Farmington Hills, MI 48334 

P: 248.536.0080 
F: 248.536.0079 

821810 823805 S.Eton Before & After Memo 9-30-21 www.fveng.com

VIA EMAIL 

From: 
Julie M. Kroll, P.E., PTOE 
Ben W. Schebler
Fleis & VandenBrink 

Date: September 30, 2021 

Re: 
S. Eton Street Bike Lane Installation 
City of Birmingham, Michigan 
Before & After Study

INTRODUCTION 
This memorandum presents the methodologies, analyses, and results of  the Before & Af ter Study for the S. 
Eton Street bike lane installation between Yosemite Boulevard and Lincoln Street in the City of  Birmingham, 
Michigan.  The scope of  this study was developed based on Fleis & VandenBrink’s (F&V) knowledge of  the 
study area, information provided by City of  Birmingham, accepted traf f ic engineering practice, and 
methodologies published by the Institute of  Transportation Engineers (ITE).  

DATA COLLECTION
The data used in this study was performed prior to May 2019 to evaluate the Before conditions without the bike 
lane installation and the After conditions data collection was performed af ter July 2019.  The following data was 
collected during these analysis periods: 

 Crash Data 
 Traf f ic Volumes  
 Speed Data 

The results before and af ter analysis for each of  these metrics are summarized herein. 

Crash Analysis 
The crash data used in the study was provided by the Birmingham Police Department. The data includes three 
(3) years of  data before (May 2017 to May 2019) and af ter (July 2019 to July 2021) the bike lane installation. 
The crash analysis evaluated three (3) years for both conditions as summarized in Table 1.  The results of  the 
analysis showed an overall crash reduction of  44%.  
The crashes were evaluated to determine the bike lane impact on the pedestrian/bike crashes and those 
associated with the driveways (backing) and on-street parking.  The results of  the analysis show that the 
pedestrian crashes were eliminated with bike lane addition and the backing crashes were reduced.  No crashes 
associated with parking or bicycles was reported for either the before or af ter condition. The crashes with injuries 
were reviewed, and the injuries were reduced by 67% af ter the bike lane installation as summarized in Table 
2. 
  

7B



S. Eton Street Bike Lane Installation | Before & Af ter Study 
September 30, 2021 2 of  4 

 

823805 Eton St Before & After Memo 9-29-21   

Table 1: Crash Analysis Summary Table 

Crash Type Before Condition 
No Bike Lane 

After Condition 
With Bike Lane Difference % 

Difference 
Misc One (1) Vehicle 0 0 0 0% 
Animal 0 0 0 0% 
Fixed Object 1 0 -1 -100% 
Pedestrian 1 0 -1 -100% 
Bicycle 0 0 0 0% 
Head On 0 0 0 0% 
Head On Left-Turn 0 1 1 100% 
Angle 11 11 0 0% 
Rear End  12 3 -9 -75% 
Sideswipe-Same 10 5 -5 -50% 
Sideswipe-Opposite 2 0 -2 -100% 
Other Drive 0 0 0 0% 
Overturn 0 0 0 0% 
Dual Right Turn 0 0 0 0% 
Backing 4 3 -1 -25% 
Parking 0 0 0 0% 

Total 41 23 -18 -44% 

Table 2: Crash Injury Severity Table 

Severity 

Worst Injury in Crash (3 Years) 
Before Condition 

No Bike Lane 
After Condition 
With Bike Lane Difference % 

Difference 
Fatality 0 0 0.00 0% 

Suspected Major Injury (A) 0 0 0.00 0% 

Suspected Minor Injury (B) 1 1 0.00 0% 

Possible Injury (C) 5 1 -4.00 -80% 

Total 6 2 -4.00 -67% 

Traffic Volumes 
Traf f ic volume data was collected for a period of  four (4) hours f rom 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM during a typical 
weekday and f rom 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM on a typical Saturday for the analysis periods.  The Before data collection 
was performed in June 2018 and the After data was performed in July 2021.  Additionally, the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board requested AM traf f ic counts to be performed, therefore volume data includes 7:00 AM to 
11:00 AM in July 2021 only.  The data collection included vehicle classif ications and pedestrian and bike data 
at the following intersections with S. Eton Street: 

 Maple Road 
 Villa Road 
 Bowers Street 
 Lincoln Street 
 Shef f ield Road 

The traf f ic volume data is summarized in Table 3 and shows that overall, the entering traf f ic volumes within the 
network have decreased.  This is typical of  current traf f ic volumes which have decreased over pre-COVID 
conditions.  The pedestrian volumes have remained consistent along the corridor, with negligible change.  The 
bicycle volumes have increased signif icantly with the addition of  the bike lane.  The bike traf f ic has more than 
doubled during the af ternoon, and is over 80% higher on Saturday.  Although Before data is not available in the 
AM period, the current number of  bicycle trips is higher in the morning than in the af ternoon before data. 

7B



S. Eton Street Bike Lane Installation | Before & Af ter Study 
September 30, 2021 3 of  4 

 

823805 Eton St Before & After Memo 9-29-21   

Table 3: Traffic Volume Summary-Total Entering Volumes 

 

Speed Data Summary 
The speed data is summarized in Table 4 was collected over a period of  four (4) days by the Birmingham Police 
Department in September 2016 and then af ter the bike lane installation in July 2021.  The results of  the analysis 
show that the average change in speed is 1.5 mph and the 85th percentile speed change is 0.2 mph which is 
negligible.  It should also be noted that the traf f ic volumes have decreased by an average of  more than 10% 
however the average speeds have not increased proportionally to the decrease in traf f ic volumes. 

Table 4: Speed Data Summary Table 

Roadway Segment 

Before Condition 
No Bike Lane 

After Condition 
With Bike Lane Difference 

 
85th 

Percentile 
Average 
Speed 

85th 
Percentile 

Average 
Speed 

85th 
Percentile 

Average 
Speed 

 

 Melton Rd to Humphrey Ave 30.0 mph 25.0 mph 31.9 mph 28.3 mph 1.9 mph 3.3 mph  

Villa Rd to Hazel St 30.0 mph 25.0 mph 28.5 mph 24.6 mph -1.5 mph -0.4 mph  

Average 30.0 mph 25.0 mph 30.2 mph 26.5 mph 0.2 mph 1.5 mph  

  

Weekday 
7AM-11AM 

After 
Condition
With Bike 

Lane

Before 
Condition
No Bike 

Lane

After 
Condition
With Bike 

Lane

Difference % 
Difference

Before 
Condition
No Bike 

Lane

After 
Condition
With Bike 

Lane

Difference % 
Difference

Vehicles 6,021 8,815 8,313 -502 -6% 6,624 6,658 34 1%
Peds 20 30 28 -2 -7% 10 17 7 70%
Bikes 12 14 18 4 29% 35 55 20 57%
Total 6,053 8,859 8,359 -500 6,669 6,730 61

Vehicles 2,001 3,858 2,862 -996 -26% 2,409 2,048 -361 -15%
Peds 55 74 54 -20 -27% 75 52 -23 -31%
Bikes 23 13 26 13 100% 27 75 48 178%
Total 2,079 3,945 2,942 -1,003 2,511 2,175 -336

Vehicles 1,933 3,800 2,709 -1,091 -29% 2,224 1,904 -320 -14%
Peds 39 126 73 -53 -42% 110 108 -2 -2%
Bikes 22 15 29 14 93% 36 88 52 144%
Total 1,994 3,941 2,811 -1,130 2,370 2,100 -270

Vehicles 1,379 4,473 4,267 -206 -5% 2,537 2,006 -531 -21%
Peds 69 28 109 81 289% 29 57 28 97%
Bikes 25 16 40 24 150% 39 80 41 105%
Total 1,473 4,517 4,416 -101 2,605 2,143 -462

Vehicles 1,270 2,333 1,852 -481 -21% 1,320 1,206 -114 -9%
Peds 41 24 23 -1 -4% 29 22 -7 -24%
Bikes 15 4 16 12 300% 37 20 -17 -46%
Total 1,326 2,361 1,891 -470 1,386 1,248 -138

Vehicles 12,604 23,279 20,003 -3,276 -14% 15,114 13,822 -1,292 -9%
Peds 224 282 287 5 2% 253 256 3 1%
Bikes 97 62 129 67 108% 174 318 144 83%
Total 12,925 23,623 20,419 -3,204 15,541 14,396 -1,145

Network Total

Villa Rd & 
S. Eton

Bowers &
S. Eton

Lincoln &
S. Eton

Shefield &
S. Eton

Maple Rd & 
S. Eton

Intersection Type

Saturday 2PM -6PM Weekday 2PM-6PM

7B



S. Eton Street Bike Lane Installation | Before & Af ter Study
September 30, 2021 4 of  4 

 

823805 Eton St Before & After Memo 9-29-21   

CONCLUSIONS 
The results of  this analysis are summarized below and show that addition of  the bike lane reduced crashes, 
increased the number of  bicycles, and did not have a signif icant impact on the adjacent roadway speeds. 
 
Crashes 

 The results of  the analysis showed an overall crash reduction of  44%.  
 The pedestrian crashes were eliminated, and the backing crashes were reduced af ter the addition of  

the bike lane.  No crashes associated with parking or bicycles were reported. 
 The crashes with injuries were reduced by 67% af ter the addition of  the bike lane. 

Traffic Volumes 

 Vehicle volumes have decreased since the bike lane was installed, however COVID has impacted the 
volume vehicle traf f ic on the adjacent roadways and may not be necessarily due to increases in 
pedestrian and bicycle traf f ic. 

 The pedestrian volumes have remained consistent along the corridor, with negligible change. 
 The bicycle volumes have more than doubled during the af ternoon and are over 80% higher on 

Saturday with the addition of  the bike lane. 

Speed Data 

 The corridor speeds have increased on average 1.5 mph and the 85th percentile speeds have increased  
by only 0.2 mph, which is negligible. 

 It should also be noted that the traf f ic volumes have decreased by an average of  more than 10%, 
however the average speeds have not increased proportional to the decrease in traf f ic volumes. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is recommended that a bicycle facility is provided on S. Eton Street and the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
consider the permanent design and operations of  multi-modal inf rastructure on this corridor.  The results of  this 
evaluation show that the pilot project successfully increased bicycle activity along the corridor and reduced 
crashes.  Additional areas of  focus for future inf rastructure include: additional traf f ic calming measures to reduce 
speeds, and pedestrian facility enhancements to increase pedestrian activity and enhance safety.  
 
END 

7B

The results of  this analysis are summarized below and show that addition of  the bike lane reduced crashes,y
increased the number of  bicycles, and did not have a signif icant impact on the adjacent roadway speeds.

It is recommended that a bicycle facility is provided on S. Eton Street and the Multi-Modal Transportation Boardy y p
consider the permanent design and operations of  multi-modal inf rastructure on this corridor. 



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



7B



City of Royal Oak Master Plan 2012 Amendment 

Non-Motorized Transportation Plan Page 115 

7B



City of Royal Oak Master Plan 2012 Amendment 

Non-Motorized Transportation Plan Page 108 

Potential Bicycle Routes Map

The Potential Bike Route Map was developed by city staff and adopted in 2008. It identifies both 
major bike routes used by experienced cyclists in Royal Oak and surrounding communities, and 
minor bike routes used to get through neighborhoods and connect to parks and schools. 

Woodward Avenue Action Association

The Woodward Avenue Action Association (WA3) formed in 1996 as a nonprofit economic 
development organization representing communities along Woodward Avenue. The WA3 has 
been successful in obtaining Michigan Heritage Route, National Scenic Byway, and All-
American Road designations for Woodward Avenue as well as close to $5 million in federal 
funding for various economic development, tourism, promotion and preservation efforts. A 
number of operating / planning documents have been approved to guide improvement projects 
along Woodward Avenue, including a Byway Corridor Management Plan, Attractions and 
Historic Sites, Public Spaces Design Framework Plan, a Transit-Oriented Development Corridor 
Study, and their own Non-Motorized Plan. 

Other Plans & Studies

The City of Royal Oak has initiated various other planning efforts in the past, including the 
following: the General Development Plan (Master Plan) adopted in 1968 and updated in 1999 
and 2012; the Eleven Mile Road Corridor Plan adopted in 1989; the Parks & Recreation Master 

7B



7B



7B



7B



programming

24CI
TY

 O
F 

TR
OY

 P
AT

HW
AY

 P
LA

N 
 

Th
e P

lan
 at

 ri
gh

t r
ep

re
se

nt
s t

he
 cu

m
ula

tiv
e d

es
ign

 ba
se

d o
n 

pr
eli

m
ina

ry 
pla

ns
 an

d t
he

 de
sir

es
 of

 th
e C

ity
 of

 Tr
oy

 an
d t

he
 TT

C. 
 Th

e 
pla

n i
llu

str
at

es
 ro

ut
es

, d
es

tin
at

ion
s, 

cro
ssi

ng
s a

nd
 fu

tu
re

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts.

Be
low

 is
 a 

lis
t o

f d
es

ire
d a

nd
 po

ten
tia

l p
ro

jec
ts,

 in
 no

 pa
rti

cu
lar

 or
de

r 
of

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nc
e, 

to
 im

ple
m

en
t t

he
 Tr

oy
 Pa

th
wa

y T
ra

il P
lan

 ke
ye

d 
nu

m
er

ica
lly

 on
 th

e p
lan

.

1. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e p

at
hw

ay
 be

tw
ee

n F
re

dm
oo

r D
riv

e a
nd

 W
oo

dla
nd

 
Ele

m
en

ta
ry 

Sc
ho

ol 
th

ro
ug

h p
riv

at
e p

ro
pe

rty
.

2. 
Bo

ar
dw

alk
 th

ro
ug

h w
etl

an
d a

re
a.

3. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e p

at
hw

ay
 se

gm
en

t a
lon

g h
os

pit
al.

4. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e o

ff-
ro

ad
 tr

ail
 se

gm
en

t t
hr

ou
gh

 ch
ur

ch
 pr

op
er

ty 
an

d n
eig

hb
or

ho
od

 gr
ee

ns
pa

ce
.

5. 
Ad

d s
ide

pa
th

 al
on

g w
es

t s
ide

 of
 N

or
th

fie
ld 

Pa
rk

wa
y t

hr
ou

gh
 th

e 
Hi

gh
 Sc

ho
ol 

pr
op

er
ty.

6. 
De

sir
e t

o u
se

 ex
ist

ing
 pr

iva
te 

pa
th

wa
y.

7. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e p

at
hw

ay
 al

on
g t

he
 bo

un
da

ry 
of

 Sy
lva

n G
len

 G
olf

 
Co

ur
se

.
8. 

De
sir

e t
o c

re
at

e o
ff-

ro
ad

 tr
ail

 se
gm

en
t t

hr
ou

gh
 ne

igh
bo

rh
oo

d 
gr

ee
ns

pa
ce

 an
d c

hu
rch

 pr
op

er
ty.

9. 
Po

ten
tia

l t
o a

dd
 pa

th
wa

y t
hr

ou
gh

 pr
op

os
ed

 Ci
ty 

Pa
rk

.
10

. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e p

at
hw

ay
 be

tw
ee

n K
irt

s B
ou

lev
ar

d a
nd

 H
eid

e 
Ro

ad
 th

ro
ug

h p
riv

at
e p

ro
pe

rty
.

11
. 

De
sir

e t
o c

re
at

e p
at

hw
ay

 al
on

g c
re

ek
 th

ro
ug

h p
riv

at
e p

ro
pe

rty
.

12
. 

Po
ten

tia
l t

o a
dd

 bi
ke

 la
ne

s.
13

. 
Co

or
din

at
e r

ou
te 

wi
th

 fu
tu

re
 tr

an
sit

 ce
nt

er.
14

. 
De

sir
e t

o c
re

at
e p

at
hw

ay
 th

ro
ug

h e
m

pt
y l

ot
.

15
. 

De
sir

e t
o c

re
at

e p
at

hw
ay

 be
tw

ee
n R

an
kin

 R
oa

d a
nd

 El
m

sfo
rd

 
Dr

ive
 th

ro
ug

h p
riv

at
e p

ro
pe

rty
.

16
. 

Po
ten

tia
l f

or
 fo

ur
 to

 th
re

e l
an

es
 co

nv
er

sio
n o

n C
hic

ag
o R

oa
d t

o 
inc

lud
e b

ike
 la

ne
s.

17
. 

De
sir

e t
o c

re
at

e p
at

hw
ay

 th
ro

ug
h p

riv
at

e p
ro

pe
rty

 be
tw

ee
n E

lli
ot

 
an

d L
ov

ing
to

n R
oa

ds
.

18
. 

De
sir

e t
o c

re
at

e p
at

hw
ay

 to
 Ex

ec
ut

ive
 D

riv
e t

hr
ou

gh
 pr

iva
te 

pr
op

er
ty.

Le
ge

nd
:

Ex
is

ti
n

g
 N

o
n

-M
o
to

ri
ze

d
 F

a
ci

li
ti

e
s

Sh
ar

ed
 U

se
 P

at
hs

Re
gi

on
al

 T
ra

ils

N
at

ur
e 

Tr
ai

ls

P
o
te

n
ti

a
l 
N

o
n

-M
o
to

ri
ze

d
 F

a
ci

li
ti

e
s

Bi
ke

 R
ou

te

N
ea

r 
Te

rm
 B

ik
e 

La
ne

Lo
ng

 T
er

m
 B

ik
e 

La
ne

Pr
io

ri
ty

 B
ik

e 
Ro

ut
e 

/ 
Bi

ke
 B

ou
le

va
rd

Pr
io

ri
ty

 C
om

pl
et

e 
St

re
et

 /
 G

re
en

 S
tr

ee
t

M
un

ic
ip

al
 A

re
as

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
A

re
as

Pr
iv

at
e 

O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e

Pr
op

os
ed

 N
ew

 C
ity

 P
ar

k

W
at

er
 

Pa
rc

el

Ed
uc

at
io

na
l f

ac
ili

ty

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
ac

ili
ty

C
om

m
er

ci
al

In
du

st
ri

al

O
ff

ic
e 

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l

Pu
bl

ic
 /

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e

P
la

ce
s 

o
f 

In
te

re
st

R
o
a

d
 C

ro
ss

in
g

s

Ex
is

ti
n

g
 L

a
n

d
 U

se

Ex
is

tin
g 

Si
gn

al
iz

ed
 C

ro
ss

in
gs

Ro
ad

 C
ro

ss
in

g 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

0
  

  
  

  
  

1
/4

  
  

  
  

 1
/2

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
 M

ile
 

Sc
al

e 
in

 F
ee

t 

19
. 

De
sir

e t
o a

dd
 si

de
pa

th
 on

 w
es

t s
ide

 of
 O

ak
lan

d M
all

 Se
rvi

ce
 

Dr
ive

.
20

.   
Po

ten
tia

l f
or

 si
de

pa
th

 al
on

g n
or

th
 si

de
 of

 Ch
ica

go
 R

oa
d.

21
. 

Po
ten

tia
l f

or
 th

re
e t

o t
wo

 la
ne

 co
nv

er
sio

n t
o i

nc
lud

e 
 

bik
e l

an
es

.

 2
0

  1
  2

  3

  4
  5

  6

  7

  8

  1
0

  9

  1
2

  1
1

  1
3

  1
4

  1
5

  1
6

  1
7

  1
8

  2
1

  2
0

  1
9

7B



SE
M

CO
G’

s B
icy

cle
 a

nd
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
M

ob
ili

ty
 N

et
w

or
k 

 

 

7B



St
ra

va
 C

yc
lin

g 
Gl

ob
al

 H
ea

t M
ap

 

 

7B



AL
T 

B2
 - 

RA
IS

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

 S
B 

/ S
TR

EE
T L

EV
EL

 B
IK

E 
LA

NE
 N

B

AL
T 

B1
 - 

RA
IS

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S, 
BO

TH
 C

UR
BS

 M
OV

E

AL
T 

C3
 - 

ST
RE

ET
 LE

VE
L B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S, 
NO

 C
HA

NG
E T

O 
CU

RB

AL
T 

B3
 - 

RA
IS

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S, 
BO

TH
 C

UR
BS

 M
OV

E

UP
DA

TE
D 

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
E 

B2
NE

W
 A

LT
 - 

ST
RE

ET
 LE

VE
L B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S 
W

IT
H 

ON
-S

TR
EE

T P
AR

KI
NG

MA
RC

H-
AP

RI
L 

PU
BL

IC
 W

OR
KS

HO
P 

AN
D 

MA
Y 

MM
TB

 S
 E

TO
N 

NO
RT

H 
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

ES

7B



28
’

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
UR

B-
TO

-C
UR

B

28
’

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
UR

B-
TO

-C
UR

B
10

’ N
ew

 P
av

em
en

t
10

’ N
ew

 P
av

em
en

t

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
E 

B1
 - 

RA
IS

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S 
(L

OO
KI

NG
 N

OR
TH

)

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
E 

C1
 - 

ST
RE

ET
 LE

VE
L B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S 
(L

OO
KI

NG
 N

OR
TH

)

MA
RC

H 
MM

TB
 S

 E
TO

N 
SO

UT
H 

AL
TE

RN
AT

IV
ES

7B



AL
T 

B1
 - 

RA
IS

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S, 
NO

 C
HA

NG
E T

O 
CU

RB

NE
W

 A
LT

 A
1 

- N
O 

CH
AN

GE
/K

EE
P 

AS
 IS

AL
T 

C1
 - 

ST
RE

ET
 LE

VE
L B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S, 
BO

TH
 C

UR
BS

 M
OV

E

• 
Ad

d 
m

or
e 

sh
ar

ro
w 

m
ar

ki
ng

s +
 si

gn
s 

• 
Fi

ll 
in

 p
ai

nt
ed

 b
um

p-
ou

ts

Ex
ist

in
g 

pa
in

te
d 

bu
m

po
ut

s a
nd

 b
ol

la
rd

s 
Ex

am
pl

e 
sh

ar
ro

w 
sig

na
ge

 

MA
RC

H-
AP

RI
L 

PU
BL

IC
 W

OR
KS

HO
P 

AN
D 

MA
Y 

MM
TB

 S
 E

TO
N 

SO
UT

H 
AL

TE
RN

AT
IV

ES

7B



AL
T 2

 - 
CU

RB
SI

DE
 PA

RK
IN

G 
LA

NE
 O

PT
IO

N

AL
T 1

 - 
EX

IS
TI

NG
 M

OD
IF

IE
D 

CY
CL

E T
RA

CK

AL
T 5

 - 
IM

PR
OV

ED
 S

IG
HT

 D
IS

TA
NC

E, 
NO

 PA
RK

IN
G

AL
T 4

 - 
FL

OA
TI

NG
 PA

RK
IN

G 
AN

D 
BU

FF
ER

ED
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

S

AL
T 3

 - 
CU

RB
SI

DE
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

 O
PT

IO
N 

JU
NE

 M
MT

B 
S 

ET
ON

 N
OR

TH
 A

LT
ER

NA
TI

VE
S

7B



AL
T 1

 - 
CU

RB
SI

DE
 PA

RK
IN

G 
LA

NE
 O

PT
IO

N

AL
T 4

 - 
KE

EP
 A

S 
IS

, A
DD

 S
HA

RR
OW

 M
AR

KI
NG

/S
IG

NA
GE

AL
T 3

 - 
RA

IS
ED

 B
IK

E 
LA

NE
S

AL
T 2

 - 
CU

RB
SI

DE
 B

IK
E 

LA
NE

 O
PT

IO
N 

JU
NE

 M
MT

B 
S 

ET
ON

 S
OU

TH
 A

LT
ER

NA
TI

VE
S

7B



1 

 

MEMORANDUM 
City Manager’s Office 
City Attorney 

DATE: July 19, 2023 

TO: City Commission 

FROM: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: YMCA Lease for 400 E. Lincoln Street, Birmingham 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City of Birmingham was presented with an opportunity to purchase the YMCA building 
and land in the City of Birmingham for the future home of our senior service organization, 
NEXT, and for the ongoing services provided by the YMCA. The purchase agreement with the 
YMCA and the memorandum of understanding with NEXT regarding the property was 
approved by the City Commission on June 5, 2023.   

BACKGROUND: 
After approval of the Purchase Agreement with the YMCA, the City began ordering all required 
title and survey documents that are necessary to proceed to closing on the property, and then 
began negotiating a lease with the YMCA to allow the YMCA to lease their former building and 
property from the City after the City takes ownership of the property at 400 E. Lincoln.  As 
previously discussed, the YMCA, the City and NEXT agreed that the YMCA will continue to provide 
services in the existing building, and will continue to have some responsibility for the maintenance 
of the building and land during a three year transition period. This three year transition period 
will allow time for the future planning, financing, and necessary renovations to provide a 
permanent home for NEXT, and to allow for a continued presence of the YMCA. 

At this time, the City and the YMCA have negotiated a three year lease for the property at 400 E. 
Lincoln, that allows the YMCA to continue to operate in the building, and to pay utility costs and 
building and property maintenance costs.  The proposed lease was drafted based on the format 
of the lease between the City and the Birmingham Bloomfield Art Center that has been in place 

7C



2 

for many years, as well as the Purchase Agreement between the City and the YMCA.  Should the 
City Commission approve the lease with the YMCA, the City is expected to close on the purchase 
of the YMCA property on July 26, 2023. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has drafted and recommend  approval of the proposed lease agreement with 
the YMCA. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The proposed lease agreement with the YMCA will allow the City to recover a substantial 
portion of the building operation and maintenance costs over the next three years as plans 
are finalized for the design and renovations needed to establish a senior center/recreation 
center at 400 E. Lincoln. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
The existing building at 400 E. Lincoln will require significant renovation and replacement of building 
systems in the future.  The proposed lease provides for the YMCA to cover the operation and 
maintenance costs for the building while the City formulates a long term plan for the renovation of 
the building.  All future renovations will consider the use of sustainable materials, low VOC paint, 
energy efficient systems and fixtures, and/or alternative energy sources or other green elements.  

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The proposed purchase of the YMCA property, and the plan to lease the property to the 
YMCA has now been discussed at many City Commission meetings and workshops.   

SUMMARY: 
To complete the next step towards the closing on the property at 400 E. Lincoln and the future use 
of the building, the City Commission is asked to approve a three year lease agreement with the 
YMCA to create a transition period for the future planning and renovation of the building as a senior 
center/recreation center. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Purchase Agreement

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion to adopt a resolution to approve a three (3) year Lease Agreement in the 
amount of $1 per year allowing the YMCA to continue to provide their services at 400 E. Lincoln 
Street after the City closes on the purchase of the property, and further to direct the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the Lease Agreement with the YMCA. 

7C



1 

LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE is made this __________ day of _____________, 2023, by and between the 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, A Michigan Municipal Corporation, the Lessor, whose address is 151 
Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan, 48009, hereinafter designated as the LESSOR, and the 
YOUNG MEN’S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF METROPOLITAN DETROIT, the Lessee, a 
Michigan Non-profit Corporation, whose address is 1401 Broadway, Suite 3A, Detroit, Michigan, 
48266, hereinafter designated as the LESSEE. 

I.

Leasing Agreement and Description

The Lessor, in consideration of the rents to be paid and the covenants and agreements to 
be performed by the Lessee, does hereby Lease to the Lessee the following described premises,
hereinafter referred to as the PROPERTY, and situated in the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, 
Michigan, to-wit:

Approximately 1.52 acres of land commonly known as the Birmingham Family 
YMCA Building located at 400 E. Lincoln Street, Birmingham, MI, 48009.

Tax Parcel No.:  08-19-36-403-032

Attachment A – legal description

II.

Term and Rental

(a) The term of this Lease shall be for a period of three (3) years commencing on
______________, 2023, and ending on ______________, 2026, unless terminated early at the 
Lessee’s or Lessor’s desire, but upon a written notice of three (3) months prior to the termination 
of the Lease.   Lessee shall pay to the Lessor as rent for said premises the sum of One Dollar 
($1.00) per year, payable in advance on the first day of each lease year of the term to this Lease. 

(b) Once the three (3) year lease term between the Lessor and the Lessee is
completed, in 2026, the Lessee may enter into a successive lease with the Lessor wherein the 
Lessee will maintain a presence providing for YMCA services for the community and utilizing 
approximately 10,000 square feet of the Subject Property.

(c) During the initial three (3) year lease term (the effective date is 2023-2026), the
Lessor will begin integration and working collectively with the Lessee and NEXT in order to 
continue to provide YMCA services for the community. 

7C



2 

III.

Alterations and Additions

The Lessee shall make no alterations or additions to the premises without first obtaining 
the written consent of the Lessor.  Any and all permanent improvements made by the Lessee, 
whether to the existing building or land, shall be for the benefit of the Lessor and shall revert to 
the ownership of the Lessor at the conclusion of the term of this Lease.  Should Lessee erect any 
moveable structures on the leased premises, the same can be removed by the Lessee at the 
termination of this Lease, provided, however, that the Lessee return the premises to a condition 
acceptable to Lessor at Lessee’s sole expense. The Lessor agrees to be physically and financially 
responsible for maintaining the subject property and all of its systems at the same level and duty 
of care as at the closing date during the three (3) year lease period. The Lessee agrees that in 
order to satisfy this paragraph, any costs for each individual project in excess of Twenty-five 
Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) shall be shared by the Lessor and Lessee proportioned to the 
party that receives the greatest benefit for such endeavor. Lessor must provide approval of any 
expenditure, purchase, or repair in excess of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) prior to 
said expenditure or repair. The Lessor, however, will not participate in any pool related 
improvements, including and without limitation, any repairs, equipment replacements, 
improvements, capital improvements, maintenance or changes, or any costs associated 
therewith. For the purposes of this Section and for all other sections, “the greatest benefit for 
such endeavor” shall be determined by apportioning the useful life of the item in question, and 
allocating the cost of such item to Lessor for the portion of the useful life attributable to the term 
of this Lease, and allocating the remainder of the costs to Lessor. All improvements, alterations, 
and additions shall become the property of the Lessor and remain with the Property and shall 
remain upon and be surrendered to the Lessor at the expiration of this Lease.

IV.

Obligations of Lessee With Reference to Building and Grounds

During the term of this three (3) year Lease, Lessee agrees to:

(a)  Be responsible for upkeep and maintenance of the premises including, but not limited 
to keeping the interior of the premises, the roof, outer walls, concrete floors, plumbing 
and electrical wiring of the premises including any additional structures constructed 
by the Lessor in as good of repair as when taken, except for reasonable use and wear 
expected. The Lessee agrees that in order to satisfy this paragraph, any costs for each 
individual project in excess of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) shall be 
shared by the Lessor and Lessee proportioned to the party that receives the greatest 
benefit for such endeavor. Lessor must provide approval of any expenditure, purchase, 
or repair in excess of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) prior to said 
expenditure or repair. The Lessor, however, will not participate in any pool related 

7C



3 

improvements, including and without limitation, any repairs, equipment replacements, 
improvements, capital improvements, maintenance or changes, or any costs 
associated therewith. For the purposes of this Section and for all other sections, “the 
greatest benefit for such endeavor” shall be determined by apportioning the useful life 
of the item in question, and allocating the cost of such item to Lessor for the portion 
of the useful life attributable to the term of this Lease, and allocating the remainder 
of the costs to Lessor. All improvements, alterations, and additions shall become the 
property of the Lessor and remain with the Property and shall remain upon and be 
surrendered to the Lessor at the expiration of this Lease.  

(b) Maintain in good condition, the grounds, lawns and shrubbery of the premises and 
provide snow removal services for the parking lot, driveway and surrounding 
sidewalks.   

(c) Be physically and financially responsible for all repairs, replacements and maintenance 
of any and all equipment, including, but not limited to HVAC systems, electrical
systems, utility systems and personal property during the three (3) year lease period. 
  

(d) Not perform any acts, or carry on any practices that may injure the Property or 
adjacent properties, or constitute a nuisance.

V.

Indemnification

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Lessee and any entity or person for whom the 
Lessee is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on behalf of, 
indemnify, and hold harmless the Lessor, its elected and appointed officials, employees and 
volunteers and others working on their behalf against any and all claims, demands, suits, or loss, 
including all costs and reasonable attorney fees connected therewith, and for any damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the Lessor, its elected and appointed 
officials, employees, volunteers or others working on their behalf, by reason of personal injury, 
including bodily injury and death and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, which 
arise out of the acts, errors or omissions of the Lessee including its employees and agents, in the 
performance of this Agreement.  Such responsibility shall not be construed as liability for damage 
caused by or resulting from the sole act or omission of its elected or appointed officials, 
employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the Lessor. 

7C



4 

VI. 

Insurance Requirements

The Lessee shall maintain during the life of this Lease the applicable types of insurance 
coverage and minimum limits as set forth below: 

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance:  

For Non-Sole Proprietorships: Lessee shall procure and maintain during the life of 
this Lease, Workers' Compensation Insurance, including Employers 4 Liability Coverage, 
in accordance with all applicable statutes of the State of Michigan. 

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Lessee shall procure and maintain 
during the life of this Lease, Commercial General Liability Insurance on an "Occurrence 
Basis" with limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single 
limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include the 
following extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; 
(C) Independent Contractor Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability Extensions or 
equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if 
applicable. 

C. Motor Vehicle Liability: Lessee shall procure and maintain during the life of 
this Lease Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including all applicable no-fault coverages, 
with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-
owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles.   

D. Professional Liability: If applicable, professional liability insurance with 
limits of not less than $2,000,000 per claim if Lessee will provide services that are 
customarily subject to this type of coverage. 

E. Fire Coverage Insurance: The Lessee shall carry fire and extended 
coverage insurance on the building and all building improvements in the amount of Five 
Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00), with the proceeds payable to Lessor and Lessee as their 
interests may appear. The Lessee shall carry adequate fire and extended coverage on the 
contents owned by Lessee and Lessor which are permanent in nature, property 
surrendered to the Lessor at the expiration of this Lease, and Property that is removable 
and owned by Lessee.   

F. Additional Insured: All insurances, as described above, shall include an 
endorsement stating the following Additional Insureds: The City of Birmingham, 
including all elected and appointed officials, all employee and volunteers, all 
boards, commissions and/or authorities and board members, including 
employees and volunteers thereof. This coverage shall be primary to any other 

7C



5 

coverage that may be available to the additional insured, whether any other available 
coverage by primary, contributing or excess.

G. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term 
of this Lease, Lessee shall deliver renewal certificates and/or policies to the Lessor at least 
(10) days prior to the expiration date. 

H. Proof of Insurance Coverage: Lessee shall provide the Lessor at the time 
the Lease is returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance and/or policies, acceptable 
to the Lessor, as listed below. 

1. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, or a signed and notarized copy of the Sole Proprietor Form; 

2. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General Liability               
Insurance; 

3. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability Insurance; 

4. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Professional Liability 
Insurance, if applicable;

5. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Fire Coverage Insurance;

6. If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will be 
furnished. 

I. Maintaining Insurance: Upon failure of the Lessee to obtain or maintain 
such insurance coverage for the term of the Lease, the Lessor may, at its option, purchase 
such coverage and subtract the cost of obtaining such coverage from the Lease amount. 
In obtaining such coverage, the Lessor shall have no obligation to procure the most cost-
effective coverage but may contract with any insurer for such coverage. 

VII. 

Civic Obligations of Lessee

Lessee shall, during the term of this Lease: 

(a) Continue to operate and offer membership to the Young Men’s Christian Association 
of Metropolitan Detroit to residents of Birmingham and residents of neighboring 
communities.   
  

(b) Once the three (3) year Lease between the Lessor and Lessee is completed, in 2026, 
the Lessor may enter into a successive lease with the Lessee wherein the Lessee will 
maintain a presence providing for YMCA services for the community and utilizing 

7C



6 

approximately ten thousand (10,000) square feet of the subject Property. During the 
initial three (3) year Lease term (the effective date of 2023 to 2026) the Lessee agrees 
and accepts that the Lessor will be working with the 501(c)(3) organization NEXT in 
order to begin preparation for NEXT to move into the Subject Property. The Lessee 
will work cooperatively with the Lessor to accommodate this integration including but 
not limited to both interior and exterior property renovations. The Lessee will continue 
to provide YMCA services for the community during this integration period. 

VIII. 

Non-assignability

Lessee covenants not to assign or transfer this Lease or sublet said premises or any part 
thereof without the prior written consent of Lessor. This covenant shall not be deemed to be
breached by Lessee permitting the use of classroom space by others to the extent contemplated 
as service to the community.

IX. 

Use and Occupancy

It is understood and agreed that said premises may be used and occupied during the term 
of this Lease for the YMCA, including, but not limited to all YMCA programming and activities.  

The property shall not be used for any purpose in violation of any law, Birmingham City
ordinance, or regulation.

Should the use of the premises be for any other purpose, then Lessor, at its option, may 
declare Lessee in default and terminate this Lease. 

X. 

Damage by Fire or Other Casualty

If the building shall be damaged or destroyed to the extent of fifty percent (50%) of its 
value by fire or other casualty prior to the termination of the Lease, the Lessor will repair and 
restore the same to good tenantable condition with reasonable dispatch.  If the building shall be 
damaged or destroyed to the extent of more than fifty percent (50%) of its value by fire or other 
casualty prior to the termination of this Lease, or if the Property shall be damaged or destroyed 
to any substantial extent on or before the termination of this Lease, the Lessor shall have the 
option to either repair and restore the same to good tenantable condition with reasonable 
dispatch or to terminate this Lease.  Following such fire or other casualty, Lessor shall, with 
reasonable diligence, give Lessee a written notice, setting forth the option elected by the Lessor. 

7C



7 

XI. 

Compliance with Laws

Lessee shall at its own expense promptly comply with all lawful laws, ordinances, 
regulations or orders of all municipal, county and state authorities affecting the premises hereby 
demised and the cleanliness, safety, occupation and use of same.

XII. 

Re-renting

Lessee hereby agrees that for a period commencing ninety (90) days prior to the 
termination of the Lease, the Lessor may show the premises to prospective Lessees and sixty 
(60) days prior to the termination of this Lease may display in and about said premises and in 
the windows thereof, the usual and ordinary "For Lease" signs.

XIII. 

Holding Over

It is hereby agreed that in the event Lessee should hold over after the termination of this 
Lease, the tenancy thereafter shall be from month to month in the absence of a written agreement 
to the contrary. 

XIV. 

Utilities

Lessee will pay all charges made against said leased premises for gas, water, sewage 
disposal, heat, and electricity during the continuance of this Lease as the same shall become due.

XV. 

Lessor’s Access to Premises

 Lessor shall have the right to enter upon the premises at all reasonable hours for the 
purpose of inspecting the same and/or planning and executing future improvements and/or 
renovations and/or changes to both the interior and exterior of the Property. If Lessor finds that 
any reasonable repairs required hereby to be made by Lessee under this Lease shall be necessary, 
Lessor may demand that Lessee make the same, and if Lessee refuses or neglects to make such 
repairs and complete the same with reasonable dispatch, Lessor may make or cause to be made 

7C



8 

such repairs and shall not be responsible to Lessee for any ordinary loss or damage that may 
accrue to Lessee's property.  

If Lessor makes or causes to be made such repairs, Lessee agrees that it will forthwith, 
on demand, pay to Lessor the actual cost thereof plus 5% for the costs of administration.
  

XVI. 

Default and Re-entry

In case default shall be made in any of the covenants herein contained and if Lessee shall 
not have cured such default within ninety (90) days after receiving written notice from Lessor
specifying the default or defaults complained of, then Lessor, its attorney, representatives, or 
assigns, may re-enter and repossess the premises and expel Lessee and those claiming through 
or under Lessee. 

XVII. 

Expenses on Re-entry

In the event that Lessor shall during the period covered by this Lease obtain possession 
of said premises by reentry, summary proceedings or otherwise, Lessee hereby agrees to pay 
Lessor all expenses incurred by Lessor in obtaining possession of the premises, including attorney 
fees, as well as all expenses, commissions and costs which may be paid for the reletting of the 
same.

XVIII. 

Remedies Not Exclusive

It is agreed that each and every one of the rights, remedies, and benefits provided by this 
Lease shall be cumulative and shall not be exclusive of any other rights, remedies, and benefits 
or any other rights, remedies, and benefits allowed by law.

XIX. 

Waivers

One or more waivers of any covenant or condition by the Lessor shall not be construed 
as a waiver of a further breach of the same covenant or condition.

7C



9 

XX. 

Notices

Written notices regarding this Lease shall be addressed to the following:

If to Lessor: With a Copy to: 
Jana Ecker, City Manager
City of Birmingham
151 Martin Street
Birmingham, MI  48009
Telephone:  (248) 530-1811
E-Mail:  jecker@bhamgov.org

Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney
Beier Howlett, P.C.
3001 W. Big Beaver Rd., Ste. 600
Troy, MI  48084
Telephone:  (248) 282-1075
E-Mail:  mkucharek@bhlaw.us.com

If to Lessee: 
Helene Weir, President & CEO
YMCA of Detroit
1401 Broadway, Suite 3A
Detroit, Michigan 48266
Telephone:  (313) 223-2496 
              or (602) 795-2211
E-Mail:  Helene.weir@ymcadetroit.org

Michelle Kotas, CFO
YMCA of Detroit
1401 Broadway, Suite 3A
Detroit, Michigan 48266
Telephone:  (313) 223-2495  
              or (313) 267-5321
E-Mail:  mkotas@ymcadetroit.org

XXI. 

Resolution of Disputes

Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, 
shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th 
District Court or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it 
shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan 
and administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three 
arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000. Each party shall bear its own costs 
and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and administrative fees of arbitration. Such 
arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL §600.5001 et seq., and the 
Oakland County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render judgment upon the 
award of the arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement. The laws of the State of Michigan shall 
govern this Agreement, and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan. In the 
event that the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the 
parties may be resolved by the filing of a suit in a federal or state court with jurisdiction over 
Oakland County, Michigan. 

7C



10

LESSEE: 
YOUNG MEN’S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION OF 
METROPOLITAN DETROIT

By: ____________________________
_________________ President & CEO

Date signed by Lessee: _________, 2023
STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) 
    ) ss:
COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

On this ______day of ____________, 2023, before me personally appeared 
_________________, President and CEO who acknowledged that, with authority on behalf of 
Young Men’s Christian Association of Metropolitan Detroit to do, so she signed this Agreement. 

       

    Notary Public

   County, Michigan

Acting in __________ County, Michigan

My commission expires: ________

7C



11

LESSOR: 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

By:       
Therese Longe, Mayor

By:       
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk

Date signed by Lessor:   , 2023

APPROVED:

Jana Ecker, City Manager
(Approved as to substance)

     
Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney
(Approved as to form)

      
Mark A. Gerber, Finance Director
(Approved as to Financial Obligation)

7C



7D



•

7D



10/08/2019  ADWK.FOR  6/21/23 1

SPECIAL TRUNKLINE DA 
NON-ACT-51  Control Section M 63051 
ADDED WORK Job Number  214051CON 

Contract 22-5560

THIS CONTRACT is made by and between the MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION, hereinafter referred to as the "DEPARTMENT"; and the CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM, a Michigan municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as the "CITY"; for 
the purpose of fixing the rights and obligations of the parties in agreeing to construction 
improvements in conjunction with the DEPARTMENT'S construction on Highway M-1 
(Woodward Avenue), within the corporate limits of the CITY. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT is planning traffic signal installation work at Highway 
M-1 (Woodward Avenue); and

WHEREAS, the CITY has requested that the DEPARTMENT perform additional work 
for and on behalf of the CITY in connection with the Highway M-1 (Woodward Avenue) 
construction, which additional work is hereinafter referred to as the "PROJECT" and is located 
and described as follows: 

PART A – LUMPSUM PAYMENT PAY ITEMS 
Traffic signal mast arm installation work at the intersections of northbound 
Highway M-1 (Woodward Avenue) at Forest Avenue and southbound Highway   
M-1 (Woodward Avenue) at Brown Street, including work required for the
placement of mast arm signals in excess of the work required to install standard
strain wire signals; together with necessary related work, located within the
corporate limits of the CITY; and

PART B – CONTRACTOR BID PAY ITEMS 
Traffic signal pedestal painting work at the intersections of northbound Highway 
M-1 (Woodward Avenue) at Forest Avenue and southbound Highway M-1
(Woodward Avenue) at Brown Street; together with necessary related work,
located within the corporate limits of the CITY; and

 WHEREAS, the PART A portion of the PROJECT COST shall be a lumpsum amount of 
$86,150 and the DEPARTMENT presently estimates the PART B portion of the PROJECT
COST to be $23,750 as hereinafter defined in Section 1 to be:

PART A 
PART B 
TOTAL 

$  86,150 
$  23,750 
$109,900

7D



10/08/19  ADWK.FOR  6/21/23 2

WHEREAS, the parties hereto have reached an understanding with each other regarding 
the performance of the PROJECT work and desire to set forth this understanding in the form of a 
written Contract. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual undertakings of 
the parties and in conformity with applicable law, it is agreed: 

1. The parties shall undertake and complete the construction of the PROJECT in 
accordance with this Contract.  The term "PROJECT COST", as herein used, is hereby defined 
as the cost of the construction of the PROJECT including the costs of: (physical construction 
necessary for the completion of the PROJECT as determined by the DEPARTMENT and any 
and all other expenses in connection with any of the above. 

2. The cost of alteration, reconstruction and relocation, including plans thereof, of 
certain publicly owned facilities and utilities which may be required for the construction of the 
PROJECT, shall be included in the PROJECT COST; provided, however, that any part of such 
cost determined by the DEPARTMENT, prior to the commencement of the work, to constitute a 
betterment to such facility or utility, shall be borne wholly by the owner thereof. 

3. The CITY will approve the design intent of the PROJECT and shall accept full 
responsibility for the constructed PROJECT functioning as a part of the CITY'S facilities.  The 
CITY is solely responsible for any input which it provides as it relates to the design of the 
PROJECT functioning as part of the CITY'S facilities. 

4. The DEPARTMENT will administer all phases of the PROJECT and will cause to 
be performed all the PROJECT work. 

Any items of PROJECT COST incurred by the DEPARTMENT may be charged to the 
PROJECT. 

5. The PART A portion of the PROJECT COST shall be a lumpsum payment.  The 
PART B portion of the PROJECT COST is an estimated amount.  The PROJECT COST shall be 
charged to the CITY 100 percent and paid in the manner and at the times hereinafter set forth.  
Such cost is established and estimated to be as follows: 

PART A 
PART B 
TOTAL 

$  86,150 
$ 23,750
$109,900

6. The DEPARTMENT shall maintain and keep accurate records and accounts 
relative to the cost of the PROJECT.  The DEPARTMENT may submit progress billings to the 
CITY on a monthly basis for the CITY'S share of the cost of work performed to date, less all 
payments previously made by the CITY not including payments made for a working capital 

7D



10/08/2019  ADWK.FOR  6/21/23 3

deposit.  No monthly billings of a lesser amount than $1,000 shall be made unless it is a final or 
end of fiscal year billing.  All billings will be labeled either "Progress Bill Number 
__________", or "Final Billing".  Payment is due within 30 days of receipt of invoice. Upon 
completion of the PROJECT, payment of all items of PROJECT COST and receipt of all Federal 
Aid, the DEPARTMENT shall make a final billing and accounting to the CITY. 

The CITY will deposit with the DEPARTMENT the following amount which will be 
used by the DEPARTMENT as working capital and applied toward the end of the project for the 
contracted work and cost incurred by the DEPARTMENT in connection with the PROJECT: 

The total deposit will be billed to the CITY by the DEPARTMENT and shall be paid by 
the CITY within 30 days after receipt of invoice. 

7. Pursuant to the authority granted by law, the CITY hereby irrevocably pledges a 
sufficient amount of funds received by it from the Michigan Transportation Fund to meet its 
obligations as specified herein.  If the CITY shall fail to make any of its required payments when 
due, as specified herein, the DEPARTMENT shall immediately notify the CITY of the fact of 
such default and the amount thereof, and, if such default is not cured by payment within ten (10) 
days, the DEPARTMENT is then authorized and directed to withhold from the first of such 
monies thereafter allocated by law to the CITY from the Michigan Transportation Fund 
sufficient monies to remove the default, and to credit the CITY with payment thereof, and to 
notify the CITY in writing of such fact. 

8. Upon completion of construction, the facilities being constructed as the 
PROJECT shall be operated and maintained by the CITY and the DEPARTMENT in accordance 
with standard practice. 

9. Any and all approvals of, reviews of, and recommendations regarding contracts, 
agreements, permits, plans, specifications, or documents, of any nature, or any inspections of 
work by the DEPARTMENT pursuant to the terms of this Contract are done to assist the CITY.  
Such approvals, reviews, inspections and recommendations by the DEPARTMENT shall not 
relieve the CITY of its ultimate control and shall not be construed as a warranty of their 
propriety or that the DEPARTMENT is assuming any liability, control or jurisdiction. 

When providing approvals, reviews and recommendations under this Contract, the 
DEPARTMENT is performing a governmental function, as that term is defined in MCL 
691.1401 et seq., as amended, which is incidental to the completion of the PROJECT. 

DEPOSIT PART A $86,150
DEPOSIT PART B $  9,500
TOTAL DEPOSIT $95,650

7D



10/08/19  ADWK.FOR  6/21/23 4

10. In connection with the performance of PROJECT work under this Contract the 
parties hereto (hereinafter in Appendix "A" referred to as the "contractor") agree to comply with 
the State of Michigan provisions for "Prohibition of Discrimination in State Contracts", as set 
forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and made a part hereof.  The parties further covenant that 
they will comply with the Civil Rights Acts of 1964, being P.L. 88-352, 78 Stat. 241, as 
amended, being Title 42 U.S.C. Sections 1971, 1975a-1975d, and 2000a-2000h-6 and the 
Regulations of the United States Department of Transportation (49 C.F.R. Part 21) issued 
pursuant to said Act, including Appendix "B", attached hereto and made a part hereof, and will 
require similar covenants on the part of any contractor or subcontractor employed in the 
performance of this Contract.  The parties will carry out the applicable requirements of the 
DEPARTMENT’S Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program and 49 CFR, Part 26, 
including, but not limited to, those requirements set forth in Appendix C.   

7D



10/08/2019  ADWK.FOR  6/21/23 5

11. This Contract shall become binding on the parties hereto and of full force and 
effect upon the signing thereof by the duly authorized officials for the CITY and for the 
DEPARTMENT; upon the adoption of a resolution approving said Contract and authorizing the 
signatures thereto of the respective officials of the CITY, a certified copy of which resolution 
shall be attached to this Contract. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this contract to be executed as 
written below. 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM  MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT  
OF TRANSPORTATION 

By__________________________  
  Title:                              

By__________________________
for   Department Director MDOT

By __________________________  
   Title: 

7D

REVIEWED
By Larry Doyle at 9:29 am, 7/14/23



APPENDIX A 
PROHIBITION OF DISCRIMINATION IN STATE CONTRACTS 

In connection with the performance of work under this contract; the contractor agrees as follows: 

1. In accordance with Public Act 453 of 1976 (Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act), the 
contractor shall not discriminate against an employee or applicant for employment with 
respect to hire, tenure, treatment, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment or a 
matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of race, color, religion, 
national origin, age, sex, height, weight, or marital status.  A breach of this covenant will 
be regarded as a material breach of this contract.  Further, in accordance with Public Act 
220 of 1976 (Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act), as amended by Public Act 478 
of 1980, the contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment 
or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of a disability that is 
unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position. A 
breach of the above covenants will be regarded as a material breach of this contract.  

2. The contractor hereby agrees that any and all subcontracts to this contract, whereby a 
portion of the work set forth in this contract is to be performed, shall contain a covenant 
the same as hereinabove set forth in Section 1 of this Appendix. 

3. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants for employment and 
employees are treated without regard to their race, color, religion, national origin, age, 
sex, height, weight, marital status, or any disability that is unrelated to the individual’s 
ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position.  Such action shall include, but 
not be limited to, the following: employment; treatment; upgrading; demotion or transfer; 
recruitment; advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of 
compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  

4. The contractor shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, 
weight, marital status, or disability that is unrelated to the individual’s ability to perform 
the duties of a particular job or position.  

5. The contractor or its collective bargaining representative shall send to each labor union or 
representative of workers with which the contractor has a collective bargaining 
agreement or other contract or understanding a notice advising such labor union or 
workers’ representative of the contractor’s commitments under this Appendix. 

6. The contractor shall comply with all relevant published rules, regulations, directives, and 
orders of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission that may be in effect prior to the taking 
of bids for any individual state project. 

7D



7. The contractor shall furnish and file compliance reports within such time and upon such 
forms as provided by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission; said forms may also elicit 
information as to the practices, policies, program, and employment statistics of each 
subcontractor, as well as the contractor itself, and said contractor shall permit access to 
the contractor’s books, records, and accounts by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission 
and/or its agent for the purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance under this 
contract and relevant rules, regulations, and orders of the Michigan Civil Rights 
Commission. 

8. In the event that the Michigan Civil Rights Commission finds, after a hearing held 
pursuant to its rules, that a contractor has not complied with the contractual obligations 
under this contract, the Michigan Civil Rights Commission may, as a part of its order 
based upon such findings, certify said findings to the State Administrative Board of the 
State of Michigan, which State Administrative Board may order the cancellation of the 
contract found to have been violated and/or declare the contractor ineligible for future 
contracts with the state and its political and civil subdivisions, departments, and officers, 
including the governing boards of institutions of higher education, until the contractor 
complies with said order of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission. Notice of said 
declaration of future ineligibility may be given to any or all of the persons with whom the 
contractor is declared ineligible to contract as a contracting party in future contracts.  In 
any case before the Michigan Civil Rights Commission in which cancellation of an 
existing contract is a possibility, the contracting agency shall be notified of such possible 
remedy and shall be given the option by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission to 
participate in such proceedings. 

9. The contractor shall include or incorporate by reference, the provisions of the foregoing 
paragraphs (1) through (8) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by 
rules, regulations, or orders of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission; all subcontracts 
and purchase orders will also state that said provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or supplier.   

Revised June 2011 

7D



APPENDIX B 
TITLE VI ASSURANCE 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and its successors 
in interest (hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”), agrees as follows: 

1. Compliance with Regulations: For all federally assisted programs, the contractor shall 
comply with the nondiscrimination regulations set forth in 49 CFR Part 21, as may be 
amended from time to time (hereinafter referred to as the Regulations).  Such Regulations 
are incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this contract.  

2. Nondiscrimination: The contractor, with regard to the work performed under the 
contract, shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, sex, or national origin in the 
selection, retention, and treatment of subcontractors, including procurements of materials 
and leases of equipment.  The contractor shall not participate either directly or indirectly 
in the discrimination prohibited by Section 21.5 of the Regulations, including 
employment practices, when the contractor covers a program set forth in Appendix B of 
the Regulations.   

3. Solicitation for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  
All solicitations made by the contractor, either by competitive bidding or by negotiation 
for subcontract work, including procurement of materials or leases of equipment, must 
include a notification to each potential subcontractor or supplier of the contractor’s 
obligations under the contract and the Regulations relative to nondiscrimination on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin. 

4. Information and Reports:  The contractor shall provide all information and reports 
required by the Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto and shall permit access 
to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and facilities as may be 
determined to be pertinent by the Department or the United States Department of 
Transportation (USDOT) in order to ascertain compliance with such Regulations or 
directives.  If required information concerning the contractor is in the exclusive 
possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the required information, the 
contractor shall certify to the Department or the USDOT, as appropriate, and shall set 
forth the efforts that it made to obtain the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of the contractor’s noncompliance with the 
nondiscrimination provisions of this contract, the Department shall impose such contract 
sanctions as it or the USDOT may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited 
to, the following: 

a. Withholding payments to the contractor until the contractor complies; and/or 

b. Canceling, terminating, or suspending the contract, in whole or in part. 

7D



6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The contractor shall include the provisions of Sections (1) 
through (6) in every subcontract, including procurement of material and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto.  The 
contractor shall take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the 
Department or the USDOT may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including 
sanctions for non-compliance, provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes 
involved in or is threatened with litigation from a subcontractor or supplier as a result of 
such direction, the contractor may request the Department to enter into such litigation to 
protect the interests of the state.  In addition, the contractor may request the United States 
to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

Revised June 2011 

7D



APPENDIX C 

TO BE INCLUDED IN ALL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
AGREEMENTS WITH LOCAL AGENCIES 

Assurance that Recipients and Contractors Must Make 
(Excerpts from US DOT Regulation 49 CFR 26.13) 

A. Each financial assistance agreement signed with a DOT operating administration 
(or a primary recipient) must include the following assurance:   

The recipient shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the award and performance of any US 
DOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE 
program or the requirements of 49 CFR Part 26.  The recipient 
shall take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR 
Part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and 
administration of US DOT-assisted contracts.  The recipient’s 
DBE program, as required by 49 CFR Part 26 and as 
approved by US DOT, is incorporated by reference in this 
agreement.  Implementation of this program is a legal 
obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as 
a violation of this agreement.  Upon notification to the 
recipient of its failure to carry out its approved program, the 
department may impose sanctions as provided for under Part 
26 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for 
enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud 
Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.).   

B. Each contract MDOT signs with a contractor (and each subcontract the prime 
contractor signs with a subcontractor) must include the following assurance:   

The contractor, sub recipient or subcontractor shall not 
discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex 
in the performance of this contract.  The contractor shall carry 
out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award 
and administration of US DOT-assisted contracts.  Failure by 
the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material 
breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of 
this contract or such other remedy as the recipient deems 
appropriate.  

7D



MEMORANDUM 
Building Dept., Engineering Dept., and Legal 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

July 18, 2023  

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Bruce Johnson, Mary M. Kucharek, and Melissa A. Coatta 

SUBJECT: H-Pile Earth Retention System (TERS)
Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-way Occupancy by H Pile 

INTRODUCTION: 
In order to provide the least disruptive method of construction at 300 S. Old Woodward, the 
developer incorporated a Temporary H-Pile Earth Retention System 
(TERS) into the buildings’ foundation design. The TERS would be located just inside the north, 
east, and south property lines to support the City Right-of-Way and underground utilities 
during excavation of the basement level of the new building. An as-built survey performed 
after the installation of the TERS revealed that one of the 56 H-Piles installed is located 3-inches 
into the Daines Street Right-of-Way. The as-built survey is attached for reference. The H-Pile 
encroaching into the Daines Street Right-of-Way is the fifth one heading west from the 
southeast corner of the property called out in a red box. 

BACKGROUND: 
The TERS was designed with the top of the wall to be located 4 feet below finished grade. The 
spacing of the H-Piles along the south elevation vary from 6 feet four inches to 8 feet apart (see 
attached plan). Removal of the H-Pile in question would require substantial excavation into the 
Daines Street Right-of-Way potentially disrupting sewer and water utilities along with adjacent H-
Piles. City staff is recommending that the City allow the 3-inch encroachment to remain in the
City of ight-of- ay and  abandoned in place.  For consideration of allowing this and
avoiding possible disruptive and dangerous excavation, Woodward evelopment will pay the City
$5,000.00.

7E



2 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
After extensive communications with all parties involved, a written greement has been 
created offering protections to the City by way of indemnification and a hold harmless agreement 
to the City for any costs or charges related to the abandonment of the H-Piles in the City’s 
ight-of- ay.  The obligations, responsibilities and protection of the City shall run in 

perpetuity, and the obligations and responsibilities shall run with the land, and this covenant 
shall be recorded with the Oakland County Register of Deeds.    

FISCAL IMPACT: 
In consideration of this encroachment, Woodward Development,  will pay the City 
$5,000.00. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 

This item is published in the agenda packet. 

SUMMARY: 
The City Attorney, Building Department, and Engineering Department recommend the 
approval of the Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-Way Occupancy By H-Pile, and to 
accept $5,000.00 in consideration of allowing a 3-inch encroachment of an H-Pile into the City’s 
ight-of- ay at Daines Street. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-of-way Occupancy by H Pile –
partially executed.
Approved TERS Plan.
TERS – as built – Nowak and Fraus.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the Obstruction Permit Agreement for Right-
of-Way Occupancy By H-Pile and to accept $5,000.00 in 
consideration of allowing a 3-inch encroachment of an H-Pile into the City right-of-way at 
Daines Street.  In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the greement on 
behalf of the City. 

7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



7E



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Large single and double tandem trucks using Melton
1 message

'Diane Smith' via City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org> Mon, Jul 17, 2023 at 8:16 AM
Reply-To: Diane Smith <dianesmith5912@yahoo.com>
To: "jecker@bhamgov.org" <jecker@bhamgov.org>, "city-commission@bhamgov.org" <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

Dear City Manager,

I would like to bring to you attention an on going issue with commercial development TRUCKS driving on Melton.

Please see the attached photos.  These are trucks that are loaded with dirt and or gravel.

The white double tandem came a couple times.

The red truck made at least 6 tips this past Saturday July 15th.  They are all trucks associated with the building of the new
restaurant Lincoln Yard.

I am requesting that a sign be posted at Melton and 14 mile that states; NO THRU TRUCKS.

Our street is already a heavily traveled route for cut throughs.  Many pedestrian’s walk in the are with dogs and children
going to Kenning park and the Swim Club.

Melton is not a street Huge Commercial Trucks should be using.  It is unsafe, and the weigh is very bad for our roads and
infrastructure.  The wear and tear results are a burden on the residents and that should never be a cost residents should
have to bear.

Commercial developers need to be aware that they cannot drive on our residential roads.

I would like this letter be a part of public record and put on the agenda for the next meeting.

Diane Roach Smith

1494 E Melton

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-commission/
PH7PR11MB6860B401AE42EE0EE368F31DA83BA%40PH7PR11MB6860.namprd11.prod.outlook.com.

9A



6 attachments

IMG_4172.jpeg
3750K

IMG_4199.jpeg
4266K

IMG_4309.jpeg
5312K

IMG_4306.jpeg
6138K

IMG_4310.jpeg
3886K

9A



IMG_4311.jpeg
2376K

9A



CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
July 2023 

Baldwin Public Library 

The Library Board will meet on August 21, 2023 at 7:30 p.m. for its regular meeting. Board meetings will 
be held in the second floor Board Room during construction. 

Phase 3 Construction Project of the Library's Front Entrance 
Follow along with the library's construction project at www.baldwinlib.org/renovation. The July 2023 
renovation report is available online here.  

Library Tour 
If you’d like to learn even more about the library, join Library Director Rebekah Craft for a Behind the 
Scenes Tour. You’ll visit staff areas, learn how items are added to the collection, and hear about new 
programs and services. The next tour will meet in the library's vestibule on Monday, August 7 at 4:00 
p.m.

Upcoming Events of Interest 

Cards for Hospitalized Kids 
Thursday, July 27 — 5:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. 
Ages 5 & up. Cards for Hospitalized Kids (CFHK) is a charitable organization that spreads hope, joy and 
magic to hospitalized kids across America through uplifting, handmade cards. We'll provide the 
supplies, you supply the well wishes! No registration required, just drop in! 

End of Summer Reading After-Hours Laser Tag Party for Teens 
Friday, August 4 — 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
Celebrate after-hours at the library with laser tag, pizza, cake and ice cream, video games, and a photo 
booth! Registration required. Grades 7-12. 

Detroit Style Pizza: A Doughtown History 
Monday, August 14 — 7:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
With its airy crust, cheesy corners and distinctive red sauce on top, Detroit Style pizza is enjoyed 
worldwide. How did this Motor City delicacy transform from a singular kitchen in Detroit to an 
international sensation? Travel with author Karen Dybis through this pizza's humble origins, starting with 
Gus Guerra putting the first square pie in Buddy's oven to the International Pizza Expo in Las Vegas, 
where a pizza evangelist spreads the word about Detroit Style, through the waves of chefs who have put 
their spin on this unique pizza style. This is a hybrid event. Registration is required to receive the Zoom 
link. 

10E1



Register for these programs and more online at www.baldwinlib.org/calendar. 

The Birmingham Museum 

This summer, the Museum Board has begun developing an interpretive plan for the museum’s park and 
grounds as part of the planned objectives in the 2021-2024 Birmingham Museum Strategic Plan. 
Interpretive plans identify important historic themes and site features, and their relationship to the larger 
community context. They help guide programming and educational content as a way to convey a place’s 
unique story. At the museum, the landscape’s features and proximity to the Rouge River played an 
integral role in the use of the unique site from the past to present-day. The interpretive plan will integrate 
the landscape’s history with planned improvements for public access to the pond and Rouge River trail 
to help visitors better understand the site’s past, present and future. 

Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) 

Movie Nights 
The second Movie Night of the season was held July 14 featuring the Christmas in July feature of The 
Grinch with a special visit from Grinchy himself. Despite early storms that day, families filled Booth Park 
for what turned out to be a beautiful evening. The next movie feature is the community’s choice of 
Despicable Me on August 11. Pre-show entertainment begins at 6:30 p.m.; movie at 7:30 p.m. A special 
thanks to our Movie Night sponsors, including presenting sponsor Wells Fargo Advisors; series sponsors 
Bank of Ann Arbor-Birmingham, Bloom Pediatrics and KW Domain; and sponsors Goldfish Swim School 
and TDR Orthodontics for all the free treats and giveaways.  

Day On The Town 
The biggest and most exciting retail event of the year, Day on the Town, is Saturday, July 29, from 9 
a.m. to 5 p.m. Find deeply discounted merchandise from over 60 premium retailers, food trucks, live
broadcasts, chalk art displays, kids’ activities and more in stores and throughout the streets and sidewalks
of downtown Birmingham. Meaghan from Mojo in the Morning and Channel 955 will broadcast live and
hand out free ice cream from the Channel 955 Ice Cream Truck from 1 – 3 p.m.

Farmers Market Corn Festival 
Visit the Birmingham Farmers Market on Sunday, August 6, from 9 a.m. - 2 p.m. for the annual Corn 
Festival. Shop bountiful peak-season produce (including corn picked just hours before the market), farm-
fresh eggs, artisan baked goods and more from over 50 vendors. Enjoy live music, fresh-roasted corn, 
kids' activities including a petting zoo, crafts and a tractor for photo ops. 

Merchant Meeting 
The BSD holds a bi-monthly Merchant Meeting, open to all merchants and property owners, and the next 
meeting is scheduled for July 25 at 4 p.m. at The Good Day, located at 528 N. Old Woodward. The Good 
Day is one of the BSD’s newest merchants. This month’s conversation will include discussion of business 
workshops, a business recruitment survey (see below), showcase of Library resources for businesses and 
the latest in marketing and events provided by the BSD.  

Business Recruitment 
The Business Development Committee will be launching a business recruitment survey this week for 
Birmingham residents, business owners and downtown employees to participate in to gauge their 
business needs and interests. This is being disseminated via the Engage Birmingham platform at 
engage.bhamgov.org/downtownusage and will be available in hard copy at the Farmers Market.  

10E1



Advisory Committees 
As noted previously, the BSD is establishing three new advisory committees and focus groups to help 
expand its reach, communications and collaborations with specific industries and areas of the district 
including tourism, restaurants and North Old Woodward. The Tourism Advisory Committee will be 
appointed by the BSD Board, and the restaurant and North Old Woodward focus groups will receive an 
open invitation to a meeting in the early fall. Those interested in participating in either the advisory 
committee or focus groups should contact BSD Executive Director Cristina Sheppard-Decius at 
csdecius@bhamgov.org.  

Volunteers Needed 
The BSD hosts a number of events throughout the year in which volunteers are needed. This is a great 
opportunity to network with businesses and the community, as well as a great cause – supporting 
Birmingham! Volunteers are currently needed for the following events: 

● Farmers Market - Every Sunday from 7 a.m. - 11 a.m. and 11 a.m. - 3 p.m.  
● Day on the Town - July 29 from 7 - 11 a.m., 10 a.m. - 2 p.m. and 2 - 6 p.m. 
● Birmingham Cruise Event - August 19 from 7 a.m. - 9:30 a.m., 9:30 - 11:30 a.m., 11:30 a.m. - 

2 p.m., 2 - 4:30 p.m.  

Volunteer duties include event set-up, tear-down, information booth, check-in and monitoring kids 
activities. Please contact Jaimi Brook at jbrook@bhamgov.org for more information and to sign up for 
the Farmers Market and Day on the Town, and utilize this link to volunteer for the Cruise event.  

Special Event Planning 
The Special Events and Marketing & Advertising Committees will be meeting on July 21 at 8:30 a.m. to 
brainstorm and plan out the 2024 event season for the BSD. The BSD is working to develop additional 
programming to meet our goals of increasing local frequency and expanding regional attraction.  

Daxton Public Valet 
There is a license agreement in place between the City of Birmingham and The Daxton Hotel for both 
private and public valet services. At the time the agreement was approved by the City Commission and 
amended in 2021, the City operated a public valet. The agreement allowed for The Daxton to utilize four 
parking spaces for public and private valet services at a rate of $5 for public valet, consistent with the 
other public valets provided by the City. The fee for using the parking spaces for the valet pick-up and 
drop-off area was waived by the City Commission. The Daxton Hotel has requested an increase in the 
fee for the public valet that they provide in Downtown Birmingham. The current agreement allows for a 
90-day termination notice period from either party prior to the renewal date of the agreement. The 
agreement is otherwise in perpetuity until a party terminates the agreement or amends it. The renewal 
date is December 1, therefore, termination of the agreement would be required by August 31 on an 
annual basis.  City Attorney Mary Kucharek, Parking Manager Aaron Ford and BSD Executive Director 
Cristina Sheppard-Decius are further exploring the cost and value of the agreement moving forward in 
order to prepare a recommendation that will come before the City Commission in August.  

BSD Summer Calendar of Events 
Birmingham Farmers Market   Every Sunday now until Oct. 29 at Lot 6 
Movie Nights     August 11 and September 8 at Booth Park 
Day on the Town    July 29 
Corn Festival at the Farmers Market  August 6 
Birmingham Cruise Event   August 19 
Harvest Festival at the Farmers Market September 10 

10E1



2023 Dashboard Metrics 
Retail Occupancy Rate - 99% (out of 1.5 million sq.ft.) 
Office Occupancy - 89% (out of 2 million sq.ft.)
11 New Business Openings in 2023 (9 more in process) 
75/25% Local vs. National Mix 
Commercial, Mixed-Use & Residential Development Projects In Construction/Planning - 12 projects 
totaling 827,727 sq. ft.  
29 Active Volunteers (Board and Committee members) 

Building Department 

Board of Zoning Appeals 
The following six cases are on the agenda for the August 8, 2023 Board of Zoning Appeals regular 
meeting: 

1. 440 Lakeside: Requesting a variance from the minimum distance between a proposed new house 
and the existing home to the north.   

2. 307 Westchester Way: A variance from the minimum distance between a proposed detached 
garage and the existing house next door to the north.  

3. 1002 Pilgrim: A variance from the minimum total combined side yard setbacks to construct a 
second story addition on an existing nonconforming house.  

4. 2649 Yorkshire: Requesting variances from the minimum distance between principal structures 
and the minimum distance an attached garage must be set back from the front façade of the 
house. The appellant is proposing to demolish an existing attached garage and build a new one 
with a second story addition.  

5. 508 W. Lincoln: A variance from the minimum distance between the existing house and a 
proposed swimming pool.    

6. 1115 Chapin: Requesting variances from the maximum lot coverage and building height for a 
proposed new detached garage.  

 
Monthly Report 
The Building Department’s monthly report provides an update on the following construction activity: 
building permits issued, building inspections conducted, trades permits issued and trades inspections 
conducted. In June, we processed 467 online permit applications bringing this year’s total to 2,122.  
 

City Clerk's Office 
 

Candidate filing deadline approaching!
The Clerk’s Office must receive all paperwork from candidates for City Commission or Library Board no 
later than July 25, 2023 at 4:00 p.m., after which the Clerk’s Office will review to ensure all petition 
requirements are met. The Clerk cannot extend the filing deadline for any reason. For more information 
regarding petition and candidate filing please visit www.bhamgov.org/elections. 

City Commission and Library Board candidate and petition information
City Commission and Library Board candidates must be registered voters and residents for at least one 
year before the November 7, 2023 election. Petition packets containing all the information needed to run 
for these positions are available at the City Clerk’s Office during regular business hours. Candidates must 
complete the petition packet’s required paperwork and collect more than 25 but not more than 50 
signatures from Birmingham registered voters. Signers must print their names with their current address 
and date. A signer may only sign one petition for each available seat; in this election that means a single 
voter can sign no more than four City Commission petitions and three Library Board petitions. 
 
 
 

10E1



General Election on November 7, 2023
Birmingham will hold a general election on Tuesday, November 7, 2023. At this time, the ballot will 
include four Birmingham Commissioner seats and three Birmingham Library Board positions, all for four-
year terms. The petition filing deadline for candidates is 4 p.m. on July 25, 2023.  
 
Senior Millage Proposition 
A .33 senior millage proposition will be on the November 7, 2023 ballot. Visit 
www.bhamgov.org/seniormillage for more information regarding the senior millage proposal. 

New permanent absentee ballot list registration
All voters on the permanent absentee ballot application list will receive an absentee ballot application in 
late August for the November 7, 2023 election. One of the requirements in Proposal 2022-2 is that clerks 
now maintain a Permanent Ballot List. The application for the upcoming November 7, 2023 election will 
include new checkbox language for voters to opt into receiving a ballot for every election. Going forward, 
absentee ballot applications will not be required for any voter who has opted into the Permanent Ballot 
List. During partisan primary elections, such as the presidential primary in March 2024, permanent 
absentee ballot voters will need to respond to a mailing and select which ballot type they would like to 
receive. Typically the ballot types are Democratic Party Presidential Primary, Republican Party Presidential 
Primary, and if applicable, a ballot without the Presidential Primary if there is a proposal accompanying 
the Presidential Primary Election. A preview of the application is pictured below with the new check box 
to opt into the Permanent Absentee Ballot List.  

 
Absentee Voter Information
Voters who wish to vote absentee will need to fill out an Absentee Ballot Application. This application will 
be mailed to anyone on the Permanent Absentee Application List in late August for the November 7, 
2023 election. An application will need to be completed and returned to the Birmingham Clerk’s office in 
order to receive the absentee ballot. If you are not on the permanent list, you can request an Absentee 
Ballot Application by going to www.michigan.gov/vote after August 24, 2023.  

Absentee ballots will be mailed not earlier than September 28, 2023 to voters who submitted an 
application. Absentee ballots can be returned in person to the Clerk’s office, in the dropbox located behind 
City Hall, or mailed to City Clerk, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, MI 48012. 
 
 

10E1



Early Voting
Another component of proposal 2022-2 includes a Constitutional right to no less than 9 days of early 
voting in each statewide and federal election (even year election) for no less than 8 hours per day. 
Although the upcoming November 7, 2023 election is not a statewide or federal election, Oakland County 
Elections Division, the City of Birmingham, Bloomfield Township and Southfield Township plan to work 
together to pilot early voting at the Bloomfield Township Library. Stay tuned for more information on 
early voting.   

New Military and Overseas Voter Changes
The governor signed legislation on May 3, 2023 to allow additional time to receive absentee voter ballots 
from military and overseas voters. This change comes after Michiganders approved Ballot Proposal 22-2 
to amend the state’s Constitution last year. The new law states that absentee ballots from military and 
overseas voters will be counted if the ballot return envelope was postmarked on or before Election Day 
and received within six days following the election. Voters who are in the military or will be overseas 
during the November 7, 2023 election must apply for a MOVE ballot at https://www.fvap.gov/michigan. 

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board
The next meeting for the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board will be Friday, August 4th, 2023 at 8:30 
am. The board will begin working on the draft annual report for 2022-2023 and have a strategic planning 
discussion.   

Ethics Board
The next Ethics Board meeting date is yet to be determined. A meeting should be scheduled in the near 
future to review the draft opinion for Commission Baller regarding the establishment and administration 
of foundations. More information on the Ethics Board is available at www.bhamgov.org/ethics. 

Board Appointments
The City of Birmingham is looking for dedicated individuals who want to give back to their community by 
serving on one of our many boards or commissions. Birmingham’s different boards and commissions 
make recommendations that shape the City’s future. Serving on a board or commission is a great way to 
get involved in your community, meet new people and make a positive impact. Don't miss out on the 
chance to make a difference - go to www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities to view all the available 
openings. 

Board Openings Application Due by 
Noon

Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee 1 Member Until Filled

Ad Hoc Environmental Sustainability 
Committee

None

Advisory Parking Committee 1 large retail member term ending 
9/1/2025

Until Filled

Architectural Review Committee 1 regular member term ending 4/11/2026
1 regular member term ending 4/11/2025

Until Filled

Birmingham Shopping District 1 business representative term ending 
11/16/2026

Until Filled

Birmingham Area Cable Board 1 regular members terms ending 
3/30/2026
1 regular member term ending 3/30/2024
1 alternate member term ending 
3/30/2025

Until Filled

10E1



Board of Building Trades Appeals None

Board of Review 2 alternate members term ending 
12/31/2025

Until Filled

Board of Zoning Appeals 1 alternate members term ending 
2/18/2026

Until Filled

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 1 Regular Members term ending 
5/23/2026
1 regular member Term ending 5/23/2024

Until Filled

Design Review Board None

Ethics Board 2 Alternate members term ending 
6/30/2026
1 Regular Member term expiring 
6/30/2026

Until Filled

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board None

Hearing Officer None

Historic District Commission None

Historic District Study Committee 1 Regular member term ending 6/25/2026 Until Filled

Housing Board of Appeals 3 Regular Members, terms ending 
5/4/2026

Until Filled

Martha Baldwin Park Board 1 Regular member term ending 5/1/2024
1 Regular members term ending 5/1/2027

Until Filled

Multi Modal Transportation Board None

Museum Board None

Parks & Rec Board None

Planning Board None

Public Arts Board 1 alternate member term ending 
1/28/2025
1 alternate member 1/28/2026

Until Filled

Retirement Board None

Stormwater Utility Appeals Board 3 regular member term ending 1/31/2026
2 alternate members 1/31/2025

Until Filled

Triangle District Corridor Improvement 
Authority

1 regular business owner term ending 
12/15/2026

Until Filled

 

 
 

 

10E1



City Manager’s Office 

 
Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee 

The first Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, July 26, 2023 at 4:00 
p.m. in conference rooms 202 and 203 at City Hall. The first meeting will feature Mr. Jim Ellison, Chief 
of Adult Services for Oakland County, as a guest speaker. Mr. Ellison will be providing a brief description 
of his role and what the County is doing at this time for older adults. The meeting is open to members 
of the public and available on Zoom at https://bhamgov-org.zoom.us/j/82275236303.  

The function of the Ad Hoc Aging in Place Committee (AIP) is to study current demographic trends, 
evaluate the needs of the City’s aging population and to prepare a City-wide action plan outlining the 
vision and goals to improve the health, safety and welfare of senior citizens and encourage residents to 
age comfortably in Birmingham. 

 
Update on the Purchase of the YMCA Building 
 
The closing on the purchase of the YMCA building at 400 E. Lincoln is currently scheduled for July 26, 
2023.  All title research and title insurance has been obtained, as has a current survey of the property.  
As noted in the purchase agreement, the City will bring $1,500,000 to closing, $500,000 of which will be 
a contribution from NEXT.  The City will pay an additional $500,000 to the YMCA in one year.  Should 
the City Commission approve the three year lease agreement with the YMCA on July 24, 2023, the YMCA 
will continue to operate out of the building, and continue to cover operational costs and standard building 
and property maintenance costs as outlined in the lease.  This will allow the City, the YMCA and NEXT a 
transition period to plan for the future renovation and use of the building. 
 
City staff will meet with representatives of the YMCA in early August to discuss a succession plan for 
the retirement of Helene Weir later this year, to ensure the City has a direct contact to continue planning 
for the renovation and future use of the building, and the continued inclusion of the YMCA on the site.  
City staff has also begun meeting with representatives of NEXT to review their existing and future space 
needs, and to develop a plan for a long term transition of both NEXT and the YMCA into a joint use of 
the building and necessary improvements to the facility and grounds.   

Next Steps 
The City will work with the YMCA and NEXT to review each organization’s program and space planning 
needs to begin conceptual space planning and to develop a scope of work for future renovations to the 
building.  Once the scope of work has been developed, it is anticipated that the City would issue a 
Request for Proposals for architectural design services.  The City will also need to develop a financial 
plan for both interim and long-term operations and improvements such as ongoing NEXT fundraising, 
municipal contributions from member communities and other benefiting communities, joint user fees for 
senior and/or recreation facilities, and the identification and pursuit of grant funding.    
 

GovPilot Reminder  

City Commissioners are reminded to refer residents to the GovAlert app when approached by residents 
who have a concern regarding the City. Concerns submitted via the GovAlert app are immediately 
distributed to the appropriate staff members for the most expedited response. The system enables the 
City to track data and provide a consistent, professional response to the complainant. When one 
commissioner delivers a concern to City staff on behalf of a resident, it may appear that the individual 
commissioner is personally solving the concern rather than as a part of a team of seven elected officials.  

10E1



GovPilot instruction cards, sized to conveniently fit inside a wallet or pocket, continue to be available for 
distribution to residents and neighbors who wish to share a concern with the City. As always, residents 
are encouraged to use the GovAlert app or website form to submit non-emergency concerns to the City. 

Commissioners who receive a direct message regarding a City concern are encouraged to consider the 
following sample response: 

Dear (Name), 

As a City Commissioner, ensuring your concern is heard and addressed is very important to me. 
For expedited service, I encourage you to submit your concern to the City of Birmingham using 
the GovAlert Mobile app. The free app is user-friendly, and your concern will be received by the 
appropriate staff member for prompt service. Step-by-step instructions are available at 
www.bhamgov.org/govalert. Concerns may also be submitted at 
www.bhamgov.org/citizenrequests. 

Sincerely, 

Commissioner (Name) 

GovPilot Quarterly Report 

During the second quarter of 2023, we received a total of 229 citizen requests through the GovPilot 
system, 144 of which were received via the GovAlert app, and 85 via our website form. So far this year, 
we have received a total of 423 citizen requests through the GovPilot system, 248 of which were received 
via the GovAlert App, and 175 via our website form. 

 

 

Communications 

Summer Update 
It’s a busy and exciting time of year for the communications team. There is much to share with residents 
all year, but especially during warm months when there are special events and construction projects to 
supplement our busy messaging schedule. While work continues on social media content preparation, 
posts and reels, project and event eblasts, newsletters and press releases, we also have several 
educational videos we will soon publish to expand our video series. Keep an eye out for them soon across 
all City communications. 
 
 
 
 

10E1



Engage Birmingham 
Engage Birmingham has enjoyed a renewed flurry of activity. 
Projects about sustainability, the Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan, and especially “Name Our Police Therapy Dog” have drawn 
more than 650 new users and more than 1,000 engagements over 
the past month. Visit the site to see our thriving projects and 
share your feedback. 
 
Around Town e-Newsletter 
The communications team is working on the August edition of the Around 
Town e-Newsletter, which will include information about the Police 
Department’s new therapy dog, the Birmingham Cruise Event, parks and 
recreation projects, ice skating classes, new businesses and more. Follow 
this link to view the July edition of the Around Town e-Newsletter. 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION - UPCOMING AGENDA ITEMS 

Meeting Topic Commissioner Dates Addressed Status 
(resolved/ongoing)

6/5/23 Discuss unimproved streets and 
infrastructure

M: Host
S: McLain

September Workshop In progress

5/8/23 Parking Operations M: Baller
S: Host

5/8/23
5/22/23
5/22/23

In progress

5/8/23 Woodward Noise M: Host
S: McLain

5/8/23
6/5/23

In progress

2/27/23 Bench and Little Library for Pat 
Andrews

M: Host
S: McLain

3/13/23
5/8/23

In progress

11/14/22 Renters Rights M: Host 11/28/23
1/23/23 
4/24/23

In progress

1/10/22 Leaf Blowers M:Baller 
S:Host

1/24/22 
10/3/22 
4/3/23
5/8/23 
6/5/23

In Progress

1/10/22 Commissioner Conduct No vote 2/14/22
2/28/22 
7/11/22 
2/13/23 
4/24/23 
6/5/23 

In progress

10E1



Resolved

Meeting Topic Commissioner Status

12/5/22 Mayor/MPT Selection McLain Resolved

4/11/22 BBCC - Mental Health Workshop 
- More time to talk

M: Baller S: 
Haig

Resolved

5/9/22 Pickleball Baller, no vote Installed on 6-3-22

1/24/22 Social Districts M: Schafer
S: Boutros

No formal action taken by 
the Commission

5/23/22 Commission Meeting Start Time Baller No changes for now

8/15/22 Birmingham Country Club M: Host
S: Haig

Resolved, letter sent

8/15/22 Speed Bumps M: Haig
S: Host

Resolved

9/12/22 Banner M: Baller S: 
Host

Completed

12/5/22 Lighting to sustainability board Haig To be explored by 
Sustainability Board

6/13/22 Sustainability Board M: Schafer
S: Host

Resolved

1/10/22 Food Trucks M: Host
S: Schafer

Staff monitoring

4/25/22 Improvements in Information 
Provision and Methodology

M: Haig
S: Baller

Resolved

3/13 Community foundation
(review former letter from 
Kucharek)

Baller Resolved

3/28/22 City Manager Selection Process M: Host
S: Boutros

Resolved

1/9/23 Ad Hoc Senior Services 
Committee

M: Baller
S: Longe

Resolved

Department of Public Services 
 

Parks & Recreation Master Plan Update 
Please visit our Parks and Recreation Master Plan webpage to learn about planning currently underway 
for our five year Parks & Recreation Master Plan, including public engagement opportunities.  An online 
survey and park idea map are available on this site.  Additional upcoming public engagement 

10E1



opportunities include a field day at Kenning Park on August 5, from 12-4 p.m. and at the Farmers Market 
on September 10. 
 
The City’s consultant, McKenna, will be attending the August 1 Parks and Recreation Board meeting to 
provide an update. 
 
Clarification on Buckingham Property Landscape Bed Maintenance in response to 
Commissioner Baller’s question from the June 26, 2033 City Commission Meeting 
The landscape bed at this location came into existence in 2016 after ITC, the owner of the power 
transmission lines that run along the railroad, performed clearing of vegetation, brush and trees 
underneath the power lines that provided a barrier between the City property and the Railroad tracks.  
They removed the entire “natural brush/screening” in this area, which is considered to be part of the 
power company’s right of way.  As a result, for safety, the City installed a 6’ chain link fence along the 
east edge.  Shortly thereafter, ITC did partially contribute financially to replace plantings with lower 
growing native plants.   
 
The Department of Public Services has been maintaining the area since, as Canadian thistle is prominent 
along the tracks.  With the approval of the addendum to our Landscape Bed Maintenance Contract, the 
area is treated for weeds twice per month. 
 
Trail Improvement Concept Plan 
Since November of 2022, the Trail Improvement Concept Plan has been routed to various boards (Multi-
Modal Transportation, Museum, Martha Baldwin, Parks and Recreation), and to department heads for 
review and feedback. A survey on Engage Birmingham was also available to the public.  A revised concept 
plan incorporating all feedback will be presented at the August 1 Parks and Recreation Board meeting 
for a recommendation to the City Commission.  The department has applied for grants through MI Sparks 
and the Oakland County Parks and Recreation Parks and Trailways program to help leverage funding to 
accomplish this project.  Oakland County grant awardees are anticipated to be announced later this 
month, and MI Sparks Grant round two awardees will be announced in September. 
 
Forestry Quarterly Update 
 
Block Trimming Program 
The City is divided into seven sections for a block trimming program, in which every street tree is 
structurally pruned on a 7-year cycle.  The City’s forestry services contractor, J.H. Hart, is currently 
working in the southeast section between Maple and 14 Mile, east of Woodward Ave.  The next scheduled 
block is in the northwest section of the City from Maple to Quarton Rd, west of Lakeside. 

 
June 25 Storm Report 
A moderate storm with brief severe winds came through Birmingham the evening of Sunday, June 25th. 
The winds caused 11 City trees to completely fail, along with three reported instances of personal 
property damage. JH Hart and City crews cleaned up the storm damage by removing the failed trees in 
parks and along streets, and also running extra brush routes all week to handle the excessive amount 
of downed limbs. 

  
2023 Spring Tree Planting Project Update 
The 2023 Spring Tree Planting Project was completed by KLM Landscape. Crews installed 145 trees in 
right-of-ways, various parks and City properties.  Some trees experienced heat stress and likely were not 
getting enough water during the drought in June.  Residents are provided with proper watering 
instructions following the installation of the new trees, which require more water than standard lawn 
irrigation can provide.  The City will continue to monitor the health of the trees and require warranty 
replacements where applicable during the appropriate planting cycle. 
 
 

10E1



Miscellaneous Forestry Updates 
 
City crews have been progressing with fertilization and tree trimming work in the parks, specifically in 
Barnum Park, St. James Park, Pembroke Park, Quarton Lake Park, Poppleton Park, and Linden Park. 

  
Sixteen City street trees interfering with public utilities and accessibility were removed for engineering 
road construction projects on Westwood Dr., Brown St. and Pierce St. 

 
 

Engineering Department 

2023 Construction Update 

The following construction projects are currently underway: 
- Westwood, Oak, and Raynale Project: Cape seal treatment is complete and the contractor is 

finishing punch list items to close out the project.  
- Brown Street Paving Program: The contractor is installing the exposed aggregate sidewalk, and 

will work on irrigation and plantings in the near future. The project is scheduled to be complete 
by Friday, August 18.  

- Parking Lot No. 5 Slope Repair: The fence was installed, and planting will occur at the end of the 
summer.  

- 2021 Asphalt Resurfacing Program – Parking Lot No. 5: The parking lot is currently under 
construction and will be completed by the end of July.   

- Lincoln Hills Golf Course Tee No. 1 Tee-Box and Cart Path Improvements: The cart path has been 
paved; the contractor is working on final irrigation and restoration.     

- 2022-2023 Cape Seal Program (Southeast corner of the City): Cape seal treatment is complete 
and the contractor is finishing punch list items to close out the project.  

- Water Tower Maintenance and Coating:  
o Derby Tank and Hunter Tank: Repairs and overcoat painting with the new logo installation 

have been completed. The contractor is finishing punch list items to close out the project.   
- 2022 Concrete Sidewalk Program: The contractor has started work on miscellaneous sidewalk 

repairs throughout the City, including the Ann Street sidewalk located on the west side of Ann 
Street between Landon Street to Lincoln Street.   

- Cranbrook Road Non-Motorized Pathway Improvement Program: Construction started for this 
project on Cranbrook Road. The contractor began work on 14 Mile and is working north.  

- 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Program: The contractor is working on the following items:  residential 
area 6: Quarton Road to Maple Road, and western City limits to Lakeside Drive, downtown area 
1A: Chester Road to N. Old Woodward, and Rouge River to Maple Road, ADA Ramps within the 
Downtown Area, miscellaneous repairs throughout the City, miscellaneous sidewalk repairs in 
Shain Park, installation of bicycle pads and racks in various locations throughout the City.  

- Pierce Street Paving Project (14 Mile Road to Lincoln): Construction will start on the water main 
replacement in late July.  

- 2023 Asphalt Resurfacing Program: Resurfacing is underway on the following streets: 
o Birmingham Blvd: Lincoln Street to 14 Mile Road 
o Smith Street: Cummings to Woodward Ave 
o Holland Street: Adams Road to Torry Street 
o S. Old Woodward: Landon Street to Lincoln Street 

 
The following construction projects are scheduled for the rest of the construction season:  

- 2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Project: Construction in various areas throughout the City will begin 
in August.  

 

10E1



Affected property owners will receive information about these projects. For more information, contact 
the Engineering Department at 248-530-1840.  
 

Water Service Verification Program  

As a reminder, the “In-Home/Business” water service line material needs to be determined as part of 
this program and included in the City’s reporting for the State of Michigan. Property owners can schedule 
an inspection by an authorized City representative at (248) 303-2292 or determine the in-home/business 
material themselves with the steps provided in the property owner letter.   

Finance Department 

Budgeting Software Selection Process 

The City posted an RFP for budgeting and transparency software in June, and the City received four bids 
to the RFP.  City staff watched demonstrations of the software on July 13th and 14th.  We are currently 
in the process of evaluating the bid responses and client references.  We hope to have an agreement 
before the City Commission in August. 

Fire Department 

Welcome, Firefighter Turner 
The Birmingham Fire Department is proud to welcome our newest member, Jeremy Turner. Jeremy 
comes to our team with over fourteen years of experience in the Flint Fire Department.  Jeremy is 
currently a firefighter and Emergency Medical Technician (EMT), and will soon begin his paramedic 
training which takes over a year to complete. 

Fourth of July Update 
During the Fourth of July holiday, the Fire Department is pleased to announce there were no citations 
issued for fireworks violations and no injuries. The department also did not have any fires caused by 
fireworks as in previous years. The City’s strict ordinance and messaging campaign is a factor in this 
reduction.  

Human Resources 
 

Welcome Rachel Matti 
The Human Resources department welcomes HR Generalist Rachel Matti! Rachel has a bachelors in HR 
Development from Oakland University, her Professional in HR credential from the HR Certification 
Institute, and has a background in large scale HR services in the private sector. She comes with 
substantial background in HR compliance, onboarding and coaching a workforce of over 250 employees 
spread across the United States. In her free time she enjoys spending time outdoors and traveling. She 
looks forward to lending her expertise in the field to ensure proper compliance and resources for all 
employees. Welcome, Rachel! 

New Hires 
The City of Birmingham extends warm congratulations to our newly hired employees from June 12, 2023 
to July 12, 2023. Their skills, expertise, and enthusiasm are a valuable addition to our team. We welcome 
them to our organization! 

Department Position Name Type 

DPS DPS Temp  Charles Stamell Seasonal 

10E1



DPS DPS Temp Jack Rutkowski Seasonal 

DPS DPS Temp Rose DiGiovanni Seasonal 

Library Library Page Amina Jawad Part-Time 

Library Library Page Jennifer Halpern Part-Time 

Library Library Page Megan Gusho Part-Time 

Library Library Page Angelina Belotti Part-Time 

Community 
Development 

Secretary A Lauren Gieraltowski Full-Time 

DPS DPS Temp  Owen Bellows Seasonal 

DPS DPS Temp Adler Doerr Seasonal 

DPS DPS Temp  Cameron Csernits Seasonal 

DPS DPS Temp  Margaret Anderson Seasonal 

DPS DPS Temp  Gabriel Morreale Seasonal 

Library Library Page Sebastian Hernandez Part-Time 

Library Library Page Mayoree Jones-
Toubeaux 

Part-Time 

DPS DPS Temp  Nathan Stebbins Seasonal 

Fire Firefighter Jeremy Turner Full-Time 

HR HR Generalist Rachel Matti Full-Time 

 
June Hiring Anniversaries 
The City of Birmingham celebrated the hiring anniversaries of several employees. Their unwavering 
commitment, hard work, and genuine compassion have left a profound and lasting impact on our 
community. We extend our heartfelt appreciation for their exceptional service and dedication. Their 
contributions are deeply valued and recognized. 

Years Of Service Employee Department Position 

25 James Lotridge, Jr Police Parking Enforcement 

10E1



25 Joshua Husted Police Police Sergeant 

22 Daniel O'brien Library Library Page 

21 David Bianchette Building Maintenance Building Maintenance 

21 Debra Gantz Library Substitute Librarian 

20 Ryan Kearney Police Police Captain 

20 Matthew Bartalino Fire Asst. Fire Chief-
Operation 

19 Kristen Tait Library Library Department 
Head 

10 Mark Mischle Fire Fire Lt/AEMT 

9 Grant Ankney Fire Fire / AEMT 

9 Adam Knowles Fire Fire Lt/ AEMT 

8 Michael Manzo Police Police Sergeant 

8 Seth Barone Police Police Officer 

4 Jamil Kim IT & Communications Media & IT Specialist 

3 Antoinette Licari Police Police Dispatcher 

3 Morgan Webb Finance Accounting 
Administrator 

2 Jennifer Hassell Library Librarian Pt 

2 Joan Tyrrell Library Library Network 
Administrator 

2 Dushawn Brandy Fire Fire / AEMT 

2 Jeremy Shultz Fire Fire / AEMT 

1 Aaron Ford Parking  Parking System 
Manager 

 

10E1



Employment Opportunities 
The City is currently accepting applications for the following positions. To submit an application or for 
more information, visit www.bhamgov.org/jobs.  
 
Department Position Type Application Closing 

Building Plumbing Inspector Full Time Until Filled 

DPS Fleet Mechanic Full Time Until Filled 

DPS Golf Course Seasonal Until Filled 

DPS  Ice Arena Part Time Until Filled 

DPS Seasonal Laborer Seasonal Until Filled 

DPS Public Services 
Manager 

Full Time July 26, 2023 

DPS Streets/Sewer Water 
Operator 

Full Time Until Filled 

Planning Planning Intern Seasonal July 31, 2023 

Planning/Engineering Administrative 
Assistant 

Full Time August 7, 2023 

Police Parking Enforcement 
Assistant 

Part Time Until Filled 

Police Dispatcher Part Time Until Filled 

Police Officer Full Time Until Filled 

 
Information Technology 
 

Artificial Intelligence Committee 
The City has formed an internal AI (Artificial Intelligence) committee.  The committee has been tasked 
with the responsibility to review the possible usage of AI tools within the City and the benefits / risks it 
may have.  The committee has also been tasked with the creation of a policy for its usage within the 
City.  
 
To gauge its current usage, the committee has polled City staff to see if generative AI has been used for 
City business in any form (i.e. ChatGPT, DALL-E  or other AI applications). Also, we have asked if staff 
sees a benefit in the use of generative AI tools to help in the performance of daily tasks. 

We are currently compiling the results of that query and reviewing how other cities handle Generative AI 
within their daily business.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10E1



Planning Department 
 

Planning Board 

A tentative Planning Board list of scheduled and/or recently completed items is provided below: 

1. Health Club/Studio Use in B4 Zoning District – Study Session (August 9, 2023) 
2. 245 S. Eton – Big Rock Italian Chophouse – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design 

Review (City Commission August 28, 2023) 
3. 388 S. Bates – Community House – Community Impact Study & Preliminary Site Plan Review 

(August 30, 2023) 

Historic District Commission & Historic District Study Committee  

The Preliminary Historic District Study Committee report for 1238 Buckingham is nearing completion and 
will be on to the next stages of review as outlined in Chapter 127 of the City Code. Next steps include 
transmittal to the Planning Board, State Historic Preservation Office, Michigan Historical Center, and other 
related bodies. After that review, at least two public hearings will be held, one of which will be at the 
City Commission. 

Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

The Multi-Modal Transportation Board will begin reviewing upcoming projects for 2024 in August. 

Public Arts Board (PAB) 

The PAB has received a sculpture application for Lincoln Hills Golf Course and a mural application for the 
Daxton Hotel. Shooting Star by John Henry was installed in the greenspace at S. Old Woodward, Haynes 
Street, and Woodward Ave.  

Sustainability 

The Environmental Sustainability Committee (ESC) is deep into the data gathering phase of the 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions inventory, which is slated to be complete, or near complete by the end of the 
year. Concurrently, the ESC is embarking on several early public engagement outreach efforts to help 
inform the Sustainability and Climate Action Plan, which is the second task that the ESC will be completing 
in 2024. The scheduled engagement activities are as follows:  

Birmingham Engage Survey – Environmental Sustainability (LIVE NOW) 
Day on the Town – July 29, 2023 
Birmingham Farmers Market – August 27, 2023 

Police Department 

National Night Out Against Crime 
On August 1, the Birmingham Police Department will be participating in National Night Out Against 
Crime.  This is a free event for the public and runs from 6 pm to 8 pm.  The event is being held at 3350 
Seyburn in the parking lot of the Auburn Hills Community Center. The event has many activities for 
children, including: 

Bounce House, Climbing Wall, and Slip and Slide from Oakland County Parks  
Blow up Archery and Casting Game from Bass Pro Shop  
Crafts table hosted by Home Depot   
Child fingerprint station hosted by The Masons  
Dunk Tank 
Live Band 

10E1



Hot Dogs and Chips 
Ice Cream Truck (thanks Cornerstone!) 
Fire Department Display and demonstration 
Multiple Police Agency displays 
And MORE! 

Active Shooter Training 
On August 30, 2023, the Birmingham Police Department will be taking part in a large-scale active shooter 
scenario in cooperation with Bloomfield Township Police and other area agencies.  This mass casualty 
training incident is being held at Bloomfield Hills High School and is a valuable training exercise to provide 
experience, knowledge and guidance in the event we have to respond to an actual incident. 

 

Parking Systems Update 

Construction 
Repairs continue at the N. Old Woodard Garage and include concrete restoration, repairs to the handrails, 
painting of ceilings, walls, and stairwell walls, and the installation of LED lights. 

The surface lot portion of the N. Old Woodward Garage (Lot 5) is being repaved. The lot had deteriorated 
significantly and the striped lines were worn away to the point that much of them were not visible. The 
newly repaved and restriped lot should improve the look and parking experience significantly. 

Capacity 

 

 
Future Agenda Items 
Download a summary of future agenda items. 
  
Future Workshop Items 
Download a summary of future workshop items. 

Chester Garage (880) 31.00%
Old Woodward (745) 21.00%
Park Garage (811) 30.00%
Peabody Garage (437) 38.00%
Pierce Garage (706) 76.00%

JUNE AVG CAPACITY

10E1



������������	
	��	������
��
	�������

���	�	�	
������� 
���

��������	�
�����������

	����������	�������

��������	�
��
�����
��
�������
���
������
�����
������
���
���������
������
�
���

�������
��
�����
��������
� �����
��
���!
���
����
������������
��
���
"#"$
��������%

&������������
���
���
���������
�
����������
���� ����
������������
�����
��
������
����

���
����������
�������
'���
�����
��
��������'�
'���
�������
�����������
�
�����
��������

�������!
��
�����
��������
���������%
	����
���
��������
'���
��� ��
���
���
����
�

�(���������
�������
����������
���������
��
���
�����
�����%
���
� �����
'���
��������
��

����������
��
���
������
������
���������
�
���
��������
�����������
�
�����������
�

�����%

Jocelyn Benson, Michigan’s Secretary of State attends the summer meeting of the
National Association of Secretaries of State in Washington. JACQUELYN MARTIN —
THE ASSOCIATED PRESS

INFORMATION ONLY



����������	���
������
����������������������
���
�������������������������������
�������

�������
���������������������
�������
���������� 
���������!���
�������
�����������������

���������������������������������������"�����������������������������!�����
��������

�����������������"��������������!�������#���
����������������
����
�����
��������
���

���������
�������$%��������������������������������!�������������
��!������
��
�������&��!

�������������'�����������������������������������
�����������&��������������&���������
������

�������������!�����$%������&����������
������
������������
�������!�����!�����������
������

#���
�������
���
�����������(����)
�����������������������������
&��!�!
��������
���"��

���!�����������������
��&�������
���*+*+��
�������������������������������

�����������

����������������&����������!�������!������
���
�����������(�������,��������������������

����
���
�!��������
�-�
��!��������
������$%.!���
��������������
�������������!�����

�������!����������
������

�/����� ���������
�����������!��������&�������������������������������������0��������

�������
����������������
��������������,��������������
�����$�����������������������
���

���
���
�����������
������!����������������������������������&���

����������������������"��������������������������������

��������
��������
���
��
�����

����
���1�!�����2�������������������������
����!���������������������������������!�������

�������������������������������������������
�����������������������3����������4�

5
�������������������
�������
�
���������������
��
�

�������1������������ �������������������"����������% ��!���!����&�������&��!����������
����

�����%������������&�����������$
�0�������
���
�����������$�
����5��������������
�����%����

&����������������������
������!���������
�������
������� 
������
�����������!�����
�����

�
��!������
������
��!���������������������
�����!����!��������������
�����������
�����

��������������������������������������������� ������
��
��!��������������
 ��
�!�����

������

4�������
���
�����������5
��&�2�6������������
���������������
��������������������!

�������
��������������� ���������������������!������������������������������2�6������

6�������������������������������������������������������&�����������������������������

��
�����!��������
��������������������������������
�����������
��������������������������!

�����������������
���������
�����
�������
�!�������������������
��

�/� �����
&��������������������������������
������������������������������������
�����!

������������������
�����2�6���������

/����7�
!��������
���
���������������/�
��
����6�����������
��������������
�����
��
���!

������������������
�������
�����������������
���!���
����������!��������������
���������

����
��������8�����������������
������������
������8����6��������������������!��������
��

�!����������
�����
����������������
������*+*+��
��������������������

�%�����&���������������!����
��!���!����������
������!����������������
������������� 
�����&��!

�������
���������������
����������
�!�
����������
���
������������&������
�������
����

����������������/�
��
����������������
���!���
������������ �����������
��������!INFORMATION ONLY



��������	
���
���
���
���
����
�����
	���
��������
�������
��
	��
��
�����
��

���������
�����
�����
��
�
	���������
����

����	
����	�
��
������
�������
��
��
 ���
�����	������
!����	������
�������
������

������
��
"����
������	������
��	
��������
��
���#
��	
������
���
��
$%$%�
!�
�
	�����

�����
��	
����
��
����
������
����	
	���
��	
������
����
��������
	��
���
�����

�������
��&����	
���
	�����
�����
��������	
���
���
��
&���
��
������
���
������

'�&����	
��
(���	�������
���
�����#�
���
����
	��&��
�	
�
��������
!�
(���	��������

����
��	
����
���	��������
�������
�����
��	�
����	�����
�����
�������	�
������

�������
��
��������	
���
������	��
	��		�
��
�������
�
)���������
��������
�	

(���	��������	
�����
�������
��&�����
	���
��
��	#	
���
����
���
��
������
���
�����
�	

	�����

*"��
��	
��������	
����
�	
����
���
��	�
�+���������
�������
���#��	�
���
��	�

��	�������
�������
���
��	�
���
��
�+���������
���
��	
��������
��
������
���
���
��		

�+���������
���
���
���
����
��#���
�
��#�
�
��	�#�
,
���
�
��#�
�
��	�#�
��
��

����������
�����
�����
��	�#�
�	
�����
���������
�	
�����
���������
��
��������	��
��

	����

"��
����-���
����������
��	
��
&�	
	����
	������
)���������	
���������
����	
�������

��	
����
�
�����
�
������	��
�����
�����
�
���������
��
��������
��
����
��		
���

����������
������
��������
���	�������
����
����
.��������
���������	�

"��
����	���	
����
����
�	
��
/��������
)���	�����
!���������
������
����

��������
#����
�	
/)!��
��	
������
��
���	������
������	
	����������
�	
�������
���

�����	��

)���������	
����
����
���	��	
���
����
�+�
���
����
����
���#���
��
��
�������
	�	��

���
	������
���
�����
����������
	��	�

�������
.��������
��&����	
	���
���
����
�������	��
��
���
���������
�
��
/)!�

	�	���
�����
	���
�������	
�
���
)���������-���
	��	�
"���
�+���		��
����
��
�����-

���������
	��	
��#�
����������
���
0��
1��#�
�����
���
��
��������
���
��
/)!��
����

2����

�����#�
��������
��
���
3������
����	�
�
)����������
	���
��
�	
�+�������
��	
	���	

�����	�
�
����
�����
��4����	
��
	��
�
���������
��
/)!��
���������
�
����	�
��

	������
	����������
	��	
���
5�������
�����
����
��
��	
	���	
��	����	
������
���

�������
��
��
��
����������

*/���
��
/)!�
����
���#�-�����
!
	���
����
�
&��
���	
�
��
����������
����
6%-���	

	��	
��
�����
��
/)!���
����	
	����

"��
����������
�������
�������
��������	���
	��2��	
������
�����
��	��		���	�
����	��

��	���
��
	������
��	
�������	�
�������
��&����	
	���
����	��
����	���	
���
	�
�	���
	�

���
���
����������
��
���������
�������	�

INFORMATION ONLY



����������	���
������������������������	���������������������������������������������

��������������������������	����������������	�������������������������������������������	

���������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������

�����������
�������� ���������!

"#���� ��������������������������������������������������	����������$����	�%���
�&���

�������������������
����#��������'���������(�������!�")�	��� ����������������������������

������	��������	���*�����������	����������������������	��� ����������� �����������������������

+���������	������������������!$

INFORMATION ONLY



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Saxon Speed humps
Susan Randall <susan.m.randall@sbcglobal.net> Mon, Jul 17, 2023 at 6:30 PM
To: Susan Randall <susan.m.randall@sbcglobal.net>
Cc: Brad Host <bhost@bhamgov.org>, "tlonge@bhamgov.org" <tlonge@bhamgov.org>, Elaine McLain
<emclain@bhamgov.org>, "cballer@bhamgov.org" <cballer@bhamgov.org>, "pboutros@bhamgov.org"
<pboutros@bhamgov.org>, Andrew Haig <ahaig@bhamgov.org>, "kschafer@bhamgov.org" <kschafer@bhamgov.org>, "city-
commission@bhamgov.org" <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

Birmingham Farms Friends & City of Birmingham Commissioners,

The Village of Beverly Hills is meeting Tuesday evening and will be discussing a pilot program for
speed humps on Saxon, between Balmoral and Wentworth, and on Riverside, between Drury and
Inglewood.  Please see the details below and attachments from Peter Webster, of  Beverly Hills.  If
you would like to support their effort, show in person or online, or email the Village council
members.

I am including the City of Birmingham Commissioners in this notice.  This topic has been
discussed at past City meetings.  I propose that the City move forward with a pilot program for
speed humps on Saxon Drive in conjunction with the Village effort.

Thank you,

Susan Randall
1220 Saxon Drive

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Peter Webster <phwebster1@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, July 17, 2023 at 10:06:40 AM EDT
Subject: Saxon Speed humps

To All - Tomorrow, the Village will be considering a pilot program for speed humps as described in the attached document
dated 7 14 23. Please consider submitting your voice of support either via email, Zoom online during public comment and
attending in person. Also, assuming the humps are installed on a pilot basis and have a positive effect, supportive
feedback will be important along with notes of thanks to the Village council members. PHW. 

Please forward to folks I may have missed. 
I include Birmingham folks who should feel free to participate in this even though the Village is considering this program. 

Village Manager 
Jeff Campbell  
jcampbell@villagebeverlyhills.com

Village Council 
jgeorge@villagebeverlyhills.com  
rhrydziuszko@villagebeverlyhills.com
rabboud@villagebeverlyhills.com
tkecskemeti@villagebeverlyhills.com
jmooney@mooneygilboe.com
rogorman@villagebeverlyhills.com
mwhite@villagebeverlyhills.com INFORMATION ONLY



John George
President

Served since 2018
Terms ends 2026

Racheal Hrydziuszko
President Pro-Tem
Served since 2018

Term ends 2026

Rock Abboud
Served since 2014

Term ends 2026
Tracy Kecskemeti
Served since 2020

Term ends 2024

John Mooney
Served since 2008

Term ends 2024

Ryan O'Gorman
Served since 2020

Term ends 2024

INFORMATION ONLY



Mike White
Served since 2022

Term ends 2026

 

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-
commission/1723600812.1519931.1689633040301%40mail.yahoo.com.

2 attachments

Village Agenda 7 18 23.pdf
160K

Village speed hump memo 7 18 23.pdf
854K

INFORMATION ONLY



This will be a hybrid meeting held in person in the Village Council Chambers with a remote participation option available via Zoom due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  
The Village of Beverly Hills will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and 
audiotapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities attending the meeting upon three 

iary aids or services should contact the Village by writing or 
phone, 18500 W. Thirteen Mile Beverly Hills, MI 48025 (248) 646-6404. 

Village of Beverly Hills             Municipal Building 
Regular Village Council Meeting               18500 W. 13 Mile Road  
Tuesday, July 18, 2023 7:30 p.m.
 

Zoom link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82703210969  
Meeting ID: 827 0321 0969 
Dial in: 1-646-876-9923 (US)  

 
AGENDA 

Roll Call/Call to order 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Amendments to Agenda/Approve Agenda 
 
Community Announcements 
 
Public Comments on items not on the published agenda 
 
Consent Agenda 
1. Review and consider approval of minutes of a regular Council meeting held July 5, 2023. 
2. Review and file bills recapped as of Monday, July 17, 2023. 
3. Refer special land use request and site plans for 19400 13 Mile Road to the Planning Commission 

for review and recommendation. 
 

Business Agenda 
1. Review and consider landscaping proposal for Village Hall and the Public Safety building.   
2. Review and consider entering into Agreement with DTE to convert existing mercury vapor 

streetlights to LED streetlights.  
3. contract with HydroCorp 

Cross Connection Control Program. 
 
Discussion Item  
1.   Pilot program to install trial speed humps in the Village of Beverly Hills.  
2.   Update from Wendbrook Forum Subcommittee.  
 
Public Comments 
 

report 
 
Council comments  
 
Adjournment 

INFORMATION ONLY



To: Honorable Council President and Village Council

From: Jeff Campbell, Village Manager

Date: 7/14/23

RE: Discussion about Speed Humps

INFORMATION ONLY



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proper engineering analysis 
and judgment must be included prior to installation of any speed humps.  Future criteria to be considered 
in the installation of speed humps may include: 

 
 

  
  
 85th percentile speeds of 30 mph or greater. 
 Topography (i.e. hills and curves) 
 Resident support (

  

 

 

 

INFORMATION ONLY



Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Village Meeting update: Saxon Speed humps
Susan Randall <susan.m.randall@sbcglobal.net> Wed, Jul 19, 2023 at 10:27 AM
To: "city-commission@bhamgov.org" <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

Please read the update below from Peter Webster, Village resident.

Susan Randall

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Peter Webster <phwebster1@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, July 19, 2023 at 09:57:05 AM EDT
Subject: Re: Saxon Speed humps

The meeting last night went well. There was significant support for the pilot program. Others throughout the village also
wanted speed humps. We need to stay on this. While there were strong supporters of spend humps on the village council,
we should not underestimate the difficulty in getting even the most logical things done. 

> ----- Original Message -----
> From: "Peter Webster" <phwebster1@gmail.com>
> Sent: Monday, July 17, 2023 10:05:13 AM
> Subject: Saxon Speed humps
>
> To All - Tomorrow, the Village will be considering a pilot program for
> speed humps as described in the attached document dated 7 14 23. Please
> consider submitting your voice of support either via email, Zoom online
> during public comment and attending in person. Also, assuming the humps are
> installed on a pilot basis and have a positive effect, supportive feedback
> will be important along with notes of thanks to the Village council
> members. PHW.
>
> Please forward to folks I may have missed.
> I include Birmingham folks who should feel free to participate in this even
> though the Village is considering this program.
>
> Village Manager
> Jeff Campbell
> jcampbell@villagebeverlyhills.com
>
>
> Village Council
> jgeorge@villagebeverlyhills.com
> rhrydziuszko@villagebeverlyhills.com
> rabboud@villagebeverlyhills.com
> tkecskemeti@villagebeverlyhills.com
> jmooney@mooneygilboe.com
> rogorman@villagebeverlyhills.com
> mwhite@villagebeverlyhills.com
>
>
> [image: IMG_4256 - Copy]
>
>
> *John George <jgeorge@villagebeverlyhills.com>*

INFORMATION ONLY



> President
> Served since 2018
> Terms ends 2026
> [image: Racheal Hrydziusko - Copy]
>
>
> Racheal Hrydziuszko <rhrydziuszko@villagebeverlyhills.com>
> President Pro-Tem
> Served since 2018
> Term ends 2026
>
> [image: Rock Abboud - Copy]
>
> Rock Abboud <rabboud@villagebeverlyhills.com>
> Served since 2014
> Term ends 2026
>
>
> [image: Kecskemeti 2021]
>
> Tracy Kecskemeti <tkecskemeti@villagebeverlyhills.com>
> Served since 2020
> Term ends 2024
>
>
> [image: John Mooney]
>
>
> *John Mooney <jmooney@mooneygilboe.com>*Served since 2008
> Term ends 2024
>
>
>
> [image: Ryan O'Gorman 2020]
>
> *Ryan O'Gorman <rogorman@villagebeverlyhills.com>*
> Served since 2020
> Term ends 2024
>
>
>
> [image: Mike White 2023 (2)]
>
>
> *Mike White <mwhite@villagebeverlyhills.com>*Served since 2022
> Term ends 2026

--
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "City Commission" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to city-commission+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/city-
commission/1019888504.2350402.1689776874178%40mail.yahoo.com.

INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY



CRAIN’S DETROIT BUSINESS 

Real Estate Insider 

Metro Detroit's office market still a 
struggle, except for one city 
By Kirk Pinho 

Credit: Quinn Banks / Crain's Detroit Business 
Data going back to 2000 provided by the local offices of New York City-based brokerage 
house Newmark shows that, in spite of what is largely a return to normalcy in everyday life 
after the COVID-19 pandemic, office landlords in Detroit and its suburbs continue to feel the 
sting of remote work policies and a reduction in space needs resulting from those. 

July 18, 2023 12:25 PM UPDATED 4 HOURS AGO 

Worst in years — still. 

Those are four words you can use to describe the vacancy rates in some of the region's 
most prominent office markets. Most of them, at least (ahem, looking at you, 
Birmingham). 

Data going back to 2000 provided by the local offices of New York City-based 
brokerage house Newmark shows that, in spite of what is largely a return to normalcy in 
everyday life after the COVID-19 pandemic, office landlords in Detroit and its suburbs 

INFORMATION ONLY



continue to feel the sting of remote work policies and a reduction in space needs 
resulting from those. 

The pain is likely far from over, said Andrew Hayman, president of Southfield-based 
office and multifamily landlord Hayman Co. 

"We're in the fourth or fifth inning of a nine-inning game here," Hayman said. "We're in a 
cycle and I don't think anybody knows" when it's going to end. 

(One recent report was particularly ominous. It found that office values nationwide likely 
won't return to pre-pandemic levels until 2040.) 

It's hard to imagine the market righting itself without some reduction in the overall supply 
of office space in the region, said AJ Weiner, managing director in the Royal Oak office 
of Chicago-based brokerage house JLL. 

"Ideally, we start to fundamentally shrink the market at a more steady clip, and that's not 
happening right now," Weiner said. "We want to see more buildings be converted into 
multifamily, or torn down for future developments." 

Downtown Ann Arbor's office space is 10.4% vacant ... at least on paper, although the 
true vacancy rate is likely much higher as companies continue to fulfill their lease 
obligations but don't actually occupy all of their space. 

And while 10.4% sounds halfway decent when compared to other markets, the last time 
Ann Arbor had double-digit office vacancy was a decade ago. At the start of the 
pandemic, it was just 2.3% vacant. 

Detroit's central business district vacancy was 17.3% in the second quarter, highest in 
nearly eight years, when it was 17.6% in the fourth quarter 2015. (Although obviously 
not nearly as rough as the 35.2% vacancy rate in Q2 2011.) 

It's not just denser downtowns. 

The suburbs, with their mid- and high-rises generously spaced apart, are also hurting 
(mostly). 

Southfield sits at 26.6% vacant, a rate it hasn't seen since the second quarter 2014. 
Ditto Farmington Hills, with the former's 19.5% vacancy most recently matched in the 
fourth quarter 2014, and the latter's 24.5% vacancy rate (minus its 25.3% first quarter) a 
rate not seen since Q4 2014. 

The outcast of them all? 

INFORMATION ONLY



Birmingham. The swank Oakland County burb actually saw a decrease in its vacancy 
rate since the start of the pandemic, falling from 10.4% in the first quarter 2020 to 6% in 
Q2. 

John DeGroot, research director for the local office of Newmark, said that's a function of 
the city's tenant market. 

"The general makeup of the Birmingham's office market are smaller office users 
compared to other submarkets which have many heavy office users," DeGroot said. 
"The heavy office users are reducing square footage as many employees are working 
from home. We are not seeing smaller office users, particularly in the professional 
services sector, reducing office space. That is why Birmingham in particular is a bit 
insulated from the general office trend." 

Submarket second-quarter office vacancy rates 
Downtown Detroit: 17.3% 
New Center area: 16.4% 
Birmingham: 6% 
Royal Oak: 9.8% 
Troy: 24.5% 
Southfield: 26.6% 
Farmington Hills: 19.5% 
Novi: 23.8% 
Downtown Ann Arbor: 10.4% 
Auburn Hills: 21.9% 

Source: Newmark 

 
By Kirk Pinho 
 

INFORMATION ONLY


